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Preface

Financial Statistics is a monthly publication that brings together the key financial and 
monetary statistics of the United Kingdom. This Explanatory Handbook provides background 
notes to the many tabies in Financial Statistics. It explains their purpose, how they are compiled, 
and shows the relationship between tables and provides further references. Together, the two 
publications are major reference documents for people and organisations concerned with the flow 
of investment funds, saving media, government income and expenditure, institutional investment, 
company finance and financial markets generally.

To foster a full appreciation of the value of the financial accounts the Introduction 
places them in the context of the national accounting system as a whole and the diagram on 
page 7 gives a birds-eye view. Although the standardised capital and financial accounts in 
Section 1 are in a sense the cornerstone of the publication, tables in other sections which are 
either derived from the financial accounts or from the current and capital accounts are often more 
useful to those interested in particular sectors of the financial scene.

IN THIS HANDBOOK TABLE NUMBERS RELATE TO THE TABLES AS THEY 
APPEAR IN ISSUE N0.355 FOR NOVEMBER 1991. Any subsequent changes to table numbers, 
and notes on new tables which were introduced after June 1990 were included in 
Supplementary Information a cumulative supplement to the Handbook at the back of each 
monthly Financial Statistics publication.

Many of the figures in Financial Statistics are available on the CSO Databank. This is 
a collection of macro-economic time series which is sold to the public in computer-readable form. 
The Databank contains longer runs of data than appear in Financial Statistics, in many cases 
starting in 1963. and the latest figures are available about a week earlier. Details of the service 
are given in the Supplementary Information section of Financial Statistics.

The Central Statistical Office shares responsibility for financial statistics with several 
government departments and in particular the Bank of England, and is very grateful for the help 
given by colleagues in these organisations in oreoanna this Handbook.

Central Statistical Office 
Great George Street 
London SW1P 3AO

December 1991
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Introduction
Layout of Handbook

This handbook closely follows the layout of the 
fourteen sections which appear monthly in Financial 
Statistics, Typically, each section opens with general 
introductory information (including, in the case of 
Sections 2-10, a definition of the coverage of the sector 
of the economy in question). This is followed by 
explanatory notes on each table or. when appropriate, 
each group of tables, numbered as in the November 
1991 issue.

These sections follow this introduction which explains 
the relationship between the national accounts and 
financial accounts. Series shown in the summary table at 
the front of Financial Statistics are described in the 
appropriate section. In addition there are two annexes 
covering:

explanatory notes to the supplementary tables 
which appear regularly in Financial Statistics 
a table showing the codes by which the series 
in the financial accounts matrix (table 1.1) may 
be identified in the CSO Databank. {See 
Preface.)

The national accounts
The financial accounts together with the income and 

expenditure accounts are compiled using the principles 
of the national accounts. A broad appreciation of the 
national accounts and their breakdown into sector 
accounts is helpful in gaining an understanding of the 
financial accounts and financial statistics generally. Most 
sector accounts are included in Financial Statistics, but 
the national income and expenditure accounts are not - 
they are found in United Kingdom National Accounts - 
The CSO 'Blue Book’ and in regular features in 
Economic Trends. In spite of their absence from 
Financial Statistics we thought it helpful to include the 
following general outline of the national accounts in this 
handbook. For a more definitive and far more 
comprehensive description of the national accounts it is 
necessary to refer to United Kingdom National Accounts: 
Sources and Methods (HMSO, 1985). For an alternative 
introduction to the national accounting system, The 
National Accounts: A Short Guide (HMSO, 1981) and the 
introduction in the United Kingdom National Accounts 
(the Blue Book) (HMSO, annually) since the 1987 
edition are recommended.

No discussion or analysis of the nation’s economic 
health can get very far without resort to the national 
accounts, but the layman turning, for instance, to the 
‘Blue Book', is often daunted by the apparent complexity 
of the information that he finds there, and is perplexed by 
much of the terminology. For Instance, take gross 
domestic product at constant factor cost - one of the 
most frequently quoted statistics. In what sense is it 
gross rather than net? Why domestic product ■ is national 
product the same? What does product actually mean, 
and what is constant factor cost? This section tries to set 
out in relatively simple terms what such statistics as this 
are actually trying to measure, and to show that the 
system of national accounts is in principle both simple 
and logical. In the process we deal with those parts of 
the national accounts which need to be understood in 
order to make proper use of the financial accounts.

Three measurements
The national income can be thought of as the total of 

all incomes earned by the residents of the United 
Kingdom - whether by way of wages, salaries, profits, 
rent or whatever - from productive activity in a given 
period. By productive activity we mean the production of 
goods, like cars or shirts, and the production of services, 
like bus rides or medical care. We can also arrive at the 
same total figure by two other routes; firstly by 
aggregating the value added in each industry producing 
goods and services; secondly by adding together all the 
expenditure on final purchases of goods and services 
(i.e. excluding intermediate purchases which are for use 
in productive activity) and deducting imports of goods 
and services and taxes on expenditure, and adding back 
subsidies (the distinction between final and intermediate 
expenditure is explained below). In other words, the total 
value of the nation’s output is equal to

the total of all incomes earned in producing it, 
the sum of the value added in all industries, or 
the total of all spending on the finished or final 
goods and services produced 
less the cost of imports 
less taxes on expenditure 
plus subsidies.

To appreciate what this means, and to understand the 
framework of the national accounts as a whole, we need 
to look in turn at each of these ways of measuring the 
nation’s productive effort.

National income and total domestic income
As already stated, the national income is the sum of 

all incomes of UK residents, whether individual or 
corporate, which are derived from the current production 
of goods and services. Such incomes are termed lactor 
incomes’, being incomes received by the so-called 
‘factors of production’ - land, labour and capital goods 
i.e. rent, income from employment and profits. Other 
forms of income, like retirement pensions, family 
allowances, cannot be regarded as payments for current 
economic activity. They are described as ’transfer’ 
incomes, being paid for from the proceeds of, for 
example, national insurance contributions or taxation. In 
other words, they amount to a redistribution of income 
earned from economic activity. Transfers are excluded 
from the calculation of the national income, for to include 
them would be to count the same income twice.

Again, as already mentioned, the national income of 
the United Kingdom is the income of UK residents. Some 
of this income arises from property held abroad, including 
interest as well as profits earned abroad. In the same 
way some of the income arising in the United Kingdom 
is earned by non-residents. What in practice is done to 
arrive at a figure for national income is to calculate the 
total of all income earned in the United Kingdom by 
residents and non-residents alike (total domestic factor 
incomes), and then add property income from abroad, 
and subtract property income earned here by non
residents. The difference between these two last items is 
net property income from abroad.

Domestic product and national product
As domestic income is the sum of all incomes from
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productive activity, it can provide a basis for valuing that 
production. For example, the total value of the output of 
a firm making shirts must be income to someone - 
whether to managers, shareholders, employees, 
suppliers or whatever. From this point of view it can be 
seen that the same total is obtained by adding up the 
contribution to domestic product of each producing unit 
in the country. But, as in the case of income, we cannot 
arrive at total domestic product simply by adding up the 
value of production by every industry in the country. To 
do so would be to count the same output more than 
once. For example, if we include in our calculation of 
domestic product not only the total value of the sales of 
suits by a tailor, but also the output of the weaver who 
supplies him with cloth, and the output of the spinner 
who provides the necessary yarn, then we have counted 
the value of the yarn three times over. What we need is 
a measure of the value added at each stage of 
production. In this sense, the value of the product of the 
weaving industry consists of the value added in the 
process of transforming yarn into cloth, and the value of 
the tailor's output consists of the further value added by 
turning cloth into suits. It is worth noting that, since the 
domestic product includes only the value added within 
the country, it must exclude the value of imported goods 
and services, which are part of the domestic products of 
other countries. Domestic product of course includes 
goods and services exported, also the additions to work 
in progress and goods in stock.

The domestic product is the sum of value added by all 
industries in the United Kingdom and is the counterpart 
of the total of domestic factor incomes. As in the case of 
incomes, the national product is derived by adding net 
income from abroad.

National expenditure
Since the national income is equivalent to the value of

goods and services which are produced by the economic
activity of the nation, It can be measured not only as the
sum of factor incomes, or the total value added in
production, but also as the sum of expenditure on the
goods and services produced. Broadly speaking, national
expenditure can be divided between consumption and
adding to wealth. Consumption is taken to comprise all
kinds of current expenditure on goods and services.
whether by private individuals or by collective bodies,
including the government. Adding to wealth is taken to
mean the net additions to the stock of capital assets.
Assets in this sense comprise both physical assets - the
stock of factories, machinery, houses and so on - and
financial assets in the form of holdings of securities and
other claims, and in the form of currency or bank
deposits. But every financial asset or claim is necessarily
a liability of someone else (including currency which is
regarded as a liability of the issuing authority). Hence,
within the nation, financial assets must be offset exactly
by finaricial liabilities. Adding to wealth, or investment, by
the nation as a whole thus means net additions to the
nation’s stock of physical assets together with any net
addition to the total claims by residents of the nation on
residents of other nations, in the form of gold, foreign
exchange, holdings of shares in non-resident enterprises 
trade credit, etc.

The net addition to claims on non-residents will result

from the difference between the value of goods and 
services we sell abroad and those we import and from 
property income earned abroad less property income 
paid abroad.

Just as the national income is not simpiy the sum of 
all Incomes, the national expenditure is not the sum of all 
purchases. It is defined to exclude the transactions that 
occur, for example, when a commodity (yarn for weaving) 
or a service (the carriage of yarn from spinner to weaver) 
is sold for the production of a suit. This amounts to 
drawing a distinction between final and intermediate 
purchasers and transactions. The suit is a final product; 
its purchaser, the consumer, is a final purchaser; and his 
purchase from the tailor is a final transaction, and a part 
of final expenditure. The transactions conducted between 
the tailor and the spinner, the spinner and the weaver, 
the weaver and the transporter, and so on, are all 
Intermediate purchases reflected in the final price of the 
suit and must be excluded. Thus all purchases of goods 
and services for use in current production and 
subsequent resale are intermediate purchases. Note the 
difference between this treatment from the expenditure 
point of view and the treatment from the product side. 
We calculate total domestic product by summing the 
value added by each industry, but total domestic 
expenditure by summing only final purchases.

There is one exception in the expenditure accounts to 
the exclusion of intermediate transactions: goods added 
to stock and additions to work in progress during the 
period, for example a year, must be regarded as 
additions to wealth within that year, and are accordingly 
treated as final expenditure.

National expenditure is thus another aspect of the 
national income and national product, and in a closed 
economy, that is to say, an economy having no 
international trade, the total of all final expenditures - 
total final expenditure ■ would equal the domestic product 
and would relate to the same collection of final goods 
and services. In these circumstances, too, final 
expenditure would consist solely of final expenditure by 
residents of the nation - total domestic expenditure. In an 
open economy, however,
final expenditures also include expenditure on goods and 
sen/ices by residents of other countries (i.e. expenditure 
on exports), so that total final expenditure comprises not 
only total domestic expenditure but also exports of goods 
and services. Moreover, many final goods and services 
contain imported materials: final expenditure on such 
goods and services therefore generates income and 
product not only in the domestic economy but also in the 
overseas countries from which the imports are bought. 
Thus total final expenditure also equals domestic product 
plus imports of goods and services.

In estimating national expenditure it is not in fact 
practicable to eliminate the import content from each kind 
of expenditure, for example, from consumers’ 
expenditure. The statistics from which the estimates of 
consumption and investment are derived relate to the 
total value of the final goods and services concerned, 
including their import content, and the estimate of 
national expenditure is arrived at by subtracting from this 
total value of final products the total value of imported 
goods and services. Thus, national expenditure is 
calculated from total expenditure by residents of the
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nation on all final goods and services, including their 
import content - in other words total domestic 
expenditure - plus exports of goods and services less 
imports of goods and services, plus net property income 
from abroad. It is identical with the value of goods and 
services becoming available as a result of the nation’s 
economic activity, and thus with the national income and 
the national product.

In practice there are errors and omissions in the 
measurement of all three approaches to gross domestic 
product. The series shown in the summary table of 
Financial Statistics is a simple average of the income, 
expenditure and output measures of gross domestic 
product at current market prices.

Gross versus net national product: 
allowance for capital consumption

To each of the three identical aggregates described 
above there corresponds a gross and a nef concept. The 
process of production and the passage of time involve a 
gradual using up of the nation’s productive assets • its 
buildings and machinery. This capital consumption, or 
depreciation, should clearly be taken into account in 
calculating the net annual additions to the nation's stock 
of wealth, and should accordingly be regarded as a 
deduction from income, product and expenditure - from 
income and product, because the using up of assets is 
a necessary cost of earning the income or producing the 
output: from expenditure, because depreciation of capital 
represents a reduction in national wealth. But the main 
aggregates are shown before deducting depreciation, 
mainly because estimates of it can be made only on the 
basis of convention or of some arbitrary principle of 
calculation. The difficulty arises from the fact that the 
cost of using up fixed capital cannot be measured 
directly: it is not represented by actual transactions. In 
business accounting, this unrecorded element In current 
costs of production is met by provisions for depreciation. 
These provisions are generally not of the kind needed for 
national income accounts because in the past they have 
usually been made in terms of the original cost of the 
asset: in other words, they provide for the setting aside 
of the original money outlay during the assumed life of 
the asset. For the national accounts the current charge 
for the use of assets must be calculated in terms of 
current prices - the prices, that is, at which other 
transactions in the accounts are measured. Capital 
consumption allowed for in the national accounts should 
be related to the current value of resources used up in 
production as this is the only way both of securing 
internal consistency between the cost of using capital 
and other current costs of production, and of treating 
consistently the uses of different kinds of capital assets. 
The estimates of capital consumption are based on 
broad assumptions a ^ u t the expected lives of capital 
assets and their pattern of utilisation. Assets are 
assumed to render their services in equal amounts in 
each year of their life - the 'straight line’ basis of 
depreciation.

What all of this amounts to is that the allowance for 
capital resources used up in production is not a unique 
or readily measurable quantity, and that even if it were, 
estimates of income and product before deducting it 
would still be needed for some purposes. The statistics

accordingly give precedence to measurements of gross 
income, product and expenditure, before making 
allowance for depreciation.

To preserve the true significance of the expressions 
national income, national product and national 
expenditure, the terms used to describe the estimates 
before deduction of capital consumption are national 
income plus depreciation, gross national product and 
gross national expenditure. The estimates after deduction 
of capital consumption are described as national income, 
net national product and net national expenditure. In 
published tables the terms generally used are gross 
national product for the gross concept and national 
income for the net concept.

Stock appreciation
A special problem in measuring additions to the 

national wealth arises when allowing for changes in 
stocks. The concepts adopted for the measurement of 
national Income and wealth require a measure of the 
change in stocks valued in the same way as other 
transactions in the system, that is at the prices of the 
period concerned. Business accounting methods, which 
provide most of the statistics actually used for reckoning 
incomes and changes in stocks, adopt a convention 
which results in a rather different valuation in times of 
substantial changes in prices. By this method, profits 
earned by a trading enterprise in a given period are 
calculated by treating stocks taken over from the 
preceding period as a purchase, while stocks handed on 
to the following period are treated as a sale. As a result, 
any increase in the value of stocks between the 
beginning and the end of the period will enter into the 
accounting profit, together with the excess of sales to 
outsiders over the sum of purchases from outsiders, 
payments for labour and depreciation charges. 
Expenditure during the year in purchasing materials is 
allowed as an operating expense, entering the calculation 
of profit only to the extent that the money value of stocks 
and work in progress at the beginning of the year is 
maintained. Any increase in stocks resulting from 
purchases in excess of this will appear as a form of 
investment, in other words, as a use of profits.

if this definition of profit were accepted In national 
income measurement, it would mean that any increase 
over a year in the money value of stocks would be 
treated as adding to wealth, even if the physical volume 
of stocks remained constant or declined. But for a 
measurement of income and stock changes consistent 
with the other flows dealt with in the system of national 
income statistics, it is desirable that additions to wealth 
should include only additions arising from the economic 
activity of the period: any increase in the physical volume 
of stocks should be included, but not an increase in the 
money value of stocks due to a rise in the prices at 
which stocks are valued. The effect of traditional 
accounting methods is that in times of rising prices the 
money value of stocks increases by more than the 
physical volume valued at the prices of the year, and 
book profits thus incorporate an amount which from the 
present point of view must be regarded as a capital gain, 
not as income. The difference is described as stock 
appreciation. In reckoning the national income, product 
and expenditure, the estimated amount of stock
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appreciation is subtracted from the estimate of incomes 
and stock changes derived from accounting data. The 
stock change after this adjustment is described as the 
Value of the physical increase in stocks’. If prices are 
rising, stock appreciation is positive; if prices are falling, 
it is negative, in the sector accounts, consideration of 
stock appreciation is most important in the appropriation 
account of industrial and commercial companies (table 
8.1) where it is distinguished within the figures of gross 
trading profits. See also page 79.

Market prices and factor cost
From the point of view of the purchasers, it is most 

appropriate to value the various forms of final output at 
the prices which are actually paid for that output. But. 
notwithstanding the equality between expenditure and 
income, the aggregate value of goods and services 
calculated in this way will not in general be equal to the 
sum of factor incomes arising from production. This is 
because the price paid by the purchaser often includes 
an indirect tax or a subsidy which accrues to. or is paid 
by, the government and cannot be identified with any 
specific goods or services which the government 
provides, or receives, in return.

There are, therefore, two different ways of valuing 
national expenditure and the national product: at market 
prices, including all taxes on expenditure, and excluding 
all subsidies; or at factor cost, representing only the sum 
of the Incomes of factors of production.

In the official statistics of the United Kingdom, the 
national product is usually expressed at factor cost. In 
the case of national expenditure, the components are 
shown at market prices (the basis on which the statistics 
are naturally compiled), and total national expenditure at 
factor cost is derived by summing the components in 
terms of market prices and then deducting indirect taxes 
and adding subsidies.

Expenditure and output at constant prices
For many purposes, the comparison of estimates of 

gross domestic product over time is of more interest 
when the effects of changes in prices are eliminated. 
Accordingly, estimates of the gross domesf/cproduct and 
its components are made not only in 'current prices’, (the 
prices of the period concerned) but in 'constant prices’, 
that is to say, the average prices of some selected base 
year. Estimates of gross domestic product at constant 
factor cost or constant market prices in principle show 
the growth of the volume of output over some period. It 
should be noted that most tables in Financial Statistics 
are in current price terms.

Accounts by sector and type of activity
If national income and national expenditure are by 

definition equal, then it follows that the statistics can be 
presented in the form of a balanced account, showing for 
example the various kinds of national expenditure on one 
side of the account and the forms of income on the 
other, the two parts adding to the same total. A natural 
extension of this is to show balanced accounts 
summarising the transactions of particular groups or 
entities within the economy. The principal advantage of 
such a framework is that it displays relationships 
between different parts of the economy and different

forms of economic activity. The division of the economy 
into sectors is accordingly a primary feature of a national 
accounting system and this is the main emphasis in 
Financial Statistics.

The national income and expenditure accounts and 
the financial accounts are organised in terms of a few 
consolidated sectors. In principle, these sectors are 
defined in such a way that economic units in each one 
can be expected to behave in broadly similar ways and 
transactions between the sectors have special economic 
significance. The choice of sector boundaries is crucial, 
for In most presentations flows within sectors are omitted. 
In practice, limitations in the available data restrict, to 
some degree, the definitions used. The detailed 
definitions of sectors are given in the respective sections 
of this publication.

Such a system also requires a method of classifying 
transactions which can be applied consistently to the 
various forms of economic activity. There are two points 
of view from which transactions are classified. First, all 
economic activity can be grouped under three headings; 
production, consumption and adding to wealth. A 
production account records the transactions involved in 
the production and supply of goods and services. A 
consumption account (or income and expenditure 
account) records the current expenditure out of the 
income generated in production or received by transfers. 
An account for adding to wealth (or capital account) 
records the use of savings derived from an income and 
expenditure account.

Secondly, all transactions can be divided between:

payments made for the supply of goods or 
services
other payments, i.e. transfer payments such 
as taxes, grants, gifts, interest and payment
for the acquisition of financial assets.

Only the first are relevant to the national product. 
Transfer payments to and from abroad affect the national 
disposable income and the balance of payments.

The production account corresponds roughly to the 
trading account of a firm. The main elements on the 
expenditure side are the current costs of production such 
as materials, rent, wages and salaries and so on and the 
receipts side comprises principally the revenue from 
current sales, together with any subsidies received and 
any additions to the value of stocks and work in 
progress. The balance is trading profits. In the United 
Kingdom national accounts a production account is 
compiled for only one sector, public corporations, and is 
found only in the ‘Blue Book’.

The surplus (or trading profit) derived from the 
production account of a trading enterprise Is carried into 
its income and expenditure account. In the case of 
corporate enterprises this is described as an 
appropriation account. The receipts of income, both from 
its own production account and from other sources, such 
as investments, are shown as distributed to the 
shareholders, the debt-holders, or in taxes to the 
government. What remains, the undistributed income, is 
the enterprise’s saving. Sectors consisting wholly of 
productive enterprises (the company sector and the 
public corporation sector) show no current purchases of 
goods and services on income and expenditure account
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The system of sector accounts
Table numbers in cells relate to the June 1991 issue of Financial Statistics

N . Sector Public sector Banks & Private sector other than 
banks & building societies

Account
Central government

Public

i  building
societies Other

financial
institutions

Industrial
and Personal Overseas

Central
government

Local
authorities

corporations commercial
companies

sector

Income and expenditure 2.1W
C Kb) 8,1lb> 9.1(balance; saving)

3.1**> 4.1(a)
0. V  ' Q .C '''

Capital
(balance: financial 
surplus/defict)

2.2
K 0 10.1

3.2 4.2

1.5 1.9

Financial accounts 2.3
1.6,1.7,6.1 1.8,7.1“«

1.10 1.11 1.12, 
in 0

1.2,3.3,3.4 1.3. 4.3.4.4 1.4, 5.3,5.4

Capital and financial 
transactions; receipts 
and expenditure

8.2(‘̂ 9.2«0

Holdings of financial
(C)̂  S7D<9) 6.1,6.2, 

6.8-6.10,

(7.4,7.6,7.9, 
7.8-7.12)(®> 
14.3, S7H(9>

8.4<'>-14.4, 
S7l«i

9.3-9.5<'>. 
14.5,S2<9>, 

S7Jt9) ■10.3-10.6<̂ M
assets and liabilities 3.7«, 3.9'". 

3.11'", 10.3, 
S7A®

4.S-4.8,
S7B<9» S7C«>

14.2.
S7E<8> 11.2<", 14.1®, S7(F+G)I«

S7m

(a) described as a current account
(b) described as appropriation account
(c) holdings of public sector debt (at nom ir^ values) are published annually as Table S i
(d) sources and users of funds presentation
(e) selected assets and liabilities of groups of institutions only
(f) selected assets and liabilities only

annual balance sheets
selected assets and liabilities only. A fuller statement of assets and liabilities is given 

annually in Unked Kktgdom Balance of Payments- Pink Book 
assets defined as 'm one/ (tables 11 .t *11.2,11.4) 
includes building societies

since they are not regarded as final consumers. Their 
spending comprises distribution of income by transfer 
payments of interest and dividends, grants, or taxes. The 
purchases of goods and services of a productive 
enterprise are wholly on production account or capital 
account.

The analogous income and expenditure account of 
persons mostly contains similar items. Income includes 
the trading profits of unincorporated enterprises (income 
from self-employment and rent) and the factor income of 
employed persons (income from employment), and 
current transfers, mainly grants from the government. 
There is a big difference on the expenditure side 
because persons are final consumers and the bulk of the 
sector’s outlay is devoted to consumers’ expenditure. 
Interest payments are much less important and in some 
presentations are not shown as part of expenditure, but 
are netted off from interest income. The other important 
expenditure items are taxes on income and national 
insurance contributions. As in the case of other sectors, 
what remains after accounting for all expenditure is

saving, and is carried fonward to the capital account. 
(Sectors can of course, spend more than their income in 
some periods and In these cases a negative item, dis
saving, goes to the capital account.)

The sum of the saving of each sector represents the 
total of national saving available for adding to wealth.

The capital account for the nation as a whole shows 
this sum of domestic sectors’ saving as a receipt, 
together with any net capital transfers from the rest of the 
world. These total receipts are balanced by spending on 
additions to wealth, both in the form of physical assets 
(fixed assets or stocks) and financial assets, In the form 
of financial claims on the rest of the world. (UK residents’ 
financial claims on each other cancel out as far as the 
nation as a whole is concerned.)

The capital account for each sector shows as receipts 
the savingon its income and expenditure account, capital 
transfers received both from other domestic sectors and 
from overseas and financial liabilities contracted to other 
sectors. This is balanced on the expenditure side by 
capital transfers paid, the increase in the sector’s
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physical assets and financial assets acquired as claims 
on other sectors. It is often convenient to restrict the 
capital account to the acquisition of physical assets and 
to show only one net item for financial assets acquired 
less liabilities contracted. This financial surplus or 
financial deficit is the balance of capital receipts over 
capital payments. Financial transactions are then shown 
separately in a financial account. For some sectors both 
capital and financial transactions are also shown in a 
combined account, showing sources and uses of funds 
and In this form of presentation, the intermediate balance 
financial surplus or deficit does not appear.

Conceptually, the sum of the financial surplus or deficit 
by the domestic sectors is equal to the net acquisition of 
financial claims on the rest of the world, although in 
practice estimation errors obscure this equality. Physical 
assets held abroad are regarded as financial assets (in 
the same way as physical assets in the United Kingdom 
owned by non-residents are regarded as financial 
liabilities), and the sum of the net acquisition of financial 
assets for ail domestic sectors is then equal in concept 
to net investment abroad.

The financial surplus or deficit is the balance carried 
forward from the sector capital account to the sector 
financial account. Conceptually, the sum of each sector’s 
transactions in financial assets and liabilities is equal to 
this balance. The financial account shows the changes in 
various financial liabilities, such as borrowing and the 
issue of securities and in various financial assets, such 
as loans made, deposits with banks and holdings of 
stocks and shares.

The location of the various types of accounts and 
presentations for each sector is displayed in the previous 
table.

The theoretical relationship between the financial 
accounts and the national accounts can be expressed 
symbolically, as shown in the diagram at the end of the 
Introduction. In practice this has to be modified to take 
account of deficiencies in the available data, which brings 
about a residual error in the national accounts and a 
balancing item in each sector account (see page 28).

Summatv analysis by sector
The table opposite summarises the current, capital 

and financial accounts for 1990 appearing in the various 
sector accounts throughout the ‘Blue Book'. Three 
groups of transactions - inter‘Sector transfers, capital 
transfers and financial transactions - balance out to zero 
as they represent transactions between sectors. The 
other items of income and expenditure which appear in 
the Tofa/column combine to produce the income-based 
and expenditure-based measures of gross domestic 
product at factor cost or market prices. Thus the income- 
based measure at factor cost comprises the sum of the 
first six entries in the total column (see box A). Adding 
taxes on expenditure and deducting subsidies converts 
this to a market price basis. The expenditure-based 
measure of gross domestic product at market prices is 
shown in box B. Deducting taxes on expenditure and 
adding subsidies converts this total to a factor cost basis. 
The estimates of gross national product can be derived 
from gross domestic product by adding net receipts of 
interest, profits and dividends from the rest of the world 
- this appears In the overseas sector column (see box C,

with arithmetic signs reversed).
The summary analysis highlights many of the other 

important economic aggregates. It enables the inter
relationships between the economic aggregates to be 
seen. Boxes D and E show personal disposable income 
and personal consumption respectively, both of which 
contain elements contributing to the income and 
expenditure measures of gross domestic product. The 
current balance in the balance of payments accounts 
appears on the saving row in the overseas sector 
column. In the financial accounts the PSBR and money 
supply M4 are shown in boxes F and G respectively.

Balance sheets
The financial transaction accounts on their own give 

only a partial indication of the behaviour of the various 
sectors. In many cases the reasons for financial flows 
between sectors include a desire to alter the composition 
of a balance sheet. For example, a transaction is often 
undertaken to change the owner’s stock of an asset - 
perhaps as a reaction to, for instance, a change in the 
value of that asset - and should be interpreted in that 
light.

The analysis of the flow transactions of a sector in 
these terms requires additional data on the levels or 
stock of its assets and liabilities. In these terms, the cash 
transactions of a sector over a period will depend not 
only on the amount of new funds flowing in and on such 
influences as actual or anticipated shifts in the relative 
yields of competing investment outlets, but also on the 
overall pattern of the sector’s asset portfolio and of its 
liabilities.

For such analysis we require estimates of the levels of 
important assets and liabilities for various sectors 
covering not only financial items but also physical assets. 
Such comprehensive sector balance sheets need to be 
integrated as far as possible with the cash flow figures in 
the flow of funds accounts by dividing the changes in 
levels between cash flows, changes in market values, 
and other changes (in sector boundaries, for example).

Provisional balance sheets for all sectors of the 
economy, covering both financial items and physical 
assets, were presented in an article by C W Pettigrew in 
November 1980 issue of Economic Trends.

National and sector balance sheets for end-years are 
published in United Kingdom National Accounts (the Blue 
Book). Quarterly estimates of financial assets and 
liabilities of the non-bank private sector are given in 
Financial Statistics chapter 14. Where other figures of 
stocks of financial assets and liabilities appear in 
Financial Statistics this is shown in the diagram on page 
8.

Quality of data
Among the many series published in Financial 

Statistics the quality of the data varies considerably. The 
Handbook endeavours to give for each table or group of 
tables an indication of the reliability of the constituent 
series. For economic and financial series in general the 
statistical measures of standard errors and variances do 
not apply. For financial transactions, a classification 
based on methods of estimation is used (see Section 1, 
page 19).

Some series (principally foreign exchange rates.
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Summary analysis by sector, 1990^

cuRRErrr t r a n s a c t io n s
Factor incomas:

Income from employment 
Income from self-employment 
Gross trading profits, etc 
Rent
Imputed charge for capital consumption 
less stock appreciation

Inter-Mctor transfer*:
Earnings on direct 

investment overseas 
Earnings due abroad 
Dividends and interest:

receipts 
payments 

Taxes on income 
Social security contributions 
Social security benefits 
Community charge 
Other current grants by government:

receipts
payments

Other current transfers: receipts
payments

Royalties and licence fees on oil and 
gas production

Factor cost adjustment:
Taxes on expenditure 
Subsidies

ExpandHurs:
Consumption
Exports of goods and services 
Imports of goods and services

Ba/ances Saving^

CAPfTAL TRANSACTIONS
Gross domestic fixed capital formation 
Value of physical increase in stocks 

and work in progress^
Taxes on capital 
Other capital transfers:

receipts
payments

Balance^ Finartcial surplus or deficit

FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS
Notes and coin 
Sterling treasury bills and 

government securities 
National savings and tax instruments 
Issue Department’s transactions in 

commercial bills
Other government domestic transactions 
Government overseas transactions 
Local authority debt 
Public corporations’ debt 
Deposits with banks:

Sterling sight 
Sterling time 
Foreign currency 

Deposits with building societies 
Bank lending (excluding public sector) 
Other lending 
Trade and retail credit 
UK and overseas securities and 

unit trust units 
Other domestic instruments 
Other overseas instruments 
Accruals adjustments

Total financial transactions

BALANCING ITEM

Personal
secUH

•14086 
36 444 

32 
2310

17 283

£ million

Industrial ar>d Banks ar>d Other
commercial building finar>dal Public
companies societies irtstitutions corporations government authorities sector TOTAL

Central Local Overseas

77 910 
4 469

-5 812

-250

•654

14994
621

87 17 621 56
■109 -7 337 215

70 439 12 409 134 227
-51 571 -51 211 -107 487
-55 79i 2 -18 274 -3 021

- - - - 316 408
- • - • 57 661

4 265 -545 562 • 67198
589 142 3 406 38 433

- 1 623 2 070 - 4 278
•114 • - -6 391

1 • • •17 765 m

• 7 231

1 258 9655 1 466 70 027 \ .

2 514 -17 872 -5 304 -63 522 / •

•176 77 262 - -

- 34 775
- -49 415 • 605
- - 8 811

2193 
•51 421 

504

38 088 
-6 063

6 223 
2193 
2 100 
1 800

654

:
-

73 941 
-5573

-66 858

5126
-644

-42 637
•134 108 
147 582

B

E

79 067 
-6 217

•458 916 
-134 108 
147 582

-349 421 -

• •

34 728 29 071 9 561 3309 9 065 4 881 14 380 104 995

-26 080 -55 235 -6 484 -4 855 -6 398 -6143 • -105195

-425 1 113 185 -155 - . 718
-725 -150 ♦ 4 082 - • •

3 082 514 5 770 . 2111 -1
-90 -174 • -125 -10 268 -820 -1 •

8 008 -25 436 2 927 4 284 -3 674 29 14 380 518

-32

-4 040

•146

I I I

-254

-2 016 
11 019 
2866 

-2360

3 103 
485 
437 

1 632

20 070 
-38 190 
•1 389 
-1 192

-2 624 
12 169 
-1 499

3 308

-24 4< 848 -5 831 3 759 -2 944 -796 12 081

-9 275 -1 036 7 910 -730 825 2 299 518

1 Figures as published in the 1991 CSO Slue Book'.
2 Excluding tax credits.

3 After providing for so>ck appreciation but before providing for 
additioru to dividend and tax reserves.

4 A positive figure indicates a decrease in stocks.
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interest rates and security prices) are accurate at the 
time and place at which they are measured, but users 
should remember that they vary at intermediate dates or 
in other markets.

Other publications
Quarterly sector income and expenditure and capital 

accounts are also published in Economic Trends, as 
supporting tables to the quarterly national income article 
and, in certain cases, in the regular tables. Economic 
Trends also includes a limited amount of information on 
financial transactions.

Sector accounts, including financial accounts and 
balance sheets, for a long run of annual periods are 
published in United Kingdom Natbnal Accounts (the

‘Blue Book).
The Bank of England publishes an annual article in the 

Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin each year 
commenting on sector financial transactions in the 
previous year.

As well as presenting UK quarterly sector accounts. 
Financial Statistics includes a range of general financial 
statistics. Most of these are published elsewhere, often 
in more detail, or more quickly. References to these 
other sources are given in the notes to individual tables.

Data in Financial Statistics can be obtained in 
computer readable form via the CSO Databank service, 
and long runs of some financial series are published in 
Economic Trends Annual Supplement (HMSO, 
annually).

79 067 
•6217

)6916
M106
17562

M995

5195

718

516

18
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Section 1
Financial accounts

The financial accounts set out the transactions in 
financial assets and liabilities which accompany each 
economic sector’s current and capital transactions. They 
provide a statistical framework for the analysis of 
financial transactions and enable those of one sector to 
be directly related to those of other sectors. Many of the 
tables in the remaining sections of Financial Statistics 
provide raw material to compile these accounts.

A summary of the financial accounts is given in table 
1.1. This shows a two-way classification of financial 
transactions, analysing them by type of transaction and 
by sector for the latest quarter for which data are 
available. This makes it possible to relate a sector’s 
transactions in a particular financial instrument to its 
transactions in other instruments and to the transactions 
by other sectors.

The first five lines of table 1.1 are a summary of the 
sectors’ capital accounts, starting with each sector’s 
saving from its current account. The table therefore 
provides an outline statistical framework for a complete 
system of accounts, covering the financial and non- 
financial transactions of the different sectors.

The matrix presentation in table 1.1 is necessarily 
restricted to a single time period. Tables 1.2 to 1.12 give 
details of financial transactions of individual sectors for a 
run of periods. Line numbers against types of transaction 
in table 1.1 are repeated in column headings in tables 
1.2 to 1.12 to help show how the tables are connected.

A feature of the financial accounts is that transactions 
in a particular financial instrument, or group of 
instruments, by all sectors sum to zero. The sum across 
sectors for each line in table 1.1, for example, is zero. 
This is because each purchase of a financial asset or 
lending is matched by another sector’s sale or borrowing. 
Tables which exemplify this principle can be drawn up for 
a run of periods for particular financial instruments. 
Tables 3.5, 3.7 and 3.11 are on these lines for three 
types of central government instrument. Similar tables 
are also given for UK company securities, loans for 
house purchase and SAVE contracts.

An alternative format of each sector’s financial account 
is included in the relevant section of Financial Statistics. 
The relationships between the categories of financial 
transaction in Section 1 and those in other sections are 
set out in the table on page 31.

The CSO and Bank of England are jointly responsible 
for the financial accounts and their matrix classifications 
are the same. The Bank, however, provides rather 
different time series for each sector, akin to tables 
appearing in the other sections of Financial Statistics. 
The Bank seasonally adjusts all its data and some of its 
seasonally adjusted figures are used in the other 
sections of Financial Statistics.^

Use of financial accounts
The financial accounts show how each sector’s 

financial transactions are related to its saving and capital 
expenditure and how financial transactions generally are 
related to each other within and between sectors. The 
accounts are therefore a basis for examining the financial 
effects of economic policy and for helping to decide 
future policy. They can be used, for example, to 
investigate factors influencing the money supply or other

holdings of financial instruments, in particular effects of 
changes in interest rates. They can also help companies 
and others to understand the financial surroundings in 
which they are operating, for example by helping them to 
assess competition in the market for funds.

The figures for financial institutions give details of the 
large amounts which are channelled through them as 
financial intermediaries. The scale of this activity makes 
it important to know changes in their sources of funds 
and in how the funds are used, for example, how much 
is used to take up government debt, lent for house 
purchase, purchases of overseas securities, etc. The 
transactions of the financial institutions affect the liquidity, 
current and capital expenditure of other sectors, and the 
financing of the public sector borrowing requirement.

The financial accounts are helpful to anyone who 
wants to link together the mass of otherwise disjointed 
economic and financial developments reported in the 
press. They also help in assessing the relative 
importance of particular kinds of institution and financial 
Instrument.

Underpinning these uses, the accounts provide a 
discipline which requires the constituent statistics to be 
defined and compiled consistently. Aggregates within the 
accounts such as the public sector borrowing 
requirement, consumer credit, and measures of the 
money supply are consistent with each other and with all 
the other transactions in the accounts.

The current, capital and financial accounts provide a 
complete set of flow accounts for each sector. In 
principle, flows into and out of each sector should exactly 
balance. In practice, a balancing item is needed, 
reflecting errors and omissions anywhere in the three 
types of account. The sizes of the balancing items and 
their variation from period to period are helpful in 
assessing the quality of the statistics and may indicate 
need for new sources of data or improvements in 
methodology.

Forecasting
The accounts are particularly useful in forecasting, for 

they permit one not only to discern past relationships 
between economic and financial variables, and 
extrapolate them into the future, but also to assemble the 
various elements of such a forecast in a framework 
which allows them to be tested against each other for 
consistency and plausibility.

Since the early 1960's official financial forecasts have 
been constructed in financial accounts form, in 
association with the forecasts of income, expenditure, 
saving, the current account of the balance of payments 
and so on. A description of these was given in an article 
in the June 1977 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin. The financial accounts forecast shows the 
possible implications of the other forecasts for the 
system, and allows financial factors to be considered 
when drawing up the other forecasts. During this 
process, the financial forecasts provide a consistency 
and plausibility check on the other forecasts - if, for 
example, it appears from the financial forecast that there 
will be insufficient funds available to finance predicted 
investment by companies, then the national income 
forecasters may have to adjust their predictions
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accordingly. The financial forecast can then be used as 
a background against which policy decisions can be 
taken - if the financial prospects are unpalatable, the 
government may make a policy change, and all the 
forecasts would be reworked to take account of it.

The great merit of the financial accounts matrix in this 
process is that it keeps the various elements of the 
forecast In touch with each other and compels the 
forecaster to take explicit numerical account of all the 
implications of a change. A rise in the public sector 
borrowing requirement for example, must be explained In 
the public sector columns by some increase in the 
combined financial deficit for the three component 
sectors and/or lending to other sectors. At the same time, 
the increased borrowing necessary to satisfy this higher 
public sector borrowing requirement must be found from 
other sectors, and the forecast has to allow for funds 
being made available by them. Perhaps they lend less 
for other purposes, in which case the ripples spread even 
further, for the borrowers thus deprived will have to find 
funds elsewhere or cut back their own activities. The 
matrix pushes all the implications of the original impulse 
into the open, where they have to be considered 
explicitly. Developments in this area are described in 
Government Economic Service Working Paper No. 17: A 
Financial Sector for the Treasury Model.

Classification of assets
Financial assets have several attributes which can be 

used as a basis for classification. Among these are:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d )

type of instrument, i.e. loan, security, deposit, 
etc.
marketability - possible, e.g. with a listed 
security but nearly impossible with a building 
society deposit
capital certainty - the ability to recover the full 
amount advanced at least in money value 
terms
liquidity ‘ the remaining maturity, irredeemable, 
long, medium or short, at the time (as well as 
original maturity - the period for which an 
instrument is to stand from the time it is 
created)
terms of payment of interest - periodicity; 
whether optional, fixed or variable 
terms of repayment of capital ■ instalment, 
variable or fixed
type of record - registered or unregistered 
issuing sector - the sector for which the claim 
is a liability

It would be helpful to classify on all of these attributes 
but this would mean a very detailed classification, which 
would absorb too many resources, both private and 
public.

The UK classification is based mainly on three criteria 
and then is not fully rigorous. These are the institutional 
sector upon which the asset is a claim (h), the type of 
instrument (a), and the relative degree of liquidity of the 
assets (encompassing the characteristics (b), (c) and (d) 
above). The most liquid assets are notes and coin and 
the least liquid are long-term assets such as loans and 
mortgages. But it is not always easy to decide on the 
relative liquidity of different assets; an asset may have a

(e)

(f)

(g)
(h)

long period to maturity but be a liquid asset in the sense 
that it is readily marketable, although at some risk of 
capital loss. A classification by issuing sector is 
particularly convenient for financial accounts because 
many assets are the liability of only one sector.

In the UK system, the liquidity detail is incomplete, 
thus British government securities are not divided 
according to their period of maturity, which varies from 
less than a year to irredeemable. Also, transactions in 
company and overseas securities are not divided 
between debenture, preference shares and ordinary 
shares. Overseas assets are generally classified on a 
sector basis because of their importance in considering 
international capital movements. Liabilities of the three 
components of the public sector are also distinguished in 
order to help to show how the public sector borrowing 
requirement is financed. Even with these limitations, 
nearly forty categories are shown in the financial 
accounts. The main purpose of this amount of detail is to 
provide building blocks for users to adapt to their own 
needs.

Net presentation
The presentation in the financial accounts is 'net’ in 

several respects. This involves some loss of information 
but makes for simpler presentation, and gross data are 
not always available.

First, all transactions within a sector - for example 
between one bank and another, or one person and 
another - are, as far as possible, consolidated; that is 
they are netted out and not included in the accounts. 
Only those transactions crossing sector boundaries are 
recorded. Obviously the greater the aggregation of 
sectors, the fewer transactions are recorded in the 
accounts.

Secondly, the level of aggregation in the classification 
of assets affects the presentation of the accounts. More 
information is revealed if fifty asset categories are 
identified rather than twenty. In particular, more 
information would be revealed if primary transactions (i.e. 
new issues) were shown separately from secondary 
transactions (i.e. those in existing assets), but virtually no 
data of this kind are available.

Thirdly, for each type of asset identified in the 
accounts, the total shown for each quarter is the net flow 
- i.e. the overall effect of a large number of transactions 
in offsetting directions. For example, in a particular 
quarter the figure in the accounts for deposits by the 
personal sector in building societies might be £500 
million. This net figure summarises a very large number 
of deposits and withdrawal transactions by many 
individuals. Typically it hides the fact that gross flows are 
very much larger i.e. the £500 million could well have 
been the outcome of £2,800 million deposits less £2,300 
million withdrawals. It so happens, that for building 
societies’ deposits (and loans) these gross figures are 
available (table 6.8) but this is the exception rather than 
the rule. Other examples where gross figures are 
available are national savings instruments (table 3.10) 
and instalment credit granted by retailers (table 7.5. 
Figures of gross flows are rarely available analysed by 
sector and for most types of financial asset gross figures 
are not available at all. Gross data in this sense are not 
particularly important in the case of assets which are
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Financial accounts

characterised by large numbers of highly reversible 
transactions, such as for short-term financial assets in 
the money markets. They would be useful when new 
borrowing and redemptions are determined by different 
sets of underlying forces, or in describing the behaviour 
of borrowers.

Lastly, the financial transactions are aggregated over 
a period, usually one quarter, and only the outcome of 
many individual transactions during that period is shown. 
For example, large purchases of a particular kind of 
security by sector in the first month of a quarter, followed 
by sales of these securities in the third month are not 
recorded in a quarterly system of accounts.

Sources and uses of funds
Tables 1.1 to 1.12, do not put any emphasis on the 

distinction between a sector’s transactions in its financial 
liabilities and transactions In its financial assets. The 
accounts are rearranged in this way in table 7.1 (for 
other financial institutions), table 8.2 (industrial and 
commercial companies) and table 9.2 (personal sector). 
The last two are extended to include the capital account. 
These tables are described as sources and uses of funds 
accounts. In these tables transactions in liabilities (i.e. 
net borrowing) of the sector are regarded as sources of 
funds, and transactions in assets of the sector (i.e. net 
lending, including investments in liquid assets) are 
regarded as uses of funds.

The terms sources and uses in this presentation are 
somewhat ambiguous. No attempt is made to allow for 
the fact that repayment of borrowing on the sources side 
is actually an outflow and that run down of assets on the 
uses side is actually an inflow.

A similar presentation for the banks’ sector is shown 
in table 6.2, where transactions are split between 
deposits and lending, and in tables 3.3, 4.3 and 5.3 for 
central government, local authorities and public 
corporations, where transactions are split in broad terms 
between those in financial liabilities (including the 
borrowing requirement) and those in financial assets. The 
relationships between these tables and those in Section 
1 are shown in the table on page 31.

Sign convention
A sector’s balance on its current and capital accounts,

i.e. Its financial surplus or deficit, is matched by the 
balance of its total financial transactions. The convention 
is to give these balances the same sign. Net financial 
surpluses are shown with positive sign, and so are net 
purchases of assets and net reductions in liabilities. 
Conversely, net financial deficits are negative and so are 
net sales of assets and net increases in liabilities.

Valuation
In the UK financial accounts, the object is to value 

each transaction at the price at which the asset is 
exchanged, which means that when an asset is sold, the 
value recorded is the amount received from the sale, and 
when an asset is acquired, the value is the amount paid 
by the purchaser. These recorded transactions are then 
consistent with, for instance, any corresponding changes 
in bank balances. Transactions are thus recorded on a 
cash value basis.

Unrealised capital gains and losses are not recorded

14

in the financial accounts, and realised capital gains and 
losses are not distinguished. A person may sell a block 
of shares for £1,000 after having paid, say £900 for them 
at an earlier date and so make a capital gain of £100. 
The financial accounts will record only the cash 
transactions - the purchase of stock for £900, and the 
sale of stock for £1,000. Some unrealised gains and 
losses are included unavoidably because, in a few cases, 
it is not possible to obtain figures for transactions directly 
and estimates are entered as changes in the value of 
holdings. For short-term sterling assets this is not serious 
because their value does not change, or moves only 
within narrow limits. For securities and foreign currency 
items changes in holdings will often be very different 
from the cash transactions. In practice most of the 
figures for securities are reported transactions and 
estimates are made of valuation changes in most foreign 
currency items.*

Timing of transactions
The current, capital and financial accounts are 

intended to be on a common time base. This involves the 
problem of recording transactions between sectors in the 
same account period for both sectors and of recording 
accompanying transactions within sector in the same 
account period.

Within sector accounting is, in principle, a double entry 
system with timing arranged as follows. Transactions in 
the current and capital accounts are generally recorded 
when change of ownership takes place and/or amounts 
become due. These transactions where completed in the 
account period (i.e. payment made) and transactions 
which are entered as payments are accompanied in the 
financial account by transfers of bank deposits, notes 
and coin, or other means of settlement. Transactions 
which are not completed in the account period are 
accompanied in the financial account by entries in trade 
credit (for items which derive from the production 
account) or in accruals adjustment {ior other items, such 
as interest which has accrued but not yet been paid). 
When these transactions are completed in later time 
periods, the timing adjustments are reversed and the 
amounts included in bank deposits, notes and coin, etc.

Timing consistency therefore depends on consistency 
between measurements of change of ownership, 
payment, timing adjustment and settlement. These span 
a wide range of data sources whose consistency is 
difficult to assess. For example, the financial surplus or 
deficit oi industrial and commercial companies Includes 
their profit figures derived ultimately from tax 
assessments. Their trade credit entries include data 
drawn from export credit guarantees. Figures for their 
bank deposits are obtained from data provided by banks.
It is unlikely that these sources will always measure 
associated transactions in the same account period. 
Timing consistency of the trade credit figures, however, 
is overshadowed by their poor coverage.

Bank deposits are measured, in principle, at the time 
cheques are banked, standing orders and giro transfers 
deducted and direct debits credited. When the 
measurement is made, some of these transactions are 
not yet cleared through the banking system and appear 
as 'items in transit’ in the aggregate banks sector 
balance sheet. These are approximately allocated to

N
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deposits and lending to produce data as though 
clearance had been instantaneous. (On the basis of 
occasional studies, the net excess of debit over credit 
items is allocated to the industrial and commercial 
companies sector; 60% is deducted from its deposits and 
40% added to its advances.) The effect of this, for 
cheque payments for example, is that receipts in the 
current account are probably recorded a day or two later 
than payments because of postage time and associated 
movements of bank deposits are probably recorded a 
little later again, since not all cheques will be banked on 
the day they are received.

In the financial accounts, transactions in instruments 
other than timing adjustments and means of settlement, 
are recorded broadly when ownership changes, but the 
distinction from when payment is made is less sharp than 
in the current and capital accounts. Many loans, for 
example, come into existence only when the amount is 
paid. For many other instruments settlement is quick if 
not instantaneous. Transactions in government securities, 
for example, are settled the following day.

Much of the data for company securities are directly 
reported by 'other financial institutions'. They are asked 
to measure their transactions according to contract date. 
Payments may be awaiting settlement day, so the 
institutions are also asked to report amounts due to or 
from stockbrokers, which are included in the financial 
accounts in miscellaneous domestic instnjments and 
which provide the required timing adjustment.

Timing consistency between sectors is affected by 
similar measurement problems. Where the sources differ 
for accompanying entries they are unlikely to be 
completely consistent. Timing inconsistencies between 
measures of income and expenditure contribute to the 
residual error in the national accounts. Inconsistencies 
between sectors in other items contribute to the 
balancing items of the two sectors immediately 
concerned and of any residual sector. For many entries, 
particularly in the financial accounts, inconsistencies 
between sectors are avoided by estimating both ends of 
a transaction from the same source. For example, 
deposits with building societies are estimated from 
building society data for both the other financial institution 
sector and the personal sector.

Timing discrepancies, can cause distortions in gross 
flows over a shorter (e.g. monthly) account period but are 
less Important the longer the account period. They are 
likely to be small compared with gross flows during a 
quarter. This is not always quite so likely for the net flows 
measured in the financial accounts. Timing
discrepancies, nevertheless, tend to even out over 
successive periods, and care is taken to ensure that 
specific large transactions, such as arise when there is 
a major privatisation, are entered consistently.

Timeliness
Figures for the central government’s financial 

transactions are available a few days from endof-quarter 
and for the local authorities and banks sectors within 
about a month from end-of-quarter. Figures for the 
balance of payments accounts become available during 
the second month, as do returns from building societies, 
nationalised industries and other public corporations.
Accounts for the nublic. henkinn hllilHinn cnriatioc anH

overseas sectors are then produced. Many of the results 
from 'other financial institutions', notably insurance 
companies and pension funds, do not become available 
until the third or fourth month. Only when returns are 
complete can the financial accounts for the quarter be 
put together and all the figures for the personal sector 
and the industrial and commercial company sector be 
derived. Full financial accounts for the quarter appear 
four months in arrears, although certain Information is 
issued by press notice as it becomes available.

A general outline of sources and 
methods for the financial accounts

The sources and methods for estimating sector 
transactions In each kind of asset identified in the 
financial accounts are described separately on pages 16 
to 27. However, it is useful first to consider these details 
against a background of general principles, beginning 
with an entirely theoretical ideal system of data collection 
and then explaining how for practical reasons it is 
necessary to depart from this ideal in a number of ways, 
all of which reduce the comprehensiveness and accuracy 
of the accounts.

An ideal system of data collection • involving scarcely 
any estimation and assuming no cost constraints > could 
be envisaged as follows.

The system would be mandatory, quarterly or more 
frequent reporting by every economic unit (including 
every individual person) of details of every financial 
transaction in a period, giving details of the other party to 
the transaction in each case. All reports of these 
transactions would be made to a single central authority, 
which maintained a continually updated register or list of 
all economic units, each classified to a sector. Given the 
full cO'Operation of respondents the compilation of 
statistics would thus be a gigantic arithmetical operation. 
Because financial accounts are a subsystem within the 
national accounts, it is likely that such a system would 
operate as part of a comprehensive system of data 
collection of details of current account and capital 
investment transactions (including balance of payments 
statistics), thus pushing the onus for establishing full 
articulation between various parts of the accounts down 
to the level of the reporting unit.

In practice such a system is not feasible because the 
reporting burden and administrative costs would make it 
completely impractical to operate. Nevertheless, 
envisaging such a system provides a useful conceptual 
starting point to discuss problems that arise over 
departures from this ideal system, all of which are at risk 
to increase the size of the balancing item in the 
accounts. A brief list of these departures on the financial 
side (but not on the national income side) is given below, 
together with problems that are likely to arise in each 
case.

1. No two-way check.
The ideal system outlined would involve reporting by 

each party to the transaction, thus providing a two-way 
check in each case, and providing an opportunity to 
resolve discrepancies with the economic unit concerned. 
If for a sector there is no direct reporting then one is 
dependent on reporting by counterpart sectors only and
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this check cannot operate.

2. Sampling.
Sampling is usual in some areas and introduces 

errors, particularly where it is not possible to select and 
operate a properly representative sample or to develop 
a good grossing up method. The departure from 100% 
coverage reduces the opportunity to employ a two-way 
check on the individual transactions.

3. Non-coincident periods.
Error arises when economic units report in respect of 

periods which are not exactly coincident with the 
calendar quarters used in the national accounts. This 
tends to occur when reporting units draw up their books 
for dates other than calendar quarter dates and it is not 
possible for them to make returns for the proper dates.

4. Timing errors.
As noted above, timing errors occur - and might do so 

even with our ideal system - when the two parties to a 
financial transaction do not regard their involvement In 
the transaction to be on the same day. This arises, for 
example, as explained earlier, because there is a delay 
between the initiation and completion of transactions 
through the banking system. Thus at the end of the 
period there are 'items in transit’. In some cases, transit 
items are roughly allocated by sector.

5. Inconsistent sector classification.
In cases where reporting units classify other parties to 

financial transactions to sectors there are strong 
possibilities of error; the reporting unit may misclassify 
the counterpart unit because it does not know its correct 
sector or, for example, where funds are borrowed 
through an agent, it is not sure of the counterpart’s 
identity. The fact that the information is then returned in 
aggregated form means that the opportunity for checking 
individual transactions is reduced.

6. Non-coverage of some financial transactions.
This occurs when there is no direct reporting from two 

or more sectors, for there Is then no means of knowing 
about transactions between these sectors; this is most 
acute in respect of the personal and industrial and 
commercial company sectors. It can also happen in the 
case of direct reporting when respondents are unable to 
give details of certain financial transactions or cannot do 
so without excessive work.

Sources and methods in practice
In setting up a system of financial accounts the first 

source of data for an official statistician is naturally the 
central government itself, which can provide information 
on its own transactions and often on the counterpart 
sectors. Generally, information from central government 
records is of high quality, although not ideally suited 
necessarily for use in the national and financial accounts. 
Information for the rest of the public sector is slower and 
less complete; not all public corporations report their 
financial transactions, for example. Much use is made of 
counterpart sources and a number of estimates have 
also to be made.

Another very important source is the balance of
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payments statistics, which, with a certain amount of 
adjustment and rearrangement, are used in the financial 
accounts (see Overseas sector below).

For those transactions which take place entirely 
between the private domestic sectors, undoubtedly the 
most cost effective way of capturing many of them is to 
send forms to the banks and other financial institutions, 
for them to provide analyses of the sector sources of the 
funds they borrow and receive, the sector recipients of 
the funds they lend and their holdings of different types 
of securities. But these methods do not of course capture 
the transactions that by-pass the financial system, that Is 
those between the personal sector and industrial and 
commercial company sector. Transactions in marketable 
securities by those sectors are one example; issuing 
institutions have little or no information about transactions 
in the negotiable securities which they issue, which have 
to be indirectly estimated. Some other transactions 
between these sectors (e.g. trade credit) are left 
unrecorded. All this is because, with the exception of 
some minor enquiries to industrial and commercial 
companies, there are no direct statistical enquiries to 
these sectors that produce results which are 
comprehensive and usable in the financial accounts. For 
a number of reasons published accounts cannot be used 
as a source. For individuals, experience suggests that 
direct enquiries, even sample sun/eys. on financial flows 
are unlikely to be fruitful in the context of the financial 
accounts. The following is a sector by sector outline 
description of statistical sources; there are more detailed 
descriptions in the notes to Sections 2 to 10.

Central government
Details of financial transactions of central government 

are based on quarterly returns by government 
departments and the accounts of the Treasury. These 
returns are generally supplementary to various detailed 
statistics which are available, such as the accounts of the 
Consolidated Fund and National Loans Fund, the 
Estimates, appropriation accounts. Northern Ireland 
government accounts. National Insurance Funds 
accounts. Exchange Equalisation Account (EEA) 
transactions and a host of other mostly minor accounts. 
These accounts are generally prepared annually and 
relate to years ending 31 March. They form the basic 
sources for information on central government 
transactions but few of the figures used in the national 
accounts are readily identifiable in these sources. The 
national income accounts present the results of a fairly 
elaborate process first of consolidation, to eliminate many 
types of internal transactions, and then of rearrangement. 
But most of the calendar year figures and quarterly 
figures are derived from the special quarterly returns 
mentioned above although in some cases interpolation of 
financial year figures have to be used. For the latest year 
or quarters some figures are based on provisional 
estimates and may be revised later.

Local authorities
The best source of information for local authorities is 

the statutory annual returns for fiscal years which are 
summarised for England in Local Government Financial 
Statistics (there are similar publications for Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland). These have two drawbacks
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however; first, they do not provide calendar year or 
quarterly data and secondly they are returned well in 
arrears. To make estimates for quarters and the most 
recent periods, special quarterly returns have been 
established, of which those most relevant to the financial 
accounts are returns for loans for house purchase and 
monthly returns of borrowing and lending. Loans to other 
local authorities are netted out in the local authority 
accounts. Figures for direct transactions with central 
government, for example loans from central government, 
are taken from the central government account. Changes 
in bank deposits are obtained from figures supplied in 
returns from the banks sector (see Banks sector below).

Public corporations
A certain amount of information is available from 

published accounts but these do not provide data for 
quarters or the latest periods, so quarterly returns from 
the larger public corporations have been established to 
cover their financial transactions. Other information In the 
public corporation account comes from counterpart 
sources e.g. central government loans from central 
government accounts and bank advances and changes 
in bank deposits from information supplied In returns by 
the banks sector. Statistics of borrowing under the 
exchange cover scheme are derived from administrative 
records maintained for the scheme in the Treasury and 
from Bank of England data on the Exchange Equalisation 
Account.

Banks sector
Statistics of assets and liabilities of the banks sector 

are compiled by the Bank of England from returns made 
by recognised banks and licensed deposit-taking 
institutions. The returns provide details of assets and 
liabilities at the end of calendar quarters, including sector 
analyses of deposits and of advances and loans. An 
extensive reform of banking statistics was implemented 
in 1975, the sector was enlarged at the end of 1981, and 
the statistics were reviewed again in 1982. For further 
information see articles in Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin for June 1975 New banking statistics and Money 
and banking figures: forthcoming changes in December 
1981. A further article was published in the March 1983 
bulletin. (See also Section 6.)

Building societies
Data for building societies are compiled from quarterly 

returns to the Building Societies Commission and the 
Bank of England.

Other financial institutions
Figures of transactions in financial assets and liabilities 

by the main groups of other financial institutions are 
compiled from quarterly returns to the Central Statistical 
Office and the Bank of England, as listed below.

Investmtnt 
Insurance ccmpaniaa

Group of financiai institutions 
Trustaa Savings Banks 
(up to 31 Dacambar lS d l) 

Canral Trustaa Saving i% rk  
(up to 31 Dacambar I0d1) 

NatonaJ Savings Bank 
(invastmant account up 
to 31 Dacambar IddO] 
Financa housas and otbar 
aadft grantors*
Preparty unit trusts 
Unit trusts

Rasponsibility for inquiry 
NationaJ Invastmant and Loans 
(Mc$
Bank of England and 
C an tif StabsScsi Offioa 

Natior^al Invastmant and Loans 
CMca

Cantral Statisbcal Offica

Bank of Enĵ and 
Bank of England

Pansion funds
Spacisf financa agendas and 
mscallanaous instrtjtions

Bank of England 
Association of British Insurars. 
Asaodatiort of coilacting Fhandfy 
Sodatias and 
Cantrd Statistical Offica 

CantraJ Statistical Offtca 
Bank of England

* Many finance houses became pan of the banks sector at the and of 1B61

other institutions which should in principle be recorded 
in this sector are not covered in general, but from the 
beginning of 1982 returns by the banks’ sector in respect 
of its borrowing and lending classify them correctly. See 
the introduction to Section 7.

Industrial and commercial companies
Very little direct information is available for financial 

transactions of industrial and commercial companies and 
estimating methods are very similar to those for the 
personal sector (see below). Direct returns on some 
overseas financial transactions received for the balance 
of payments accounts are also used in the financial 
accounts and retailers report their instalment credit 
lending. The Central Statistical Office Financial and 
Liabilities Survey (formerly The Survey of company 
liquidity) (see table 8.6), is restricted to a selection of 
large companies and the results are not used for the 
financial accounts except where no other information is 
available. An alternative direct source is the published 
company accounts. These are analysed and aggregated 
by the Central Statistical Office and the results published 
in Business Monitor MA3. There are objections to using 
this source for the financial accounts; for example the 
mixture of accounting years, the inclusion of overseas 
branches and subsidiaries, the lack of detail on 
transactions in financial assets, and the lack of 
timeliness. The analysis has, however, to be used to 
estimate certain transactions in securities. For further 
information see article entitled Statistics on industrial and 
commercial companies in Statistical News. May 1977 
and two articles on the analysis of published accounts in 
Statistical News, February 1979.

Personal sector
No direct returns are received from the personal sector 

and estimates of its financial transactions are generally 
based either on information provided by other sectors or 
on assumptions about the sectoral distribution of 
particular financial assets. Details of how the estimates 
are made are given later in this section, which describes 
how estimates are made for each asset. There seems no 
prospect of Introducing direct sources of information on 
financial transactions by the personal sector as a whole. 
Sample surveys of households asking about their 
transactions are costly and Financial accounts are not 
very reliable; one difficulty is the need to include a 
relatively large number of households in the higher 
income groups, where response to a voluntary survey is 
usually particularly low. Figures are obtained on assets 
and liabilities held by persons from the administration of 
capital transfer tax and capital gains tax by Inland 
Revenue, but for various reasons they are not suitable 
for estimating transactions over a period.

Overseas sector
The items appearing in the financial account for the 

overseas sector are mainly taken from the balance of
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payments capital account described in Section 10, and 
set out in detail in the annual 'Pink Book" ■ United 
Kingdom Balance of Payments. A substantial part of this 
account is compiled from sources used for other sectors' 
accounts also, namely the banking statistics, statistical 
Inquiries to other financial institutions and central 
government records together with information available 
within the Bank of England on various other official 
transactions. Other statistics, specifically required for 
balance of payments purposes, are derived from inquiries 
into the overseas direct Investment of companies (with 
separate inquiries to oil companies); inquiries into 
international portfolio investment transactions by dealers 
in securities; various sources of international trade credit 
information including the Export Credits Guarantee 
Department, public corporations and companies; data on 
United Kingdom non-banks’ transactions with banks 
overseas, available from the Bank for International 
Settlements; and various sources for minor transactions. 
Data on transactions in the latest quarter between the 
non-bank private sector and banks overseas are not 
available from the Bank for International Settlements. As 
a consequence, lines 37. 39 and 40 of section 1 are 
incomplete, and in table 10.1 as in the Balance of 
Payments press notice the transactions fall 
indistinguishably into the balancing item. A reconciliation 
between the financial accounts and the balance of 
payments accounts is published as a supplementary 
table and last appeared, with figures for 1989, in the 
September 1991 issue of Financial Statistics.

Table 1.1
Transactions in financial assets

This table presents financial transactions analysed in 
matrix format by type of financial asset. The sum of each 
sector's transactions over all financial assets is shown in 
the line total financial transactions and the arithmetical 
difference between it and the sector’s financial surplus or 
deficit, as measured from the current and capital 
accounts, is described as the balancing item. The nature 
of the unidentified transactions is discussed separately 
on page 27 and in the diagram on page 28.

The list of assets running in rows down the page is 
ordered first generally by liability sector, beginning with 
those financing the public sector borrowing requirement 
(lines 6 to 21 of the matrix) and secondly broadly from 
the more liquid to the less liquid assets.

As the financial assets are classified in uniform way 
for each sector, it is possible to relate the acquisition of 
a particular financial asset by one sector to the 
associated changes in the assets and liabilities of each 
of the other sectors. Financial accounts time series for 
each of the sectors are given in tables 1.2 to 1.12.

Annex 2 gives the four digit identifiers for table 1.1. 
Similar codes appear on all tables in Financial Statistics, 
showing the relationships between the series and 
enabling ease of reference.

Tables 1.2 to 1.12
Sector financial accounts

These tables are concerned with each of the nine 
sectors identified in the matrix table 1.1, which presents
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the various financial transactions in the form of time 
series. There are also extra tables for the public sector 
and financial companies and institutions sector as a 
whole. The tables provide a summary of each sector's 
financial activities over time. The asset categories are 
consistent with the matrix and are broadly comparable 
from one table to another, though more detail is shown 
for individual financial instruments where the transactions 
are particularly important to the sector. The line numbers 
in the matrix are repeated In the headings of the time 
series tables to show how the asset categories 
correspond.

Tables 1.1 to 1.12
Scope of headings: by line of 
matrix

In the notes which follow, the number in each heading 
relates to the line of the matrix. Some information about 
the reliability of estimates is included in the notes, but an 
overall guide to reliability is shown on page 19.

6 Notes and coin
Because the issue department of the Bank of England 

is classified as part of central government, the issue of 
Bank of England notes is a source of finance for the 
central government, as is the issue of coin by the 
Treasury. The figures for the central government relate 
to net issues of notes and coin less changes in the 
amounts held by the Bank of England banking 
department, the latter being included in the item net 
government indebtedness to the banking department, 
described on pages 20 and 21.

The figures for public corporations mainly reflect 
working balances held by the Post Office. The figures for 
the banks sector (which here excludes the Bank of 
England banking department as far as issue department 
notes are concerned) relate to changes in its holdings of 
notes and coin less changes in notes issued by the 
Scottish and Northern Ireland banks plus changes in 
banks' holdings of Scottish and Northern Ireland bank 
notes. The figures for the overseas sector are estimated 
from balance of payments data.

Changes In holdings of notes and coin of the 
remaining sectors are divided in the ratio of 1:5 between 
industrial and commercial companies and the personal 
sector, with special adjustments. One adjustment allows 
for the fact that the amount of notes and coin held by 
companies is high Thursday and the amount held by 
persons is high on Fridays. In addition to these day-of- 
week adjustments, another adjustment reflects the build 
up of persons' notes and coin over the Easter period.

There are no figures as yet for local authorities and 
other financial institutions.

7 Sterling Treasury bills
These comprise sterling marketable Treasury bills 

other than those held by the National Debt 
Commissioners, the Exchange Equalisation Account, 
central government departments and the Bank of 
England. The counterpart of most transactions between 
central banks in support of the reserves in the form of 
swaps against sterling Is included in other government 
debt to overseas. Bills held by the Bank of England as

/
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Reliability gradings in the financial accounts

Financial accounts

CenO'al Local Public 
government authorities corporations Banks

Building
societies

Other
financial

institutions

Industrial
and

commercial
companies

Personal Overseas 
sector sector

Financial surplus or deficit............................

Notes and co in ............................................. .
Sterling Treasury b ills ...................................
British government securities......................
National savings...........................................
Tax instruments............................................
Net government indebtedness

to Banking Department.............................
Northern Ireland central government debt.... 
Government liabilities under

exchange cover scheme...........................
other public sector financing:

Non-marketable debt................................
Short-term assets......................................

Issue Department transactions in b ills .........
Government foreign currency debt..............
Other government overseas financing........
Official reserves............................................
Local authority debt:

Temporary.................................................
Foreign currency.......................................
Sterling securities......................................
Other sterling debt.....................................

Public corporations debt:
Foreign currency.......................................
Sterling......................................................

Deposits with banks:
Sterling sight..............................................
Sterling tim e...............................................
Foreign currency.......................................

Deposits with building societies....................
Deposits with other financial institutions......
Bank lending (exc. public sector):

Foreign currency.......................................
Sterling......................................................

Credit extended by retailers.........................
Identified trade credii*

Domestic...................................................
Import and export......................................

Loans for house purchase:
Building societies...................................... .
O ther.........................................................

Other public sector lending...........................
Other lending by firtancial institutions...........
Unit trust units..............................................
UK company securities................................
Overseas securities.....................................
Life assurance and pension funds...............
Miscellaneous domestic instruments...........
Direct and other investment abroad............
Overseas direct and other investment in UK 
Miscellaneous overseas instruments..........

Accruals adjustment.....................................

Total financial transactions..........................

c C C D D D D

A B B D D D
A B C B B B D C
A B C B B B D D C
A A B B A A A
A C B B B C B

A A
A B C D D

A A A A

A A A A
B C C C C C

A A A
A A D A
A A
A A

B B D C B B D D C
B B D B

B 8
B

C
D

B
C

B
B

B
B D D C

C

B 6 D B
A C B B C C D C

C C C C B C C C C
B 6 B 8 B B B B B
C C C B C C C C

B B B C B B
B B B B B B

B C C C C
8 B C C C C

B C c

B D D D D
B C B C C

B B B
B B B C B C
B 6 B C B C C B

C C C C
B B

B B B C B D D D
B B B D D D
A D D
B C C C C C C C B

B C C D C
B C C D D

C C B D D D

D D D C C C D D

C C C B B C D D D

d
The table is intended to give rough assesments of reliability of estimates 

for transactions in the various asset categories by each sector.
Four gradings have been used. These primarily describe the nature of the 

estimation process, although progressively greater margins of error are im
plied. The gradings are:

A B Accounting-type figures, relating to individual institutions 
mainly in central government.

B m Reliable figures, obtained by aggregating statistical 
returns (and thus prone to coverage or reporting errors).

C B Reliable figures, based on returns but with some degree of 
estimation, e.g. sampling.

D -  Figures involving a substantial amount of estimation, or where 
the coverage is known to be significantly incomplete.

The table refers to the reliability of quarterly figures, which are gerwally less 
reliable than the annual figures; later periods are subject to greater revisions 
than earlier periods. The notes to tables 1.2 to 1.12 contain some further gui
dance on certain items, especially where the grading is particuarly debatable, ft 
should be noted that while two sectors may each report a transaction between 
them accuratiy, the timing may differ and figures for other sectors estimated by 
the residual method may be affected.
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the sterling counterpart of foreign currency deposits 
arising from central bank assistance are excluded, but 
the foreign currency deposits are included in government 
foreign currency debt.

Net sales by central government constitute the 
increase in sterling market Treasury bills outstanding, 
information is available about transactions by local 
authorities, public corporations, banks, building societies, 
other financial institutions and non-residents. The figures 
for the overseas sector exclude the sterling counterpart 
of inter-central bank swap transactions. Holdings by the 
personal sector are known to be relatively small. The 
industrial and commercial companies sector has in the 
past been regarded as the residual sector for this 
financial instrument. However, the new Financial Assets 
and Liabilities survey of industrial and commercial 
companies is now used as a source and the residual is 
spread between the overseas sector (to allow for direct, 
rather than custodial, holdings) and other financial 
institutions (in respect of non-reporting institutions).

The reliability of total net official sales Is graded A. 
Local authority transactions are graded B, though they 
are generally zero. Because the coverage is incomplete 
public corporations are graded C. Other financial 
institutions are graded C because the figures for private 
sector pension funds are based on an unrepresentative 
sample and many of the less important groups of 
institutions are not yet covered by returns.

8 British government securities
These comprise British government securities and 

sterling government-guaranteed marketable securities of 
nationalised industries. The figures for central 
government sales comprise total cash issues less 
redemptions, (including the purchases by government 
sinking funds) and less net purchases by the Bank of 
England and the National Debt Commissioners. (Net 
purchases by the banking department of the Bank of 
England are included in the deduction since they are 
brought in at line 11 of the matrix net government 
indebtedness to the banking department.) The figures for 
the rest of the public sector comprise identified 
purchases by public corporations and local
authorities.issues and redemptions analysed by individual 
stocks are shown in table 3.6; an analysis of net 
purchases by maturity and by sector is shown in table 
3.5.

The figures for the banks’ sector and for other financial 
Institutions are derived from the quarterly returns made 
by each of the various groups of institutions. Figures for 
industrial and commercial companies are grossed-up 
estimates based on changes in holdings (at book value) 
reported by large companies in the Central Statistical 
Office’s Financial Assets and Liability survey, and 
previously the Survey of Company Liquidity (see table 
8.6). The figures for the overseas sector come from 
balance of payments statistics. Adjustments are made 
when necessary to convert the figures of external 
liabilities from a nominal to a cash transactions basis. 
The residual difference between government net sales 
and identified transactions of other sectors is attributed 
to the personal sector.

The reliability grading of net official sales is A; the 
figures for local authority, banks and other financial
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institutions are based on surveys and are graded B; the 
less complete figures for public corporations are graded 
C.

9 National savings
This is defined in the same way as in table 3.4 and 

comprises the following items;

Deposits Changes in outstanding deposits, 
including estimated accrued interest, with the 
ordinary departments of the National Savings 
Bank, the NSB investment account from 
January 1981 and Trustee savings banks up 
to third quarter 1979. Note: The deposits with 
the NSB investment account up to December 
1980, the new department of the Trustee 
savings banks up to third quarter 1979 and the 
whole of the Trustee savings banks from 
fourth quarter 1979 to the end of 1981, when 
they joined the banks’ sector are included 
under deposits with other financial institutions. 
Certificates and bonds. Net sales or 
repayments of income bonds, deposit bonds, 
premium savings bonds, British savings bonds 
(removed from sale on 31 December 1979), 
national savings stamps, gift tokens, national 
savings certificates SAVE contracts and Yearly 
plan agreements, plus increase in accrued 
interest and index-linked increase on national 
savings certificates, deposit bonds, SAVE 
contracts and Yearly plan agreements. Ulster 
savings certificates are included under 
Northern Ireland central government debt.

Most national savings instruments are treated as 
financial claims by the personal sector on the central 
government, but National Savings Bank investment 
accounts, income bonds and deposits .bonds are also 
taken up by other sectors, in particular other financial 
institutions and industrial and commercial companies. 
Figures for public corporations are included from second 
quarter 1982 which reflect changes in the working 
balance held by the Post Office on account of its national 
savings business.

More detailed national savings figures are shown in 
tables 3.9 and 3.10.

10 Tax instruments
These are certificates of tax deposit and, in earlier 

periods, tax reserve certificates, and tax deposit 
accounts. An analysis of issues and surrenders is shown 
in table 3.11. Transactions not identified by sector are 
entered under industrial and commercial companies. For 
further information see the notes to table 3.11.

11 Net government indebtedness to the 
banking department

All transactions between the central government and 
the Bank of England banking department, which is 
included in the banks sector, are recorded under this 
heading. The central government debt held by the 
banking department includes ways and means advances, 
Bank of England notes, tax instruments, British 
government and government-guaranteed securities, 
Treasury bills and Treasury interest-free notes. Netted off
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against these instruments are changes in Paymaster 
General and National Loans Fund deposits with the 
department, including money market balances held by 
the NLF under Section 12 of the National Loans Act.

12 Northern Ireland central government debt
This item consists of transactions in Northern Ireland 

government securities, Northern Ireland treasury bills, 
Ulster savings certificates and Ulster development bonds, 
together with bank and savings bank advances to the 
Northern Ireland central government. Northern Ireland 
borrowing from the European Investment Bank, however, 
is included in government foreign currency debt. 
Transactions other than those identified as by financial 
institutions are allocated to industrial and commercial 
companies (Treasury bills) or the personal sector.

13 Government liabilities under the 
exchange cover scheme

Repayments of foreign currency borrowing under the 
exchange cover scheme are recorded at current 
conversion rates, as are the corresponding transactions 
in the official reserves. However, the local authorities and 
public corporations which make the repayments purchase 
the foreign currency from the Exchange Equalisation 
Account at the original conversion rates. The difference 
between the repayment and the actual cost to the 
authorities and corporations is entered as a change In 
central government liabilities under the scheme. A more 
detailed description of the scheme Is given on page 98.

14.1 Other public sector financing: non- 
marketable government debt

Various central government liabilities, namely ways 
and means advances by the National Coal Board (up to 
fourth quarter 1980), the National Savings Bank 
investment account, repayments by the Fund for the 
Banks for Savings to the Trustee savings banks, and 
deposits by public corporations with the National Loans 
Fund and the Paymaster General.

14.2 Other public sector financing: short
term assets

For local authorities, from second quarter 1979, the 
figures comprise short-term assets other than Treasury 
bills as measured by the financial inquiry to local 
authorities. The results of this are shown in table 4.8. 
Before second quarter 1979 only figures for local 
authorities’ short-term assets with some other financial 
institutions are included, as measured by inquiries to 
these institutions. For public corporations the figures 
comprise transactions in commercial bills and overseas 
short-term assets identified by the inquiry to nationalised 
industries and some other public corporations. There is 
no central government component in this series.

15 Issue departmenrs transactions in bills, 
etc.

Market purchases and sales of commercial bills and 
shipbuilding credit promissory notes by the issue 
department of the Bank of England are treated as 
increases or decreases in central government claims on 
industrial and commercial companies. Also included

(formerly in line 17) are transactions in Export Credits 
Guarantee Department backed promissory notes which 
are treated as central government claims on the 
overseas sector. These transactions are broadly matched 
by reductions or increases in banks' claims on 
companies or overseas, which are included against bank 
lending.

16 Government foreign currency debt
Includes foreign currency borrowing by HM 

government under bank euro-dollar facilities from 
governments and central monetary authorities abroad 
(including foreign currency deposits), issues and 
redemptions of British government foreign currency 
bonds, net issues of treasury bills denominated in ECU's, 
drawings from the IMF and borrowing by the Northern 
Ireland central government from the European 
Investment Bank under the exchange cover scheme.

17 Other government overseas financing
Covers all central government transactions with 

overseas not elsewhere included (n.e.L), which finance 
the CGBR, such as sterling borrowing from governments 
or from central monetary authorities in the form of 
assistance with a sterling counterpart invested In 
Treasury bills (aid bills), amounts swapped forward into 
later months against sterling with overseas monetary 
authorities in 1971 and 1972, transfers from the 
Government's dollar portfolio into the reserves, gold 
subscriptions to the IMF, changes in IMF holdings of 
non-interest bearing notes other than those arising from 
drawings or subscriptions, allocation of SDRs, the 
Exchange Equalisation Account’s loss on forward 
commitments entered into before devaluation in 1967 
and part of Official short-term capital transactions in the 
balance of payments.

18 Official reserves
Transactions in gold and convertible currencies and 

IMF Special Drawing Rights by the Exchange 
Equalisation Account (a central government account) 
together with, from July 1972, changes in the UK reserve 
position in the IMF. From July 1979 reserve holdings 
include european currency units (ECU) acquired from 
swaps with the European Monetary Co-operation Fund. 
From 23 August 1971, total official reserves are valued 
in sterling at end-period market rates of exchange; 
therefore from the third quarter of 1971 the sterling 
valuation of the transactions is not the same as the 
difference between the opening and closing levels. (The 
revaluation on devaluation of sterling in 1967 is 
excluded.)

Table 10.3 shows the composition of official reserves 
and the relationship between figures for holdings and the 
transactions figures used in the financial accounts and 
the balance of payments.

19 Local authority debt
The figures relate to all borrowing by local authorities. 

Borrowing in total is taken from returns made quarterly 
by local authorities in the United Kingdom (see notes to 
tables 4.4-4.8), and this is sectorised by using a 
combination of local authority and counterpart sources, 
with borrowing from persons the residual category. Local
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authority debt is divided between:
(a) temporary borrowing, which covers money 

originally borrowed for less than twelve 
months, including borrowing on bills, bank 
overdrafts and longer-term borrowing 
repayable within one year by invoking a break 
clause;
foreign currency borrowing, directly from 
overseas and from UK banks, both under the 
exchange cover scheme and non-guaranteed 
borrowing, including bonds; 
sterling securities, which are stocks and 
sterling negotiable bonds listed on the Stock 
Exchange;
other sterling debt, which includes borrowing 
from local authority pension funds, ‘over-the- 
counter’ bonds, mortgages, syndicated loans 
and borrowing from the Public Works Loan 
Board.

Borrowing from central government mainly comprises 
long-term loans by the Public Works Loan Board and 
transactions in local authority bills, temporary deposits 
and sterling securities by the Bank of England issue 
department and, through the National Debt 
Commissioners, certain central government funds, 
particularly the National Insurance Fund. The figures are 
taken from central government accounts.

Borrowing from public corporations - mainly temporary 
deposits • is that identified by local authorities, 
supplemented by certain additional transactions identified 
by public corporations. A correction is also made up to 
fourth quarter 1981, to include temporary deposits made 
by public corporations through the agency of monetary 
sector institutions, thought to be classified by local 
authorities as borrowing from banks.

Local authority debt acquired by the banks’ sector 
comprises overdrafts, market loans and advances plus 
the sector's acquisition of local authority bills and of listed 
securities. The figures are based on returns provided by 
banks. In the matrix table 1.1 the figure for temporary 
debt is built up from: temporary debt (other than bills) 
obtained from the local authorities’ returns; and local 
authority bills identified from the banks’ sector returns; 
with a correction complementing the one described in the 
previous paragraph for misreported public corporation 
deposits. Figures for sterling securities are taken from 
banks returns and figures for foreign currency borrowing 
from banks and central government accounts. 
Transactions in other longer term debt are a residual.

Statistics of lending by other financial institutions are 
taken from their returns and include loans by local 
authorities’ superannuation funds. Figures of temporary 
and other long-term borrowing from industrial and 
commercial companies are those identified by local 
authorities on their returns. Figures are not available for 
transactions in bills and listed securities by industrial and 
companies.

Transactions in local authority debt by the overseas 
sector are from balance of payments sources. They are 
included in the balance of payments accounts under 
Overseas portfolio investment in UK and Other external 
liabilities of general government (table 10.2.)

The residual between total net borrowing as reported 
on the local authorities returns and identified borrowing

by other sectors Is allocated to the personal sector. A 
separate temporary borrowing figure is estimate, also by 
residual. The take-up of foreign currency debt by the 
non-bank private sector is allocated to other financial 
institutions. Figures for transactions in listed securities by 
persons are not available. Persons’ transactions in other 
longer-term debt are also calculated by residual.

In general, the sector splits should be treated with 
caution. For instance local authorities may enter 
borrowing from companies under banks when these are 
investments of funds by corporate clients of the banks.

20.1 Public corporations' foreign currency 
debt

Corporations’ borrowing in foreign currencies from UK 
banks and from banks etc. overseas, both under the 
exchange cover scheme, including foreign currency 
bonds and bills, and non-guaranteed borrowing.

20.2 Public corporations' sterling debt
Consists of central government lending to public 

corporations (which includes net issues of public dividend 
capital), government-guaranteed stock (redemption), 
other sterling stock issues less redemptions and other 
sterling borrowing, i.e. borrowing in sterling from banks 
and overseas, including loans to finance imports (but not 
other trade credit), borrowing from pension funds and 
certain other borrowing from persons, industrial and 
commercial companies and local authorities.

21 Deposits with banks
These are ail deposits held with institutions classified 

to the banks sector (briefly referred to as 'banks’, but 
from 1982 including recognised banks, licensed deposit 
takers and certain other institutions). The figures include:

(a) deposits with the Bank of England banking 
department, other than from banks (inter
sector deposits) and the balances of the 
National Loans Fund and Paymaster General 
(included in net government indebtedness to 
the Bank of England banking department};

(b) deposits from overseas offices of banks;
(c) certificates of deposit, commercial paper, 

promissory notes, bills and other short-term 
negotiable paper issued by banks in both 
sterling and foreign currency.

They exclude the institutions' share capital, internal 
funds and all transactions between the institutions. The 
increase in the banks’ liability to other sectors is 
measured as the increase In other sectors’ deposits with 
the sector less 60% of the increase in debit items less 
credit items in transit (see notes to Section 6). The 
adjustment for items in transit has been assigned to 
industrial and commercial companies sterling sight 
deposits as It is believed that most of the changes in the 
figures arise from transactions between these 
companies.

Figures are compiled by the Bank of England from 
returns provided by the institutions classified to the sector 
since 1963. Only from third quarter 1975 are figures 
available and shown separately for sterling sight 
deposits, sterling time deposits and foreign currency 
deposits.

1
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Net issues of sterling certificates of deposit are 
obtained from returns by banks. Transactions in the 
certificates are reported by local authorities, public 
corporations and other financial institutions. Transactions 
by the overseas sector are obtained from balance of 
payments sources. The residual is allocated to industrial 
and commercial companies.

Net Issues of foreign currency certificates of deposit 
are also obtained from returns by banks. Transactions in 
foreign currency certificates are obtained from returns by 
some public corporations, other financial Institutions and 
some Industrial and commercial companies operating in 
the secondary market, with the residual allocated to the 
overseas sector.

The deposits series used in the financial accounts are 
consistent with the series included in Sectiort 6 (which 
shows further analyses of bank deposits) and Section 11 
(which shows the deposits as part of the various 
measures of the money stock). The only exception is that 
certain public sector deposits placed on the inter-bank 
money market between 1975 and 1978 have been 
excluded from the measures of money stock in Section 
11.

The reliability grading would be B throughout, but 
sterling sight deposits are graded C because of the 
somewhat arbitrary allocation of items in transit, and the 
difficulty of allocating certificates of deposit between 
sectors. Deposits in foreign currency are graded C 
because of the need to estimate an adjustment to 
exclude valuation changes from changes in the levels of 
these deposits.

22 Deposits with buiiding societies
This comprises shares, deposits and (from 1969) 

receipts under SAVE contracts on which building 
societies pay interest net of tax (i.e. 'retail' deposits) plus 
certificates of deposit (from second quarter 1983) and 
time deposits (from fourth quarter 1983) on which the 
societies pay interest gross of tax (i.e. 'wholesale' 
deposits), less public sector transactions which are 
removed from this line and included in other public sector 
finar}cing: short-term assets (line 14.2). The retail 
deposits include interest credited to depositors’ accounts. 
Also included are commercial paper and other short-term 
paper issued by building societies. The figures do not 
include building society negotiable bonds, which are 
included in UK company securities (matrix line 31).

The figures are based on a system of returns from the 
societies operated jointly by the Building Societies 
Commission and the Bank of England and annual 
statutory returns to the Building Societies Commission. 
(See notes to tables 6.8 and 6.9.) Banks transactions in 
certificates of deposit and time deposits, however, are 
taken from banks returns and the remaining transactions 
in these instruments allocated to the industrial and 
commercial companies sector because the available 
information suggests that transactions by other sectors 
are negligible.

The figures can be reconciled with the sector analysis 
of retail and wholesale deposits shown in table 6.9 by 
removing the public sector element from the analysis. 
The figures are consistent with those in table 6.8 and 
6.9, but table 6.8 includes only retail deposits and the 
wholesale deposits in table 6.9 include the public sector

element.

23 Deposits with other financial institutions
Earlier figures comprise:

deposits with finance houses and other 
consumer credit companies (to the end of 
1981, when institutions which did not join the 
banks’ sector ceased taking deposits). 
Deposits from banks and bills discounted with 
banks were never included in this item but in 
bank lending:o\her finance house borrowing is 
included in miscellaneous domestic 
instruments. The figures were based on the 
returns to the Central Statistical Office by the 
larger finance houses and a selection of the 
smaller ones, which accounted for about nine- 
tenths of the business of all hire purchase 
finance companies, to which estimates were 
added for companies not making returns. See 
notes to table 7.4.
deposits with savings banks. This includes 
deposits and accrued interest with the National 
Savings Bank investment account (up to the 
end of 1980, when it was reclassified to the 
central government sector), the Trustee 
savings banks new departments and, from 
fourth quarter 1979, Trustee savings banks 
ordinary departments (up to the end of 1981, 
when the Trustee savings banks joined the 
banks’ sector).
deposits with certain other institutions, 
including the Crown Agents (until end-1979, 
when they became a public corporation) and 
the Central Trustee Savings Bank (until 
end-1981, when it joined the banks' sector), 
based on returns made to the Bank of 
England.

24 Bank lending
Lending by banks through advances, loans and 

commercial bills. All transactions between these 
institutions are excluded, as is lending to central 
government by the banking department (which is 
included in net government indebtedness to the Bank of 
England banking department), loans for house purchase 
(which are shown separately on line 27), lending to local 
authorities (which is included under local authority debt), 
lending to public corporations (which is included in public 
corporations debt) and lending to the Northern Ireland 
government.

The entries for the banks' sector and industrial and 
commercial companies for sterling lending are adjusted 
by adding 40% of the net change in transit items (see 
notes to Section 6).

Further analyses of bank lending are shown in 
Section 6, particularly in tables 6.1, 6.2 and 6.6.

25 Credit extended by retailers
The figures include only credit transactions by durable 

goods retailers (including gas and electricity showrooms), 
department stores (including co-operative society stores), 
general mail-order houses and other general stores. The 
figures relate to hire purchase agreements and to certain
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other forms of credit including sales on budget accounts, 
credit sale agreements and personal loans repayable by 
instalments. Credit advanced by retailers in the form of 
trading checks exchangeable only in their own shops is 
included, but credit advanced by check traders as such 
is not covered. The figures also exclude monthly 
accounts and sales on bank credit cards such as Access 
and Visa (included in bank landing) as well as (probably 
large) amounts of unpaid bills (included in trade credit, in 
so far as they are identified) and credit extended by other 
types of retailer (see notes to Section 7).

Estimates are derived from the figures of new credit 
extended and repayments, adjusted to exclude charges, 
taken from regular returns made to the Central Statistical 
Office by retailers in the kinds of business listed above.

The figures for the public sector relate to credit given 
by public corporations through gas and electricity 
showrooms. The figures for the personal sector relate to 
the debt of individual consumers.

The grading B given to these estimates relates to 
restricted coverage described above.

26 Identified trade credit
Domestic comprises public corporations’ and central 

government credit. Figures for the former are derived 
from quarterly returns and prior to 1972 the annual 
accounts of the corporations. The personal sector 
allocation represents a proportion of trade debtors of gas 
and electricity boards and British Telecom, i.e. unpaid 
gas, electricity and telephone bills. Since the privatisation 
of British Gas (1986) and British Telecom (1984) there 
are no data for outstanding gas and telephone bills. The 
residual sector Is industrial and commercial companies. 
Transactions In connection with advance payment for 
BNOC oil are included from first quarter 1980.

Central government trade credit figures comprise 
credit given by central government trading bodies. These 
figures are derived from annual accounts; the debtors are 
industrial and commercial companies.

Import and export credit comprises suppliers' trade 
credit and associated advance and progress payments 
on exports and imports, identified in the balance of 
payments accounts from 1963 onwards other than import 
credit of public corporations, but including advance 
payments by public corporations. Also included are 
refinanced export credit. The Central Statistical Office's 
inquiry into overseas trade credit given and received by 
non-bank private sector companies was discontinued at 
end-1982 so these data are excluded from 1983.

No estimates are included for other forms of trade 
credit, in particular for credit extended by industrial and 
commercial companies to the personal sector, variations 
in which are probably sizeable. The reliability gradings 
given to these estimates relate only to the small 
proportion of trade credit actually identified and recorded 
under these headings.

27 Loans for house purchase
Building societies comprises mortgage advances made 

by building societies. Figures are based on accounting 
year figures from the Report of the Chief Registrar of 
Friendly Societies and monthly and quarterly returns 
made by a sample of building societies to the Building 
Societies Commission and the Bank of England.
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Other comprises loans by:

Local authorities. Mortgage advances for 
house purchase and improvements, including 
loans for the purchase of council houses by 
tenants and loans to housing associations. 
Quarterly figures are obtained from returns 
made to the Department of Environment 
(England) and the Welsh Office (Wales). 
Figures for Scotland are interpolated from 
financial year totals.
Other public sector. Loans made by the 
central government under the Housing Act. 
1961 and Housing (Scotland) Act, 1962 to 
private housing associations, loans made by 
the Housing Corporation to housing societies 
and loans by new town corporations.
Banks. Compiled from returns to the bank of 
England.
Financial institutions. Loans by insurance 
companies and pension funds, and by the 
Trustee savings banks (to end-1981). 
Estimates for insurance companies and 
pension funds are taken from quarterly 
returns. Miscellaneous financial institutions 
comprise banking institutions in the Channel 
Islands and the Isle of Man which are not in 
the banks' sector and UK companies 
specialising in the provision of mortgage 
finance or in the purchase of extant mortgages 
held by other institutions.

Figures of gross advances and repayments of principal 
for building societies, central government, local 
authorities, insurance companies and pension funds, and 
of net loans by banks are shown in table 9.4.

Apart from small amounts of building society advances 
attributed to industrial and commercial companies from 
the third quarter 1978, it is assumed that the personal 
sector received these loans.

28 Other public sector lending
The figures relate to net lending by the central 

government to building societies under the House 
Purchase and Housing Act, 1959 (allocated to other 
financial institutions) and to industry and trade, including, 
from September 1972, shipbuilding credits re-financed 
from voted funds (allocated to industrial and commercial 
companies) and other miscellaneous loans for education 
and other services (allocated to the personal sector). 
Also included are net lending by public corporations to 
the private sector, other than for house purchase 
(allocated to industrial and commercial companies), loans 
to overseas governments (net) and net lending to 
international lending bodies (allocated to overseas 
sector). The figures are taken from the detailed capital 
accounts of the central government and public 
corporations, and from balance of payments sources.

29 Other lending by financial institutions
Includes instalment credit, other loans and advances 

by finance houses and other consumer credit companies, 
other than those included in the banks’ sector, (excluding 
loans for house purchase) and loans made to their 
parent organisation by private sector pension funds. Also
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included are loans made by insurance companies and by 
special finance agencies. Loans made by public 
corporation pension funds to their parent organisation are 
included in public corporations debt: other. Loans made 
by local authority pension funds to their parent authorities 
are included in local authority debt: sterling securities.

The 1991 Blue Book introduced the charge in 
treatment of finance leasing from the "owner" to the 
"user" basis. Other lending by financial institutions now 
includes the imputed lending (net of repayments) under 
finance leasing.

Counterpart figures for groups of institutions are 
allocated to persons or to industrial and commercial 
companies as appropriate.

30 Unit trust units
Sales less repurchases of unit trust units are provided 

by the Unit Trust Association. Unitisations of investment 
trusts are excluded. All transactions other than those 
identified on returns from financial institutions are 
assumed to be with the personal sector.

Figures of gross sales and repurchases of units are
shown in table 7.7.

Total issues have a reliability grading A but the take 
up by other financial institutions has a grading B.

31 UK company securities
This item is built up from capital issues in the UK, 

foreign currency issues by UK companies and other 
transactions.

Capital issues in the UK. The estimates are compiled 
by the Bank of England and comprise issues by UK 
companies listed on the Stock Exchange; issues on the 
Stoci Exchange's unlisted securities market (from fourth 
quarter 1980); some figures for issues outside the Stock 
Exchange; and special issues taken up by central 
government and the National Enterprise Board. Issues by 
listed UK companies relate to new money raised through 
ordinary shares, preference shares and loan capital 
(public issues, offers for sale, issues by tender, placings, 
and issues to shareholders and employees). Issues to 
shareholders are included only if the sole or principal 
share register is maintained in the United Kingdom. 
Estimates of issues are based on the prices at which 
securities are offered on the market. Subscriptions are 
included in the periods in which they are due to be paid. 
More detailed figures for issues by listed and unlisted 
companies are shown in Section 12.

The figures for issues outside the Stock Exchange are 
partly from returns by financial Institutions with rough 
estimates derived from published accounts of industrial 
and commercial companies.

The special issues taken up by central government 
and the National Enterprise Board include issues by 
British Leyland in 1980 which were taken up by the 
National Enterprise Board and issues by British Leyland 
and Rolls Royce from 1981 which were taken up by 
central government.

It is not possible to provide an analysis of capital 
issues by the sector acquiring them; these acquisitions 
are included with other transactions in company 
securities.

The reliability grading of capital issues as a whole is 
influenced by the rough estimates for some unlisted

issues.
Foreign currency issues by UK companies. These are 

taken from institutional returns and balance of payments 
sources.

Other transactions. These are all other transactions in 
listed and unlisted securities which can be identified. 
They include the take-up of new issues.

Transactions by the public sector are taken from the 
accounts of the central government and public 
corporations. The central government figures include 
privatisations, when these take the form of selling 
company securities. They also include purchases from 
the National Enterprise Board of shares in Rolls Royce 
(£234 million in third quarter 1980) and British Leyland 
(£1,228 million in first quarter 1981), when the board 
repaid the same amounts of public dividend capital. The 
latter is included in line 20.2 public corporations sterling 
debt. The acquisitions of steel securities in exchange for 
government stock on re-nationalisation of companies are 
excluded.

Figures for banks and other financial institutions are 
net transactions in both listed and unlisted securities and 
those from other financial institutions are, from 1968, 
adjusted for estimated costs incurred in share 
transactions. The figures are based on quarterly returns 
of cash transactions.

For the overseas sector, figures are taken from
balance of payments statistics. The derivation of figures 
for 1986 is shown in the reconciliation given as 
supplementary table S9 in the November 1989 issue of 
Financial Statistics.

Information about transactions in UK company 
securities by industrial and commercial companies 
relates to their estimated cash expenditure on acquiring 
subsidiaries and unincorporated businesses as going 
concerns (from Central Statistical Office sources), to their 
purchases of trade investments (roughly estimated from 
published company account statistics), and to overseas 
direct investment in UK company securities (from 
balance of payments sources). When a subsidiary is 
acquired or a trade investment is made by way of a 
share exchange, no transaction is recorded in these 
tables.

The estimates of transactions in UK company 
securities by the personal sector are derived as a 
residual. They are obtained as the difference between 
total UK capital issues and the aggregate of the 
transactions by all the other sectors. Because of this, 
they are subject to a wide margin of error. In particular, 
any errors in the estimates for the acquisition of 
securities by industrial and commercial companies, which 
could be large, are reflected in the residual figure for the 
personal sector and will affect the size of the unidentified 
items for both sectors. Table 8.7 shows transactions by 
all sectors and includes details of capital issues which 
are not shown separately in Section 1.

32 Overseas securities
Transactions by the central government comprise the 

sale of Suez Canal shares in 1976 and 1979. Figures for 
banks from 1963 to 1978 are taken from banks sector 
returns, but from 1979 are based on balance of 
payments data. Figures for other financial institutions are 
net transactions based on quarterly returns (involving
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deduction of estimates of costs incurred in share 
transactions) and include estimates of direct investment 
in the form of securities (share and loan capital). Figures 
for industrial and commercial companies are for direct 
investment and oil investment in the form of securities 
(share and loan capital) from the balance of payments 
statistics. The overseas sector figures consist of total UK 
direct investment overseas in share and loan capital plus 
portfolio investment in overseas securities. The estimates 
of transactions by the personal sector are derived as a 
residual, being the difference between the aggregate of 
the transactions of all other sectors and are therefore 
subject to a wide margin of error. Further details of other 
financial institutions* portfolio investment are shown in 
table 7.1, and tables 7.2 and 7.3 give details of turnover 
in securities and institutional investment respectively.

33 Life assurance and pension funds
This series consists of:

the net surplus of current income over current 
expenditure of these funds. In the national 
accounts, the life assurance and pension 
funds are regarded as the property of the 
personal sector, but the investments of the 
funds (including purchases of property) are 
included in the transactions of other financial 
institutions. The articulation of the financial 
accounts is maintained by showing the funds’ 
surplus as an increase in the financial claim of 
the personal sector on other financial 
institutions. Annual estimates of the net 
increase in the funds are taken from their 
revenue account, which is published in table
4.10 of United Kingdom National Accounts; 
quarterly estimates are based on the quarterly 
returns of investment by insurance companies 
and pension funds, which are described in the 
notes to tables 7.10 to 7.12. 
transactions concerning certain public sector 
pension schemes. These are net receipts by 
the central government from those public 
sector schemes for which no separate pension 
fund is maintained. These receipts are taken 
from the financial account of the central 
government, and are regarded as part of the 
personal sector’s claims on the central 
government.

The sectoral treatment of these funds is explained in 
more detail in the notes to Section 9.

34 Miscellaneous domestic instruments
This series includes the following miscellaneous items. 
For the public sector:

repayments by nationalised steel under
takings of a loan from industrial and 
commercial companies made before 
nationalisation;
import deposits. The scheme was introduced 
in November 1968 and the last of the deposits 
were repaid by the end of September 1971; 
advance payments (net) on oil sales by 
BNOC;
compensation payments relating to transferred
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assets (see notes to Table 4.3).

For financial institutions:
increases in certain assets and liabilities given 
in the returns made by financial institutions, 
including assets due to and from stockbrokers 
(with a contra entry in the personal sector), 
borrowing by finance houses other than in the 
forms of deposits (with a contra entry in the 
industrial and commercial sectors) and. from 
1972 to 1980, their special deposits with the 
Bank of England banking department and 
sterling commercial paper issued by financial 
institutions other than banks and building 
societies;
property unit trust units sold to charities.

For industrial and commercial companies:
sales of shares in retail co-operative societies.

The reliability grading given to these estimates relates 
to the assets identified but there will be other assets that 
have not been identified and their net issues of sterling 
commercial paper.

35 Direct and other investment abroad
This Is equal to the balance of payments account 

figures of private direct investment abroad, other than 
that in the form of securities (share and loan capital).

36 Overseas direct and other investment in 
UK

The figures for the overseas sector comprise overseas 
investment in the UK private sector other than 
transactions in company securities (which are entered on 
line 31). They include figures for direct investment, 
obtained from the direct investment Inquiries, investment 
by oil companies, obtained from similar inquiries to oil 
companies, and miscellaneous investment, which mainly 
consists of identified transactions in real estate.

The figures for banks are obtained from banking 
sector returns. Those for other financial institutions are 
estimates of overseas borrowing obtained from the 
inquiries to other financial institutions. Those for persons 
are the transactions in real estate, which are estimated 
by Inland Revenue from stamp duty information. The 
figures for industrial and commercial companies are 
estimated by residual.

The transactions in real estate are believed to be 
carried out mainly by individuals resident overseas. As 
well as being treated as overseas financial investment in 
the personal sector, these transactions are included 
indistinguishably in the personal sector’s figures for gross 
domestic fixed capital formation.

37 Miscellaneous overseas instruments
This covers sterling commercial paper issued by 

overseas residents and those transactions from the 
analysis of capital transactions of the balance of 
payments which are not allocated elsewhere in the 
financial accounts, viz.

For the central government:

(a) part of external liabilities of general 
government and official short-term capital.

%
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(b) contributions to the European Coal and Steel 
Community reserves.

For public corporations: long-term net lending and 
investment abroad. (Short-term lending abroad is 
included in line 14.2.)

For financial institutions: net short-term assets held 
abroad.

This item also includes discrepancies between figures 
obtained from balance of payments sources and those 
from other sources, the counterpart of which is entered 
under industrial and commercial companies. These 
discrepancies include timing and coverage differences.

The reliability grading D of the overseas sector is due 
to this being a residual in the overseas sector column. 
The industrial and commercial companies figure is 
graded D because it is a residual in the line.

38 Accruals adjustment
Several series in the national accounts are on an 

accruals basis (i.e. they are entered when ownership 
changes hands and when amounts become due), 
whereas payments in the financial accounts are entered 
when they occur. The accruals adjustment accounts for 
the difference between these two bases. It represents the 
difference between accruals and the corresponding cash 
payments for, e.g. income tax, value added tax, purchase 
tax. selective employment tax, national insurance 
contributions, central government current expenditure on 
goods and services. North Sea oil royalties, local 
authority rates (and their successors the community 
charge and National non-domestic rates), and some 
interest flows - including those underthe fixed rate export 
and shipbuilding credit schemes - which are recorded on 
an accruals basis in the income and expenditure and 
appropriation accounts. The allocation of the difference 
to other sectors has been made item by item but should 
be considered approximate.

40 Balancing item
The national income and expenditure accounts are the 

output of a system that attempts to record all 
transactions adding to gross domestic product. The 
sector accounts also show transfer payments (taxes, 
grants, dividends, interest etc.) and separately, in the 
financial accounts, financial transactions between sectors 
of the economy.

Gross domestic product is estimated in absolute terms 
by two different routes - the sum of factor Incomes, and 
the sum of expenditure on goods and services produced. 
Because the sources upon which the income and 
expenditure measures are based are largely 
independent, the estimates differ by an amount termed 
the residual error.

In the sector accounts a balance is struck between 
current plus capital receipts and current plus capital ex

penditure (including transfer payments on both sides of 
the accounts) and this is called the financial surplus or 
deficit The various transfer items net out over all sectors 
so that the sum of the financial surpluses and deficits in 
each sector is equal to the residual error. Below the 
financial surplus or deficit line the financial accounts 
record transactions in financial assets for each sector, 
and the difference between the sector's financial surplus 
or deficit, as found from the income and expenditure 
accounts, and the sum of its transactions in financial 
assets is labelled balancing item. These balancing items 
arise from errors in both the income and expenditure 
accounts and the financial accounts. Like the transfer 
items above the line, financial transactions net out over 
all the sectors (since one sector's increase in an asset is 
another sector's increase in liability and the estimates are 
constrained in this way) so that the sum of the sector 
balancing items also equals the residual error.^

The unidentified entries, however, do not constitute 
allocation of the residual error between sectors. A 
sector’s contribution to the residual error is the error in 
the difference between Its estimated income and 
expenditure and there is no firm reference against which 
that can be measured. Current and capital transfers, 
which are liable to error, are taken into account before 
the financial surplus or deficit Is struck, and although that 
can be compared with the sum of the sector's financial 
transactions, they too are liable to error. Since these 
balancing Hems are needed to make the sector's inflows 
and outflows sum to zero, it is the net sum of the errors 
in all the identified flows, current, capital, and financial. It 
reflects the results of misallocations by sector as well as 
measurement errors and omissions. The balancing Hem 
line thus becomes the repository of all net errors 
throughout the system of the accounts.

It would be useful to be able to allocate the residual 
error by sector, but this is not possible because the 
difference between the receipts and expenditure for each 
sector is affected by various transfer items. In addition to:

components of the residual error ( i.e. wrongly 
recorded national aggregates of income or 
expenditure or both)
misallocation by sector of recorded national 
aggregates of income, expenditure and current 
and capital transfers, or errors in the figures 

sector balancing items include: 
misallocation by sector of financial 
transactions
any financial transactions which have not been 
identified or for which the sources are poor.

The place of the balancing items and the residual error 
and their relationship can be seen symbolically in the 
table on page 28.
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Sector balancing items and the residual error

Domestic 
sector i

Capital account
Balance from income and expenditure account

(i.e. saving)

plus:
Net capital transfers

less:
Gross domestic capital formation

equals:
Financial surplus or deficit

equals:
Financial account

Transactions in financial assets and liabilities

plus:
Balancing Item

including current transfers

Nation

income
current expenditure
physical investment (as opposed to investment in financial assets) 
capital transfer receipts less disbursements 
financial surplus/deficit 
changes in financial assets 
changes in financial liabilities 
exports of goods and services and other UK credits 
imports of goods and services and other UK debits 
balancing item in account of domestic sector i 
balancing item in balance of payments accounts 
residual error in the national income and expenditure accounts

plus plus
Overseas Errors/

equals
World

omissions

VrC,) (Y-C) (M-X) RE Nil

Ti T To Nil Nil

li 1

Fi F Fo RE Nil

A-L A.-U Nil Nil

Bi B, RE

in domestic sector I

excluding capital transfers

I  Y.«Y X C *C I  U l IT « T 2F.*F X (A-y=A-L

Balancing items and the residual error relate to all parts of the accounts and are shown below the financial account by 
convention.
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1 . F o r« M l doschpbon of tho Bank of Englancft M sona l adjustment procoss and Ha
Wfmm of aoounta in usa until Marci> lOdt saa U rii0d  fOngdcm §ow o i kjnd$ 
Mccounts lOS^TS. Ststisbcti A b$ ^^t, N a ? { \ 075) and tha raport on tha /Vocaacfn^ 
o f th$ Usars* Con/aranca on RntnaM l Ncvambar 1077.

2. In constructing UK national and sactor balanca shaats. holdings of sao^itias ara. as 
iw  as posaibla. racadad ai madtat valuas. Changai in tha holdngs raflact capital 
gftns or loaaas. as waD as oansadions A maasura d  unraslisad gains and loasaa 
can tharaMa ganarally ba obtainad by nalting off tha nat acquisitiona of tha finanoai 
asaats during tha pariod from changas in tha marfcat valuas of holdinga ovar a pahod 
(saa also paga 8).

3. On occasions (in p a rta ia r tha March. Juna. Saptambar and Dacarrbar issuaa) tha 
accounts for tha public and ovarsaas sactors ara mora up-to-data than countarpart 
data in tha phvata factor accounts. On thasa occasions thara will ba dHtarancaa 
batwaan tha sum of tha factor balandng Hama and tha raaidual arror for tha updalad 
pariodf. raflacting inconsistandas in tha accounts.

Tables no longer published

Summary capital account: analysis 
by sector

This table was last published in Financial Statistics, in 
the August 1990 edition and showed separate capital 
accounts for each main economic sector. The data 
continue to be published in Economic Trends and are 
available in the national accounts dataset of the 
Databank.
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Financial accounts Net inter sector financial flows
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Relationship between asset categories in the financial account and certain other sector tables

Sector tables

11985

1990

A
f

Matrix
table
1.1

Line no.

Central
government

3.3

Local
authorities

4.3

Public
corporations

5.3

Other
financial

institutions
7.1

Industrial
and

commercial
companies

8.2

Persons
9.2

Financial surplus or deficit 5 • • • a,b a,b
Notes and coin 6 C • •
Market Treasury bills 7 C 6 C d d
British government securities 8 c e C f • •
National savings 9 c e c d d •
Tax instruments 10 c c d d •

Net government indebtedness to
Banking Department 11 c

Northern Ireland central government debt 12 c f e e
Government liabilities under

exchange cover scheme 13 c g c
Other public sector financing 14

Non-marketable debt 14.1 c c h
Short-term assets 14.2 c d c P k k

Issue Department transactions in
commercial bills 15 c

Government foreign currency debt 16 c
Other government overseas financing 17 c
Official reserves 18 c

Local authority debt: 19 b,c c d
Temporary 19.1 g d •
Foreign cun-ency 19.2 g •
Sterling securities 19.3 g •
Other sterling debt 19.4 b.g.i • e

Public corporations debt: 20 b.c c e e
Foreign currency 20.1 s
Sterling 20.2 e h.k

Deposits with banks 21 c d c • • •
Deposits with building societies 22 m d •
Deposits with other financial institutions 23 1 d,h,m d •
Bank lending (excluding public sector) 24 • 1

Credit extended by retailers 25 n 0 •
Identified trade aedit: 26

Domestic 26.1 1 a P a.o.q k
Import and export 26.2 r n s a.o.q

Loans for house purchase 27 t •t • k b
Other public sector lending 28 b.r.t •t b.n.t •u k k
Other lending by financial institutions 29 k a,h,k k
Unit trust units 30 h,v w
UK company securities 31 w w a.b a,b w
Overseas securities 32 w b • w
Life assurance and pension funds 33 • • •
Miscellaneous domestic instruments 34 1 n a,h,p a,h.k a,k,w
Direct and other investment abroad 35 s X
Overseas direct and other investment in UK 36 z

A
y k

Miscellaneous overseas instruments 37 a.b.I.r r a,s,2 a.b.k.s
Accruals adjustment 38 a a a • •
Balancing item 40 • • • • •
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The diagram opposite is intended to clarify the 
relationship between asset categories used in the 
financial accounts matrix (table 1.1) and certain other 
tables. It covers those tables in which financial 
transactions are shown as changes in liabilities and 
assets or as sources (liabilities) and uses (assets) of 
funds.

This treatment differs from that in the matrix where all 
transactions are recorded on a net assets basis i.e. an

increase in assets is shown as positive and an increase 
in liabilities as negative. The sign convention differs in 
the tables illustrated, in these both assets and liabilities 
are shown as increase positive.

The diagram shows where in these tables net assets 
series in the matrix are sub-divided into liability and asset 
categories and also where series from the matrix are 
combined under composite headings such as liquid 
assets or loans and mortgages.

Notes to diagram

• Series repeated as in Section 1 
Note: signs are reversed where series is 
shown as a liability or a source of funds.

elow are the headings under which the categories appear on their respective tables.

9

I.

Split between assets and liabilities. 
Disaggregated.
Items financing the borrowing requirement - 
shown in more detail for central government in 
table 3.4.
Short-term or liquid assets.
Transactions In public sector debt, or public 
sector financial assets.
British government securities includes 
Northern Ireland central government debt. 
Borrowing from other sources.
Other financial assets - UK.
Bank borrowing.
Borrowing from central government.
Other loans and mortgages.
Other identified financial liabilities (net) 
Deposits received are shown by institutional 
group, deposits made by other financial 
institutions are in other liquid assets 
(short-term) or other UK financial assets 
(long-term).
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Other assets.
Export and other credit given.
Other liabilities - UK.
Import and other credit received.
Lending to overseas sector or lending and 
investment overseas.
Other financial assets - overseas.
Net lending to private sector.
Described as official loans.
Unit trusts net sales of units less unitisations 
- purchases by other financial institutions are 
included in other financial assets - UK. 
Company securities etc., or cash 
expenditure on company securities.
Other investment overseas (uses) net of 
unremitted profits which is included in internal 
funds.
Other overseas investment (sources) net of 
unremitted profits which is included In internal 
funds.
Other liabilities - overseas.



Section 2
General government and public sector finance

asset 
 ̂are

•'quid

The term general government is used to describe the 
combined central government and local authorities 
sector. Tbe concept of the public sector is wider, and 
includes public corporations as well as general 
government. Much of Section 2 is devoted to presenting 
the transactions leading to the public sector borrowing 
requirement {PSBR), which indicates the extent to which 
the public sector borrows from other sectors of the 
economy and overseas to finance the balance of 
expenditure and receipts arising from its various 
activities. It is the most important of the balances of the 
public sector accounts; another important balance is the 
financial suq^lus or deficit.

The main financial flows between different sectors of 
the economy associated with the financing of the public 
sector borrowing requirement are illustrated on page 37. 
This diagram is built up from information In tables 2.5, 
2.6 and 3.4 and a more detailed description of the flows 
shown here will be found in the notes to those tables.

This section includes some tables which combine or 
consolidate tables appearing separately for sub-sectors: 
central government (Section 3), local authorities 
(Section 4) and public corporations (Section 5); 
reference to tables in these sections is made where 
appropriate. For a detailed definition of the scope of 
general government and the public sector, see definitions 
of the component sub-sectors in Sections 3, 4 and 5; in 
particular note that public sector pension funds are 
excluded from the public sector and classified as other 
financial institutions in Section 7.

Consolidation of accounts
In preparing accounts for general government and the 

public sector, transactions within the sector are generally 
eliminated. In principle, ail transactions are eliminated 
except those in which the payment by one part of the 
sector falls within a different economic category from the 
receipt by another part. For example, taxes on 
expenditure levied by the central government which fall 
on local authorities’ expenditure and payments by the 
central government in lieu of local authority rates are not 
eliminated. But all transfers and payments which form 
part of the same economic category are, as far as 
possible, eliminated. Examples of transactions eliminated 
from the accounts in the public sector are the grants from 
central government to local authorities and interest 
payments by local authorities to the central government, 
which are both relevant to consolidation at the level of 
general government. In some cases the consolidation is 
not complete because of lack of information. Financial 
transactions within the public sector are also eliminated 
on consolidation, so that borrowing by local authorities 
and public corporations from the central government
does not form part of the public sector borrowing 
requirement.

Public corporations are generally not consolidated with 
central government and local authorities for transactions 
leading to the financial surplus or deficit. Consolidation is 
continued in the financial accounts, however, because 
although public corporations are productive enterprises, 
the products of which are sold commercially, their 
financing is heavily influenced by central government. For 
a discussion of this revised presentation see Government

income and expenditure in the national income accounts: 
a change of presentation, Economic Trends, March 1977. 
A consolidated public sector account is however given in 
table 2.7.

Layout of section
The section opens with the current account, table 2.1, 

the capital account, table 2.2 and the financial account 
and balancing item, table 2.3, of general government. 
Table 2.4 shows the link between general government 
expenditure shown in tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 and the 
definition of the public expenditure planning total which 
is used in the Public Expenditure White Paper. Tables 
2.5 and 2.6 are devoted entirely to the public sector 
borrowing requirement. Table 2.5 shows the contributions 
by the three sub-sectors to the borrowing requirement, 
also the large inter-sector financial flows which do not 
count towards the PSBR total. Table 2.6 shows the 
means by which the PSBR is financed, analysed both by 
financing sector and type of asset. Table 2.7 provides a 
consolidated current and capital account for the public 
sector. It is in the format to that used in the public sector 
transactions section of the Financial Statement and 
Budget Report and affords a direct comparison with the 
Budget forecasts. Supplementary table SI 3 shows the 
sub-sector components of this table for the latest 
complete financial year. Table 2.8 shows the detail and 
timing of privatisation proceeds over the most recent 
years.

Outstanding debt
Section 2 is concerned entirely with transactions or 

flow data; there are no figures of outstanding debt. The 
latter are compiled annually and appear as 
supplementary tables in Financial Statistics. Figures of 
national debt at the end of financial years appeared as 
supplementary table S4 in the August 1991 edition of 
Financial Statistics. Figures of the more comprehensive 
aggregate of public sector debt are available much later. 
They are published as supplementary table SI in March 
Financial Statistics. For further information on the 
concepts and the relationship between figures of 
outstanding debt and the PSBR see article Public sector 
debt, Economic Trends, May 1977.

Tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3
General government current, capital and 
financial accounts

These tables are built up from the current, capital and 
financial accounts of central government and local 
authorities. Transactions between the two sectors have 
been eliminated, except where the payment by one 
sector falls within a different economic category from the 
receipt by the other sector (see United Kingdom National 
Accounts: Sources and Methods).

Notes on the component items in tables 2.1, 2.2 and 
2.3 are given in Sections 3 and 4 dealing with individual 
current and capital accounts of central government and 
of local authorities. Table 2.3 includes the balancing item 
of general government. Further details of financial 
transactions are shown in tables 1.2 and 1.3. See 
Sections 3 and 4 for notes on the quality of the data.
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Table 2.4
Public expenditure planning total

This table shows a translation from general 
government expenditure on a national accounts basis to 
the definitions used for the public expenditure planning 
total.

The format of this table is currently aligned with the 
definition of the planning total introduced in the current 
Autumn Statement.

General government expenditure comprises the 
current and capital expenditure, net lending and cash 
expenditure on company securities of central and local 
government consolidated to exclude transactions 
between the two sectors.

The public expenditure planning total is the aggregate 
used by the Government for control purposes. Although 
it is based on the same fundamental national accounts 
concepts and definitions as general government 
expenditure there are a number of differences. The 
planning total excludes gross debt interest and non
trading capital consumption, but Includes all the external 
finance of most public corporations not just the grants 
and loans they receive from central and local 
government. There are a number of other differences in 
coverage: these are shown in detail below.

The table reconciles the national accounts figures for 
general government expenditure with the public 
expenditure planning total in three stages.

First, the central government contribution to general 
government expenditure is adjusted to reach the planning 
total definition. The adjustments are as follows:

the imputed value of non-trading capital 
consumption included in the national accounts 
figures of central government is deducted, 
payments of debt interest by central 
government are deducted, 
grants and net lending by central government 
to certain public corporations and to 
Passenger Transport Executives and Land 
Authority for Wales are deducted, 
the refunds of VAT paid by central government 
on its own expenditure are deducted, 
notional contributions in respect of pension 
increases for teachers and National Health 
Service workers are deducted. The increased 
pensions payable under the Pensions Increase 
Act is counted in the national accounts as a 
notional contribution paid by the central 
government to teachers and certain central 
government employees, and their capital 
expenditure added,
the proceeds from privatisation (not offset to 
general government expenditure in the 
national accounts), are deducted, 
the adjustments In the national accounts to put 
certain government expenditure on an accrued 
basis, are deducted,
the effect of known differences in timing with 
British Coal, whose accounting year is based 
on a period from the day following the last 
Saturday in March rather than 1 April to 31 
March,

(i) capitalised interest is deducted from central

government housing grants.
General Practice Finance Corporation stock 
issues are added to central government, until 
1989 quarter one,
timing adjustment on EC receipts 1985-86 to 
1986-87,
Crown Estates capital expenditure is 
deducted,
the rent received from private contractors for 
HM Dockyards is deducted, 
an adjustment is included occasionally in other 
adjustments incorporating known revisions to 
national accounts figures which are expected 
to be included in a subsequent quarterly 
update.

Second, the local authority component (central 
government support to local authorities) is calculated 
from:

central government current and capital grants 
to local authorities. Grants excluded from the 
planning total are largely VAT refunds, but 
also covers dog and gun licences, grants for 
loan charges and EC capital grants.
National non domestic rates (NNDR). These 
commenced from April 1990. The figures used 
in the table as proxy for earlier periods are of 
non domestic rates.
Credit approvals. These are central 
government permissions for an individual local 
authority to lx)rrow or raise other form of credit 
for capital purposes. They commenced in April 
1990. The figures used in this table for earlier 
periods are the proxy measures used in Cm 
879 Autumn statement 1989.

Finally, the table shows the addition of the capital 
expenditure of certain public corporations and the net 
borrowing by the nationalised industries, and other public 
corporations from the market and overseas.

Differences between general government expenditure 
and the public expenditure planning total are not entirely 
attributable to the differences in coverage described 
above. There are also differences in accounting 
conventions, classifications and sources. While the public 
expenditure planning total figures are on the same 
definitions and classifications for all years, namely those 
current when the latest Public Expenditure White Paper 
was being prepared, in the national accounts, bodies are 
classified by sector according to their status in each 
period of time shown in the accounts.

A supplementary table, S12, Treasury analysis of 
public expenditure, is included in the November issue of 
Financial Statistics showing the analysis of public 
expenditure by the main spending programmes 
consistent with the definitions used in the most recent 
White Paper. A run of general government expenditure 
figures for the latest eleven calendar years is given in 
United Kingdom National Accounts - ‘Blue BooK - and 
the totals are analysed in detail by functional groups and 
economic categories. Longer runs are given in the 
Economic Trends Annual Supplement for total general 
government expenditure analysed by main economic
category for the years from 1946.

For summary accounts showing revenue, expenditure
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and finance of the public sector see supplementary 
tables S23 and S24 included in the November issue of 
Financial Statistics.

Table 2.5
Public sector borrowing and contribution to 
the pubiic sector borrowing requirement

The public sector borrowing requirement (PSBR) 
indicates the extent to which the public sector borrows 
from other sectors of the economy and overseas to 
finance the balance of expenditure and receipts arising
from its various activities. The PSBR can be defined In

✓

terms of the receipts and expenditure of the consolidated 
public sector accounts, but it is usually more helpful to 
consider It in terms of the borrowing requirements of the 
sub-sectors of the public sector: central government, 
local authorities and public corporations, in practice, the 
local authority and public corporation borrowing 
requirements are measured from the financing items 
because this information comes to hand more quickly 
and is regarded as more reliable.

A considerable part of the central government 
borrowing requirement is needed to finance central 
government on-lending to local authorities and public 
corporations; table 2.5 shows separately the amount 
central government needs to borrow on own account.

The PSBR can be seen as the central government 
borrowing requirement on own account plus the local 
authority borrowing requirement and the public 
corporation borrowing requirement. Alternatively the 
PSBR may be regarded as the total central government 
borrowing requirement p/ws the local authority and public 
corporation 'contributions’ to the PSBR, where 
‘contribution’ is defined as borrowing (other than direct 
borrowing from central government), less net purchases 
of other public sector debt (i.e. for local authorities: 
central government and public corporation debt; for 
public corporations: central government and local 
authority debt).

A revised definition of the PSBR was announced by 
the Chancellor of the Exchequer on 10 February 1984. 
Under this definition changes in public sector bank 
deposits and holdings of other liquid assets are regarded 
as financing the PSBR rather than contributing to it. 
These items are inciuded in columns 1. 2, 4 and 10 of 
table 2.5 and add through to columns 7, 8. 13 and 14.

Monthly estimates of the PSBR are included in the 
table. An article describing their derivation, their 
reiationship with the quarterly figures and their likelihood 
of revision was pubiished in the November 1983 issue of 
Economic Trends.

Seasonal adjustment
The seasonally adjusted series are constrained so that 

financial year totals are equal to the financial year totals 
of the unadjusted series. Central government uses the 
financial year as its accounting year for planning and 
control and the forecasts of PSBR and its components 
which are published each year in the Financial Statement 
and Budget Report are for financial years. The financial 
year constrained seasonally adjusted series should be 
used when the quarterly outturns during the financial 
year are compared with these forecasts.

Erratic influences on the PSBR. particularly distortions 
caused by industrial disputes and by the recent 
privatisations have affected the series over the last few 
years, which has made the seasonally adjusted series 
less reliable as an Indicator of the recent underlying 
trend. Seasonal adjustment seeks to remove only the 
effects of regularly recurrent influences and the 
evaluation of these are impeded when large erratic 
influences affect the series.

Local authorities net borrowing from other sources 
includes market transactions of the issue department of 
the Bank of England and National Insurance Fund in 
local authority debt.

Transactions in other public sector debt by public 
corporations include repayments of loans to regional 
water authorities and passenger transport executives.

Timeliness
Monthly estimates for the borrowing requirement of the 

public sector are released by press notice twelve working 
days in arrears. Figures issued in the PSBR press 
notices are provisional and are subject to revision when 
published. When available, later PSBR figures are shown 
In table S30 in Financial Statistics.

Further references
An article describing the nature of the PSBR and how 

this is measured quarterly was published in the August 
1980 issue of Economic Trends. It explains how the 
PSBR is related to the national accounts, examines 
changes in its composition since 1963 and its 
relationship with the money supply. A further article 
detailing changes appeared in Economic Trends, 
February 1984. Treasury Working Paper No. 57 Central 
Government Funds and accounts and the Central 
Government Borrowing Requirement, June 1990, defines 
the CXsBR and explains the rule of the various central 
government funds and accounts in it’s measurement, ft 
also explains the relationship between the funds and 
accounts and the central government sector in the 
national income and expenditure accounts.

Estimates of the PSBR also appear in the Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin. A forecast of the PSBR and 
its make-up for the financial year is published at Budget 
time in the Financial Statement and Budget Report. 
Another forecast of the PSBR for the financial year is 
published annually in the Autumn Statement.

Financial accounts for the last eleven years are 
published in United Kingdom National Accounts, table 
11.12.

Table 2,6
Financing of the pubiic sector borrowing
requirement

This table analyses the PSBR according to the 
sources of the funds borrowed; It shows who takes up 
the net issues of debt whereas table 2.5 shows who 
issues them. The table is in two parts. The second part 
shows the three main ways in which the PSBR is 
financed: by sales of debt to the public outside the 
banks’ sector (for example, gilts, national savings, local 
authority stocks and bonds); by borrowing from banks 
and building societies; and by transactions with the



General government and public sector finance

overseas sector, which include not only government 
borrowing but also the effect of changes in the reserves 
on the sterling value of the assets of the Exchange 
Equalisation Account. Financing also includes issue 
department transactions in bills, repurchases and sales 
of ECGD - backed promissory notes and shipbuilding 
credit paper. The first part of the table is a summary of 
the second part but includes a breakdown of the other 
private sector financing between other financial 
institutions, industrial and commercial companies and the 
personal sector. The data for this analysis are available 
one month later than data for the non-bank private sector 
as a whole.

Sales of debt to the public are influenced by a number 
of factors including the level of interest rates and 
expectations about future interest rates. The state of 
confidence can also be important.

The extent of overseas finance is largely the 
consequence of the balance of payments position. When 
an external deficit is financed by a fall in the foreign 
exchange reserves, the central government receives an 
inflow of sterling finance from sales of foreign currency. 
The fall in the reserves appears as overseas financing 
while the inflow of sterling reduces the finance that has 
to be raised domestically. Borrowing abroad by public 
corporations and local authorities usually increases the 
reserves since these bodies require sterling for their 
spending and the monetary authorities provide this in 
exchange for the foreign currency. Both the borrowing 
abroad and the increase in the resen/es appear, off

setting each other, as overseas financing, but the need 
for sterling to buy the foreign exchange increases the 
amount that the central government has to borrow 
domestically.

Borrowing from banks will tend to increase the money 
supply. Some methods of financing the PSBR without 
increasing the stock of money were described in the 
Monthly Economic Assessment - Economic Progress 
Report, No. 58, January 1975.

Table 2.6 is built up from certain of the items of tables 
3.4, 4.4 and 5.4. Notes on these components appear in 
later sections under the relevant table number.

Table 2.7
Public sector accounts

A consolidated current and capital account is given for 
the public sector. The presentation of this table follows 
that in the 'public sector transactions’ section of the 
Financial Statement and Budget Report - 'Red Book'. 
This table enables the forecast of the components 
leading to the PSBR to be monitored. The format is 
identified to table 6.7 of the March 1988 Budget Red 
Book. The presentation in Financial Statistics will 
automatically change to accommodate changes in the 
Budget Red Book.

A sub-sector analysis of these figures for the most 
recent complete financial year is published in 
supplementary table S i 3. More detailed description of 
the data is shown there, and in respect of the relevant 
tables from Sections 3. 4 and 5.
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2. Changes in foreign currency reserves are recorded as 

financing the borrowing requirement
3. British government securities.

Arrows pointing upwards indicate repayments by the public sector.
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Section 3
Central government

The central government embraces all bodies for 
whose activities a Minister of the Crown, or other 
responsible person, is accountable to Parliament. It 
includes, in addition to the ordinary government 
departments, a number of bodies administering public 
policy but without the substantial degree of financial 
independence which characterises the public 
corporations; it also includes certain extra-budgetary 
funds and accounts controlled by departments, of which 
the National Insurance Fund is the most important. The 
accounts of the Northern Ireland departments are 
combined with those of the government of Great Britain, 
The issue department of the Bank of England Is regarded 
as an agent of the central government and its financial 
transactions on behalf of the central government are 
treated as though they were transactions of the central 
government itself.

The first three tables give the central government 
accounts on a national accounts basis, showing how the 
current, capital and financial transactions respectively 
lead to the central government borrowing requirement. 
Table 3.4 shows how the borrowing requirement is 
financed, by sector and by type of financial instrument. 
The section also includes further details of British 
government securities, tables 3.5 and 3.6, Treasury bills 
tables 3.7 and 3.8, national savings tables 3.9 and 3.10 
and tax instruments, table 3.11. It should be noted that 
in 1979 the Trustee Savings bank (TSB) was moved 
from central government to the OFI sector, and at the 
end of 1981 from the OFI sector into the banks sector. 
Up to 31 December 1980 the investment accounts of the 
National Savings bank was not part of central 
government but was included in other financial 
institutions.

The financial account is shown in table 1.2 and figures 
for the latest quarter in the matrix of table 1.1,

The presentation of the accounts of the central 
government, in terms of the statutory funds and 
accounts, is given in summary form in tables 3.13 to 
3.17. Their relationship to the accounts of central 
government on a national accounts basis is outlined 
below. Further details may be found in United Kingdom 
National Accounts: Sources and Methods, Chapter IX.

AH government revenue, other than borrowing and 
certain sums received by government departments in the 
course of their normal activities (known as 
appropriations-in-aid), is ultimately paid into an account 
with the Bank of England which forms the Consolidated 
Fund. With certain exceptions (the main ones being 
government loans and national insurance benefits), all 
expenditure by the government is paid out of issues from 
this fund. All money raised by the creation of debt is paid 
into a separate cash account at the Bank of England - 
National Loans Fund (NLF) - together with receipts 
representing repayment of loans made by the State from 
the fund and interest on those loans. The National Loans 
Fund is the channel through which pass all the 
government’s borrowing transactions as well as most of 
its domestic lending transactions and the servicing (i.e. 
interest and expenses) of the 'national debt.’

The Consolidated Fund and National Loans Fund 
accounts are statements of cash flows through the UK 
government accounts with the Bank of England, and

show receipts and payments under headings which 
correspond to the requirements of Parliamentary control. 
Most transactions are with departments and other 
government bodies, and are thus internal to the central 
government sector. Examples of Consolidated 
Fund/National Loans Fund transactions with bodies 
outside the central government sector are interest on and 
management expenses of the national debt and 
transactions in marketable securities.

Departments and other government bodies have 
transactions direct with other sectors and although their 
accounts record these transactions in a good deal of 
detail, the accounts are not in a form suitable for national 
accounting purposes. Three principal operations have to 
be carried out to fit the large mass of data into the 
national accounts framework. In the first place the 
various accounts have to be consolidated so that only 
transactions of the government, considered as a whole 
with the rest of the economy remain; that is, many 
transactions internal to the central government sector - 
such as those with the Consolidated Fund and the 
National Loans Fund - have to be eliminated. Secondly, 
the transactions with the rest of the economy have to be 
classified according to the economic categories used in 
the national accounts. And thirdly, where the information 
is available, the figures shown in the central government 
funds and accounts, which represent cash flows, are 
adjusted on to a payable/receivable or accruals basis to 
make them consistent with other sectors of the national 
accounts.

In the first process of consolidation transactions 
between any two parts of the central government are, 
with certain exceptions, eliminated. In particular, most 
transactions between the Consolidated Fund, National 
Loans Fund and departments disappear. As an example, 
we may consider the case of taxes collected by the 
Inland Revenue. The department in due course passes 
the money it collects to the Consolidated Fund. On 
consolidating, the payment by the department to the 
Consolidated Fund disappears, so that the consolidated 
central government current account in general shows 
only receipts of taxes by the department from other 
sectors. Similarly issues of money from the Consolidated 
Fund to departments to finance departmental expenditure 
{supply services in table 3.13) disappear in the process 
of consolidation, and only payments by departments 
made outside the central government appear in the 
consolidated account. Departmental receipts and 
payments, as recorded in the consolidated account of the 
central government constructed for national accounts 
purposes, may therefore differ significantly from the 
receipts and issues as recorded in the accounts of the 
Consolidated Fund and National Loans Fund because of 
timing differences. Internal transactions are not 
eliminated when the economic category of the payment 
by one part of the government differs from that of the 
receipt by the other part; they are recorded twice, as 
both Income and expenditure. Thus national insurance 
contributions paid by the government in respect of its 
employees, although effectively internal, form part of 
government expenditure on wages and salaries and are 
also included in the total receipts of national insurance 
contributions. Similarly taxes on expenditure forming part
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of expenditure on goods and services by the government 
are not eliminated in the process of consolidation.

The object of the second main process applied to the 
accounts of the central government departments and 
bodies is to present the transactions of the government 
in categories which are economically significant and to 
relate the government’s activities to those of the rest of 
the economy. This calls for a reclassification of 
government transactions, as set out in the accounts 
presented annually to Parliament (i.e. by function or 
programme), into economic categories in accordance 
with the principles adopted for national income 
accounting as a whole. Although the nature and purpose 
of most government transactions is fairly clear, in some 
cases the distinctions are not easy to draw. A principal 
consideration, however, is that the classification should 
be consistent with the treatment of these transactions in 
other sectors of the economy, and It may thus be 
influenced by the data available for other sectors.

The third process concerns the basis of recording 
transactions. For reasons connected with the 
maintenance of Parliamentary control, the accounts of 
central government departments, bodies and funds are 
recorded entirely on a cash basis. The figures appearing 
in the central government current and capital accounts, 
on the other hand, though based on the cash statements 
presented to Parliament, refer only in part to cash 
payments and receipts; certain items are adjusted from 
a cash basis to a payable/receivable, or accruals, basis 
to be more consistent with the figures in the 
corresponding accounts of the sectors concerned in 
transactions with the government. It is worth noting that 
the difficulties of obtaining consistency between the 
government accounts and those of the rest of the 
economy do not arise in the case of activities for which 
accounts are prepared on a commercial, or 
payabie/receivable, basis. These include the transactions 
for central government trading activities. Further details 
of the accruals adjustments are given in the notes to 
tables 3.1 to 3.3. In addition to the accruals adjustments, 
the national accounts also include the consumption of 
non-trading capital, which is an imputed item not 
appearing in the cash accounts of central government 
departments, bodies and funds.

Quality of data
A note on the reliability of the data is given in United 

Kingdom National Accounts: Sources and Methods, 
paragraph 9.188.

Tables 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3
Current, capital and financial accounts

The figures are derived mainly from returns giving 
cash payments and receipts for the various funds and 
accounts; but in order to maintain consistency with the 
basis on which certain transactions are recorded in other 
sectors it is necessary to replace some items' cash 
figures with accrued figures. These items are identified 
in the notes below.

The transactions in these tables are shown seasonally 
adjusted as well as unadjusted. The adjustments are 
such that the calendar year totals of the seasonally 
adjusted series are equal to those of the unadjusted
series, i.e. the seasonally adjusted series is calendar 
year constrained.

Table 3.1
Current account receipts

Taxes on/ncom©covers income tax, surtax, petroleum 
revenue tax, supplementary petroleum duty, corporation 
tax less overspill relief and IBA levy. Income tax is 
recorded on an accruals basis consistent with the way it 
is recorded In the accounts of the other sectors, i.e. as 
the tax deductions from income are actually made. The 
difference between these accruals and the actual 
amounts received by the Inland Revenue is included in 
the financial account as an accruals adjustment.

Taxes on expenditure consists of taxes which enter 
into costs of production and distribution, such as taxes 
on tobacco, value added tax, selective employment tax, 
national insurance surcharge, etc. Also treated as taxes 
on expenditure are taxes on final buyers associated with 
the purchase, possession or use of particular goods, for 
instance motor vehicle licence duties and stamp duties 
on the transfer of property. The figures for selective 
employment tax, national insurance surcharge, purchase 
tax, value added tax, car tax, gas levy, customs and 
excise revenue on beer, alcoholic drinks, tobacco, 
hydrocarbon oils, customs duties and EC agricultural 
levies and Northern Ireland rates represent the amount 
of these taxes accruing during the period rather than the 
actual receipts. From 1990 second quarter National Non- 
Domestic-Rates are included. These replaced local 
authority non-domestic rates in April 1990 and were then 
classified as a Central Government tax. Details of the 
various taxes are shown annually in United Kingdom 
National Accounts.

National insurance, national health. Redundancy Fund 
and Maternity Pay Fund contributions are the aggregate 
of the estimated employers’ and employees' contributions 
and premiums associated with the minimum state 
pension scheme. Following the introduction of the system 
of earnings-related contributions in April 1975, they a'’e 
shown in the account on an accruals basis. Contributions 
by employers under the Statutory sick pay scheme are 
included from April 1983 and for the maternity fund from 
April 1987. Collectively these contributions are shown as 
Social security contributions.

Gross trading surplus is the balance of trading receipts 
over trading expenditure before deducting any provision 
for depreciation and interest charges. It excludes the 
income arising from the ownership and letting of land, 
buildings, and other fixed assets which appears as rent, 
but includes income from the ownership of property used 
for government trading activities.

Rent and royalties, etc. comprises, along with rent, 
licence fees and accrued royalties on North Sea oil and 
gas production. From 1990 royalties are on a cash basis.

Interest and dividends etc. comprises interest from: (a) 
local authorities i.e. on loans, the premium payable under 
the exchange cover scheme, and the income of the 
National insurance Fund and the Issue Department of 
the Bank of England in respect of their investment in 
local authorities debt; (b) public corporations i.e interest 
on loans, dividends on public dividend capital and the 
premium payable under the exchange cover scheme and
(c) interest on loans to the private sector, dividends on 
share holdings and the investment income of certain 
extra-budgetary funds received from outside the public 
sector. Includes debenture receipts by British
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Telecommunications (Statutory Corporation) from British 
Telecommunications to finance its excepted liabilities 
relating to deficiencies in the Post Office and British 
Telecommunications pension funds In respect of service 
before 1969.

Miscellaneous current transfers comprise receipts from 
driving licences, public service vehicle licence fees, 
passport fees, dog and gun licences, and fines and 
penalties in Magistrates and Scottish courts.

Imputed charge for consumption of non-trading capital. 
The provision of non-trading activities requires the use of 
capital assets. The amortisation of these assets is 
charged to current expenditure as capital consumption 
and generates an equal notional receipt.

Current account expenditure
Final consumption relates to non-trading activities, and 

consists of payments for the service of employees, 
capital consumption, and purchases of goods and 
services other than purchases of fixed assets and stocks. 
For certain items cash payments do not accurately 
represent the expenditure being incurred, since they are 
subject to either random fluctuations of timing (e.g. 
military defence purchases of goods and services) or 
periodic payments (e.g. rates on government property) 
and are likely to be inconsistent with the transactions 
recorded by other sectors. The method of dealing with 
this problem is to redistribute the cash figures over the 
financial year generally assuming a smooth trend of 
expenditure during the year. This treatment for military 
defence was stopped In 1983.

Subsidies are payments to a producer or trader having 
the effect of reducing selling prices to final buyers. For 
consistency with the accounts of other sectors, certain 
subsidies are recorded on an accruals basis. It also 
includes receipts and payments from the banks of any 
excess income arising from their fixed rate credit scheme 
lending; this is recorded on an accrued basis.

Social security benefits comprise national insurance 
benefits excluding payments to non-residents which are 
treated as current grants paid abroad. Plus redundancy 
and maternity fund benefits and other non-funded social 
security benefits such as war pensions and allowances, 
family benefits and supplementary benefits.

Other current grants to personal secfor mainly consist 
of grants to universities, colleges etc. and various 
employment benefits such as the Youth Training 
Scheme.

Current grant to local authorities includes from April 
1990 National-non-Domestic Rate distribution. Separate 
figures are shown in table 4.1.

Debt interest relates to central government debt held 
by other sectors. The payments include those made to 
local authorities and public corporations arising from 
guaranteeing interest payments on borrowing under the 
exchange cover schemes; interest paid on public 
corporations' deposits; from September 1981 the indexed 
additions to principal of index-linked gilts which are offset 
by accruals adjustments. Includes payments to the Post 
Office and British Telecommunications pension funds by 
the British Telecommunications (Statutory Corporation) 
of interest received by them relating to deficiencies in the 
pension fund in respect of service before 1969.

Table 3,2
Capital account

This table shows non-financial capital receipts and 
expenditure leading to the balance, financial surplus or 
deficit.

The receipts consist of:

Current surplus brought fonvard from the current 
account.

Taxes on capital. The main items are death duties and 
taxes on capital gains, and in 1981 and 1982, the special 
tax on banking deposits.

Other capital receipts comprise mainly receipts from 
certain public corporations on disposal of assets.

Capital account payments comprise:
Gross domestic fixed capital formation is distinguished 

from final consumption in that it creates physical assets 
which will provide sen/ices in the future, ft includes 
financial leasing.

Increase in value of stocks including trading bodies, 
mainly the net cost of purchases by the Intervention 
Board for Agricultural Produce, and emergency and
strategic stocks.

Capital transfers to private sector, local authorities, 
public corporations and to overseas.

Table 3.3
Financial account and balancing item

Accruals adjustments. These are the adjustments 
made to the central government cash figures of receipts 
and expenditure for consistency with the basis on which 
the transactions are recorded in other sectors. Accruals 
series are converted to a cash basis by subtracting the 
accruals adjustment. The accruals adjustments are 
shown separately classified as financial liabilities or 
assets as appropriate.

Transactions concerning certain public sector pension 
schemes are mainly the net receipts of total pension 
contributions less pensions actually paid in respect of 
notionally funded pension schemes. They include 
notional payment in respect of employers' contributions 
under the Pensions Increase Act for teachers and 
National Health Service workers. In table 1.2 they are 
shown under life assurance and pension funds.

Borrowing for financial leasing comprises borrowing 
less capital repayments for finance leasing. See notes to 
1991 United Kingdom National Accounts for details.

Other identified financial liabilities (net), which /ess the 
balancing item was formerly miscellaneous financial 
receipts. Included are transactions with BNOC in 
connection with its advance sales of oil up to 1981 
quarter four, deposits into Courts Funds, and 
compensation payments relating to the transfer of fixed 
assets to the National Health Service from local 
authorities up to 1983 first quarter (see notes to table 
4.3), The difference between accrued military defence 
purchase and cash payments are included as identified 
trade credit prior to 1983.

Borrowing requirement indicates the extent to which 
the government borrows from other sectors of the 
economy to finance the balance of expenditure and 
receipts arising from its various activities. A sizeable part

40

r  I



Central governm ent

 ̂and

‘and
eci'ai

f̂OfTl

had
sets
des

les,
ion
ind

as,

Its
its
:h
ils
16

)r

in
n
If
e
s
d
3

/

of the borrowing is used to finance central government 
lending to local authorities and public corporations. The 
borrowing requirement is measured by reference to the 
transactions by which central government finances its 
borrowing: details of how the borrowing is financed are
given in tables 3.4, 3.6, 3.8 and 3.9.

Net lending to private sector includes refinanced
shipbuilding credits.

Net lending to public corporations excludes 
transactions in connection with writing off debt. Public 
dividend cap/fa/which is a form of long-term finance for 
public corporations, earning dividends rather than 
interest, and other special advances to public 
corporations are shown separately.

Public dividend capital etc. and company securities 
reflect redemption of public dividend capital by the 
National Enterprise Board and purchase from the 
National Enterprise Board of shares in Rolls Royce and 
British Leyland for the same amount (£234 million 
relating to Rolls Royce in the third quarter of 1980 and 
£1,228 million relating to British Leyland in first quarter 
1981).

Net lending overseas includes refinanced export 
credits.

Ckimpany securities includes receipts from sales of 
assets. The government’s main privatisation sales are 
included here.

Timeliness
The statistics are normally published four months after 

the end of the quarter.

Further references
The central government current account with an 

accompanying commentary is also published in the 
January, April, July and October issues of Economic 
Trends; a longer run of quarterly data appears in the 
October issue.

Further information is included in Chapter IX United 
Kingdom National Accounts: Sources and Methods and 
in the notes to the United Kingdom National Accounts 
'Blue Book’. Annual figures for the latest eleven years, 
giving a detailed analysis of a number of the items, are 
published in the 'Blue Book'.

Table 3.4
Financing of the central government 
borrowing requirement

Table 3.4 shows the main financial instruments 
through which the central government borrows to finance 
the central government borrowing requirement (CGBR). 
The table is in two parts: the first gives details of the 
changes in the financial liabilities and assets of the 
central government which in aggregate match the 
borrowing requirement. The second part shows the 
changes in the net indebtedness of the central 
government to other sectors, changes in the official 
reserves being included in the figure for the overseas 
sector. The estimated changes in net indebtedness 
recorded in the second part of the table arise not only 
from transactions between the central government and 
other sectors, but also from transactions between the 
other sectors. As in the financial accounts, notes and

coin acquired by Scottish and Northern Ireland banks to 
cover increases in notes issued by them, are excluded 
from the figures for the banking sector and included in 
the figures for the other sectors. In table 3.4 increase in 
assets are shown as negative, decreases as positive.

Liabilities
Notes and coin: the increase in notes in circulation 

(that is the increase in the fiduciary note issue less the 
increase in the holding of notes in the Banking 
Department of the Bank of England) plus the increase in 
issued coin.

Treasury bills. The change in Treasury bills 
outstanding excluding those held by the Bank of 
England, government departments and the National Debt 
Commissioners. The change in Treasury bills outstanding 
also excludes changes in those holdings of overseas 
monetary authorities which are the counterparts of 
central bank assistance in support of the reserves in the 
form of swaps against sterling: these changes form part 
of other government overseas financing.

British government securities. Total cash issues of 
British government and government-guaranteed 
securities less redemptions including the operations of 
government sinking funds, and less net purchase of 
government and government-guaranteed securities by 
the Bank of England (including those under purchase 
and resale agreements) and the National Debt 
Commissioners.

National savings comprise the total contribution to the 
financing of the CGBR from national savings as shown 
in table 3.9. See that table for further details.

Tax instruments: These consist primarily of certificates 
of tax deposits - net receipts from deposits less 
withdrawals plus items in transit. These certificates were 
introduced in October 1975 (see notes to table 3.11), 
small repayments of tax reserve certificates (whose 
issues stopped after June 1973) are also included and 
between April 1973 and October 1974 tax deposit 
accounts.

Net indebtedness to the Bank of England, Banking 
Department. The government usually has a net liability to 
the banking department of the Bank of England, which 
holds government debt of various kinds and at the same 
time has liabilities to the government in the shape of the 
balances of the National Loans Fund and the Paymaster 
General at the Bank of England. Transactions are also 
classified here when the Banking Department has a 
surplus.

This item comprises the sum of the increases in the 
Banking Department's holdings of notes and coin, tax 
instruments, British government securities and Treasury 
bills, less increases in the liabilities of the 
Banking Department to the government (i.e. in the 
balances of the National Loans Fund and Paymaster 
General at the Bank of England).

The government’s net indebtedness to the Bank of 
England changes as a result of the Bank’s central 
banking operations. A rise in the government's net 
indebtedness helps to finance the government’s 
borrowing requirement.

Northern Ireland central government debt. This item 
consists of net sales of Northern Ireland government 
securities. Northern Ireland Treasury bills, Ulster saving
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certificates and Ulster development bonds together with 
the increase in bank and building society advances to the 
Northern Ireland central government. Borrowing by the 
Northern Ireland government under the exchange cover 
scheme is included under government foreign currency 
debt.

Cost of exchange cover scheme on repayment of 
principal. There are two ways in which borrowing In 
foreign currency can be undertaken, direct from overseas 
or through the UK banks. Certain foreign currency 
borrowers have access to this scheme; these are 
primarily public corporations but also include local 
authorities and some private sector companies 
(particularly privatised former public corporations). If they 
do, central government guarantees to cover any addition 
to the sterling cost of interest payments and repayments 
of the loan arising from a fail In the exchange rate 
between the time the loan is negotiated and the time it is 
repaid (conversely central government would benefit in 
the event of sterling appreciation). Losses and gains 
arising on interest payments are included under central 
government expenditure: debt interest in table 3.1. Only 
the cost of guaranteeing repayments of principal is 
recorded in table 3.4.

It is important to note that, in practice, no payments as 
such occur, i.e. the exchange losses or gains are purely 
notional. Under the exchange cover scheme, the 
beneficiary is entitled to purchase the foreign currency 
needed to repay the loan (interest) at the original 
exchange rate from the Exchange Equalisation Account. 
However in the local authorities’, the public corporations’ 
and company accounts (tables 4.4, 5.4 and 6.2) 
repayments of borrowing are shown at the current market 
exchange rate in line with the balance of payments 
statistics. The Item cost of exchange cover scheme on 
repayments of principal is needed as an adjustment to 
bring the figures back to an original exchange rate basis. 
A charge is made by central government for the 
guarantee. This is included under central government 
receipts: interest and dividends etc. in table 3.1.

Other public sector financing: central government 
comprises ways and means advances by the National 
Coal Board, the British Gas Corporation, and the Crown 
Agents Holdings and Realisation Board, and repayments 
by the Fund for the Banks for Savings to the Trustee 
savings banks and deposits by public corporations with 
the National Loans Fund (including a repayment to a 
corporation after it was privatised), and balances of 
certain trading funds (classified as public corporations) 
with the Paymaster General.

Government foreign currency debt includes foreign 
currency borrowing by HM government under bank euro
dollar facilities from governments and central monetary 
authorities abroad (including foreign currency deposits), 
issues and redemptions of British government foreign 
currency bonds, drawings by the IMF and borrowing by 
the Northern Ireland central government from the 
European Investment Bank under the exchange cover 
scheme. HMG’s dollar floating rate note issues are also 
included here.

Other government overseas financing covers all 
central government transactions with overseas not 
elsewhere Included, such as sterling borrowing from 
governments or from central monetary authorities in the
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form of assistance with a sterling counterpart invested in 
Treasury bills (aid bills), amounts swapped forward into 
later months against sterling with overseas monetary 
authorities in 1971 and 1972, transfers from the 
Government’s dollar portfolio into the reserves, gold 
subscriptions to the IMF, changes in IMF holdings of 
non-interest bearing notes other than those arising from 
drawings or subscriptions, allocation of SDRs, the 
Exchange Equalisation Account’s loss on forward 
commitments entered into before devaluation in 1967. 
Further details are shown in United Kingdom National 
Accounts table 7.4.

Assets
Issue dept, transactions in bills, etc. and indirect 

lending to other public sector. Market transactions by the 
Issue Department of the Bank of England, and by the 
National Debt Commissioners. It also includes the 
purchases and resales by the Issue Department of 
promissory notes relating to export credit backed by the 
ECGD and to shipbuilding finance and government- 
guaranteed stock (redemptions). The latter represents 
payments to the central government by nationalised 
industries for the redemption of their government- 
guaranteed stock at maturity. All redemptions of 
government-guaranteed stock held by the public are 
treated as being made by the central government which 
itself may hold (through the Bank of England issue 
department) amounts of stock purchased in the market 
prior to redemption. All transactions with the public in 
government guaranteed stocks (including purchases at 
redemption) are included in the Item British government 
securities.

Net change in official reserves (other than the 
increases arising from the transfer of the government’s 
portfolio of dollar securities). It excludes the increase in 
sterling value upon devaluation. From 23 August 1971 
valued in sterling at transactions rates of exchange, and 
previously at parity.

Deposits with banks. These figures are deposits by 
central government with the banks sector and are 
obtained from the banks sector statistics.

Timeliness
Quarterly figures forthe net borrowing requirement are 

published in Financial Statistics or\e month after the end 
of the quarter to which they relate. The analysis by type 
of instrument is available two months In arrears, followed 
one month later by the sector analysis.

Tables 3.5 and 3.6
Government and government-guaranteed 
marketable securities

Table 3.5 starts with the cash value of net issues of 
British government and government-guaranteed 
securities by the National Loans Fund (NLF); after 
deducting net purchases by official holders one has the 
value of net official sales to the market which is split into 
conventional and index-linked stock. There follows in the 
first half a maturity analysis of the figure for net official 
sales of conventional stock; figures are distinguished for 
redemptions, net offidal purchases of secunties up to 
one year’s residual maturity, transactions (of all
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maturities) under purchases and resaie agreements 
(repos) and gross official sales which are shown in three 
maturity bands.

Finally the first half shows changes in the maturity of 
holdings of BGS which arise from the exercise by market 
holders of the conversion rights attached to certain 
stocks. The value attributed to the conversion is the 
market value of the newly acquired stock on the date of 
conversion. The transactions are non-cash and net out 
to zero.

The second half of the table analyses by sector the 
net official sales. Details of how this is estimated are
given in Section 1.

Table 3.6 analyses for each month the net issues by 
the NLF (shown quarterly in the first column of table 3.5) 
into gross issues and redemptions of individual 
securities, giving the name of the security and the cash 
amount received on issue or subsequent instalment or 
paid on redemption.

Timeliness
Quarterly figures are published in Financial Statistics 

three months in arrears.

Further references
This information with some additional detail is 

published in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Table 3.7
Treasury bills

The table gives a sector analysis by holder at the end 
of period together with an analysis of transactions by 
sector of holder derived from the financial accounts; 
details are described in Section 1.

Market Treasury bills are the total of Treasury bills 
outstanding other than those held by the National Debt 
Commissioners (apart from those held on behalf of the 
National Savings Bank Investment Fund up to the end of 
1980), other government departments and the Bank of 
England. They comprise bills issued at the weekly 
tenders, other than those issued to the banking 
department of the Bank of England for its own account, 
plus any bills - including bills originally issued outside the 
tender (tap bills) - sold to the market by government 
departments or the Bank of England less any bills 
purchased from the market by such bodies.

Timeliness
Quarterly figures are published in Financial Statistics 

three months in arrears.

Further references
Quarterly transactions by holders are also available in 

the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin and the Bank of 
England Statistical Abstract.

Table 3.8
Treasury bill tender

The figures relate to the weekly Treasury bill tender. 
Treasury bills are a short-term government liability 

normally having a life of ninety-one days. They are 
offered for sale by tender on the last working day of each

week.
The members of the London Discount Market 

Association, by long standing agreement, tender each 
week for at least the full amount of the bills on offer.

Treasury bills are one of the instruments which the 
Bank of England purchases in its open market 
operations.

Tables 3.9 and 3.10
National savings

The figures relate to national savings products which 
are provided by the State, or are under State 
supervision. The main legislation is contained in the 
National Loans Act 1968; the Trustee Savings Bank Acts 
1969 and 1976; the National Savings Bank Act 1971; the 
National Debt Act 1972; and in regulations deriving from 
these acts.

From the November 1979 issue no new figures are 
added to the Trustee savings banks (ordinary or new 
department) columns, with the amalgamation of the 
departments on 21 November 1979; for statistical 
purposes the change is being recorded from 30 
September. Combined figures for all Trustee savings 
banks are given in table 7.1 thereafter.

Table 3.9 shows the range of products on offer. The 
National Savings Bank (NSB) has an Ordinary Account 
and an Investment Account.

Trustee savings banks figures were included in British 
savings bonds and SAYE until May 1982; under other 
securities on the National Savings Stock Register (prior 
to 21 November 1979) and in Trustee savings banks’ 
ordinary department (prior to 30 September 1979).

From September 1979 the amount of £7.7 million is 
excluded from national savings stamps and gift tokens in 
respect of stamps deemed to be outstanding and written 
off on 15 August 1979.

Total contributions to the financing of the CGBfl 
includes accrued interest and payments into NILO.

The financial accounts
The figures shown for national savings in the financial 

accounts and supporting tables (tables 1.1,1.2,1.5,1.9 
and 9.2) and in the financing of the central government 
borrowing requirement, table 3.4, relate to National 
Savings Certificates, SAYE, Yearly Plan, British Savings 
Bonds, Premium Savings Bonds, National Savings 
Stamps and Gift Tokens; the NSB Ordinary Account; the 
NSB Investment Account, Income Bonds, Indexed- 
Income Bonds Deposit Bonds and Capital Bonds. Prior 
to January 1981 the NSB Investment Account did not 
form part of the central government sector in the financial 
accounts; it was considered to be a financial institution. 
Consequently, deposits with it were not part of national 
savings as defined here, but were included in the other 
financial institutions as deposits with savings banks. 
Sales of slock from the National Savings Stock Register 
are included as public sector sales of British government 
securities to persons (tables 1.2, 1.5 and 3.5).

Up to the end of the first quarter of 1977, transactions 
are deemed to relate solely to persons. From the second 
quarter of 1977 onwards the data take accx}unt of 
holdings by local authorities, building societies, pension 
funds and certain other non-profit makina bodies in the
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NSB investment account. With effect from 1 October 
1981 the investment account was opened to investment 
by registered companies and other corporate bodies 
trading for profit. From 1 January 1990 new holdings are 
restricted to personal savers and trustees for individuals.

Figures for the personal sector (table 9.5), except for 
securities on the National Savings Stock Register, are 
split into two headings:

certificates, bonds and SAVE - National 
Savings Certificates, British Savings Bonds, 
Premium Savings Bonds, SAVE, Yearly Plan, 
National Savings Stamps and Gift Tokens, 
Income Bonds, Indexed-Income Bonds, 
Deposit Bonds and Capital Bonds.
Ordinary and Investment Account - National 
Savings Bank

The public sector figures (tables 1.2 and 1.5) are 
those in the central government borrowing requirement 
(table 3.4) and consist of the national savings figures, 
defined above for the personal sector. Deposits with 
savings banks, appear as part of the other financial 
institutions (OFI) sector transactions (tables 1.6 and 1.7).

Since November 1980 figures provided by DNS are a 
record of purchases and repayments as made by the 
public at post offices and other agencies (mainly banks) 
and not a record of the movement of monies Into and out 
of the Director of Saving’s account with the Bank of 
England as previously.

The contribution to the CGBR records the net capital 
payment into the National Loans Fund in respect of 
certificates, bonds, SAVE etc. schemes, NSB deposits 
plus net accrued interest less any increases in ways and 
means advances of the DNS with the Paymaster 
General. The difference between this figure and the total 
national savings contribution to the PSBR is attributed to 
public corporations' transactions in national savings and 
appears under that heading in Section 1 and as 
transactions in public sector (centralgovernment) debt 'm 
tables 2.5 and 5.4.

Definition of items
Net transactions (table 3.9) are the differences in the 

amounts outstanding, including interest between one 
period and the next.

Net receipts (table 3.10) are the net differences 
between new purchases plus capital uplift on Yearly Plan 
and repayments (see Yearly Plan below) in the period. 
For National Savings Certificates, SAVE and Yearly Plan 
the amounts of interest/bonus/index-linked increase 
repaid are included in repayments.

Index-linked increase is the amount by which the 
capital invested, in order to retain its original value, would 
have to be increased by revaluing in line with the Retail 
Prices Index (RPI).

The columns in respect of National Savings 
Certificates in table 3.10 show purchases; repayments of 
principal and accrued interest/ index-linking/ bonuses/ 
supplements. Table 3.9 shows amounts of principal and 
accrued interest/ index-linking/ bonuses/ supplements 
remaining invested at the end of the period. The special 
features of the index-linked issues require separate 
presentation.
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A total is given in table 3.9 for the amount outstanding 
for British Savings Bonds, other securities on the 
National Savings Stock Register as well as for National 
Savings Stamps and Gift Tokens deemed to be in the 
hands of the public.

British Savings Bonds are shown together with 
National Savings Stamps and Gift Tokens as a net 
transaction on table 3.10.

Premium Savings Bonds, and Income Bonds and 
tndexed'lncome Bonds combined are analysed by 
purchases and repayments (table 3.10) and the amounts 
remaining invested at the end of the period (table 3.9).

In table 3.9 data for Yearly Plan are shown together 
with fixed Interest issues of SAYE. Data for the index- 
linked issue of SAYE is shown separately. In table 3.10 
Yearly Plan and all issues of SAYE are shown together. 
For both tables capital refers to the amount subscribed 
for SAYE and the amount subscribed or the certificate 
value (the amount subscribed in the first year plus the 
interest earned in the first year) for Yearly Plans. The 
capital uplift column in table 3.10 refers to the amount of 
interest earned by monthly subscriptions to Yearly Plan 
which is capitalised at the end of the first year and is 
counted as a net receipt of capital. The figures do not 
include SAY£administered by the building societies, see 
notes to tables 7.6 to 7.8. Figures for repayments of 
accrued index-linked increase up to 31 July 1980 are for 
sums paid in respect of deceased savers’ contracts; the 
amounts outstanding of accrued index-linked increase up 
to 31 July 1980 are for deceased savers’ contracts which 
have not yet been repaid. From 1 August 1980 figures 
include index-linking on all contracts which have reached 
the fifth anniversary of the start date. Details of the 
number of contracts with DNS and TSBs combined, in 
force at the end of the period for the First, Second and 
Third issues, were included until July 1980.

Statistics for the NSB are split between the ’Ordinary’ 
and the ‘Investment Account’ services for each of which 
deposits, withdrawals, accrued interest and balance at 
the end of the period are shown. The same information 
appears for Deposit Bonds and. Capital Bonds in table 
3.10.

Accruals
The gross accrued interest, index-linked increase, 

bonus, or supplement on any form of National Savings is 
the amount of interest, index-linking, bonus, or 
supplement that the central government could be called 
upon to pay out. It is therefore subject to step changes 
reflecting the terms of issue, and is not necessarily 
calculated according to a constant rate of growth at 
which the amount might be thought of as being gradually 
earned. Hence for example the index-linking on SAYE 
contracts (series ACUN and ACVP in table 3.9) does not 
begin to accrue until August 1980, five years after their 
introduction, in line with their terms of issue (see the 
Annex below); and the August 1980 figure represents 
five years growth in the value of the initial contracts.

Accrued interest can be calculated gross and net (i.e. 
after repayment of interest) for most National Savings 
products, but can only be calculated gross for savings 
bank deposits and deposit bonds for which repayments 
of principal and interest are indistinguishable.
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Publication sequence
The previous calendar month’s estimated figures are 

first published in a press notice issued by the 
Department for National Savings (DNS) usually on the 
second or third Sunday in the month. The figures next 
appear, also towards the end of the month, in Financial 
Statistics with revised figures for the earlier months as 
more up to date information becomes available.

At any point in time the most recent figures appearing 
in tables 3.9 and 3.10 are provisional estimates. After a 
few months, firm figures are substituted which, until April 
1986 were generally on a Post Office accounting month 
basis. Exceptions were data on savings bank accounts, 
deposit bonds, SAVE and yearly plan where the data 
referred to calendar months. From 1 April 1986 all data 
are on a calendar month basis. Revisions to data are 
part of a continuous process.

Method of compilation
All statistics are obtained from official DNS sources 

and the Treasury. The figures are collated by DNS to 
provide the entries in tables 3.9 and 3.10. The data 
series were revised from April 1986 following the re
estimation of accrued interest on savings certificates 
which coincided with the adoption of an improved 
transaction accounting system.

Further references
Quarterly figures of both the number and value of 

SAVE accounts opened and closed, and balances 
outstanding, are shown for DNS in a quarterly 
supplementary table in Financial Statistics, together with 
information on SAVE transacted through building 
societies.

The Annual Abstract of Statistics, table 16.9 (1990), 
provides long annual series (usually covering the last ten 
years) of statistics on a financial year basis.

The Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin includes 
national savings statistics in the table ‘Analysis of 
government debt’ and the Bank of England Statistical 
Abstract, No 2 contains the same information for the 
years 1963 to 1975.

The Digest of Welsh Statistics, the Scottish Abstract 
of Statistics and the Digest of Statistics, Northern Ireland 
provide data on investment and repayments relating to 
the three areas.

Annex to Tables 3.9 and 3.10
Terms

Given below v e  the etrrent term i offered on the main forms ot national eavtngs. Further 
detals are avifiaUe from the Department for National Savinps. 375 Kensington High Street 
London W14 6SO.

National eavinge oertfaerar interesl, indei-linfced inaeasee. bonuses and sup^ements 
are free of income ta i and caprtif gains tax

iftferesr issues details d  the terms on individual fiied  interest issues from 1U 0 are 
set out in the table below

Issue

25th
26th
27th
2ah
29lh
30th

Ptriod

Compourto 
interest 

guaranteed 
over five Value M asnvm

ol M l* years of unit holding
(£)

17/11/82-iare/83 7.51 25 5.000
6.26 25 5,000

S/4/64-7/8/84 7.25 25 5,000
6/8/84-11/»84 0.00 25 5.000

15/t0/84-12/2«5 800 25 5,000
1 3 /2 ^ 6 -8 /^ 6.65 25 5.000
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31et 2 & 6 ^ 1 in i/8 6 7.65 2$ 10,000
32nd 12/11/86-10/3^7 0.75 25 5,000
33rd 1/5/87-21/7/86 7.00 25 1,000
34th 22/7/88-16«/90 7.50 25 1,000
35th 1&&60-14/3/61 0.50 25 1,000
36th 2M/60 8.50 25 5,000

For 34th 35th and 36th Issue holders of pre^ous matured certificates may reHnvest these 
certficates up to the value of £10,000 in addition to the manmum holdinga.

ind0M-iirk0d  jssue i:
fletirem enr/ssue: (on sale from 2 June 1675 to 15 November 1660).
Available to people of national retirement pension ege in £10 units. Repayment value 

related to the movement of the UK Retail Prices Index (RPI) between purchase date and 
r^aym ent. except that H encashed within one year of purchase repayment at face value only. 
A bonus of £4% of the purchase price wee added to certificates on the fifth anraversary of the 
purchase date and then index^linked to the date of repayment A second bonus of £4% of the 
fifth annrversary value will be added to  certificates on the tenth annrversary of the purchase 
date and be index*linked to the date of repaymerti. A supplement of £2.4% of the 30 October 
1662 value cf the certificate was added to certificates on 1 Noverrber 1663 and index^linked 
to  the date of repayment. Similar supplements of £2.4%, £3%  £3%  £4%, £3% and £1.9% 
were added to certificates on 1 Novsrrber 1964.1 Noverrber 1685, 1 AugjtX  1666,1 August 
1667.1 August 1666 and 1 August 1666. No further annual supplements will be added. At no 
time will repayment value be less than purchase price. Maamum holding £1.200.

Second /ndeiJ/niked issue; (on sale from 17 November 1660 to 26 June 1685).
Terms similar to retirement issue except for age restrictions. Originally restricted to persons 

aged sixty years or over, but rrinimum age reduced to  fifty years on 6 April 1661, and age 
restriction completsfy removed on 7 Septsn^er 1661. Maxirrum holding £10.000.

Third  ind0M4nk0d issue: (on sale from 1 July 1665 to 31 July 1666)
Available in £25 units to a maximum holding of £5.000. Each ye v  the certificate value

grows by the annuif inflation rate as rtM isured by the RPI plus the extra interest rate for that 
year. For this issue the amount of extra interest rises from £2.5% in the first year to £5.25% 
in the fifth year: overall £3.54% per annum above the inflation rate if the certificate is held for 
f^e  U i years. Certificates held after maturity will receive, in addHion to indexJinking. extra 
interest a l the rate of £0.5% at the end of each year.

Fotatfr rnrfex-tfnfred i$$o$: (on sale from 1 August 1686 to 30 June 1960)
Terms sirhlar to third index-linked issue except for a higher rate of interest The amount 

of extra interest rises from £3% in the first year to £6% in the fifth year: overall £4.04% per 
annum above the inflation rate if the certificate is held ter five fu l years.

Fifth ind^x^nk0d  issiM: (on sale from 2 Jitiy 1660)
Available in £25 units and for the period up to 20 March 1691. with a nwuQrrxim holding 

of £5,000. The ma«mum holding was inaeased to £10,000 with effect from 21 M vch 1661. 
In adctition to the m axirriim  holdings, holders of previous matised Certificates (fixed or Index- 
Linked) and Yeariy Ran may re-invest theee Certificatee up to  a rm sm um  of £10,000. A 
Certificate held for five fU l years will receive in addtion to index-linking an exfra interest d  
£4.5% for each d  the five years.

British savrnos bonds: first issued 1 April 196a Sdd for £5 and m dtiplet of £5. Inlereet 
payable half-yeariy and it  assessable for income tax; bonusee are free d  income tax« capital 
gains tax ar>d corporation ta x  No further sales after 31 December 1679. R nd rseu# reached 
maturity in August 1665 and has been repaid.

^e /n ium  savings bonds: first issued 1 Norember 1656. Prizes are free d  income tax and 
capital gains tax. The rnnimum purchase is now £100. except fa  parents, grandparents a  
guardians buying for children under 16. tor which K is £10. The rale d  interest forming the prize 
fund is currentfy 6.5% giving approrimateiy 200.000 prizes per month. The odds d  an 
indhridusl £1 bond unit winning a prize is about 11.000:1 in any month.

inconw bonds: First issued 2 August 1662. The current terme are: a minimum initial 
ptJrchase c f £2.000. larger purchases and addtions to existing hddingt in multiples d  £1.000 
up to a maxim jm holding of £25,000. The IHe of the bond initialfy set a i ten years. The cash 
value d  the investment remains the same. Interest is taxable but i t  paid in toll without 
deduction of tax at source. Interest is payable monthly. The rate can be varied at six weeks' 
notice. Repaymsnts may be made at three months' notice.

/ntfexedJncome bonds: On sale from 11 Ncxfember 1665 to 26 August 1667, Mnimum 
inltia] purchase d  £5,000 larger purchases and additions to easting hddings in mdtiplee d  
£1.000 up to a maximum of £100.000. The life d  the bond initially set at ten yeas. The 
indexed -incoms bond pays a start rate' monthly income for the first year: this income is 
inaeased at the end d  each year in line with movements in the RPI (e.g. s lo t rale 6% then 
rf the RPI inaeased by 5% during the first year, the intereet paid in the second year wU be 8 
X 1.05 •  64%). The cash value of the investment remains the same, Interest is taxable but te 
pad in toll without deduction of tax at source. Repayments may be made at three montfw* 
notice

Yswfy Pfan: introduced 2 d iy  1664. A fixed interest scheme involving monthly payments 
fa  one year after wNch the invM ta  receives a certificate which haa a guaranteed rate d  
interest fa  the next four years provided H is not encashed during the time. The rnrsnum  and 
m arim im  monthly payments are £20 and £200 respectively. Interest is free of incoms tax and 
capctsi gains tax.

Save As Ygj Cam scheme: Parallel schemes were operated by the Department fa  
Nasonai Savings and the Trustee Savings Saitics. until the introduction of the index-lir^^ed issue 
which is adntinistered by the Department fa  National Savings ody. Interest, ir>dex-lirti(ed 
inaease, bonuses and svpdements are free d  income tax and capital gdns tax.

First issue was on sde from 1 October 1666 to 30 June 1674; second issue from 1 Jdy 
1074 to 30 dune 1675; details of te rra  applicable to these issues are avalaUe from ONS.

Third issue (index-linked) was available from 1 July 1675 to 31 May 1664. The te rra  were 
fixed mortNy paymenU d  £4 to £20 increased to £50 on 1 May 1661) contacted fa  five 
years Each confridrton separately revalued in line with movement d  the RR figures 
a p p lic ^e  to the momh d  the start date. No interest is paid on savings withdrawn in the first 
year, but thsreaner if c o n fri^o n s  have stopped, interest is paid at the rate of 6% per annum
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cofnpound4d montNy or> u v io g t withdrawn up to tha and of tha aavanth yaar.
Fourth isaua (Shara Option tcham a). Availabla on^y in conjunction with an approvad 

aavinga raiatad ahara option achama involving daduction from pay by tha amployar. Tarma aa 
fdlowa:

monthly 
paymanta (Ca)

ftva yaar bonua 
aquivalant 
monthly 
contnbution

affactiva annual 
ra ia(% )

aavan yaar bonua 
aquivalant 
monthly 
contribution

aflactiva annual 
rata (%)

intaraat rata 
if  withdrawn 
pramaturaly afrar 
ona yaar (% p.a.)

Sariaa A
1S/11/80*
31/10/63

10-50

16

10,43

36

10.64

Period of m I# 
Series 6 
1/11/83- 
31/6^7

Series C
1/W87-
31/690

Series 0  
1/990

10-50 10-150 10-150

14 12 15

&3 7.21 666

26 24 30

6.6 7.55 9.15

6

D0po$Jt$ with A/atfona/ Savrnoa B^nk OfdnarY account and, until 20 Novambar 1070, 
Tn/afaa aavrnps ba/Aa o fd iw y  d ^p ^ rm n t. M to rrum  balanoa £10.000. Tax fraa concaaaion 
of £70 on accounts intarast. Currant intarast rata is 2.5% on balancas balow £500. Providad 
accounts ramain opan throughout tha calandar yaar 5% is paid on tha whola bdanca for aach 
completa calandcr month with a balanca of £500 or mora. Intarast is caJculatad on a montNy 
basis and is aaditad gross to accounts onca a yaar on 31 Oacambar.

Chp09it$ with Nstionsi Sw/inQS B^nk mvasrma/ir account In tarast which is paid gross, ts 
assassada for incoma tax. Maximum bdanca £25.000. rnnimum daposh £5. Intarast is 
calculatad daily and craditad to  accounts onoa a yaar on 31 Oacambar. Rapaymants may ba 
mada at c m  months notioa. For rata of intarasl saa tada 13 J .

D epart bonds On sala from 17 Octobar 1063 to  19 Novambar 106a Mnimumpurchasa 
£100; largar purchasas and additiorts to axisting holdings in rrultiplas of £50 to  a rr>aximum 
holding c4 £100.000. Tha Irfa o f tha bond initialty sat at tan yaars. Intarast is  calcUatad on a 
daily basis, starting from tha data of purchasa and is addad to tha c ^ ta l vakia on tha 
annivarsary of tha purchasa data. Intarast is taxable and is paid without deduction of tax at 
scurca. Tha rata can ba varied at six weeks notice. Rapaymants may ba mada at three montfw 
notice.

CspiUi bonds:
Series (On sala from  4 January 1969 to 16 June 1900).
Mnimum purchasa £100 and a d (itio n i to axisting holdings in m jitip las of £100 wHh no 

upper lir r it  Tha life of tha bond is sat at five yaara. Intarast at a fixed rata ^12%  par annum 
rf held for five fU l yaars) is addad to  tha Capitai Value on tha anrvvarsary of tha purchasa data. 
Imarast is taxabla and is paid without deductions at source. Rapeymants may ba mada at three 
months ncfica. Bonds repaid in tha first yaar do not earn in ta rast Bonds are rapstd after five 
yaars.

Series {On sale from 25 June 1690 to 14 March 1991).
Terms sim ilar to  sahas 'A * except for tha madmum holdngs o f £100.000, M s sxdudas 

any holdings of sarias *A". Intarast was tixad e l £13% par annum if held for frva fuU yavs.
Series (On sale from  2 April 1991).
Terms »m la r to sarias •B*. Intarast is  fixed at £11.5% par annum if held for five full y a tf s.

Table 3.11
Tax instruments

Certificates of tax deposit. These certificates were 
introduced in October 1975 and are availaible to 
taxpayers generally. Minimum deposits of £2,000 are 
accepted by the Inland Revenue and, until further notice, 
will earn interest at varying rates when applied to 
payment of income tax (other than PAYE tax and 
amounts deducted from payments to sub-contractors), 
corporation tax (including advance corporation tax), 
capital gains tax, capital transfer tax/inheritance tax. 
development land tax, petroleum revenue tax, advance 
petroleum revenue tax, petroleum royalty and the gas 
levy, and at a lower rate when withdrawn for cash. A new 
prospectus (Series 6) was introduced in October 1982. 
Under this series interest rates are set according to both 
the size of a deposit and the length of time for which it is 
held. Interest rates of existing deposits are revised

annually. The interest is paid gross and is taxable. Table 
13.6 gives details of the interest rates.

For deposits held under earlier prospectuses which 
were surrendered in payment of a scheduled liability, a 
bonus was at times payable after six months in addition 
to the basic rate and a supplement was at times payable 
for the initial period of the deposit. The rates of interest 
paid were revised on each second anniversary.

The analysis by sector shows net transactions in 
certificates as identified in the financial accounts. The 
central government’s transactions are the net payments 
to the National Loans Fund (with sign reversed) - the 
differences between these figures and net issues as 
recorded by the Inland Revenue are due to items in 
transit. From second quarter 1978 figures are included 
for public corporations and are based on transactions 
identified from returns from certain nationalised industries 
supplemented by data from Inland Revenue. Figures for 
banks are derived from the banking statistics, those for 
other financial institutions are mainly from building 
societies’ accounts, and those for industrial and 
commercial companies are the residual item. Personal 
sector transactions are net issues of personal certificates 
as shown in the Inland Revenue accounts in the upper 
half of the table, adjusted for items in transit.

The estimates of holdings by sector included in this 
table are derived from the financial transactions figures.

Prior to 6 October 1975 tax instruments consisted of 
tax reserve certificates and tax deposit accounts. To 
present the maximum information available, via the 
Central Database, series codes ACRK to ACRS 
inclusive, ascribed to certificates of tax deposit have 
been utilised for an analysis of tax reserve certificates 
between first quarter 1963 and first quarter 1975. From 
1963, series ACRU contains the total redemptions of tax 
reserve certificates and tax deposit accounts. At 
end-1990 the level outstanding of the former was £0.5 
million and the amount in respect of the deposit accounts 
was zero. Since then only very small amounts of tax 
reserve certificates have been redeemed in any time 
period.

Table 3.12
Central government borrowing on own 
account (CGBR(O))

This table shows Central Government Borrowing on its 
own account, excluding from the Central Government 
Borrowing Requirement (CGBR) measure (shown in 
tables 3.3 and 3.4) those borrowings which are on- 
loaned to local authorities and public corporations. The 
CGBR (0) is a net measure of all receipts and 
expenditure on Central Government funds and accounts, 
after excluding transactions which do not cross the 
Central Government boundary with the rest of the 
economy.

In addition to the Consolidated Fund and the National 
Loans Fund the main other central government funds 
and accounts which contribute to the measurement of the 
central government borrowing requirement are:

(a) the National Insurance Fund
(b) the Exchange Equalisation Account
(c) the Paymaster General’s Account
(d) the National Debt Commissioner’s Accounts
(e) Northern Ireland Funds and Accounts
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Treasury Working Paper No 57, published on 6 June 
1990, desCTibes the system of Central Government funds 
and accounts in detail and their relationship with the 
CGBR. And it provides a full explanation of the design of
this table.

Inland Revenue and Customs and Excise receipts. 
These receipts are on the same basis as the funds and 
accounts presentation in Table 3.13.

Social security contributions. Receipts which exclude 
contributions collected in Northern Ireland are on a cash 
basis, rather than the acauals basis used in the National 
Income and Expenditure Accounts (Table 3.1). Imputed 
flows on account of statutory sick and maternity pay are 
also excluded.

Interest and dividend receipts. As defined for the 
National Income and Expenditure Accounts (Table 3.1) 
except for small timing differences.

Other receipts largely comprises national non-domestic 
rates, vehicle excise duty, oil royalties and gas levy.

Interest payments. As defined for the National Income 
and Expenditure Accounts (Table 3.1) except that 
accrued uplift on index-linked gilts is excluded. There are 
also small timing differences.

Privatisation proceeds score as negative central 
government expenditure in the public expenditure 
planning total. Details of privatisation proceeds are given 
in Table 2.8.

Net departmental outlays includes most of Supply 
expenditure (excluding on-lending to public corporations), 
national insurance benefits, European Community 
contributions not in Supply expenditure and the funding 
of Northern Ireland expenditure. Net departmental outlays 
are measured on a cash flow basis as the money leaves 
the central government sector and the cheques are 
cleared rather than when the cheques are issued as is 
the case with Supply expenditure.

Table 3.13
Central government funds and accounts: 
transactions

These tables record receipts and payments on the 
Consolidated Fund and the National Loans Fund and 
changes in balances on some other central government 
funds and accounts e.g. the National Insurance Fund. 
The net result is the amount the central government 
needs to borrow i.e. the central government borrowing 
requirement (CGBR). The material is analysed according 
to government accounting arrangements and may be 
contrasted with the analysis in tables 3.1 to 3.3 which is 
by economic category and in table 3.4 which shows the 
financing of the CGBR. Figures in table 3.13 are given 
for calendar months as well as for the normal periods of 
financial years and calendar years and quarters.

The basis and manner of operation of the
Consolidated Fund is governed by the Exchequer and
Audit Departments Act 1866 (as amended by the
National Loans Act 1968) which provides that gross tax
revenue (less repayments) and all other public monies
payable to the Exchequer shall be paid into 'The Account
of Her Majesty’s Exchequer’. The Consolidated Fund is
at any point of time the amount standing to the credit of
this Exchequer Account which is held at the Bank of 
England.

The National Loans Act 1968 provides that all money 
raised by the creation of debt is payable into the National 
Loans Fund together with receipts representing 
repayments of loans made from the Fund and interest on 
those loans. The majority of central government lending 
is made from the National Loans Fund which is thus the 
channel through which pass all the central government’s 
borrowing transactions and most of it's domestic lending 
transactions. (Loans charged on votes continue to be 
met from the Consolidated Fund).

Consolidated Fund Revenue
Inland Revenue. Receipts of income tax, surtax, 

corporation tax, capital gains tax, development land tax, 
estate duty, capital transfer tax, stamp duties and 
petroleum revenue tax, details in table 3.14.

Customs and Excise. Receipts of duties on beer, 
wines, cider, perry and spirits, tobacco, betting and 
gaming, hydrocarbon oils, customs duties, value added 
tax, car tax etc, details in table 3.15.

Interest and dividends. This includes receipts on loans 
issued from central government votes; dividends on 
public dividend capital of public corporations and trading 
funds, plus a miscellany of small receipts.

Other receipts. The largest items are National non 
domestic rates (from April 1990) and miscellaneous 
revenue on supply votes. Other sources of receipts 
included here are from the European Community, and 
some of the proceeds of special asset sales (see notes 
to table 2.4).

Expenditure
The major item is advances to central government 

departments to meet their requirements arising from 
monies voted by Parliament (supply services).

Debt interest (under standing services) is the extent to 
which the Consolidated Fund has had to be used in 
order to service the National Debt after the receipts of 
interest etc. accruing to the National Loans Fund have 
been exhausted. The principal and interest on 
government stock is a charge on the National Loans 
Fund, with recourse to the Consolidated Fund.

Surplus or deficit of the Consolidated Fund. The 
Consolidated Fund is brought into balance each day by 
a transfer to or from the National Loans Fund and this 
column represents the net difference between receipts 
and payments over the period.

National Loans Fund
Interest receipts and profits of note issue. These 

receipts are mainly interest received on loans repayable 
to the National Loans Fund and payments representing 
the net profits of the issue department of the Bank of 
England.

Net lending is the net total of lending by, less 
repayment to, the National Loans Fund. Details are given 
in table 3.17.

Other central government funds and 
accounts

The conventional accounts of the Consolidated Fund 
and National Loans Fund transactions are not in a 
convenient form for the purpose of general financial
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analysis, because transactions are categorised by types 
of debt rather than by sources of borrowing. Moreover, 
most of the transactions of the central government are 
with official funds and agencies which are themselves 
engaged in transactions with the public. For Instance, 
national insurance payments and contributions are 
brought to account in the National Insurance Fund, all of 
whose capital is public sector debt. As the balance on 
this fund rises and falls, so the central government’s 
indebtedness to the fund is increased or diminished.

In order to arrive at a figure of borrowing by the UK 
central government from the figures given in the account 
of Consolidated Fund and National Loans Fund 
transactions, it is necessary to include changes in the 
central government’s net indebtedness to these various 
official funds and agencies.These are known collectively 
as other central government funds and accounts (which 
embraces Northern Ireland central government debt). 
The resulting total represents the central government’s 
borrowing requirement which is the amount the 
government has to borrow less increase (or plus 
decrease) In its holdings of official reserves and other 
assets.

National Insurance Fund: the figures included here are 
the net totals of the changes in:

investments by the National Investment and 
Loans Office on behalf of the Fund 
the Fund’s balance with the Paymaster 
General.

Other National Insurance Fund balances are not 
included in this Item. These are mainly sums due from or 
owing to government departments, the Post Office and 
overseas administrations arising out of the operation of 
the National Insurance scheme.

Departmental balances and miscellaneous. Among the 
Items included are:

changes in balances on the accounts kept by 
government departments, mainly with the 
Paymaster General;
changes in the interest accrued on national 
savings securities and other items 
administered by the Department for National 
Savings (as recorded In table 3.9); 
changes in valuation of assets held by Bank of 
England issue department affecting the profits 
of the note issue;
profits and losses of the Exchange 
Equalisation Account including the profit or 
loss from interest payments on borrowing 
under the exchange cover scheme.

Timeliness and further references
See notes to table 3.17.

Table 3,14
Iniand revenue duties

Net receipt figures for each period are the gross 
amounts of tax collected, as shown in the accounts of 
the department’s various collecting offices, less 
repayments accounted for centrally In the same period. 
Figures are given for all main heads of duty: the total 
Includes small amounts of various obsolete duties.
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Amounts collected by the Board of Iniand Revenue on 
behalf of other departments, chiefly national insurance 
contributions, are excluded.

Remittances are passed to the Consolidated Fund 
daily as the banks pay over the proceeds of cheques 
lodged with them. Differences between the net receipts 
and the payments into the Consolidated Fund for a 
particular period reflect the differences between the 
amounts 'in transit' at the beginning and end of the 
period.

Income tax. The majority is collected via the PAYE 
system. Tax is deducted by the employer and normally 
paid over to the Inland Revenue in the month after the 
income has been earned. Schedule D income tax from 
the self-employed is due in two instalments - on 1 
January and 1 July. The composite rate tax on interest 
paid by building societies was also due on 1 January up 
to and including the 1985-86 tax year. From 1986-87 it is 
mainly due fourteen days after the end of the 3 month 
periods (ending 31 May, 31 August. 30 November, and 
28/29 February) in which the relevant Interest was paid 
or credited. Composite rate was extended to banks and 
other deposit takers from 1985-86. Tax is normally due 
fourteen days after the calendar quarter in which the 
relevant interest is paid or credited. Composite rate tax 
was abolished on 6 April 1991 but basic rate tax 
deducted from interest paid or credited after this date will 
be due in the same way that composite rate tax was 
previously. Schedule C tax on interest paid on British 
government securities is paid over directly the Bank of 
England, normally when the Interest Is paid. Regular 
monthly repayments are made to mortgage lenders 
under the MIRAS scheme, and to life offices under the 
Premium Relief by Deduction Scheme.

Corporation tax was introduced in 1965 (prior to this 
date companies were liable to income tax on their 
profits).

Advance corporation tax (ACT) is payable by the 
company on any qualifying distribution of profits (mainly 
dividends). The ACT rate,when expressed as the ACT 
divided by the sum of the ACT and the qualifying 
distribution, is equivalent to the basic rate of income tax. 
The divided payment is accompanied by a tax credit for 
the ACT paid. Companies must account for ACT within 
fourteen days of the end of the quarter In which the 
distribution was made. Thus most ACT Is paid on or 
around 14 January, 14 April, 14 July and 14 October.

Mainstream corporation tax Is normally payable nine 
months after the end of the company’s accounting period 
or within one month of the issue of an assessment, 
whichever is the later. However, until recently, companies 
which have been carrying on the same trade since 
before April 1965 were able to retain their original due 
dates. The provisions of the Financial Act 1987 brought 
the due dates of these companies into line with the 
majority over a three year period. Special provisions 
used to apply to most building societies but were also 
phased out following the Financial Act 1987. Broadly 
speaking, the nine month lag applies to all accounting 
periods ending in financial year 1990-91 and later years.

Capital gains tax. Capital gains realised on the 
disposal of assets by individuals and trustees are 
charged to capital gains tax. (Realised capital gains of 
companies are charged to corporation tax.) Tax in
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respect of gains accruing in any tax year is payable on 
1 December following the end of that year, or one month 
after the date of assessment, whichever is the later.

Development land tax was introduced by the 
Development Land Tax Act 1975, and abolished by 
Finance Act 1985.

Estate duty was replaced by capital transfer tax in 
1975.

Inheritance tax (IHT) replaced Capital Transfer Tax 
(CTT) under the Finance Act 1986. CTT was payable 
both on lifetime gifts and on transfers of assets on death. 
IHT is levied mainly on assets transferred on death. The 
tax is normally required to be paid before a grant of 
probate is made and, in any event, is due at the end of 
the sixth month after death. However, the tax attributable 
to land and buildings and certain business assets may be 
paid by instalments over ten years. There may therefore 
be considerable time lags between the death and the full 
payment of IHT. IHT is also payable on transfers made 
within seven years of death and on assets in 
discretionary trusts.

Stamp duties are charged mainly on documents. The 
bulk of receipts come from the following heads:

conveyances and transfers of land, buildings 
and other property excluding stocks and 
shares. These are chargeable to an 'ad 
valorem’ duty of 1%, subject to a threshold of 
£30,000;
transfers of stocks and shares. Most transfers 
since 27 October 1986 are chargeable at 
0.5%. Stamp duty reserve tax is chargeable, 
also at 0.5%, on certain transfers of stocks 
and shares which were previously exempt, h 
was introduced on 27 October 1986. Also from 
that date transfers of stocks and shares in 
return for depository receipts are charged to 
duty at 1.5%;
grants of new leases of land, buildings and 
other property. These are charged to duty in 
respect of both the premium and the rent; 
capital duty ‘Ad Valorem’ duty of 1%, was 
charged on the raising of capital by 
companies. It was abolished with effect from 
15 March 1988;
life insurance policies. Duty was charged at
0.5% of the sum insured. It was abolished with 
effect from 1 January 1990.

Under the Finance Act 1990 the duties on transfers of 
stocks and shares will be abolished from a date 
appointed by Treasury order. This will coincide as far as 
possible with the introduction of the Stock Exchange’s 
system for paperless share transfers (TAURUS).

Petroleum revenue tax (PRT) is charged on the profits 
of winning oil and gas under licence in the United 
Kingdom, it’s territorial waters and designated areas of its 
<x)ntinental shelf. The charge is on the landed value of oil 
and gas less expenses incurred in discovery, extraction 
and processing and various other reliefs.

The tax is charged on profits arising in each six month 
chargeable period (the first or second half of the calendar 
year). Monthly instalment payments commence two 
months after the start of the period and equal one eighth 
of the total PRT payable on the previous period. Returns

are submitted two months after the end of the period and 
any balance is then paid or repaid.

Advance petroleum revenue tax was charged (in six 
month periods up to 1986 on gross revenues) minus an 
allowance. Payments were credited against current or 
future PRT liability and were otherwise to be repaid after 
five years or sooner for certain fields.

Timeliness
Receipts of Inland Revenue duties at the Department's 

two Accounts Offices and various local offices throughout 
the country are balanced each day and the totals for 
each duty are reported weekly to the Department’s 
Finance Division for aggregation and reconciliation with 
the proceeds of cleared remittances, etc. Net receipt 
figures, i.e. after addition of amounts received centrally 
and deduction of repayments, are then produced weekly. 
The monthly figures appearing in table 3.14 are based on 
the weekly net receipts, and up to 1986/87 were adjusted 
as necessary when the end of the week and the end of 
the month did not coincide. From April 1987, the two 
Accounts Offices also report monthly figures and such 
adjustments are made to local offices figures only.

Further references
Detailed notes about the individual taxes may be 

found in Inland Revenue Statistics, which also contains 
annual figures of receipts back to 1908/09 (table 1.2) and 
a breakdown of Income Tax receipts (table 1.3).

Table 3.15
Customs and excise duties
General definitions and method of compilation

The figures show the aggregate amounts of duty 
collected and brought into the department’s accounts in 
the period less drawbacks and other repayments. The 
difference between the net receipts and payments into 
the Consolidated Fund is due to differences between 
balances. The balances consist of;

working balances held by collectors 
remittances in transit
advances out of revenue to meet expenditure 
under authority of the Exchequer and Audit 
Department Act 1866, Section 10.

Value added tax (VAT). Persons registered for VAT 
are required to make a tax return at intervals, generally 
quarterly. The quarterly tax periods are staggered in 
order to spread the flow of returns and revenue more 
evenly over the year. Thus one group has tax periods 
January to March, April to June etc, a second group has 
tax periods February to April etc, and a third group has 
tax periods March to May etc.

The VAT due is payable not later than one month after 
the end of the period. A taxable person who expects his 
input tax to exceed his output tax regularly (i.e. who will 
be claiming net refunds from the Department) may opt 
for monthly tax periods.

VAT is chargeable on imported goods, and must be 
paid either
at the time of importation or, under deferred payment 
arrangements similar to those in operation for customs 
duties, by direct debit an average of one month after
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importation.
More detailed information about VAT can be found in 

Notice 700: The VAT Guide, a copy of which can be 
obtained from any iocal VAT office.

Car tax. Most traders registered for car tax have tax 
periods March to May, June to August etc. and the tax Is 
due not later than one month after the end of the tax 
period.

Excise duties are charged on hydrocarbon oil, tobacco 
products, alcohoiic drinks, matches and mechanical 
lighters. They are applied alike to home-produced and 
imported goods.

Alcohoiic drinks. The excise duties on home-produced 
beer, wine, made-wine, cider and perry are collected one 
month in arrears. Accordingly, changes in duty rates etc. 
are not fully reflected in receipts until after the month in 
which they became effective.

Tobacco products. The excise duty on tobacco is 
charged on the finished product and is collected a month 
in arrear.

Betting and gaming. Receipts under this heading are 
collected from the following:

general betting duty 
pool betting duty 
gaming licence duty 
gaming machine iicence duty, and 
bingo duty

item (c) does not apply in Northern Ireland.

Hydrocarbon oils are receipts from excise duties on 
petrol and derv, i.e. road fuels; and on other chargeable 
oils e.g. fuel oil. From 15 October 1985 provision came 
into effect permitting deferred payment of excise duty for 
hydrocarbon oils cleared from warehouse. As with other 
deferred duties, changes in duty rates etc. are not fully 
reflected in receipts untii after the month in which they 
become effective.

Customs duties: these are charged under Section 5 of 
the European Communities Act 1972. For convenience, 
anti-dumping and other duties - excluding agricultural 
levies (see below) - charged under directly applicable 
Community Instruments, are included in this heading, 
e.g. certain generalised system of preference duties and 
compensatory levy.

Importers and their agents are allowed a 30 day 
deferment of payment of certain duties, of which the 
major item is customs duty.

Agricultural levies are charged on a wide range of 
basic and processed agricuitural products imported from 
outside the European Community. Positive Monetary 
Compensatory Amounts (MCAs) adjust for the variation 
between the vaiue of the pound sterling at the spot rate 
and at the (green) rate fixed under the Common 
Agricultural Policy. Positive MCAs apply in addition to 
agricuitural levies when the spot rate exceeds the green 
rate; and these amounts are paid to the European 
Community.

Shipbuilders' relief \s authorised under Section 2 of the 
Finance Act 1966. This is a relief from hydrocarbon oil 
and motor vehicle licence duties which enter directly or 
indirectly into shipbuilding costs and is payable on 
delivery of a ship.The amount shown in the table is the 
total payment made in the month less the contribution 
due from the Department of Transport in respect of the

motor vehicle licence duty element in the original 
payments.

Other. This heading consists of receipts of duty on 
matches and mechanical lighters, petrol substitutes, and 
receipts from excise licences.

Timeliness
Payments of VAT and car tax are made directly to 

central units. Revenue from other customs and excise 
duties is collected and accounted for centrally, often by 
direct debit, or at collectors' offices throughout the 
country with daily balances notified to the central 
accounting officer at headquarters. Monthly figures are 
usually published in provisional form in the issue 
following that of the month to which they relate. Final 
figures are normally published in the following month, 
after audit and adjustment for incorrect and late data.

Further references
A monthly detailed analysis of duty receipts from 

betting and gaming is published on subscription from a 
distributing agent authorised by HM Customs and Excise. 
The address is as follows: Business Trade Statistics Ltd. 
Lancaster House, More Lane, Esher, Surrey KT10 SAP. 
(Telephone: 03724 63121).

The most detailed analyses of the Department’s 
financial year receipts, and the commodities and 
activities to which they relate, are published in the annual 
Reports of the Commissioners of HM Customs and

Table 3.16
Departmental revenue and expenditure on 
supply

Motor vehicle duties: net value of licences issued. 
Gross receipts less refunds from motor vehicle licences 
and driving licences. The figures differ from the amount 
paid into the Consolidated Fund by:

(i) remittances in transit
(ii) payments to HM Customs and Excise in 

respect of the motor vehicle licence duty 
element of export rebates, which are not 
deducted.

Oil royalties, licence fees, etc.: other. These figures 
cover oil and gas production and exploration licences 
and successful auction bids.

Gas levy: net receipts comprise cash receipts less 
refunds from the British Gas Corporation and British Gas 
pic under the Gas Levy Act 1981. The receipt recorded 
for the second quarter of 1981 relates to gas purchased 
in 1980/81.

National insurance surcharge: levied on employers 
along with contributions paid in respect to employees by 
secondary Class 1 contributors. The tax base is the 
same as for national insurance contributions. Women 
paying reduced rate and the self-employed are exempt. 
The surcharge was abolished from 1 October 1984 
except for local authorities where the surcharge remained 
until 5 April 1985.

Supply services are the amounts transferred each 
month from the Consolidated Fund to Departments’ 
accounts with the Paymaster General, for spending on

r
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Supply; supply expenditure is the amount paid out by 
departments from these accounts. Supply expenditure is 
usually close to the total of Supply services for the 
financial year as a whole, but there can be timing 
differences between the two during the year.

Table 3.17
National Loans Fund: net lending

The loans are shown net of repayments. Loans to 
nationalised industries are classified by purpose; thus 
Electricity covers Scottish Hydro Electric. Scottish Power 
and Scottish Nuclear Limited, as well as National Power 
pic, Power Gen pic, Nuclear Electric Company pic, the 
National Grid Company pic and the Electricity Boards, 
and Transport covers British Railways Board and British 
Waterways Board.

Loans are also made to other public corporations

including new towns and regional water authorities; to 
trading funds and local authorities; to the private sector 
including housing associations and British Nuclear Fuels 
Ltd; and within the central government, e.g. advances to 
the Northern Ireland Government.

Timeliness
The figure in tables 3.12,3.13 and 3.17 are published 

in the month following the period to which they relate. 
Some of the figures for other central government funds 
and accounts and the figure for the central government 
borrowing requirementwlW be provisional. Firm figures for 
these items are published in due course.

Further references
Selected figures are reproduced as table 17.1 in 

Monthly Digest of Statistics.

3n

jd.
8S

ml

)5

)5

;5

IS

4
d

s
y
6

fl
L
*
i

1

1

51



Section 4 
Local authorities

Local authorities are defined in the national and 
financial accounts as those authorities obliged to make 
annual returns of income and expenditure under 
successive Local Government Acts, Local Government 
(Scotland) Acts and the District Councils of Northern 
Ireland Acts including residuary bodies set up under the 
Local Government Act, 1985. Before 1 April 1974 the 
local authority sector included bodies in England and 
Wales with special functions, such as water boards, river 
and drainage authorities and harbour boards. Under the 
Local Government Act of 1972 these are no longer within 
the scope of the local authorities sector and have been 
excluded from 1 April 1974. From the same date 
statutory harbour boards and harbour authorities (public 
trust ports) are excluded.

Local authorities borrow in anticipation of revenue to 
smooth their cash flow (limited by statute to the amount 
of outstanding revenue receivable) and to finance capital 
expenditure, from central government (almost entirely 
through the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB)), from 
other domestic sectors and from overseas.

Local authorities can borrow only for purposes which 
have been authorised by Acts of Parliament and within 
the limits of loan sanctions issued by central government. 
Foreign borrowing requires Treasury consent. Under the 
Local Government Act 1972, which came into effect on 
1 April 1974, local authorities are allowed to borrow by 
means of temporary loans, bank overdrafts, foreign 
currency, capital and revenue bills, mortgages, stock 
Issues, bonds and through the PWLB.

The tables in this section comprise a current account 
(table 4.1), a capital account (table 4.2), a financial 
account (table 4.3) and several tables (4.4 to 4.7) 
analysing various aspects of local authority borrowing. 
Table 4.8 shows local authority investments.

The financial account is also shown in table 1.3 and 
figures for the latest quarter in the matrix in table 1.1.

Table 4.1
Current account

Current grants from central government: National non
domestic rates distribution. National non-domestic rates, 
classified as a central government tax which is 
subsequently distributed to local authorities as a central 
government grant, replaced local non-domestic rates in 
Great Britain in April 1990. Local authorities collect most 
of the national rate on behalf of central government and 
the figures for quarterly distribution take account of the 
expected collection level.

Other comprises mainly the aggregate exchequer 
grant but also grants for specific purposes and 
repayments of VAT.

Community Charge and Rates are measured as 
accruals rather than payments and are net of rebates. 
Community charge replaced domestic rates in Scotland 
in April 1989 and in England and Wales in April 1990. 
From April 1990 local authority non-domestic rates in 
Great Britain were replaced by national non domestic 
rates (see current grants from central government, 
above).

Gross trading surplus is the balance of trading income 
over operating expenditure before allowing for 
depreciation and interest charges. Housing is excluded

from this heading and included under rent Rent is 
defined in the same way as gross trading surplus and is 
therefore not equivalent to the rent charged to tenants.

Dividends and interest includes interest receipts on 
loans for house purchase, on invested balances and in 
respect of assets transferred to Regional Water 
Authorities where the local authority retained the debt. 
This heading also includes payments by central 
government under the exchange cover schemes (see the 
notes to Section 3 on page 40).

Imputed charge for consumption of non-trading caphat 
the provision of non-trading activities requires the use of 
capital assets. The amortisation of these assets is 
regarded as final (current) consumption with an 
equivalent notional receipt.

Final consumption comprises current expenditure on 
non-trading fund services, VAT and the imputed value of 
capital consumption, net of sales and other recoupments. 
Certain elements of expenditure representing transfers to 
other sectors are excluded from this heading and treated 
as subsidies and grants.

Current grants to personal sector comprises mainly 
educational grants and rent rebates and allowances 
including since 1983, payments under the housing 
benefit scheme.

Subs/d/es comprises local authority support to housing 
and trading services plus current transfers to passenger 
transport organisations (which are classified as public 
corporations) and to British Rail.

Debt interest payments includes payments to new 
town development corporations for assets transferred to 
local authorities where the corporations have retained the 
debt.

Table 4.2
Capital account

Gross domestic fixed capital formation is the capital 
expenditure of housing, trading and non-trading 
accounts, net of sales of assets (such as sales of council 
housing) and includes VAT. Transfers and net lending, to 
other sectors, are shown separately in the capital and 
financial accounts respectively. Capital expenditure 
charged direct to revenue accounts in local authorities' 
own accounts Is included here rather than under final 
consumption.

Table 4.3
Financial account and balancing item

Borrowing requirement see notes on table 4.4.
Accruals adjustment measures the difference for the 

items identified between the accruals figures included in 
the current and capital accounts and the cash flow 
affecting financial transactions. The series for national 
non-domestic rates is the difference between the 
expected and the actual collection by Local Authorities.

Balancing item as its name suggests is the residual 
item in the local authority accounts.

Short-term assets consist mainly of changes In bank 
deposits and in identified deposits with other financial 
institutions.

Transactions in other financial liabilities comprise 
compensation in respect of repayment of debt associated 
with the transfer to local authorities of some new town

52



Local authorities

is
^ is
ants.
ts On
f^in
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corporations’ assets from 1970.
Transactions in other financial assets comprise 

compensation in respect of repayment of debt associated 
with certain assets transferred from local authorities to 
Regional Water Authorities, and to the National Health 
Service in 1974.

Method of compilation
The quarterly returns from other sectors are used as 

the sources for estimates of grants and borrowing from 
central government, purchases of public sector debt 
(mainly returns from certain public corporations) and 
short-term assets (from banks and certain returns from 
other financial institutions). Total net borrowing is 
reported on quarterly returns from the local authorities as 
described in the notes to tables 4.5 to 4.6.

Final estimates for other components of the accounts 
are based on financial year figures published in Local 
Government Financial Statistics (England and Wales) , 
and equivalent publications for Scotland and Northern 
Ireland which generally become available a year after the 
period to which they relate. Preliminary financial year 
figures are based on budget returns from local 
authorities.

Quality of data
Annual estimates are based on accounting information 

and are of good quality. Quarterly estimates of capital 
expenditure which are based on returns covering the 
whole sector are also of good quality. Quarterly 
estimates of final consumption (which are based on a 
sample return of salaries and wages), gross trading 
surplus, rent, subsidies and current grants to the 
personal sector (which are mainly interpolations of 
annual figures) are of rather poorer quality.

Timeliness
Figures are published in Financial Statistics three 

months after the period to which they relate.

Further references
For fuller details of the items in tables 4.1 to 4.3 see 

United Kingdom National Accounts: Sources and 
Methods, Chapter X and notes and definitions in United 
Kingdom National Accounts 'Blue Book'.

Table 4.4
Local authority borrowing requirement

This table provides a broad summary of local 
authorities borrowing, including the latest monthly data. 
The monthly data in the table are grossed-up estimates 
based on a sample survey of about 181 local authorities 
accounting for about half of the total outstanding debt. 
They are constrained to the quarterly totals which are 
obtained from a survey of all authorities. The monthly 
figures are therefore subject to sampling error and are 
less reliable than the quarterly figures.

Table 4.5
This table shows how the local authority borrowing

requirement is financed by sector and the local
authorities’ contribution to the public sector borrowing 
requirement.
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The analysis in this table is on a different basis from 
table 4.4 and tables 4.6 to 4.8 which are largely derived 
from returns from the local authorities themselves. The 
quarterly data are based mainly on counterpart reporting 
by other sectors because local authorities cannot analyse 
their marketable debt by sector of holder. (In general, 
local authorities can identify accurately only holders of 
non-marketable debt and then only where the loans are 
direct, i.e. not made through banks or institutions acting 
as agents or through nominees.) The total for the 
quarterly data in this part is. however, derived from local 
authority returns, as are the figures for industrial and 
commercial companies, the figures for the personal 
sector being obtained by residual (and therefore including 
the take-up of debt by the other sectors through agents 
and nominees), ft is the sector analysis in this table 
which is consistent with the financial accounts in Section 
1.

Borrowing requirement comprises direct borrowing 
from central government plus total borrowing from other 
sources less transactions in short term assets and in 
other public sector debt.

Direct borrowing from central government comprises 
net advances from;

the Public Works Loan Board 
the Northern Ireland Government Loans Board 
certain government departments, mainly for 
the financing of tunnels and bridges.

Figures are based on returns by the above bodies.
Other borrowing comprises all borrowing other than 

directly from central government. The major components 
are described below.

Other public sector comprises payments under the 
exchange cover scheme (see notes to table 3.4), local 
authority debt taken-up by the issue department of the 
Bank of England and, from the second quarter of 1975, 
by the National Insurance Fund; and borrowing from 
public corporations identified on the returns made by 
local authorities. The payment of claims under the 
exchange cover scheme is shown separately (see notes 
to Section 3 for a description of the exchange cover 
scheme).

Banks and building societies comprises advances and 
loans by the sector and their take-up of local authority 
bills and securities. The figures are based upon returns 
provided by the banks and building societies.

Other financial institutions: figures are obtained from 
returns by the financial institutions.

Industrial and commercial companies: Xhe figures are 
based upon returns from local authorities.

Personal sector \s the residual item in the table.
Overseas sector: the figures are as estimated in the 

balance of payments accounts.
Total borrowing comprises direct borrowing from 

central government plus other borrowing. It is obtained 
from returns by local authorities and corresponds to the 
figure for total borrowing in table 4.5.

Transactions in short-term assets comprises lines 14.2 
(other public sector financing: short-term assets) and 21 
(deposits with banks) in the financial transactions matrix. 
Figures are obtained from returns by financial institutions.

Transactions in other public sector debt comprises
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lines 7 {treasury bills), 8 {British government securities), 
9 {national savings) and 20.2 {public coiporations debt) 
in the financial transactions matrix. The figures are 
obtained from returns by local authorities.

Contribution to public sector borrowing requirement 
comprises borrowing other than direct from central 
government, less transactions in short term assets and 
in other public sector debt. It is equivalent to the 
borrowing requirement less direct borrowing from central 
government.

Timeliness
The quarterly data are published about eight weeks 

after the end of the quarter, i.e. the data for the March 
quarter appear in the May issue of Financial Statistics .

The monthly totals are published about twelve working 
days after the end of the month, first in the public sector 
borrowing requirement press notice, and then in either 
table 2.5 or table S30.

Tables 4.6 to 4.7
Local authority borrowing

The tables give details of local authority borrowing for 
capital and revenue purposes from all sources outside 
the local authority sector, including borrowing from 
authorities’ own pension funds, which are classified as 
other financial institutions in the financial accounts. As 
explained earlier, these tables differ from table 4.5 in that 
they are based on returns from local authorities whereas 
table 4.5 is mainly based on data provided by other 
sectors. The figures exclude borrowing identified by a 
local authority as being from another local authority. No 
allowance is made for the possible take-up of one local 
authority’s listed securities or negotiable bonds by 
another authority.

The quarterly survey on which the tables are based is 
a voluntary one covering all local authorities in the United 
Kingdom.

The survey was initiated by the Central Statistical 
Office but has been administered from March 1977 by 
the Department of the Environment. Response to this 
survey covers about 95% of local authority debt and 
estimates for non-respondents are included based on 
outstanding debt.

Where more complete or more reliable information is 
available on particular aspects of borrowing from other 
sources, e.g. PWLB, such information is used instead of 
that reported in the survey.

Net borrowing refers to gross borrowing less 
repayments and is divided into temporary (table 4.6) and 
longer-term borrowing (table 4.7).

Temporary borrowingcovets all loans repayable within 
one year of their inception (other than under a stress 
clause or on the death of the lender), including 
mortgages repayable by invoking a break clause. Longer- 
term debt with a residual maturity of less than one year 
is not included here but under longer-term borrowing.

Tables 4.6 and 4.7 show the outstanding debt for the 
latest few years. For longer-term debt the estimates are 
based on changes since a benchmark survey in 
December 1981. A new survey is planned for 1991.

Revenue bills . usually for three months, are those

authorised by the Bank of England.
Negotiable bonds are issued through a bank, discount 

house, issuing house or broker. ’Over-the-counter’ bonds 
are included under the heading personal sector.

Public Works Loan Board borrowing forms part of 
direct borrowing from central government in table 4.4

Central government comprises borrowing from central 
government sources other than the PWLB; it includes the 
take-up by such sources as the National Debt 
Commissioners and the National Insurance Fund.

Public corporations ate defined in the notes to Section 
5. They include nationalised industries and passenger 
transport executives.

The banks, building societies.and other financial 
institutions are as defined under the notes to Sections 
6 and 7.

Industrial and commercial companies include 
cooperative societies.

Persons include non-collecting friendly societies, trade 
unions, churches charities, universities and clubs, as well 
as individuals. ‘Over-the-counter* bonds are assumed to 
be held entirely by persons.

Direct borrowing from abroad comprises loans from an 
overseas address or in the name of a person, company 
or other body with an overseas address. This includes 
borrowing in foreign currency or sterling in overseas 
markets. Amounts repaid by central government under 
the exchange cover scheme are not included.

Other includes borrowing from bank nominees where 
the original lender is unknown to the local authority, and 
unlisted investment trusts.

Timeliness
Data for the March, June. September and December 

quarters are normally published in the May, August, 
November and February issues respectively. Summary 
figures are included as a table in the public sector 
borrowing requirement press notice, published monthly.

Outstanding debt
Details of outstanding debt from 1974 for capital 

purposes are published in Annual Abstract of Statistics, 
table 16.13 (1990).

A residual maturity analysis of outstanding debt as at 
31 March each year (derived from an annual sun/ey 
conducted by the Department of the Environment and the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) 
is published periodically as supplementary table S10. 
Issues of Financial Statistics in which they appeared 
were:

Data fa FS OSU4
31 March

1675............ .......May 1977
1976....................May 1977
1977....................Oacambar 1677
197a...................Janu«y 1979
1979............ ......Januaiy 1960
1900............. 1901
1961............. 1962
1969............. 1963
1963.............
1964............. ......0*c*m btr 1964
1905............. ......D#C9mb«r 1965
1966............ ......M vth 1907
1907............. ......May 1960
1960............ ......JUy 1969
1969....................1090

I
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Table 4.8
Local authority investments

This table gives details of local authority lending, 
broken down into lending to banks, other short-term 
assets, and longer-term investments. This information 
has been collected since April 1979 on the same return 
as the borrowing survey referred to in the previous 
section. The figures are used to help compile the

financial accounts of local authorities (tables 1.1,1.3 and 
4.3) and the national and sector balance sheets. The 
figures for investments in short term assets are included 
in the calculation of the local authority borrowing 
requirement; see table 2.5.

Alternative estimates of bank deposits are available 
from the banking sector. The latter source is used here 
in the financial accounts and in the local authority 
borrowing requirement.
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Section 5
Public corporations

Public corporations as defined in the national accounts 
are public trading bodies, including the nationalised 
industries, which have a substantial degree of financial 
independence from the public authority (central or local 
government) which created them, including the powers to 
borrow and to maintain reserves. They are publicly 
controlled to the extent that the public authority appoints 
the whole or the majority of the board of management 
and that their borrowing is subject to limits laid down by 
Parliament.

Over recent years a number of public corporations 
have been privatised. In accordance with national 
accounting conventions* the transactions of these 
corporations up until the date of privatisation are retained 
in the accounts when privatisation occurs. The coverage 
of series in the tables consequently declines with that of 
public corporations sector.

There is a slight inconsistency in the public 
corporations accounts arising from the treatment of the 
Banking Department of the Bank of England and, until 
privatisation in July 1990, the Girobank. For these two 
organisations, their financial transactions are included in 
the monetary sector but their current and capital 
transactions form part of the appropriation and capital 
accounts of public corporations. The Issue Department 
of the Bank of England is included in the central 
government sector.

A list of the bodies comprising the public corporations 
sector is published in United Kingdom National Accounts 
and in the CSO booklet Sector classification for the 
National Accounts.

Table 5.1
Appropriation account

This table shows how the income of public 
corporations is made up and how it is allocated between 
interest and dividends etc, taxes on income and savings. 
The presentation is in the same form as the public 
corporations appropriation accounts in United Kingdom 
National Accounts, (the CSO 'Blue Book), and in the 
quarterly national income article in Economic Trends.

The total gross trading surplus, with rent, is the 
balance on operating account; it is calculated before 
making any charge for depreciation, stock appreciation, 
interest or taxation.

Subsidies mainly comprise grants by central 
government and local authorities to cover revenue 
deficits of the nationalised transport undertakings and 
government assistance to the coal industry. Central 
government payments to New Town Development 
Corporations and other corporations concerned with 
housing are shown separately as rent subsidies.

Payments of interest and dividends include interest 
payments on foreign currency borrowing under the 
exchange cover scheme valued at market exchange 
rates; the difference between these amounts and the 
sterling cost to public corporations is borne by central 
government and Is included as a receipt of interest under 
rent and non-trading income.

Payments of interest and dividends to general 
government are shown separately and include, until their 
privatisation in December 1989 the interest payments by

water authorities to local authorities in respect of 
transferred assets and the charges paid by public 
corporations to central government for exchange cover 
guarantees. Also included are royalties and licence fees 
from oil and gas production paid by BNOC / Britoil until 
November 1982, and British Gas Corporation / Enterprise 
Oil (the latter until August 1984) to central government. 
They are shown separately in the Blue Book.

Payments of UK taxes on income comprises 
corporation tax, and, until mid-1984, petroleum revenue 
tax and supplementary petroleum duty paid by BNOC, 
the British Gas Corporation, and Enterprise Oil.

The balance on this account, undistributed income, is 
calculated before providing for depreciation and stock 
appreciation.

Table 5.2
Capital account

This table shows public cor|X)rations transactions on 
capital account, the balance being the financial surplus 
or deficit.

The table follows the form of, but is less detailed than, 
the corresponding presentation in the Blue Book.

Receipts comprise undistributed income brought 
fonArard from the appropriation account and capital 
transfers.

Capital transfers. The main transfers from central 
government cover investment grants, regional 
development grants, grants to rail and road undertakings, 
water supply and sewerage grants, grants for site 
development and factory construction, grants to 
development agencies and corporations and notional 
amounts of development land tax. Local authority grants 
are made in connection with local transport facilities. 
Transfers from the private sector are mainly contributions 
by consumers to the cost of connecting consumers’ 
premises to the gas and electricity supplies.

Expenditure comprises gross domestic fixed capital 
formation, increase in book value of stocks and work in 
progress, capital transfers to other sectors and taxes on 
capital.

Gross domestic fixed capital formation comprises 
expenditure within the United Kingdom on the 
replacement of, and additions and improvements to, fixed 
assets less the proceeds from the sale of fixed assets.

Increase in book value of stocks and work in progress 
includes stock appreciation as well as the value of the 
physical increase In stocks.

Capital transfers to other sectors consists of payments 
in respect of capital work undertaken on behalf of local 
authorities and grants to the private sector.

Taxes on capital was formerly included under the 
previous item. Taxes consist of payments of development 
land tax, payments by the Girobank of the special tax on 
banking deposits levied in 1981/82, and capital gains tax 
paid by British Gas in 1985/86 arising from the sale of 
Wytch Farm Oilfield.

Table 5.3
Financial account

This table shows how the financial surplus or deficit of 
public corporations (carried over from the capital account
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in table 5.2) is financed. The entries are grouped into 
transactions in financial liabilities and transactions in 
financial assets. This amounts to a re-presentation of the 
figures in table 1.4 and. for the latest quarter, in column 
3 of table 1.1. The presentation is in fairly broad terms; 
the detailed financing of the corporations borrowing 
requirement, for example, is held over for presentation in 
table 5.4.

Transactions in financial liabilities (net)
Accruals adjustments. The difference between 

accruals of income tax on wages and salaries, purchase 
tax, selective employment tax, national insurance, 
national insurance surcharge, etc. contributions and 
value added tax (the basis on which these items are 
entered in the appropriation account or implied from the 
operating account) and the corresponding cash 
payments.

Borrowing requirement: see notes to table 5.4.
Trade creditors etc. comprises changes in trade credit 

received by nationalised industries, and advances 
received by British Aerospace (from 1977 to 1980), 
British Shipbuilders, and the Royal Ordnance Factories 
(now Royal Ordnance pic) up to April 1987, in connection 
with future work; and changes in amounts held by the 
Crown Agents as prefunding for the supply of goods and 
services overseas. The transactions by the British 
National Oil Corporation in connection with the 
Corporation's advance sales of oil in 1980 and 1981 and 
compensation payments relating to the transfer of fixed 
assets to Regional Water Authorities from local 
authorities in 1974 are also included here.

Transactions in financial assets (net)
Accruals adjustments. The difference between 

accruals of local authorities rates and subsidies (the 
basis on which these items are entered in the 
appropriation account or implied from the operating 
account) and the corresponding cash payments or 
receipts.

Lending to private sector comprises mainly loans for 
house purchase {less repayments) by new Town 
Corporations and other housing bodies. Other lending to 
persons and companies by British Coal, British
Technology Group and other corporations is also 
included.

Lending and investment overseas includes net lending 
and investment by the Commonwealth Development 
Corporation together with investment overseas by other 
public corporations.

Transactions in company securities comprises cash
expenditure on acquisition of subsidiaries, trade
investments and marketable company securities less
receipts from the sale of these assets. The figures
include the sale to central government by the National
Enterprise Board of shares in Rolls Royce (£234 million
in third quarter 1980) and British Leyland (£1,228 million 
in first quarter 1981).

Trade debtors comprise changes in trade credit 
extended by nationalised industries and advance 
payments for goods and services, other than imports.

Other assets comprises credit extended by retailers 
(gas and electricity showrooms), advance and progress 
payments on imports and, in 1980 and 1981. transac
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tions in connection with advance payments on BNOC oil. 
and compensation payments arising from the transfer of 
fixed assets to local authorities from New Town 
Corporations (see notes to table 4.3).

Balancing item
This is the difference between the financial surplus or 

deficit and total financial transactions. It represents the 
net sum of all the errors in the identified Items recorded 
in the appropriation, capital and financial accounts.

Write offs
Transactions arising from writing off debt of public 

corporations are not included in tables 5.2 and 5.3 since 
they do not represent actual flows of funds; they would 
be reflected in a balance sheet table. These transactions 
are recorded as a memorandum item to the public 
corporations financial account in the Blue Book.

Table 5.4
public corporationsFinancing 

borrowing requirement
This table shows how the public corporations 

borrowing requirement is financed by sector and the 
public corporations’ contribution to the public sector 
borrowing requirement.

Borrowing requirement comprises direct borrowing 
from central government plus total borrowing from other 
sources less transactions in short-term assets and in 
other public sector debt.

Direct borrowing from central government comprises 
net loans from central government plus increases in 
public dividend capital (see notes to table 3.3).

The figures for public dividend capital include 
redemptions by the National Enterprise Board of £234 
million in third quarter 1980 (when central government 
bought shares in Rolls Royce from them for the same 
amount), and £1,228 million in first quarter 1981 (when 
central government bought shares in British Leyland from 
them for that amount). They exclude issues to the 
Girobank which are included in the banks’ sector.

Other borrowing comprises all borrowing other than 
directly from central government. The major components 
are described below.

Other public sector borrowing covers central 
government payment of claims under the exchange cover 
scheme (see notes to table 3.4), other borrowing from 
central government (mainly the National Investments and 
Loans Office) and borrowing from local authorities.

Banks and building societies includes advances, 
commercial bills, market loans, and transactions in public 
corporations sterling securities obtained from the returns 
made by the sector.

Non-bank private sector comprises borrowing from 
other financial institutions, industrial and commercial 
companies (nil in recent years) and the personal sector. 
Longer-term borrowing from employees pension funds 
and temporary borrowing from pension funds is included 
in borrowing from other financial institutions.

Overseas sectorincludes some direct overseas official 
financing in foreign currencies under the exchange cover 
scheme (i.e. other than via banks) and other net issues 
abroad, borrowing abroad from banks etc. not under the
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exchange cover scheme and import credit received on 
purchases of aircraft from overseas.

Total borrowing comprises direct borrowing from 
central government plus other borrowing.

Transactions in short-term assets comprise deposits 
with the banks’ sector and other short-term assets.

Transactions in other public sector debt comprises 
identified transactions by the corporations in Treasury 
bills, British government securities, certificates of tax 
deposit and local authority debt, together with net 
deposits with central government funds. Net purchases 
by the corporations have a positive and net sales a 
negative sign.

Contribution to public sector borrowing comprises 
borrowing other than direct from central government less 
transactions in short-term assets and in other public 
sector debt. It is equivalent to the borrowing requirement 
less direct borrowing from central government

Method of compilation
The quarterly figures for tables 5.1 and 5.2 and certain 

of the items in tables 5.3 and 5.4 [trade creditors and 
debtors, net lending and transactions in company 
securities) are principally based on quarterly data from 
the nationalised industries and other major corporations; 
the series are adjusted in line with the published annual 
accounts of each corporation when these become 
available (see United Kingdom National Accounts 
Statistics: Sources and Methods, page 110). For 
transactions with central government (interest payments, 
capital grants and loans) government accounting figures 
are used; estimates of borrowing abroad are based on 
balance of payments information; those of net purchases 
of public sector debt are taken from local authorities' 
borrowing returns (see Section 4), returns by 
nationalised industries and some other corporations and 
other sources. Figures for other transactions in financial 
assets and liabilities e.g. borrowing from pension funds, 
borrowing from banks, and bank deposits, are based on 
counterpart information from returns by banks and other 
financial institutions; retail credit extended by public

corporations (through gas and electricity showrooms) is 
ascertained from inquiries to retailers.

Quality
The annual data, being based mainly on published 

accounts, are considered to be of reliable quality. The 
quarterly figures must be rated at a lower level of 
reliability even after they have been brought into line with 
the annual accounts since it is not possible to make an 
accurate allocation of annual adjustments over the four 
quarters of the year.

Further references
Annual figures for the public corporations sector 

covering a run of eleven years are published in United 
Kingdom National Accounts; in addition to operating, 
appropriation and capital accounts the sector 
contributions to gross domestic product by type of 
income and to gross domestic fixed capital formation by 
type of asset and broad industry group are shown.

The Statistical Supplement to the 1990 Autumn 
Statement (Cm 1520) has tables showing the financing 
of the capital requirements of each nationalised industry, 
with estimated outturn figures for the financial year just 
ending and forecasts for the following years and texts 
commenting on the Investment programme of each 
industry and its financing figures.

Information on the outstanding debt of public 
corporations is not brought together in Financial Statistics 
although some items, e.g. lending by banks and own 
pension funds, are shown in the accounts for the 
counterpart sectors. Total debt outstanding is a 
component of public sector debt (see page 32) but these 
figures are not fully comprehensive; they comprise all 
lending by central government, banks, own pension 
funds, savings banks and borrowing abroad, both in 
sterling and foreign currency. Government-guaranteed 
stocks of nationalised industries are included in these 
statistics with liabilities of central government since they 
cannot be distinguished from British government 
securities in the sector analysis of holders. They are of 
course liabilities of the public corporations.
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Section 6
Banks and building societies

Banks and other financial institutions are the main 
channels through which funds from economic sectors 
that are in financial surplus are distributed to sectors in 
deficit. These institutions are therefore in many ways the 
focus of the financial accounts. Statistics for banks and 
building societies are also used in compiling the 
monetary aggregates and their counterparts (see 
Section 11).

While the activities of banks and building societies are 
very similar in many ways, and their deposits are treated 
identically in the measures of money stock M4. the 
separate accounts of the two sectors are also of interest.
In this section, tables 6.1 to 6.7 relate to banks and 
tables 6.8 to 6.10 to building societies.

UK banks
Statistics collected from banks serve a variety of other 

purposes including administration of the system of 
monetary control, prudential supervision and general 
economic intelligence. All these needs are met by an 
integrated system of returns, the result of which is a 
wealth of statistical data.

This section includes considerable detail on sub* 
groups of institutions as well as breakdowns by financial 
instrument and by sector. Details of external liabilities 
and claims on banks are included in Section 10.

Definition of the banks sector
The UK banks’ sector (formerly the monetary sector, 

see Use of the terms ‘monetary sector' and private 
sector" on page 353 of the August 1989 issue of the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin) comprises the UK 
offices of all institutions authorised to take deposits under 
the Banking Act 1987, the Banking Department of the 
Bank of England, those institutions in the Channel 
Islands and the Isle of Man which have opted to adhere 
to the monetary control arrangements introduced in 
August 1981 and prior to their recognition as banks, the 
National Girobank and the Trustee Savings Banks. A full 
list of the institutions making up the banks' sector was 
published in the February 1991 issue of the Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin. A list of additions and 
deletions is published in each successive Quarterly 
Bulletin. Before November 1981, the sector (then termed 
the banking sector) comprised the UK offices of all banks 
that agreed to observe a common reserve ratio and other 
credit control arrangements, together with the Banking 
Department of the Bank of England and the institutions 
which make up the money market dealing counterparties 
of the Bank of England which are authorised under the 
Banking Act 1987.

Monthly figures are generally collected only from those 
members of the banks’ sector with eligible liabilities of 
£10 million or more or total liabilities of £100 million or 
more. (Before November 1981, all institutions in the 
sector reported monthly.) At end-December 1990, this 
amounted to 461 institutions out of a total of 567 in the 
sector: however, these institutions account for the vast 
bulk of the sector’s business. All banks’ sector institutions 
provide quarterly figures, including figures from the 
smallest institutions from the end of quarter one 1983.

Layout
Broadly speaking, the tables have been arranged to 

start with the consolidated banks’ sector balance sheet

59

and then to show detail relating to groups of institutions. 
Table 6.3 however, shows the balance sheet of the Bank 
of England as a central bank. Tables 6.1 and 6.2 give 
consolidated balance sheet levels of liabilities and assets 
held by the banks’ sector. Table 6.1 also shows 
transactions in the period. The emphasis in these tables 
is on the sectoral analysis of deposits and lending: inter
bank transactions are excluded and adjustments are 
made for items In transit etc.

Tables 6.4, 6.6 and 6.7 include all monthly reporting 
UK banks, except money market dealing counterparties 
of the Bank of England, authorised under the Banking 
Act 1987, which are covered in table 6.5. The Banking 
Department of the Bank of England and the Trustee 
savings banks, which were formerly excluded from tables
6.4.6.6 and 6.7, were brought into them with effect from 
September 1983 (table 6.4) and November 1983 (tables
6.6 and 6.7).

Table 6.4 shows the aggregated balance sheet; in 
contrast to the sector analysis shown in the banks’ sector 
tables, the emphasis here is institutional and the main 
analysis is by instrument. These institutional tables are 
not constructed on a consolidated basis, and, besides 
deposits from and lending to other banks, these tables 
show details of suspense accounts and Items in transit 
which do not appear in the consolidated banks* sector 
tables. An analysis of bank lending to UK residents by 
Standard Industrial Classification at end-February, May, 
August and November is shown in table 6.6. Table 6.5 
shows an aggregated balance sheet for the discount 
market.

Statistical sources
The basis of banking statistics is a system of 

integrated returns to the Bank of England. Until October 
1986 these returns mostly relate to the close of business 
on the third Wednesday of each month (second 
Wednesday in December) and the last working day of 
each calendar quarter; from October 1986 the monthly 
returns relate to the end of the month (see below). The 
keystone of the system is a balance sheet return which 
is completed monthly. This return is used to compile 
monthly transactions by UK banks in table 6.1 and 
amounts outstanding in tables 6.4 and 6.5. At the end of 
the calendar quarter, a further return is made giving 
sector breakdowns of liabilities and assets (used in table 
6.2, 11.7 and 11.8). Also provided quarterly, but at the 
end of February, May, August and November (before 
November 1986 at the middle of these months), is an 
industrial analysis of bank lending to UK residents used 
to compile tables 6.6 and 6.7.

From October 1986, the reporting dates for monthly 
reporting institutions moved from mid-months to end 
months. The reasons for the change, and the method of 
construction of calendar monthly statistics from mid-1982 
to September 1986 (which involves a certain degree of 
estimation so that the resulting series are of less reliable 
quality), are set out in an article in the December 1986 
issue of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Details of the seasonal adjustment of banks figures 
are set out in Section 11.

The system of banking returns was substantially 
revised and improved in May 1975 and many of the 
series start at that date. These changes also affected the
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quarterly series for the banking sector as a whole and, 
whereas many of these quarterly series can be traced 
back to 1963, the quality of earlier figures is lower and 
there are changes in coverage. An article describing the 
Improvements to banking statistics was published in the 
June 1975 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin. Following the review of banking statistics which 
took place in 1981-82, a number of definitional changes 
to the statistics were introduced. An article in the March 
1983 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin 
gave details.

Quality of data
The quality of the quarterly series, being based on full 

coverage of the sector, is generally high.

Timeliness
The figures shown in table 6.3 are published weekly 

on Thursdays in the Bank Return.
The full institutional and monetary aggregate figures 

for the latest month are first issued to the public in a 
Bank of England press release, around the end of the 
subsequent month, although provisional estimates of the 
monetary aggregates are published generally seven 
working days earlier. They next appear in Financial 
Statistics and in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Sectoral figures for calendar quarters are not issued 
by press release, but are first published in summary form 
in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin (table 6.1) and 
subsequently in more detail in Financial Statistics (tables 
6.1 and 6.2). Sectoral figures including the business of 
building societies as well as of banks are published in 
the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin and then in the 
Bank’s monthly Monetary statistics release and in 
Financial Statistics (tables 11.7 and 11.8).

The quarterly analysis of bank lending to UK residents 
is issued to the public approximately six weeks after 
reporting day and is published in the following month’s 
Financial Statistics (tables 6.6 and 6.7) and in the Bank 
of England Quarterly Bulletin (table 5).

Further references
Longer runs of figures can be found in the Bank of 

England Statistical Abstract, Number 1 (1970) and 
Number 2 (1975). However, there are a number of 
breaks in these series which make consistent series 
impossible for table 6.4. The most important of these was 
in 1975 when there was a major revision in the coverage 
of banking statistics. Further details of this break can be 
found in the June 1975 issue of the Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin. An article describing the main features 
of the November 1981 break was published in the 
December 1981 issue of Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin. See also Breaks in Monetary Series, a Bank of 
England Discussion Paper, February 1989, and Long 
Runs of Monetary Data, Bank of England. July 1991.

The Economic Trends Annual Supplement, 1991 
edition shows: bank lending to UK residents (Table 43. 
pages 218 and 219) seasonally adjusted quarterly from 
1963 second quarter to 1990 second quarter and 
summary analysis of UK bank advances and 
acceptances to UK residents from February 1977 to 
August 1990 (Table 44, page 220).

The Annual Abstract of Statistics, 1991 edition 
contains annual figures from a selection of the Financial

Statistics series in most cases covering the period 1978 
to 1989.

Tables 6.1 and 6.2
UK banks’ sector

The figures in these tables are designed to show the 
position of the banks’ sector as a whole in relation to 
other sectors; transactions between institutions within the 
sector are excluded.

Consolidation adjustments
1. Transit and suspense items
Gross figures for deposits and advances are adjusted 

to allow for sterling transit Hems. These transit items 
appear in an individual bank’s balance sheet both as 
credit items (e.g. standing orders) and debit items (e.g. 
cheques in course of collection). When figures are 
aggregated, these items may give rise to double counting 
of deposits received from customers outside the banks' 
sector or, where overdrawn or loan accounts are 
concerned, to the unden/aluing of total lending made to 
such customers. In accordance with the treatment 
originally adopted for the calculation of reserve ratios 
(see Reserve ratios: further definHions on page 482 of 
the December 1971 issue of Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin), it is assumed that 60% of the total value of 
debit less credit items affects deposits. This proportion is 
therefore deducted from gross deposits and the 
remaining 40% is added to advances, the adjustment 
being applied to deposits of, and lending to, the UK non
bank private sector (specifically, industrial and 
commercial companies) in tables 6.1 and 6.2. From mid- 
May 1975 sterling suspense accounts on both sides of 
institutions’ balance sheets, which are unclassifiable by 
sector, are added to transit items and treated in the 
same way. Figures for 60% of net debit transit items are 
shown in table 11.2 (levels) and table 11.3 (changes). As 
for foreign currency transit (and suspense) Hems, all 
debit items less all credit items are deducted from foreign 
currency deposits of the overseas sector.

2. Misclassified accounts
When excluding transactions between banks’ sector 

institutions, residual errors can arise, i.e. inter-sector 
transactions as measured on the asset side of the 
consolidated balance sheet do not always equal inter
sector transactions measured on the liabilities side. Any 
sterling inter-sector residual errors are allocated to non- 
deposit liabilHies (net) in table 6.1; currency residuals are 
included as an adjustment to foreign currency deposits of 
the overseas sector.

Breaks in series
Significant breaks sometimes occur in the series after 

a change in the number of contributors to the statistics or 
changes in the data collected. The standard method of 
dealing with such breaks in Financial Statistics is that. In 
tables showing amounts outstanding, two estimates are 
given at the changeover date i.e. before and after. Where 
changes in balances (or derived net transactions) are 
displayed, they exclude the effect of the difference in 
coverage in the period in which it occurred. In the banks’ 
sector statistics the following changes have yielded 
significant discontinuities in the series:
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Mid-November 1981

End-March 1983

October 1986

July 1989

- Additional contributors.
- Additional contributors.
- Introduction of more 

comprehensive banking 
statistics.

- Introduction of monetary 
sector.

- Additional quarterly 
contributors.

- Start of calendar monthly 
reporting.

- Abbey National (see below)

Other minor breaks have occurred from time to time. 
The transactions figures have been adjusted to take 
account of these breaks but two levels have not been 
shown. Figures were incorporated in table 6 for the first 
time in the June 1985 Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin 
forthose smaller institutions which complete less detailed 
quarterly returns: these figures are now included in levels 
with effect from 1983 first quarter and transactions in 
periods from 1983 second quarter. Further details are 
given in the notes and definitions to table 6 in the March 
1985 Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

The sectoral classification of securities dealers 
changed at end-September 1986. Prior to that date, 
securities dealers were included within the industrial and 
commercial companies sector, or within 'unincorporated 
businesses’ in the personal sector, as appropriate. From 
September 1986 they are included within the OFI sector. 
Banks recorded the amounts reclassified at end 
September 1966 (see the December 1986 issue of the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, page 519, for details) 
so that the levels of sterling deposits from and sterling 
lending to the OFI, ICC and personal sectors can be 
shown both on the old and the new bases. Sterling flows 
are calculated according to the old sectoral definitions up 
to and including 1986 quarter three, and on the new 
definitions thereafter. In the case of currency lending, 
estimates had been made of the securities dealers’ 
transactions with the monetary sector from 1984 quarter 
one onwards. For these series therefore, the breaks in 
the levels series occur at end December 1983.

The Abbey National Building Society became a public
limited company on 12 July 1989, and was authorised
under the Banking Act 1987 from that date. As such, it is
classified as a bank, rather than a building society. This
change of classification involves large breaks in most
series and for further information see details in the
August 1989 Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, pages
352 and 353, Statistical consequences of the conversion
of the Abbey National Building Society to a public limited 
company.

Valuation adjustments
From the second calendar quarter of 1975, the 

changes in assets and liabilities in foreign currencies 
shown in table 6.1 have been adjusted to exclude the 
estimated effect of movements in exchange rates. To the 
extent that the total of adjustments made to foreign 
currency assets does not equal the total of adjustments 
to foreign currency deposits, a net adjustment is made to 
non-deposit liabilities. From this date, changes in foreign 
currency items may not equal the differences between 
the amounts outstanding: they will, however, more

accurately reflect institutions’ transactions.
From the second quarter of 1975 up to and including 

the third quarter of 1981. similar differences between 
levels outstanding and transactions arise in certain 
sterling items. This applies mainly to investments in the 
quarterly series, where changes were reported directly as 
cash transactions while levels reflected changes in the 
market value of certain assets. The counterpart of a 
change in the value of investments caused by a change 
in market prices is a change in a bank's reserves: a net 
adjustment was therefore also made to non-deposit 
liabilities.

Scope of headings
Nomdepositliabilities(net) comprise the banks’ sectors’ 

capital and other non-deposit liabilities less their 
investments in UK banks and other non-financial assets 
both in sterling and in other currencies: this item also 
includes some residual errors arising from the exclusion 
of transactions between institutions within the sector and 
the valuation adjustments described in previous sections.

Domestic deposits in foreign currertcies. Before the 
introduction of the new returns in May 1975, all UK 
residents’ deposits in foreign currencies were allocated 
to the private sector.

Personal sector. In table 6.2, the figures for the 
personal sector are further desegregated to show 
separately deposits by and lending to persons, 
households and individual trusts. The rest of the personal 
sector includes unincorporated businesses of sole traders 
and partnerships (e.g. solicitors), farms, universities, 
trade unions, clubs, charities and churches.

Overseas sector deposits. Include estimates of 
overseas holdings of certificates of deposit. The foreign 
currency figures also include some consolidation items.

The sectoral allocation of certificates of deposit and of 
other paper of up to five years’ original maturity issued 
by banks (which is included in deposits) is partly 
estimated. Domestic holdings of dollar certificates were 
identified, for the first time, from end-March 1973.

Relationship between table 6.1 and the 
financiai accounts

The banks’ sector statistics used to compile the 
quarterly transactions in table 6.1 are also used in the 
financial accounts (Section 1), but with extra detail not 
shown in table 6.1,

Public, private and overseas sector sterling deposits in 
table 6.1 each agree with the relevant figures in lines 
21.1 and 21.2 in the financial accounts, though the 
financial accounts show more sector detail and the split 
between sight and time deposits. Public, private and 
overseas sector foreign currency deposits in table 6.1 
likewise, each agree with the relevant figures in line 21.3 
in the financial accounts.

Sterling lending to the public sector in table 6.1 is the 
sum of the banks’ sector’s lines 6, 7. 8,10,11. 12,14.1, 
19.1, 19.3, 19.4 and 20.2 in the financial accounts. 
Foreign currency lending to the public sector in table 6.1 
is the sum of the banks’ sector’s lines 16, 19.2 and 20.1.

The remainder of table 6.1 (lending to the private 
sector and overseas sector and non-deposit liabilities 
(net)) cannot be reconciled with the remaining banks' 
sector lines in the financial accounts, even in total, 
because lending to the private sector is spread between
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various matrix lines as described in the note to tables 
11.7 and 11.8 and non^deposh liabilities (net) include 
elements of banks’ sector lines 31,34, 35, 36 and 38, as 
well as the banks' sector’s balancing item and financial 
surplus or deficit, for which no separate quarterly 
estimate is made, (The banks’ sector and other financial 
institutions are combined in the quarterly financial surplus 
or deficit and balancing item estimates.)

Table 6.3
Bank of England

This table provides in summary form the balance 
sheet of the Bank of England, which is divided, for 
accounting purposes, between the Issue Department and 
the Banking Department. (The Bank’s activities were 
divided in this way by the Bank Charter Act 1844, so as 
to separate the note issue function from all other 
functions.) In the UK financial accounts, the Issue 
Department is included in the central government sector, 
while the Banking Department is in the banks’ sector. 
The Exchange Equalisation Account (EEA), the 
government account managed by the Bank which holds 
the official reserves of gold, convertible currencies and 
special drawing rights (SDRs). |s not included in this 
table.

Timeliness
The figures are shown at the third Wednesday of each 

month, and are those given in the weekly Bank Return 
published each Thursday and in the Friday edition of the 
London Gazette. The data are published in Financial 
Statistics one month in arrears.

Issue Department
The accounts of the Issue Department are concerned 

solely with the note issue (which is entirely fiduciary) and 
the backing for it. Thus the department's only liabilities 
are Bank of England notes in issue • in circulation with 
the public, in commercial banks’ tills or held as a reserve 
by the Banking Department (through which issues and 
withdrawals of notes take place).

Assets are mainly pubiic sector debt (including ways 
and means advances to the National Loans Fund) and 
commercial bills purchased as part of the Bank's money 
market operations. Transfers between one form of debt 
and another provide a means for open market operations 
by the Bank In the gilFedged market and in the money 
market. In underwriting all new issues of government 
stock, the Bank take into the Issue Department’s portfolio 
on the day of issue the amount of stock not taken up by 
the market and gradually sell it as demand arises. They 
also regularly buy in stocks in the year before their final 
redemption date.

Scope of headings
Government securities include holdings of British 

government and government-guaranteed securities, 
Treasury bills, ways and means advances to the National 
Loans Fund, the historic Treasury liability of £11 million 
(government debt in the Bank Return; for details see 
pages 56 to 57 of the Bank of England report and 
accounts for the year ended 28 February 1971) and any 
special Treasury liability.

Other securities include:
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refinance provided by the Issue Department in 
1969-72 to the London and Scottish clearing 
banks under the arrangements for medium 
and long-term finance of exports and domestic 
shipbuilding (see the Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin ior June 1972). Refinancing 
of special export and shipbuilding credits is no 
longer carried out by the Issue Department, 
the last credits held by the Issue Department 
having matured in March 1976, although some 
ECGD-backed promissory notes have been 
acquired from banks as part of money market 
smoothing operations.
holdings of commercial bills and local authority 
bills, and. on occasion, local authority deposits 
and bonds, acquired in the course of market 
operations; and company securities and 
miscellaneous securities.

Banking Department
Through the Banking Department, the Bank conducts 

Its operations as a banker to the government, to the 
other UK banks, to overseas central banks and 
international organisations, and to a small number of 
other domestic institutions and private individuals, 
including members of the staff. Special deposits (and, 
under the credit control arrangements in force from 1971 
to 1981, supplementary special deposits), called for 
reasons of monetary policy, are held in the Banking 
Department; advances to the discount market are made 
through the Banking Department. The National Loans 
Fund also holds deposits with the Banking Department in 
connection with monetary control and money market 
smoothing operations.

Credit Herns in course of transmission are included in 
the deposHs of the Banking Department, whilst debH 
items in course of collection are deducted.

Scope of headings
Public deposits are the balances held by the central 

government at the Bank of England and include the 
accounts of the Consolidated Fund, the National Loans 
Fund, the National Debt Commissioners and H.M. 
Paymaster General, together with dividend accounts, 
accounts connected wHh tax collection and various other 
government funds. DeposHs held by local authorHies and 
public corporations are included under reserves and 
other accounts. In tables 6.1 and 6.2, however, these 
deposits are included under public sector deposits.

Special deposits may be called from all UK banks wHh 
eligible liabilHies of £10 million or more. Prior to the 
introduction of new monetary control arrangements on 20 
August 1981, special deposits could be called from all 
banks and the large finance houses obsen/ing a common 
reserve asset ratio under the credH control arrangements 
introduced in 1971. Details of the special deposHs 
scheme, and of the supplementary special deposHs 
scheme, figures for which are included, were last given 
in the 1981 issue of the Explanatory Handbook. No 
special deposHs have been called since July 1980.

Articles which were published in the Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin between 1971 and 1980 relating to the 
special and supplementary deposit schemes are 
available from the Bank of England, London EC2R 8AH. 
An article reviewing the supplementary special deposHs
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scheme was published in the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin, March 1982.

Bankers’ deposits. Up to 19 August 1981, these 
constituted the current accounts held at the Bank by the 
banks and discount houses. From 20 August 1981, they 
consist of operational deposits held mainly by the 
clearing banks, and non-operational cash ratio deposits 
for which all banks’ sector institutions with eligible 
liabilities averaging £10 million or more are liable.

Reserves and other accounts include deposit liabilities 
to overseas central banks, the dividend accounts of 
stocks managed by the Bank other than the direct 
obligations of the British government, local authority and 
public corporations accounts, and some UK private 
sector accounts.

Total liabilities are shown in column 5 and include the 
Bank's capital - bank stock oi £14.6 million held by the 
Treasury • which is not included In any of the sub-totals.

Government securities \r\c\u6e holdings of government 
and government-guaranteed securities, valued at cost 
less provision for losses, and Treasury bills.

Advances and other accounts include market 
advances to the discount market, loans to customers and 
support loans to deposit-taking institutions. Provisions for 
losses are deducted.

Until the bank return for 20 July 1977, premises, 
equipment and other securities include all premises and 
equipment and were valued at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. At that date, premises were valued 
professionally on an open market value for existing use 
basis as described in the Bank of England Annual Report 
and Accounts, Holdings of other securities, which are 
relatively small, include ordinary shares (e.g. those of 
special finance agencies such as the Agricultural 
Mortgage Corporation), local authority bills and bonds, 
and commercial bills. Listed and unlisted securities are 
included at cost less provisions. Further details of other 
securities are given in the Bank of England Annual 
Report and Accounts.

Notes and coin complete the assets of the banking 
department. The holdings of coin and Scottish and 
Northern Irish notes account for the difference between 
this column and column two.

Breaks in the series
From 20 July 1977 there was a change in the basis of 

valuation of premises (see above).

Further references
The Bank of England Statistical Abstract, Number 1 

(1970) provides end-year figures for the years 1945-63, 
and monthly figures for 1964-69. Abstract Number 2 
(1975) provides mid-December figures for 1963-69 and 
monthly figures for 1970-74.

The Bank of England Annual Report and Accounts, 
published in July each year, gives a full balance sheet 
and further details in the notes to the accounts.

The Annual Abstract of Statistics table 17.1 gives a 
run of mid-December figures.

An article in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, for
June 1967 - Bank of England liabilities and assets: 1696
onwards - provides some figures for the years 1696 to
1845, prior to the regular publication of the Bank Return 
in September 1844.
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Table 6.4
Banks: summary of monthly reporting 
institutions

This table covers the business of the UK offices of 
those institutions which are UK banks and report 
monthly, other than money market dealing counterparties 
of the Bank of England which are authorised under the 
Banking Act 1987, whose figures are published 
separately in table 6.5. Figures on this basis start at mid- 
September 1983 when the coverage was extended to 
include the Trustee savings banks, the banking 
department of the Bank of England and eleven other new 
contributors which had previously reported at end-quarter 
only. The figures prior to mid-September 1983 - which 
were published in earlier issues of Financial Statistics - 
cover a narrower range of institutions. For a description 
of the background to these changes see the December 
1983 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, 
page 562.

The table is not comparable with table 6.1 and 6.2,
which cover the whole of the banks' sector. Also, the 
adjustments made in the banks’ sector tables to eliminate 
inter-bank transactions and transit items (see the notes 
to the banks’ sector tables) have not been made in this 
table. Up to September 1986 reporting day was the third 
Wednesday in each month, except in December when it 
was the second Wednesday. From October 1986 the 
reporting date is the month end.

Liabilities and assets are reported at the value 
standing in the reporting institutions' books. Liabilities 
and assets in currencies other than sterling are 
translated into sterling at the closing middle market spot 
rate on reporting days. The figures are therefore affected 
by movements in exchange rates.

Deposit liabilities include all credit balances on 
customers’ accounts, including deposits by other banks 
(except deposits in connection with syndicated lending), 
overdrawn accounts with UK and overseas 
correspondents and deposits by overseas offices of the 
reporting institution (except working capital provided by 
head offices overseas). It also includes certificates of 
deposit and all liabilities in gold (which excludes bullion 
and coin deposited for safe custody).

Sight deposits comprise balances as defined above 
other than certificates of deposit, including interest- 
bearing deposits, which are transferable or withdrawable 
on demand without interest penalty (or interest 
indemnity). Also included are money immediately at call 
and money placed overnight.

Time deposits comprise all other deposits (except 
certificates and other short-term paper, which are shown 
separately).

Certificates of deposits etc. and other short-term paper 
/ssued include promissory notes issued by the reporting 
institutions and instruments such as silver and other 
commodity receipts. Also included are unsubordinated 
capital market instruments (except debentures and 
secured loan stocks) of any maturity and subordinated 
loan stocks of less than five years’ original maturity; other 
subordinated loan stocks and debentures are included in 
capital and other funds.

Items in suspense and transmission comprise credit 
balances not in customers’ names but relating to 
customers’ funds rather than to UK banks’ internal funds 
or to shareholders’ funds, together with standing orders
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and credit transfers debited to customers’ accounts, and 
other items for which the corresponding payment has not 
yet been made by the reporting institution. It includes 
credits in course of transmission to the reporting 
institutions’ own UK branches, UK branches of other 
banks and to banks and banking offices abroad.

Capital and other funds includes shareholders’ funds, 
working capital provided by overseas offices, together 
with all internal accounts (both liability and asset).

Cash ratio deposits. Reporting institutions with eligible 
liabilities of £10 million or more, and/or balance sheet 
footings of £100 million or more, are liable to lodge, with 
the Bank of England non-operational, non-interest- 
bearing deposits of 0.40% (0.45% prior to 16 January 
1991) of their eligible liabilities (0.25% for institutions for 
which Northern Ireland is the main place of business in 
the United Kingdom). Adjustments to the amount of the 
cash ratio deposit each institution is required to hold take 
place in October and April each year, based on average 
eligible liabilities in the six months to September and 
March respectively.

Market loans includes all balances (including 
correspondent balances) with, and funds lent to, UK 
banks and to banks overseas, apart from trade or 
portfolio investments. This also includes holdings of 
sterling certificates of deposit\ssued by, and sterling time 
deposits placed with, UK building societies, and funds 
lent to UK local authorities through the local authority 
money markets. Other funds lent through specialised 
financial markets or through brokers are included as 
advances.

Other UK banks includes all money (including 
correspondent balances) lent to, or placed with, other UK 
banks. Overdrawn accounts are included under deposits.

Certificates of deposit include holdings of promissory 
notes and other short-term paper issued by other UK 
banks, and holdings of stocks and bonds having an 
original maturity of less than one year which have been 
issued by other UK banks.

Market loans to overseas includes bills drawn under 
acceptance credit facilities opened by overseas banks 
(including overseas offices of the reporting institution) 
which the reporting institution has itself discounted, and 
certificates of deposit, promissory notes and other 
negotiable paper issued by overseas banks.

Bills include bills, promissory notes and other 
negotiable paper (excluding certificates of deposit ovjned 
by the reporting institution). It excludes bills connected 
with refinanceable lending under the special schemes for 
exports and shipbuilding and bills which the reporting 
institution has disposed of by rediscounting. Bills and 
notes are classified as sterling or other currencies 
according to the currency in which they are drawn. Also 
prior to October 1988, before withdrawal of this 
concession acceptances by the reporting institution which 
it has also discounted.

Advances include all balances with, and lending 
(whether against collateral or not) direct to, customers 
not included elsewhere. It includes the reporting 
institution’s own acceptances which it has also 
discounted, except for those drawn by banks overseas, 
and prior to October 1988 by another UK bank, which 
are entered under market loans. Own acceptances 
discounted are shown as advances to the party that 
requested the acceptance credit to be opened. 
Provisions for bad and doubtful debts are not deducted.
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Where the reporting institution participates in (or acts as 
manager or co-manager of) a loan financed by more than 
one institution, it includes only the reporting institution’s 
participation for its own account, the loan being classified 
according to the ultimate borrower.

Advances to UK private sector, as well as instruments 
noted above, also includes all medium and long-term 
advances (i.e. with an original maturity of two years or 
over) at fixed rates for shipbuilding for UK ownership 
under Department of Trade and Industry guarantee; less

(i) any amounts refinanced
(ii) the amount of assistance accepted by UK 

banks under the occasional facility to sell to 
the Bank of England for subsequent 
repurchase, over two-year government- 
guaranteed shipbuilding paper.

Both secured and unsecured money with money 
brokers or gilt-edged jobbers on the Stock Exchange is 
included in advances to the UK private sector.

Advances to overseas, as well as instruments noted 
above, also includes all medium and long-term lending, 
whether refinanceable or not, at fixed rates for exports 
under direct ECGD bank guarantee, and all export 
lending at rates related to base rate under ECGD 
comprehensive bank bills and notes and open account 
guarantee schemes; less

(i) any amounts refinanced
(ii) the amount of assistance accepted by banks 

under the occasional facility to sell to the Bank 
of England, for subsequent re-purchase, over 
two year government-guaranteed export credit 
paper.

Banking department lending to central government 
(net) comprises its holdings of all forms of central 
government debt (Including bank notes), less its deposit 
liabilities to the National Loans Fund and Paymaster 
General.

Investments include all securities beneficially owned 
by the reporting institution. It includes securities which 
the reporting institution has lent (or pledged) but still 
beneficially owns, but excludes securities which the 
reporting Institution has borrowed and holds or has re
lent but which it does not beneficially own.

British government stocks includes all stocks issued by 
the government and stocks of nationalised industries 
guaranteed by the government. On some occasions, the 
Bank of England relieves pressure on banks’ liquidity by 
purchasing British government securities from them, for 
subsequent re-sale. Holdings of British government 
securities reported in table 6.4 will have been affected by 
this assistance.

Other public sector investments Include stocks and 
bonds issued by local authorities which are listed on the 
Stock Exchange.

Other investments include all investments in banks’ 
sector institutions which are subsidiaries or associates of 
the reporting institution, and deposits with overseas 
offices which have been invested in fixed assets such as 
premises and equipment.

Items in suspense include all debit balances not in 
customers’ names but related to customers' funds rather 
than to the reporting institutions’ own internal funds, for 
example debit balances awaiting transfer to customers’
accounts.

Collections comprise cheques, etc, drawn on and in
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course of collection from other UK banks and debit Items 
in transit between UK offices of the reporting institution. 
It includes cheques that have been credited to 
customers’ accounts but are held overnight before being 
presented or paid into the reporting institution’s account 
with another UK bank but excludes cheques already 
passed to other UK banks for collection (these are 
entered as market loans to UK banks). It includes all 
collections on banks outside the United Kingdom and 
items in transit to overseas offices of the reporting 
institution, where the reporting institution is acting as 
principal and not as an agent for collection and where it 
has already given credit or value for the hems.

Assets leased include all plant and equipment 
beneficially owned by the reporting insthution which have 
been leased out under finance leases, Including any 
leased to branches, subsidiaries or associates overseas.

Other miscellaneous assets include gold bullion and 
gold coin. It also includes other commodities (for 
example silver), land, premises, plant and equipment and 
other goods beneficially owned, including assets leased 
under operating leases.

Acceptances comprise all bills accepted by the 
reporting institution which are still outstanding, excluding 
any which the reporting insthution has itself discounted 
(these are included within advances or market loans), but 
including any such discounts which have subsequently 
been rediscounted.

Table 6.5
Discount houses

This table shows the liabilhies and assets of the group 
of specialised banking institutions that make up the 
money market dealing counterparties of the Bank of 
England authorised under the Banking Act 1987, and 
which are included in the UK banks sector. Prior to 
November 1981, the discount houses also included the 
money trading departments of five members of the 
banks' sector (these departments were excluded from the 
returns that are used to compile table 6.4).

The discount houses borrow money mainly in the 
inter-bank market and employ it in a variety of mainly 
short-term financial instruments. Besides guaranteeing to 
underwrite the weekly Treasury bill tender (see notes to 
table 3.8), the discount houses make a secondary market 
in various short-term instruments, including certificates of 
deposit and commercial bills.

The balance sheet of the discount houses can show 
considerable changes over time, reflecting not only 
changes in interest rate differentials but also the effects 
of monetary control arrangements. Funds placed by 
banks with the discount houses at call and on a secured 
basis were included as reserve assets under the credit 
control arrangements preceding August 1981; with effect 
from the introduction of monetary control arrangements 
on 20 August 1981, each banks’ sector institution whose 
acceptances are eligible for discount at the Bank of 
England undertook to maintain a minimum of 4% of its 
eligible liabilities in secured money with members of the
market; with effect from 18 August 1983, the daily 
minimum was reduced to 2.5%.

The column Other bills - Other public sector no longer 
appears in this table. However, the series AEKP and 
ATJP are obtainable from the Databank.
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Tables 6.6 and 6.7
Analysis of bank lending to UK residents

The analysis was changed in May 1975 along with the 
other banking statistics. The principal differences 
between the old and new series were set out in the notes 
to table 10 in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, 
December 1975. The break in the series in November 
1981 is partly due to the change in the reporting 
population and partly due to the reclassification of certain 
borrowers as banks’ sector institutions which took them 
outside the scope of this analysis. For details of the 
institutions covered see notes to table 6.4 on page 63.

Before November 1983, the analysis was based as far 
as possible on the Central Statistical Office’s Standard 
Industrial Classification of 1968. Since then, the analysis 
is broadly based on the CSO’s Standard Industrial 
Classification of 1980. The main outlines of the analysis 
remain as before - manufacturing, financial, business and 
other services, persons - but there have been 
considerable changes in detail, and the number of sub
categories has been expanded from twenty-three to 
thirty. It is not therefore possible to compare figures for 
like sounding categories existing before the re
classification. The classification is based upon industries, 
irrespective of owner (that is private, local authority or 
government): loans are classified according to the main 
activity of the borrower. Lending to unincorporated 
businesses, etc, is allocated according to the trade or 
profession.

The analysis covers bans, advances and acceptances 
in both sterling and foreign currencies provided by 
reporting institutions to their customers but does not 
include funds placed through the local authority money 
markets. It also now includes banks’ holdings of sterling 
commercial paper which are included indistinguishably 
with loans and advances.

The figures for changes in bans, advances ana 
acceptances in foreign currencies have been adjusted to 
exclude the change in the sterling value of existing 
business in foreign currency arising from fluctuations in 
exchange rates.

Tables 6.8-6.10
Building societies

These tables cover building societies as defined by the 
Building Societies Acts 1962 and 1986. Building societies 
have dominated the housing loans market for many 
years, though they have recently faced increasing 
competition, mainly from the banks and mortgage finance 
vehicles. Their lending is financed largely by receipts of 
shares and deposits which they acquire almost entirely 
from individuals in the personal sector in competition with 
other financial institutions, the clearing banks, and 
national savings. Their success in attracting such funds 
largely depends on the relative attractiveness of their 
share and deposit interest rates (see table 13.12 and 
Section 13 generally). In recent years these receipts 
have increasingly been supplemented by borrowing in 
the wholesale market.

Compilation
Building society transactions from January 1987 are 

derived from figures prepared by the Building Societies 
Commission on the basis of returns made to it by
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individual societies. The monthly figures previous to 
January 1987 are derived from different returns made to 
the Building Societies Association. Although the coverage 
and definitions of these two sources should be broadly 
the same, there may be some break in series at end- 
December 1986; thus any effect of the change of source 
is incorporated in the January 1987 flows.

The statistics in table 6.8 are based on monthly 
returns from approximately forty societies with assets 
amounting to 97% of total balance sheet assets which 
are processed by the Building Societies Commission. 
The sample figures are grossed-up to represent the 
whole populations of societies.

The quarterly statistics in table 6.9 are based on the 
figures from the monthly returns supplemented by the 
results of quarterly returns processed by the Bank of 
England from a sample of thirty societies with assets 
amounting to over 94% of total building society assets.

Up to and including 1986, the statistics for assets and 
liabilities outstanding at the end of each year in table 6.8 
are based on an annual return processed by the Bank of 
England. The returns were issued to the same sample of 
societies as the quarterly return. Each year the figures 
for annual holdings and quarterly transactions were 
reconciled with annual statutory returns made to the 
Registrar of Friendly Societies by all building societies. 
After 1986 the end-year figurers are taken from the 
grossed-up comprehensive monthly return described 
above.

The analysis of new commitments and advances in 
table 6.10 was based, up to end-1980, on a stratified 
sample of fifty societies covering 90% of total assets. 
From the beginning of 1981, the return was redesigned 
and the sample reduced to the largest societies (fifteen 
in 1986 covering 88% of total assets). As before, the 
figures are grossed-up to represent all societies.

Quarterly figures of ‘save-as-you-earn’ (SAVE) 
schemes entered into with building societies are included 
in the figures for shares and deposits. These are shown 
separately in table S21 each quarter, which is based on 
supplementary quarterly returns from a sample of twenty- 
five societies with assets amounting to over 96% of total 
building society assets. For details on SAVE terms see 
page 45 and 46.

Further references
A monthly balance sheet similar to table 6.8 is first 

published each month by the Bank of England in their 
Monetary Statistics release. Long runs of quarterly 
figures on mortgage advances, repayments of principal 
and net advances are given in table 9.4 - Loans for 
house purchase. This table gives separate figures for 
loans made by central government, local authorities, 
public corporations, insurance companies and pension 
funds, building societies, the banks and miscellaneous 
financial institutions. Similar figures are first published 
each quarter by the Council of Mortgage Lenders. 
Quarterly figures of both the number and the value of 
SAYE accounts opened and closed, as well as balances 
outstanding are shown alongside information on SAYE 
transacted through the Department for National Savings 
and Trustee savings bank in table S21.

Housing and Construction Statistics, a quarterly 
publication by the Department of Environment, contains 
tables showing similar information to tables 6.8 to 6.10

and, on both regular and occasional bases, a 
considerable amount of statistics on the housing market 
including data on the characteristics of mortgagors, 
mortgage advances and mortgaged property, including 
an index of house prices. Part of the analysis of 
mortgages is based on the ‘Five Per Cent Sample 
Survey of Building Society Mortgages,’ which is 
described in a booklet by Andrew Evans with that title 
published as Studies in Official Statistics. NO 26 (HMSO, 
1975).

The Annual Report of the Building Societies 
Commission contains selected statistics from the 
aggregation of building societies’ statutory annual 
returns, which are for various accounting years ending 
between 1 February and the following 31 January.

The Annual Abstract of Statistics table 17.13 in 1991 
provides a long annual series of statistics which are also 
drawn by the Building Societies Commission from the 
statutory returns, and the Digest of Welsh Statistics gives 
details of the number of mortgages granted annually in 
Wales.

The Building Societies Association’s monthly press 
release and The Council of Mortgage Lenders quarterly 
Housing Finance include detailed statistics on all aspects 
of building societies’ operations. A compendium of 
building society statistics, published by the Building 
Societies Association, provides a long run of all available 
building society statistics including quarterly financial 
statistics, unadjusted and seasonally adjusted from 1955.

General information is provided in The Building 
Society Industry, a book by Mark Boleat (published by 
Allen and Unwin in 1986) and in The Development of 
the Building Societies Sector in the 1980’s in the Bank of 
England quarterly Bulletin, November 1990.

Tables 6.8 to 6.10
The material in these tables has been adapted to 

reflect the regime under which the societies have 
operated since the 1986 Building Societies Act. The 
contents of the tables were re-ordered with effect from 
June 1990; table 6.8 now shows the balance sheet 
(including a monthly series which is consistent with the 
monthly monetary statistics in Section 11), table 6.9 
shows further detail of retail liabilities and commercial 
assets, together with analyses of total shares and 
deposits (including commercial paper) and commercial 
assets by class and sector, and table 6.10 shows lending 
commitments, an analysis of these and of gross 
advances by purpose, and the numbers of commitments 
and advances in each period.

Table 6.8
Building societies

Retail shares and deposits. These are shares and 
deposits that are defined as ‘retail’ by the 1986 Building 
Societies Act, i.e. all shares and deposits that are neither 
transferable instruments (such as certificates of deposit) 
nor funds from corporate bodies, other building societies, 
friendly societies, trade unions, charities and 
administrators of approved retirement benefit schemes, 
nor large time deposits (over £50,000 and repayable 
within one year of deposit). In effect, 'retail' deposits are 
predominantly non-corporate funds raised outside the 
wholesale money markets. There is no substantia] break 
of character at end-1986, since the distinction between

I
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"retair and non-retail shares and deposits came Into 
being only at that date and the great majority of "shares 
and deposits" were previously essentially "retait. 
Nonetheless some £0.7 billion was reallocated out of 
"retail shares and deposits" column into "deposits and 
commercial paper in January 1987; this effect is 
excluded from the flows shown.

Bank borrowing. Banks also lend to societies via take- 
up of the other non-retail instruments shown in the table.

Transit and suspense Hems. Previously included in 
"reserves, official loans and other liabilities", 
distinguishably from January 1987; before that date 
transit and suspense items are believed to be 
indistinguishably included in that item.

Interest accrued but not credHed. Indistinguishable 
within "other liabilities and reserves" in the monthly 
series.

Liquid assets : total. Consistent with the definition in 
the Building Societies Act 1986.

BrHish government securHies. The figures previously 
shown for the latest quarter’s gross purchases and sales 
of under five years stocks and five years and over stocks 
can be deduced from the net transactions here and net 
turnover data in table 12.4.

Other equals the previous "other short-term assets", 
less bank bills and asset transit and suspense Hems 
(which are now distinguished separately). At end-1990 
comprised national savings £1 million, the remainder 
unidentified.

TransH and suspense items. Previously within "other 
short-term assets". Before January 1987 they are 
believed to have been reported indistinguishably wHhin 
"other short-term assets".

Commercial assets (a technical term from the Building 
Societies Act 1986). Equals the previous "mortgages" 
series; mortgage (i.e. "Class 1" and "Class 2") and non
mortgage (i.e. "Class T ) commercial assets are now 
analysed in detail in table 6.9.

Tables 6.9 and 6.10
The seasonal adjustments are calendar-year 

constrained, unlike those applied to the building society 
elements in the monetary series in Section 11, which are 
financial-year constrained.

Table 6.9
The analyses of gross flows now cover retail shares 

and deposits instead of total shares and deposits (see 
notes to Table 6.8), and Classes 1 and 2 commercial

assets (i.e. mortgages) and Class 3 lending to 
individuals. Other Class 3 assets are shown only as a 
net flow. The total "net advances" is the series previously 
entitled "mortgages : net advances of principat.

Under commercial assets, interest earned and interest 
repayments are included indistinguishably wHhin 
respectively gross advances and repayments of principal 
before 1987.

Commercial assets : other credHs/debits includes 
insurance premia, fines etc.

The classes of commercial assets are as defined In 
the Building Societies Act 1986. Class 1 assets are 
advances to individuals, secured on land for the 
residential use of the borrower; in addHion, a Class 1 
asset has to be the first charge on the property. Class 2 
assets are advances secured on land which do not fulfil 
all the condHions of a Class 1 asset (e.g. a secured loan 
which is not a first charge on the property); Class 2 
assets therefore include lending to individuals secured 
other than by a first charge, lending to companies, 
unincorporated businesses and housing associations. 
Class 3 assets are loans (to individuals or companies 
etc.) not secured on a first or second charge on land, 
investment in subsidiaries and investments in land (other 
than land mainly occupied by a society Hself, which is 
included in "other assets" in table 6.8). The business of 
subsidiaries - other than building society branches or 
subsidiaries in the UK offshore islands - is excluded from 
the "building society^ statistics shown in these tables 
except to the extent that this business results in entries 
on the parent society’s balance sheet. Thus Class 3 
lending to individuals is consumer credit extended by a 
society Hself; lending by societies’ consumer credH 
subsidiaries is reflected only in "other Class 3 assets", if 
the subsidiaries borrow from their parents.

Before 1988 all mortgages are classified as "Class 1" 
in these statistics, except for mortgage lending to 
industrial and commercial companies. The quarterly path 
of Class 3 lending in the first three quarters of 1987 is 
estimated.

Table 6.10
The analyses of new commitments and gross 

advances now cover just mortgages (i.e. Classes 1 and 
2 of commercial assets) and other lending to individuals 
(i.e. Class 3 consumer credH lending), whereas the 
analysis in the previous table 6.10 in principle also 
covered any other Class 3 commercial assets.
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Section 7
Other financial institutions

The other financial institutions (OFI) sector comprises 
all the financial companies and institutions that are not in 
the banks and building societies sector, apart from 
certain financial bodies which are deliberately classified 
to other sectors e.g. the National Savings Bank and the 
Exchange Equalisation Account are classified to central 
government because they are an integral part of its 
financial operations and the insurance activities of Lloyds 
underwriters are classified to the personal sector 
because of the difficulties of distinguishing them from the 
rest of the personal sector.

The main activity of OFIs is to obtain and redistribute 
funds. The groups of institutions which make up the 
sector are as follows.

Banking institutions in the Channel Islands and the 
Isle of Man which are not in the banking sector.

Bank holding companies.
Credit unions'.
Factoring companies.
Finance leasing companies. ^
Financial holding companies.
Financial trusts.
Friendly societies.
Fund managers.
Gold dealers which are not in the banking sector.
Institutions not in the banking sector whose main 

activity is to extend credit abroad.
Insurance companies (in the current accounts the 

long-term funds are part of the personal sector - 
see below).

Insurance holding companies.
investment trusts.
Money market brokers.
Mortgage finance vehicles.
Non-bank credit companies.
Pension funds (in the current accounts they are 

part of the personal sector - see below).
Property unit trusts.
Securities dealers.
Special finance agencies.
Unit trusts

- authorised
- unauthorised (including Channel Isjand unit 
trusts and other open ended funds).’

Venture and development capital companies.
‘ = See Data collection below

Data collection
Data on OFIs are collected in two ways. The main 

groups of OFIs are asked to provide returns of their 
financial activities through regular sample or 
comprehensive surveys. These returns also provide 
Information on the counterpart sectors to transactions in 
non-marketable items. This helps to get round the 
difficulty of obtaining direct information from other 
sectors, particularly the overseas and personal sectors.

Data on OFIs are also collected from returns of UK 
banks. From the beginning of 1982, the OFI sector has 
been included in the sector definitions employed by UK 
banks in reporting their borrowings and lending. This 
more comprehensive information is used to supplement 
or replace that collected from direct surveys of OFI 
institutions.

It is recognised that the coverage of the OFI sector is 
in complete. In particular, no information is explicitly 
collected from those institutions marked with an asterisk 
in the sector definitions above. Plans are currently 
underway to extend reporting by OFIs and to clarify the 
coverage of the sector.

Long-term insurance and pension funds
Current income and expendKure of pension funds, and 

of long-term Insurance funds, are included in the national 
accounts under the personal sector, but their financial 
transactions are treated as though the funds are OFIs. 
The balance of the funds' current income over 
expenditure, which is their net amount available for 
investment, is recorded in the financial accounts as an 
increase In the assets of the personal sector and the 
liabilities of the OFI sector. The funds remain the 
property of the personal sector in the form of this 
financial claim but their transactions in financial assets 
which match this claim are transactions of the OFI 
sector. Friendly societies are, in principle, treated in the 
same way as long-term insurance funds. Further 
explanation is given in the notes to Section 9.

Changes of sector
The scope of the OFI sector has varied as a result of 

administrative changes. The most important have been:
(a) in November 1979, the Trustee savings banks 

ordinary department was moved from the 
central government sector and amalgamated 
with the new department in the OFI sector. 
(For statistical purposes this change was 
regarded as taking place at the end of the 
third quarter 1979).

(b) at the end of 1980, the National Savings Bank 
account was moved from the OFI sector Into 
the central government sector.

(c) At the end of 1979, the Crown Agents was 
moved from the OFI sector into the public 
corporations sector.

(d) at the end of 1981, the Trustee savings banks 
as a whole were moved from the OFI sector 
into the banks sector.

Table 7.1
Sources and uses of funds of other financial 
institutions

This table is intended to show transactions in OFIs' 
financial liabilities (sources of funds) separately from 
transactions in their financial assets (uses of funds). In 
principle, receipts from all sources including other OFIs 
are included, as are payments for all uses including 
payments to other OFIs. Property unit trusts’ receipts 
from sales of units for example are recorded as a source. 
The units are sold mainly to pension funds and these 
transactions are recorded again under other financial 
assets (UK) as a use of funds by pension funds. This 
treatment differs from that in the financial accounts (table 
1.8) where only the OFIs’ net transactions with other 
sectors are recorded. The table is not a completely 
unconsolidated sources and uses of funds account, 
however, since not all transactions within the sector are
identified.

68



r

O ther financial Institutions

1ori5
Stilly
erisk
fintly
Mhe

and
3nal
iciaj
Fb.
iver
for
an

the
the
his
ets
)FI
he
ler

of
n:

The table falls short of the full sources and uses 
presentation in not including saving, expenditure on 
physical assets (except land, property and ground rents. 
see below) and other capital account items. These are 
not estimated for OFIs separately on a quarterly basis. 
There are. therefore, no quarterly estimates of the 
financial surplus or deficit or of the balancing item as 
defined in the financial accounts. The residual in the 
table is only the difference between the total sources and 
total uses shown.

This table includes expenditure on land, property and 
ground rents and other fixed assets in the UK, which are 
treated in the national accounts as part of capital 
expenditure. The other items are the financial 
transactions with inter-sector transactions entered on 
both sides of the account. The difference between total 
uses of funds (excluding land, property and ground rents 
and other fixed assets in the UK) and total sources of 
funds therefore equals total financial transactions as 
shown in table 1.8.

Scope of headings
Bank borrowing includes advances and loans, bills 

discounted and from the third quarter of 1975, market 
loans.

Unit trust units comprises the net sales of units as 
shown in table 7.7 adjusted to exclude management 
charges and excluding unitisation of investment trusts. 
The identified transactions in unit trusts of other financial 
institutions are netted off the figures shown in table 1.8.

The heading property unit trust units and LAMIT 
comprises the sum of net sales of units as presented in 
table 7.6, and the net acquisition of Local Authorities 
Mutual Investment Trust units by local authorities pension 
funds as shown in table 7.11. Only the sales of property 
unit trust units to charities are included in the financial 
accounts table under miscellaneous domestic 
instruments.

Net inflow into life assurance and pension funds is the 
balance which the funds have available for investment as 
a result of their current revenue and expenditure 
operations, which are included in the personal sector 
accounts. The balance is treated as paid by persons to 
OFIs in the financial account and its subsequent 
investment is accounted for in the OFI sector accounts. 
The annual figures are taken from the estimated revenue 
account of the funds; the quarterly figures are 
interpolations based on the funds’ total investment as 
recorded in their direct financial returns (as shown in 
table 7.10 for insurance company long-term funds and in 
table 7.11 for pension funds) with projections for quarters 
during the current year. Any differences between the 
annual revenue account balance or the quarterly 
interpolations or projections and the reported investment 
totals contribute to the OFI sector balancing item.

Other liabilities includes other lending by financial 
institutions as included in table 1.7 and certain other 
miscellaneous liabilities. Short-term borrowing in the 
United Kingdom, and short-term borrowing and inter
company investment overseas, are included under the 
sub-headings UK and overseas respectively.

The accruals adjustment covers tax reserves, the 
difference between the accruals and cash figures of 
interest on bank advances and bank deposits and

changes in balances in respect of income tax on wages 
and salaries and national insurance contributions payable 
by OFIs.

Other liquid assets cover Treasury bills, tax 
instruments, local authority temporary debt, and up to the 
end of 1981, sight deposits by the Trustee savings banks 
with the Central Trustee Savings Bank.

British government securities includes transactions in 
Northern Ireland central government debt.

Local authority longer-term debt includes loans by 
local authority pension funds to their parent authority.

UK company securities and overseas securities. The 
transactions figures relate to estimates from the returns 
and are shown here after deduction of the costs of 
transactions.

Loans and mortgages for house purchase is the same 
item that appears in table 1.7 and includes loans by 
insurance companies, pension funds and miscellaneous 
financial institutions.

Loans and mortgages: ofherincludes loans by pension 
funds (other than those of local authorities) to the parent 
organisation, loans by finance houses and other loans 
and mortgages.

Other financial assets comprises the purchase of unit 
trust units by insurance companies and investment trusts, 
net sales of property unit trust units to pension funds, 
deposits with the Crown Agents, up to the end of 1979 
when the Crown Agents became a public corporation, 
and, up to the end of 1981, time deposits by Trustee 
savings banks with the Central Trustee Savings Bank (all 
of which are inter-OFI sector transactions) short-term 
assets and other investment in the United Kingdom and, 
other investment and short-term assets overseas. 
Investments in antiques and works of art are included 
under this heading although they are not strictly financial 
assets.

Compilation and timeliness
These are described in the notes to the other tables 

that follow. Figures are entered in this table one month, 
two months or three months after the quarter to which 
they relate, according to when they become available. 
There are also more general notes on the derivation of 
OFI series for the financial instruments distinguished in 
the financial accounts under the notes to Section 1 (see 
page 17).

Further references
Summary figures for institutional investment are also 

given in table 7.3. A press notice on institutional 
investment is published by the Bank of England sixteen 
weeks after the quarter to which it relates.

The columns Deposits - NSB investment account 
AGQD, Deposits - Trustee savings banks AGQC, Other 
deposits AGQE and Official loans AAMP no longer 
appear in this table. However, the series are obtainable 
from the Databank.

Table 7,2
Turnover in securities by other financial 
institutions

This table shows turnover (i.e. purchases plus sales) 
for certain financial institutions of:

(a) UK ordinary shares
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other UK company securities 
overseas ordinary shares 
other overseas company securities 
government securities

and

Details are shown for pension funds, insurance 
companies (long-term and other funds), investment trusts 
and unit trusts.

The figures comprise listed securities only and may be 
compared with turnover figures for the Stock Exchange 
shown in table 12.3, but it should be noted that 
institutions may not transact all their shares on the Stock 
Exchange. Complete figures are available in the detail 
shown only from 1979.

Table 7.3
Institutional investment

The first part of the table brings together figures from 
various tables in Section 7 to analyse total institutional 
investment In British government securities, UK ordinary 
shares, overseas ordinary shares and land, property and 
ground rents between the various types of institution. The 
second part of the table analyses investment in all the 
main types of financial asset between the main groups of 
institutions.

The figures for other financial assets mc\u6e estimated 
costs incurred in share transactions.

These tables are published with commentary by press 
notice about two weeks before the figures appear in 
Financial Statistics.

finance house or other specialist credit grantor either 
directly or with a retailer (or motor trader) acting as 
agent, or it can be provided by a retailer from his own 
resources. It may also be provided by a check trader, 
where the purchaser uses a trading check drawn on his 
account with the check trader, though this is becoming 
less common.

With running account credit the purchaser normally 
receives his account monthly, when he has the option of 
not paying in full, with interest being charged on any 
balance left unpaid. A common arrangement Is for the 
purchaser to pay a fixed amount each month by standing 
order. The purchases may be made in a variety of ways. 
For example, the purchaser may sign the bill, or he may 
use some form of credit card (some of which are valid 
only for a particular retailer and some more generally), or 
he may use a special cheque book (normally valid only 
for a particular retailer). As for fixed sum credit, running 
account credit may be provided by the retailer from his 
own resources or t may be provided by a finance house 
or other specialist credit grantor. Credit from specialist 
grantors includes much of the credit obtained by cards 
for use only with particular retailers, because many 
retailers have arrangements for specialist grantors to run 
schemes for them or have set up separate subsidiary 
companies to operate their credit schemes.

Credit by means of cards issued by high street banks, 
such as Visa or Access, is not included in the figures for 
retailers or specialist consumer credit grantors. It is 
shown separately in table 7.5 and in table 9.3.

Tables 7.4 and 7.5
These tables give figures for businesses which are 

particularly concerned with provision of credit.
Table 7.4 gives details of assets and liabilities of non

bank credit companies (excluding retailers, insurance 
companies and building societies which are covered 
elsewhere).

Because of the interest in the data table 7.5 brings 
together the most recent figures available on credit 
extended under credit agreements but also in so doing 
the table straddles sector boundaries. As well as the 
institutions included in table 7.4 it includes for example 
figures for specialist credit grantors in the banks' sector 
and includes figures for retailers which are mainly in the 
industrial and commercial companies sector.

Figurers for consumer credit and other personal sector 
borrowing are also given in Table 9.3.

The figures in table 7.5 for Retailers’ and Other 
specialist credit grantors and for Loans and advances to 
Persons in Table 7.4 cover the two broad forms of credit:

(a) loans for fixed sums to finance particular 
purchases

(b) drawings on existing credit arrangements, 
often termed running accounts.

They do not include figures for accounts which should 
normally be settled in full by the end of the account 
period and where there are no formal credit 
arrangements.

With fixed sum credit the purchaser normally makes a 
down payment and pays the balance in equal 
instalments, which include interest charges, over an 
agreed period. Fixed sum credit can be provided by a

Table 7.4
Non-bank credit companies

This table was reconstructed in June 1983, using 
rebased data and, from the beginning of 1982, results 
from a new inquiry form.

The main business of non-bank credit companies is 
the direct financing of instalment credit sales of motor 
vehicles, caravans and household goods, mainly to 
persons; together with a substantial amount of farm, 
industrial and building plant and equipment to 
businesses. The main source of funds for these 
companies is from banks.

Coverage
The table covers finance houses and other credit 

companies (including check traders and money lenders). 
They exclude authorised institutions under the Banking 
Act 1987 (which form the banks sector), retailers, 
building societies and insurance companies. There is a 
major break at the end of 1981 when several companies 
joined the banks sector as licensed deposit takers under 
the terms of the Banking Act 1979.

Compilation
The figures are obtained from quarterly returns to the 

Central Statistical Office from a sample of non-banks 
sector credit companies, grossed up on the basis of a 
‘benchmark’ inquiry to all consumer credit grantors 
conducted in respect of 1976. A new quarterly inquiry 
covering the whole of the balance sheet was introduced 
at the beginning of 1982. The earlier figures are rather 
more approximate. In particular, data for some items
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were collected only annually and quarterly transactions 
for them have been interpolated.

The companies report levels (holdings and amounts 
outstanding) of their assets and liabilities. Net 
acquisitions are obtained by subtracting the level at the 
beginning of the quarter from the level at the end. When 
a company comes within or leaves the scope of this 
Inquiry, net acquisitions in the quarter are estimated on 
the basis of the new coverage. For this reason the 
figures for net acquisitions during the year do not always 
equal the differences in levels at the beginning and end 
of year.

Scope of headings
Certificates of deposit includes promissory notes and 

any other negotiable paper issued by the banks sector.
Other current assets includes items in suspense and 

debit items in course of collection.
Loans and advances covers all types of lending, 

including instalment credit and checks, vouchers, etc. 
issued but not redeemed. It includes loans to 
unconsolidated subsidiary and associate companies of 
contributors to the inquiry. From end-1985, it excludes 
unearned credit charges (which comprise the interest 
payments due over the remaining loan period for fixed 
sum agreements at fixed rates of interest) and includes 
amounts outstanding on finance leases. Prior to this 
amounts outstanding on leases were included In Physical 
assets in U K .

Block discounts is comprised of finance provided to 
retailers (and occasionally smaller amounts to other 
financial institutions) against the security of credit 
agreements initiated by them.

Persons includes unincorporated businesses.
Company and government securities includes 

investment in other companies in the contributor’s group.
Commercial bills includes promissory notes and other 

negotiable paper.
Borrowing includes borrowing from other companies in 

the contributor’s group.
Short-term borrowing from banks sector excludes 

deposits.
Longer-term borrowing from banks sector includes 

deposits. (From the beginning of 1982, credit companies 
remaining outside the banks sector were no longer 
permitted to accept deposits as defined in the Banking 
Act 1979).

Other current liabilities includes items in suspense and 
credit items in course of transmission.

Capital issues includes preference shares and 
debentures as well as ordinary shares.

Use in the financial accounts
The figures for loans and advances are included in the 

financial accounts under other lending by financial 
institutions, block discounts being treated as lending to 
industrial and commercial companies. The figures for 
other current assets and other financial assets are 
treated as lending to industrial and commercial 
companies under miscellaneous domestic instruments. 
The figures for UK company and government securities 
are considered to relate mainly to company securities 
and are included under UK company securities. 
Investment in physical assets overseas is regarded in the

national accounts as financial investment and the figures 
are included under miscellaneous overseas instruments.

Other borrowing from UK Is treated in the financial 
accounts as coming from industrial and commercial 
companies and persons equally; up to end-1981 the 
figures are included under deposits with other financial 
institutions', from 1982 they are included under 
miscellaneous domestic instruments. Other borrowing 
from overseas is included under deposits with other 
financial institutions up to end-1981 and, from 1982, 
under overseas direct and other investment in UK. Other 
current liabilities is treated as due equally to industrial 
and commercial companies and persons and is included 
under miscellaneous domestic instruments.

Timeliness
The figures are normally published about three months 

after the quarter to which they relate.

Further references
Statistics of assets and liabilities are also published in 

Business Monitor SDQ7 - Assets and liabilities of finance 
houses and other credit companies, and annual figures 
are given in the Annual Abstract of Statistics (table 
17.15).

Table 7.5
Credit business 

Coverage
Table 7.5 covers amounts outstanding and changes in 

amounts outstanding to finance houses and other 
specialist credit grantors, building societies in respect of 
unsecured loans to persons permitted under the terms of 
the Building Societies Act 1986 and on bank credit cards 
on a monthly basis. Also shown, on a quarterly basis, are 
figures for loans by banks on personal accounts, by 
insurance companies to individuals, excluding loans for 
house purchase and bridging finance and by retailers 
The format of the table was revised slightly in the 
October 1991 issue of Financial Statistics. The table 
highlights amounts outstanding and changes in amounts 
outstanding rather than new credit advanced because a 
high proportion of credit advances in certain types of 
agreements is repaid within the month. This reflects the 
use of such agreements as a method of payment rather 
than a way of obtaining credit. The figures in table 7.5 
differ from the figures in table 7.4 in that they include 
finance houses recognised or confirmed as banks before 
the implementation of the Banking Act 1979, finance 
houses and credit companies which became licensed 
deposit takers under the Act and members of the 
monetary sector from first quarter 1982, and 
unincorporated credit grantors.
Strictly, figures for retailers should not appear in Section 
7 as they are not financial institutions, but they are 
included here since they are added to the figures for 
specialist credit grantors’ to give a quarterly indicator of 
non-bank credit business.

The retailers’ credit data are now classified according 
to the 1980 Standard Industrial Classification. The figures 
for retailers cover only retailers in food, clothing and 
household goods, mixed retail businesses (other than co
operative societies) and general mail order houses. They
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relate to hire purchase and all other forms of credit 
offered by retailers where the immediate finance comes 
from the retailers themselves, including agreements 
which are block discounted with finance houses. Credit 
advanced by retailers in the form of trading checks 
exchangeable only in their shops is included under 
retailers, but credit advanced by check traders as such 
is excluded from retailers and included under finance 
houses. The figures do not include accounts which 
should normally be settled in full by the end of the 
account period and where there is no formal credit 
arrangement.

Compilation
The figures in respect of finance houses and other 

specialist credit grantors, are based on monthly returns 
to the Central Statistical Office from a voluntary panel of 
credit grantors, comprising virtually all the largest and a 
proportion of the smaller grantors, grossed-up on the 
basis of a benchmark inquiry for 1976.

The figures for retailers are based on quarterly returns 
to the Central Statistical Office, Newport, as part of their 
retail sales inquiry to a voluntary panel of retailers, which 
is treated as a stratified sample and grossed-up on the 
basis of the 1986 retailing inquiry.
The unadjusted monthly figures relate to periods of either 
four or five weeks.

Scope of headings
Amounts outstanding and changes in amounts 

outstanding cover, where appropriate, both fixed sum 
and running account credit. Charges for credit are 
excluded throughout putting the table on the same basis, 
as far as charges are concerned, as table 7.4 and the 
financial accounts in Section 1.

Use in the financial accounts
The change in amounts outstanding to retailers is 

included in the financial accounts as lending by the 
industrial and commercial companies and, where 
appropriate, the public sector. This lending to persons is 
included in the consumer credit aggregate in table 9.3 as 
consumer credit: retailers.

Timeliness
The figures in table 7.5 appear two months after the 

period to which they relate.

Further references
The latest month’s summary figures, seasonally 

adjusted, are published in a CSO press notice about five 
weeks from the end of the month. They appear shortly 
after in a CSO Bulletin. About seven weeks after the 
month to which they relate, summary statistics appear in 
Economic Trends and in the Monthly Digest of Statistics. 
A longer run of annua! figures is given in the Annual 
Abstract of Statistics (table 17.14).

The rebasing of the figures for finance houses and 
other consumer credit grantors was described in Trade 
and Industry for 13 April 1979). The results of the 
benchmark inquiry to consumer credit grantors for 1976 
were given in Trade and Industry, 30 June 1978 and, in 
more detail, in Business Monitor M13.

Table 7.6
Property unit trusts

The statistics aim to cover all UK property unit trusts 
authorised under the terms of the Financial Services Act 
1986. The trusts are not allowed to promote themselves 
to the general public and participation is generally 
restricted to pension funds and charities. Property unit 
trusts invest predominantly in freehold or leasehold 
commercial property, yet may hold a small proportion of 
their investments in the securities of property companies. 
Their assets are held in the name of a trustee and are 
managed on a cooperative basis by a separate 
committee (elected by the unit holders) or company. 
Some investment is financed by long-term borrowing.

Data of transactions by the trusts have been collected 
since March 1966 and data of levels of assets and 
liabilities from end-1979. All these data have been 
published in Financial Statistics.

Scope of headings
Property investments are recorded as acquired or sold 

on the day of completion. They are valued on a cash 
basis and include the commission, etc, charges. Holdings 
of property are at book values.

Compilation and timeliness
Returns are collected and aggregated by the Bank of 

England; there are some 30 property unit trusts and most 
provide returns. The figures do not include estimates for 
any non-respondents. The latest quarter’s figures are 
published about three months after the end of the quarter 
to which they refer, and end-year figures up to six 
months after the end of the year.

Further references
The Bank of England Statistical Abstract, /Vo.2 gives 

a run of figures for March 1966 to 1974 in table 19. The 
Annual Abstract of Statistics (table 17.16, 1985) 
publishes figures of end-year holdings of investments in 
property, other assets, short-term assets (net), and 
longer-term borrowing.

Tables 7.7 and 7.8
Unit trusts

The statistics cover unit trusts authorised by the 
Securities and Investments Board under the terms of the 
Financial Services Act 1986. They do not cover other 
unitised collective investment schemes (e.g. unauthorised 
funds run on unit trust lines by, for example, securities 
firms and merchant banks, designed primarily for the use 
of institutional investors) or those based offshore 
(Channel Islands, Bermuda etc.) or in other EEC Member
States.

The majority of unit trusts are required to invest at 
least 90% of their assets in transferable securities traded 
on a recognised stock exchange. However Money Market 
trusts are permitted to invest wholly in cash or near cash 
instruments (building society and bank deposits, treasury
bills, short dated gilts etc.).

They are set up under trust deeds, the trustee usually 
being a bank or insurance company. The trusts are 
administered not by the trustees but by independent 
management companies. Units representing a share in
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the trust’s assets can be bought by the public from the 
managers or resold to them at any time. In the financial 
accounts, all transactions In unit trusts units, other than 
those identified on the returns of other OFIs, are 
assumed to be with the personal sector.

Table 7.7
This table shows the total value of units sold by the 

managers of unit trusts to both institutions and persons, 
the value of units repurchased by managers, the total 
value of funds managed by the industry and the total 
number of unit holdings in existence at the month end.

Compilation
The statistics are compiled by the Unit Trust 

Association and cover unit trusts authorised by the 
Securities and Investment Board (1,404 trusts operated 
by 160 management companies In February 1991).

Scope of headings
Number of unit holdings excludes unit trusts linked to 

insurance policies.
Total funds are at market value plus the cost of buying 

securities for the portfolio, the managers’ initial charge 
and accumulated undistributed dividends.

Timeliness
The latest month’s figures are released to the press by 

the Unit Trust Association about the 18th to 20th of the 
following month. The figures are published in Financial 
Statistics about two months after the month to which they 
relate.

Table 7.8
This table shows the amounts outstanding of liabilities 

and assets at the end of the calendar year and quarterly 
transactions in those liabilities and assets. The assets 
and liabilities are analysed by type, with a maturity 
analysis of British government securities.

Valuation
Holdings of listed securities at end-year are valued at 

market prices. Unlisted securities are at estimated 
current values and bills at maturity values. The figures 
include the investment currency premium where 
appropriate, up to third quarter 1979. Total investments 
overseas at end-1990 were £14,453 million; comprising 
USA and Canada £3,934 million, EC countries £5,288 
million, Australia and Far East £4,373 million and other 
countries £858 million.

Compilation
Since the first quarter of 1975 returns have been 

collected and aggregated by the Bank of England (before 
then they were collected and aggregated by the Unit 
Trust Association). Returns are received from about 
1,130 of the 1,404 authorised trusts accounting for some 
80% of total assets. As from end-1979 the statistics are 
grossed-up to cover all unit trusts authorised by the 
Securities and Investment Board.

Scope of headings: as for table 7 .9 .
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Timeiiness
The latest quarter’s figures are published about three 

months after the end of the quarter to which they refer 
and end-year figures up to six months after the end of 
the year.

Further references
The Bank of England Statistical Abstracts, Numbers 1 

and2 give a run of the figures of the years 1960 to 1974, 
and the Annual Abstract of Statistics publishes figures 
(table 17.16), for the latest thirteen years, of end-year 
holdings of investment instruments at market valuation.

Table 7.9
Investment trusts

Investment trust companies acquire financial assets 
with money subscribed by shareholders or borrowed in 
the form of loan capital. They are not trusts in the legal 
sense, but are limited companies with two special 
characteristics: their assets consist of securities (mainly 
ordinary shares), and they are debarred by their articles 
of association from distributing capital gains as dividends. 
Shares of investment trusts are traded on the Stock 
Exchange and increasingly can be bought direct from the 
company.

The table covers investment trusts recognised as such 
by the Inland Revenue for tax purposes and some 
unrecognised trusts - about 220 trusts in all. Returns are 
received from about 100 companies accounting for some 
70% of the total assets of these trusts. Statistics are not 
sought from a few trusts whose assets are less than £5 
million (£1 million before 1982).

Compilation
Quarterly and annual returns are collected and 

aggregated by the Bank of England. As from end-1979 
the statistics are grossed up to include estimates for non
respondents.

Valuation
Holdings of listed securities at end-year are valued at 

market prices. Unlisted securities are at estimated 
current values and bills and mortgages at maturity 
values. The figures include the investment currency 
premium where appropriate, up to third quarter 1979. 
Total investments overseas at end-1990 were £7,911 
million comprising USA £2,815 million, Canada £104 
million, EC countries £1,934 million, Japan £1,369
million, Australia £166 million and other countries £1,523 
million.

Scope of headings
Short-term assets and liabilities. The quarterly 

transactions figures exclude contingent assets and 
liabilities such as claims on, or sums due to, the Inland 
Revenue and the liability for accrued loan interest and for 
dividends proposed but not yet paid. They include (in 
other short-term assets) sums due from securities firms 
on account of securities sold and still awaiting settlement.

Other short-term liabilities includes sums due to 
securities firms on account of securities purchased and 
still awaiting settlement.
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Resorves, provisions etc. includes dividends payable, 
and minority interest in subsidiaries.

Timeliness
The latest quarter’s figures are published about three 

months after the end of the quarter to which they refer, 
and end-year figures up to six months after the end of 
the year.

Further references
The Bank of England Statistical Abstracts provide a 

run of figures for the years 1960 to 1974, and an article 
showing integrated balance sheet and flow statistics for 
investment trust companies appeared in the June 1975 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin. The Annual Abstract 
of Statistics publishes figures in table 17.16, for the latest 
thirteen years, of end-year holdings of investments at 
market value.

Table 7.10
Insurance companies

Insurance companies are active in both life assurance 
and non-life (general) insurance and they also operate 
the pension schemes of many other employers. All 
insurance business consists of a spreading of risks. 
Long-term business (mainly life assurance) has an 
emphasis on the spreading of risks over time, whereas 
general business is mainly concerned with the spreading 
of risks between persons and organisations.

Within long-term business the major part consists of 
life assurance, a large part of which offers a channel for 
saving that is not greatly different from the business of a 
unit trust. Long-term business also includes permanent 
health insurance and capital redemption business.

Estimates for Lloyds undenA/riters are not included 
here but are covered in the personal sector.

Coverage
The figures cover insurers and collecting friendly 

societies operating in the United Kingdom and include 
the pension schemes they operate on behalf of other 
companies. The Association of British Insurers (ABI) 
supplies the CSO with information relating to its 
members. The CSO also collects information from a 
sample of insurance companies who are not members of 
the ABI. This information, combined with that supplied by 
the ABI, allows representative estimates of investments 
and holdings of financial assets to be made for all 
insurers operating in the United Kingdom.

Response to the annual balance sheet inquiry is very 
high, particularly in respect of long-term funds. The 
holdings of data are therefore very reliable. The samples 
for the inquiry into net acquisitions are slightly tower and 
the figures not quite so reliable.

The returns prior to 1984 (in respect of holdings), or 
1985 (in respect of transactions), included assets held in 
respect of money remitted by overseas branches and 
subsidiaries, but they excluded direct investment by a UK 
company in its overseas branches or subsidiaries as well 
as financial assets held by, or on behalf of, these 
branches and subsidiaries (even if held in the United 
Kingdom). From 1984 (holdings) or 1985 (transactions) 
the coverage has been extended to include UK holding
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companies where insurance is the main activity of the 
holding company and its subsidiaries. Additionally where 
a UK company cannot separate figures for an overseas 
branch, such a branch is now covered by the figures.

Compilation
The figures of net acquisitions of assets are derived 

from a quarterly inquiry to insurance companies, and 
those of holdings are derived from an annual inquiry.

Valuation
Holdings of assets for calendar year-ends are 

generally at market values. Some items such as 
mortgages and loans and part of other investments, are 
at book values.

Net acquisitions are quoted at cash values. From 1985 
the annual totals for total net assets are shown on an 
accruals basis.

Scope of headings
British government securities: index-linked were 

introduced in March 1981, but were sold only to pension 
funds and long-term funds of insurance companies prior 
to 1982.

Due to problems of disclosure within the individual 
types of British government securities from 1984 
onwards, the following has been done to the figures for 
other than long-term funds:

(a) For the third quarter of 1984, securities over 
fifteen years and undated have been included 
with securities over five and up to fifteen 
years.

(b) From the fourth quarter of 1984 to the fourth 
quarter of 1986 and in the third quarter of 
1987, index-linked gilts have been included 
with securities over fifteen years and undated.

(c) For the year 1984, both index-linked gilts and 
securities over fifteen years and undated have 
been included with securities over five and up 
to fifteen years.

(d) For the years 1985 and 1986, index-linked 
gilts have been included with securities over 
fifteen years and undated.

UK company securities: ordinary shares. For other 
than long-term funds these include unit trust units.

Policy and other loans to persons. Prior to 1985 
excludes other loans to individuals.

Agents’ and reinsurance balances are included in the 
annual but not the quarterly figures. The series consists 
of net agents’ reinsurance and coinsurance balances. 
Prior to 1984. no deductions were made for amounts due 
to reinsurance companies and agents.

Other assets includes overseas loans and mortgages 
and property, UK public corporations securities and, from 
the first quarter of 1985 direct investment, less the net 
increase in balances of overseas branches where their 
transactions are included in other columns. From the first 
quarter of 1986 British government securities 
denominated in foreign currency are included.

Debtors net of creditors are included in the annual but 
not the quarterly figures. Tlie series consists of net 
outstanding and accrued interest, dividends and rents, 
other debtors, provision for taxation and recommended
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dividends and other creditors. Prior to 1984 the series 
included only amounts receivable from Inland Revenue, 
outstanding interest, dividends and rents and other 
debtors. Because of the definitional change data on net 
acquisitions for 1984 are not available.

Timeliness
The quarterly net acquisitions figures in table 7.10 are 

normally published in Financial Statistics about four 
months after the quarter to which they relate. The annual 
holdings figures are normally first published towards the 
end of the year following that to which they relate.

Further references
A more detailed breakdown of these statistics appears 

in Business Monitor MQ5 - Insurance companies* and 
pension funds’ investment, also published about four 
months after the quarter to which the statistics relate. A 
quarterly article describing the statistics more fully 
appears in a CSO Bulletin usually about three months 
after the relevant quarter.

The annual holdings figures also appear in the third 
quarter issue of Business Monitor MQ5 each year (the 
second quarter issue in 1984 and earlier years). For 
1984 and later years, this monitor also gives information 
on liabilities. The Annual Abstract of Statistics, table 
17.18 (1986) also gives these holdings statistics from 
1974 onwards.

Tables 7.11 and 7.12
Pension funds

The estimates in table 7.11 and 7.12 cover the 
financial assets of the self-administered funded schemes 
of local authorities, the rest of the public sector and the 
private sector. These funds are generally run by boards 
of trustees on behalf of their members. Self-administered 
pension funds are distinct from those insured with 
insurance companies, which are included in the figures 
for insurance company long-term business in table 7.10. 
The main pension arrangements In the central 
government sector are unfunded and therefore excluded 
from these tables.

Funds of newly privatised companies are included with 
private sector funds from the beginning of the quarter 
following the date of their privatisation.

Compilation
The figures for net acquisitions of assets are derived 

from a quarterly inquiry and those for holdings from an 
annual Inquiry. These inquiries are conducted by the 
Central Statistical Office. All local authority and other 
public sector funds are asked to complete returns and 
estimates are made in respect of any funds that fail to 
respond. A sample of self-administered pension schemes 
of the private sector are asked to respond. The statistics 
provided by these contributors are grossed-up on the 
basis of a survey conducted by the Governments 
Actuary’s Department relating to the population of the 
private sector, self-administered pension funds at the end 
of 1987.

Where funds report holdings of assets at a date other 
than 31 December, adjustments are made to the data to 
make them correspond approximately to the end of the

calendar year.
The series are reliable but subject to coverage, 

sampling and reporting errors.

Coverage - local authority funds
The figures relate to pension funds covering the 

employees of all local authorities in the United Kingdom 
including those funds covering employees of the 
abolished Metropolitan councils and the bodies 
succeeding them. From the second quarter of 1974 they 
exclude the funds of water, sewerage and drainage 
boards in England and Wales and trust ports whose 
parent bodies were transferred from the local authority 
sector to the public corporations sector, and the funds of 
local health services, whose parent bodies became part 
of the central government sector. Pension funds for the 
police and fire services are not supported by funds and 
are therefore excluded from the statistics.

Coverage - other public sector funds
The figures relate mainly to schemes covering 

employees of the nationalised industries. They include 
some funds which were set up before nationalisation and 
certain other funds.

From the fourth quarter of 1967 the estimates include 
the funded schemes of nationalised steel companies and 
from the fourth quarter of 1969 the Post Office Staff 
Superannuation Scheme. From the second quarter of 
1974 they include the funds of water, sewerage and 
drainage boards in England and Wales, and trust ports 
whose parent bodies were transferred on 1 April 1974 
from the local authorities sector to public corporations 
sector.

Coverage - private sector funds
The figures relate to self-administered pension funds 

of the private sector, including those of companies and 
non-profit-making bodies. Funds are wholly included in 
the long term funds of insurance companies are not 
included. Respondents to the inquiry are asked to make 
returns covering financial assets of funds whose 
investment policy is managed from within the United 
Kingdom, including the funds of any subsidiary 
companies. Some undertakings operate two or more 
pension funds; such undertakings have been treated as 
single funds.

Valuation
The annual inquiries into holdings ask funds to report 

their assets and liabilities wherever possible at current 
market value and, failing that, at written down book 
value. Transactions in assets and liabilities are reported 
at cash values in the quarterly inquiries. The annual 
figures for total net assets for 1985 onwards are shown 
on an accruals basis.

Scope of headings
Short-term assets are those maturing within one year 

of originating date, including loans repayable at lenders' 
option within one year of the date of issue, and money at 
call and short notice. They include cash in hand and 
deposits with the monetary sector, certificates of deposit 
issued by the monetary sector, UK Treasury bills, local
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authority bills and temporary money, short-term assets 
with OFIs, other short-term assets held in both the United 
Kingdom and overseas and balances due to or from 
stockbrokers. In table 7.12 short-term assets are shown 
net of short-term borrowing.

The treatment of balances with stockbrokers in table
7.11 is as follows: as regards holdings, balances 
receivable from stockbrokers at the end of the year are 
included in othershort’term assets and balances payable 
to stockbrokers are included in short-term liabilities. 
Transactions in amounts due to or from stockbrokers, 
however, are only collected net and so net acquisitions 
are shown under other short-term assets.

Long-term borrowing: net acquisitions relate to gross 
borrowing less repayments in the quarter.

British government securities: index-linked were 
introduced in March 1981, but were sold only to pension 
funds and long-term funds of insurance companies prior 
to 1982.

UK local authority securities include loans by local 
authority pension funds to their parent authorities.

Other investments include items such as commodities, 
gold coins, works of art, insurance policies, unauthorised 
unit trusts, and investments in overseas property. From 
the first quarter of 1986 British government securities 
denominated in foreign currency are included.

Debtors net of creditors are included in the annual but 
not the quarterly figures. The series consists of income

accrued on investments, amounts receivable from Inland 
Revenue, other debtors, pensions due but not paid and 
other creditors.

Timeliness
The quarterly figures in tables 7.11 and 7.12 are 

published in Financial Statistics about four months after 
the end-quarter to which they relate. The annual holdings 
figures are normally first published towards the end of 
the year following that to which they relate.

Further references
A more detailed breakdown of pension fund statistics 

appears in Business Monitor MQ5 - Insurance 
companies' and pension funds’ investment, which is also 
published about four months after the end-quarter to 
which the statistics relate. A quarterly article describing 
these statistics more fully appears in a CSO Bulletin, 
about three months after the relevant quarter. The 
Annual Abstract of Statistics provides a long series of 
assets holdings statistics of both private and public 
sector pension funds (table 17.17, 1990). An article by 
P.J. Stibbard in the November 1979 issue of Statistical 
News - ‘Pension funds and national accounting’ - 
describes the treatment of pension funds in the national 
accounts. Supplementary table S11 gives a breakdown 
of the figures in table 7.12 by size of fund.
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Section 8 
Companies

The company sector comprises privately controlled 
corporate enterprises organised for profit and resident in 
the United Kingdom. The term company is used for 
convenience rather than in a precise sense; the sector 
mainly comprises companies registered under the 
Companies Acts, but it includes other bodies with 
corporate status, Le. a legal personality distinct from the 
persons that own it.

Industrial and commercial (I and C) companies are 
distinguished from financial companies and institutions 
because their economic functions are quite different. The 
income of financial companies and institutions is derived 
mainly from interest and dividends on, or transactions in, 
financial assets. The income of 1 and C companies is 
mainly derived from manufacturing the provision of non- 
financial services and other trading activities in the 
United Kingdom. Although the title given to this section 
is 'Companies' it mainly relates to industrial and 
commercial companies. However, table 8.5 relates to 
financial companies and institutions, while table 8.7 
relates to securities issued by all types of company, and 
table 8.9 covers insolvencies for all companies and 
individuals. Financial transactions of financial companies 
and institutions are dealt with in Sections 6 and 7.

Industrial and commercial companies
In the national accounts, the term ‘companies’ 

generally means those bodies which have: (a) corporate 
status (b) private control and (c) a policy of making 
profits. The I and C companies sector broadly comprises 
all corporate bodies, including property companies, other 
than public corporations, banks and other financial 
institutions (see below). The sector includes certain 
government controlled companies and companies in 
which the National Enterprise Board has an interest, co
operative societies and private non-profit making bodies 
serving companies - whether or not they are incorporated 
- such as trade associations. The economic activities of 
the self-employed (unincorporated businesses) are 
excluded and are classified to the personal sector. Also 
included In the financial accounts are some minor 
financial institutions which fall by default into the I and C 
company sector because the necessary figures are not 
available to include them with financial companies and 
institutions.

The coverage of the I and C company sector has 
changed substantially over time because of 
nationalisation and privatisation, transfers of activities 
from the central government to private companies, 
liquidations, additions of newly incorporated companies 
and acquisitions of unincorporated businesses.

Financial companies and institutions
Financial companies and institutions are those

companies and other corporate bodies which obtain and
redistribute funds as their main activity. They are divided 
Into:

(a) banks and building societies (see also Section 6)
(b) other financial institutions (see Section 7)

In practice, the figures for other financial institutions 
relate to the main groups of financial institutions for 
which there is substantial direct statistical reporting.

particularly of their financial transactions. The remaining, 
less important, financial institutions are at present 
included by default in the figures for I and C companies. 
The system of direct reporting is being extended to them 
as resources permit so that they can eventually be 
included in the correct sector.

In the financial accounts the financial transactions of 
life assurance companies and pension funds are Included 
with those of financial institutions. However, the 
appropriation accounts of life assurance and pension 
funds are included in the current account of the personal 
sector (see Section 9).

Layout
For the I and C companies sector, the appropriation 

account is shown in table 8.1, their sources and uses of 
capital funds are shown in table 8.2. An analysis of their 
net borrowing requirement is shown in table 8.3, and a 
selection of their holdings of liquid assets and liabilities 
is shown in table 8.4. A further table, 8.6, shows 
estimated holdings of selected current assets and 
liabilities by large I and C companies. The appropriation 
account of the financial companies and institutions sector 
is shown in table 8.5, with transactions in UK company 
securities given in table 8.7. Acquisitions and mergers of 
industrial and commercial companies within the United 
Kingdom are shown in table 8.8 and insolvencies in 
England and Wales are shown in table 8.9.

The tables are compiled by the Central Statistical 
Office. Tables 8.1 to 8.5 and 8.7 are part of, or are 
derived from, the national and financial accounts and 
therefore relate in principle to all economic units 
classified to the relevant sectors. Table 8.6 covers large 
I and C companies i.e. those with capital employed of 
more than £21.8 million at end 1982. Table 8.8 covers all 
I and C companies. Table 8.9 covers only England and 
Wales.

Some national accounts concepts
There are a number of features of the accounts of the 

companies and financial institutions sector which need to 
be borne in mind:

1. Geographical coverage.
The sector includes only units resident in the United 

Kingdom, so that it excludes the overseas branches and 
subsidiaries of UK companies but includes UK branches 
and subsidiaries of overseas companies. Under this 
definition, transactions between UK parent companies 
and their overseas branches and subsidiaries are not 
netted out by consolidation, but are included as 
transactions with the overseas sector, as are transactions 
of UK branches and subsidiaries of overseas parent 
companies with those parents. This affects the content of 
all the accounts.

In the appropriation account gross trading profits 
therefore comprise the profits arising in the United 
Kingdom of UK companies and of UK branches and 
subsidiaries of overseas parent companies. The profits 
(remitted and unremitted) of the overseas branches and 
subsidiaries of UK parent companies, and earnings of 
other overseas affiliates, are classified as income from 
abroad. Profits of the UK branches and subsidiaries of

77

,1.



Companies

overseas parent companies, and earnings of other UK 
affiliates, are included in profits due abroad. Both these 
items affect the financial surplus or deficit, the balance 
on the capital account.

The capital account relates only to companies and 
branches resident in the UK and excludes capital 
expenditure by branches and subsidiaries overseas. The 
unremitted profits of those branches and subsidiaries 
represent an increase in the parent company’s stake in 
them and are included in the financial accounts as part 
of direct and other investment abroad. Similarly, the 
unremitted profits of UK branches and subsidiaries of 
overseas parents are included in the financial accounts 
as part of overseas direct and other investment in the 
UK. This treatment is discussed in an article Financial 
balances of industrial and commercial companies. 
Economic Trends, December 1978.

2. Capital consumption.
In the national accounts, consumption of fixed assets 

(depreciation) is measured as the current replacement 
cost of the assets consumed. This means that the 
depreciation charges presently shown in individual 
company accounts are unsuitable for the national 
accounts because they are based on the book value of 
assets and are usually measured at historic cost. In the 
national accounts gross trading profits of I and C 
companies are struck before providing for depreciation, 
but estimates of total Income and saving • after providing 
for depreciation at replacement cost - are published 
annually in United Kingdom National Accounts. See also 
page 6.

3. Stock appreciation.
That part of profits, measured on the historic cost 

convention, which is due to the effect of price changes 
between the dates of purchase and use of stocks i.e. 
stock appreciation, should, in principle, be excluded from 
gross trading profits. This adjustment is required because 
appreciation in the value of stocks held by a business is 
not regarded as the result of economic activity. Stock 
appreciation should be included on the expenditure side 
of the operating (or production) account as an addition to 
expenditure recorded at historic cost; so that profit is the 
balance between revenue and current costs, where 
current costs reflect historic costs plus stock 
appreciation.

In practice, the balance taken into the appropriation 
account is shown before deducting stock appreciation; 
but supplementary figures of gross trading profits after 
deducting stock appreciation are also published and 
stock appreciation is deducted as a separate item in the 
calculation of gross domestic product. The undistributed 
income (or saving) of companies and financial institutions 
is similarly shown in the appropriation accounts before 
providing for depreciation and stock appreciation. 
Estimates of saving net of stock appreciation and net of 
both stock appreciation and capital consumption are 
published annually in United Kingdom National Accounts. 
The concepts of capital consumption and stock 
appreciation are discussed at greater length on page 6.

4. Gross trading profits of financial companies and
institutions.
For financial companies and institutions, gross trading 

profits as defined in the national accounts are negative.

This is because gross trading profits are struck before 
taking into account receipts and payments of interest 
(which are treated as transfer payments in the national 
accounts). Gross trading profits therefore exclude the 
larger part of the revenue of financial companies and 
institutions, which is earned by lending money at a higher 
rate of interest than the rate at which they borrow It. 
They are defined as receipts from sales less wages and 
salaries and purchases of goods and services from other 
enterprises. The only 'sales’ that banks make, for 
example, are their charges and commissions, which are 
small compared with their wages and other operating 
expenses. The gross trading profits of financial 
companies and institutions, in a national accounts sense, 
plus their net interest receipts equals profits in the more 
ordinary sense of the term.

Tables 8.1 to 8.5
In these tables only transactions crossing sector 

boundaries are recorded. In tables 8.1,6.2, 8.3 and 8.5 
transactions between companies or institutions within the 
sector are netted out and not included in the accounts, 
and table 8.4 relates only to claims on other sectors.

Timeliness
Most of the statistics for a particular quarter first 

appear in the issue of Financial Statistics published four 
months after the end of that quarter, e.g. the data for the 
second calendar quarter appear in the October issue, 
published at the end of October. Figures for some 
financial Hems in tables 8.2, 8.3 and 8.4 appear a month 
earlier.

Data sources
Data sources for the current and capital accounts of I 

and C companies are broadly the same as those for the 
current and capHal accounts of financial companies and 
instHutions. For I and C companies, annual gross trading 
profHs are estimated from assessments to corporation 
tax. Quarterly figures, and figures for the most recent 
years, are based on a direct survey of companies, from 
which the second quarter of 1991 is statutory and run by 
the CSO. Gross domestic fixed capital formation and 
changes in stocks are estimated by direct surveys. Tax 
payments are derived from Inland Revenue data, and 
interest flows are mainly estimated by applying average 
interest rates to levels of borrowing and lending period by 
period. The main difference in the equivalent data for 
financial companies and instHutions is that their gross 
trading profHs are estimated for each group of instHutions 
separately from a variety of sources Including, for 
example, published annual accounts, information 
provided by relevant trade associations or by direct
surveys.

The sources for the financial account of I and C 
companies, on the other hand, are completely different 
to those for the financial account of financial companies 
and institutions. The latter is compiled almost entirely 
from direct returns provided by the companies and 
institutions. There are hardly any direct returns of this 
kind for I and C companies. Certain short-term Hems for 
them are obtained from a survey of financial assets and 
liabilities, formerly the company liquidHy survey 
addressed to large companies.There are also direct
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returns for instalment credit granted by retailers and for 
certain overseas transactions (mainly direct investment). 
The remaining data for the financial account of I and C 
companies are estimated by a variety of indirect 
methods, mainly using counterpart information.

Other publications
The seasonally adjusted quarterly appropriation, 

capital and financial accounts of I and C companies are 
published with commentary by press notice about three 
months after the end of the quarter.

Each issue of Economic Trends contains the 
seasonally adjusted appropriation, capital and, in 
summary form, financial accounts of I and C companies. 
The quarterly National accounts article in the January. 
April, July and October issues of Economic Trends 
contains the unadjusted and seasonally adjusted 
appropriation accounts for I and C companies, financial 
companies and institutions and the consolidated 
companies and financial institutions sector, with 
commentary.

Annual series of the appropriation, capital and financial 
accounts for each sector appear annually in United 
Kingdom National Accounts • the ‘Blue Book.'

The Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin contains 
quarterly figures of financial transactions presented in a 
form which gives the total financing requirement and the 
ways in which it is met, e.g. from capital issues, bank 
borrowing and changes in liquid assets. The Bank’s 
accounts provide seasonally adjusted figures for I and C 
companies, for building societies, for banks and for other 
financial institutions, and there is an article on the annual 
figures in the February Bulletin.

Business Monitor MA3 contains an analysis by the 
Central Statistical Office of the published accounts of a 
sample of all I and C company groups and independent 
companies registered in Great Britain. This has a 
different coverage to the I and C company sector in the 
national accounts as the analysis is based on the 
published accounts of UK companies which include not 
only UK activity but also activity by these companies’ 
overseas subsidiaries and branches. It is therefore not 
possible to provide a breakdown in this analysis between 
UK and overseas activities. The results published in MA3 
are grossed-up to produce estimates for all I and C 
companies of their balance sheet, their income and 
appropriation accounts, their sources and uses of funds 
and main accounting ratios analysed by broad industry 
group for various types of company. This series started 
with estimates for 1977 in the 12th issue of the MA3 and 
the latest monitor, the 22nd issue, published in 1991 
covers 1988 and 1989 with provisional estimates for 
1990. Prior to the 12th issue, figures published in the 
monitor covered only a panel of large companies.

An associated publication. Business Monitor M03 
"Finance of Top Companies", has been published twice 
yearly with up-to-date results for large companies in the 
sample. The last issue of M03 appeared in May 1991, 
again with results for 1988, 1989 and 1990; a 
commentary was published in Business Bulletin 35/91.

Following an internal review, CSO directors have 
decided that the MA3 and M03 series should be 
suspended after 1991. An announcement about the 
future availability of data based on published company
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accounts will be made in due course.
Economic Trends for November 1974 contained an 

article entitled 'Estimating companies’ rate of return on 
capital employed, which described a number of different 
measures of rates of return. The article included tables 
showing the rates of return derived from the national 
accounts data and from published company accounts. 
The 'Rate of return’ article was updated annually in 
British business; until September 1988. The latest 
estimates (for 1989) were published in Business Bulletin 
79/90 in October 1990. In recent years the article has 
covered national accounts data only. Rates of return 
derived from companies’ published accounts are 
published in Business Monitors MA3 and M03. The Bank 
of England publishes estimated rates of return for various 
broad industry groups, based on a proprietary analysis of 
companies' accounts. The latest article in the annual 
series ‘Finance of large companies’ appeared in the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, November 1990. The 
differences between rates of return calculated from 
published accounts and from national accounts are 
discussed in an article in Economic Trends, August 1984.

Table 8.1
Appropriation account of industrial and 
commercial companies

Scope of headings and methodology
Gross trading profits relate to profits arising in the 

United Kingdom before providing for depreciation and 
stock appreciation and before deduction of tax and 
interest payments. The estimates seek to measure the 
actual profits accrued during the period. Estimates are 
based upon tax data and, for the latest periods, quarterly 
returns from a sample of companies.

Gross trading profits are the largest component but the 
estimates have been among the weakest, especially for 
the most recent periods. The firmest estimates come 
from the Inland Revenue’s assessment to corporation 
tax. The delays in agreeing final assessments with 
taxpayers means that these estimates are subject to 
revision, and must be projected forward two to four years 
by the use of a sample survey of company groups. 
These quarterly data have also been subject to 
deficiencies, and the survey has been extended and 
made statutory with effect from the second quarter of 
1991. Finally, adjustments are necessary to convert 
trading profits as defined for tax purposes to the national 
accounts definition, particularly as regards the treatment 
of short-term and bank interest.

Gross trading profits of the North Sea oil and gas 
sector are estimated by the Department of Energy on the 
basis of quarterly returns submitted by companies 
operating in the North Sea.

Stock appreciation is the part of the change in the 
value of stocks and work in progress which arises from 
increases in the prices at which stocks and work in 
progress are valued. A fuller explanation of these 
estimates, which are subject to a wide margin of error, is 
given on pages 6 and 78.

Rent and non-trading income refers solely to income 
arising in the United Kingdom. It consists mainly of 
interest received on bank deposits held by companies, 
and rent received by property companies from letting
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land and buildings. Income from investments in other 
industrial and commercial companies is excluded.

Non-trading income is estimated by a variety of 
methods.
For example, the quarterly interest accruing to I and C 
companies on their deposits with banks is calculated by 
multiplying the average levels of their interest-bearing 
deposits (derived from figures supplied by banks on 
returns they make to the Bank of England) by 
appropriate bank deposit rates. Quarterly interest on tax 
instruments is estimated by multiplying i and C 
companies holdings of these instruments by the implied 
average interest rate paid on them. This implied average 
rate is calculated by dividing the total value of tax 
instruments in issue into the total interest payment made 
in the quarter.

Income from abroad is presented after deduction of 
depreciation and net of taxes paid abroad. I and C 
companies' income from abroad consists of income on 
direct investment and on other investment including oil 
and export credit. Income on direct investment Includes 
the earnings (whether remitted to the United Kingdom or 
not) of non-resident branches, the dividends and parent 
companies' share of undistributed income of non-resident 
subsidiaries and associate companies, and interest on 
loans by UK parent companies to these non-resident 
affiliates.

Sample information on direct investment income is 
collected by the Central Statistical Office in the Overseas 
Transactions inquiry. The estimates are derived after 
imputing figures for concerns not approached in the 
sample. When the inquiry became fully compulsory In 
1987, new sampling procedures were adopted, including 
the use of part rotation.

Company sector portfolio income from abroad is 
derived from balance of payments information.

Income: unremitted profits consist of UK parent 
companies’ share of the undistributed income of non- 
resident subsidiaries and associate companies included 
in income from abroad. The retained earnings of non
resident branches and. prior to 1984, of non-resident 
subsidiaries of UK oil companies are not included 
because data are not available.

Dividends on ordinary and preference shares relate to 
dividends paid after deduction of advance corporation tax 
(ACT); payments of ACT are included in payments of UK 
taxes on income. Payments of dividends to other I and 
C companies are excluded. Dividends paid by UK 
subsidiaries to their overseas parent companies are also 
excluded, since these are included in profits due abroad.

Inland Revenue provide figures of dividend payments 
for I and C companies, net of inter-company payments, 
based on tax data. An amount is added for payments by 
I and C companies to financial companies and 
institutions.

Other interest and current transfer payments consist 
largely of interest payments on bank advances bonds 
and debentures, including interest paid on import credit. 
Also included are royalties and licence fees paid by 
North Sea oil and gas companies which are treated as a 
form of property income paid by the oil companies to 
central government. Other items included are companies' 
current transfers to charities and central government and 
co-operative society dividends and interest.

The Department of Energy provide figures for royalties 
and licence fees on oil and gas production. Many of the 
interest payments are obtained in the same way as 
interest receipts, that is, by applying appropriate interest 
rates to levels of liabilities aKhough Inland Revenue 
provide estimates of interest payments subject to the 
deduction of tax.

Profits due abroad consist of direct investment income 
due abroad and oil income due abroad.

The estimates of direct investment income due abroad 
include the whole of the profits of UK branches, 
subsidiaries and associate companies, whether 
distributed or not. accruing to non-resident parent 
companies. Profits are net of depreciation and UK tax. 
The estimates are obtained in the same way as those for 
direct investment income from abroad.

The estimates of oil income due abroad are based on 
information supplied by the oil industry to the Central 
Statistical Office and included in interest, profits and 
dividends debits in the balance of payments accounts.

Unremitted profits of subsidiaries consist of non
resident parent companies’ share of the undistributed 
income of UK subsidiary and associate companies 
included in profits due abroad, including an estimate of 
that part of the profits of UK subsidiaries of foreign oil 
companies which is included in profits due abroad. 
Undistributed earnings of UK branches of non-resident 
companies are not included because data are not 
available.

Payments of UK taxes on income. These consist 
mainly of payments of corporation tax (including advance 
corporation tax) and, from the fourth quarter of 1978, of 
Petroleum Revenue Tax.

Inland Revenue provide quarterly data on taxes paid 
by all companies and institutions. The series for I and C 
company tax payments is the residual of all companies 
and institutions’ payments after deducting financial 
companies and institutions’ taxes on Income.

Undistributed income is the difference between total 
appropriation account income and payments of 
dividends, interest and other current transfers, profits due 
abroad and UK taxes on Income, and is also described 
as ‘saving before providing for depreciation, stock 
appreciation, and additions to tax and dividend reserves’.

The estimates for undistributed income are subject to 
a wide margin of error.

Table 8.2
Sources and uses of capital funds of 
industrial and commercial companies

This table shows an alternative presentation of the 
capital and financial accounts (i.e. table 1.10). it shows 
I and C companies' sources of finance (such as 
undistributed income, bank borrowing and share issues) 
and how funds have been employed in the purchase of 
fixed assets, stocks and financial assets. It highlights I 
and C companies’ methods of borrowing and the 
disposition of the money raised.

Sources of funds
Undistnbuted income is the balance carried forward 

from the appropriation account, measured before 
providing for depreciation, stock appreciation, unremitted
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profits due from or to related concerns overseas, and 
additions to reserves (table 8.1).

A/ef unremitted profits comprises profits of UK 
subsidiaries of overseas parent companies which are due 
overseas but are retained in the UK less profits of 
overseas subsidiaries of UK parent companies which are 
due for payment in the UK but are retained overseas. 
More detailed definitions of these components are given 
in the notes to table 8.1.

Accruals adjustment comprises the Increase in tax 
balances (i.e. tax collected by companies and not yet 
paid to the collecting government departments, mainly 
income tax, value added tax, national insurance 
contributions and. until 1973, purchase tax and selective 
employment tax) plus the difference between accruals of 
local authority rates. North Sea oil royalties, central 
government expenditure on goods and services and 
interest on bank deposits and advances (the basis on 
which these items are entered in the national accounts) 
and the corresponding cash payments. See also notes 
on page 27.

Capital transfers (receipts) comprises investment 
grants, regional development grants and other capital 
transfer receipts. Figures are obtained mainly from 
government accounts.

Import and other credit received consists of domestic 
trade credit received from central government and public 
corporations, estimated from quarterly returns made by 
nationalised industries, and Import credit (up to 
end>1982, when data collection ceased) and advance 
payments on exports, derived from balance of payments 
information. Other trade credit received by I and C 
companies, e.g. from unincorporated businesses, is not 
recorded.

UK bank borrowing by I and C companies covers 
borrowing from banks by way of advances and loans 
(after addition of 40% of the excess of debit over credit 
transit Items - see notes on page 59), commercial bills 
and market loans (repayable at short notice). The 
estimates are derived from banking statistics (see 
Section 6).

Other bans and mortgages comprises instalment 
credit received, loans from the public sector (including 
refinanced shipbuilding credits), loans by financial 
institutions (Including loans by pension funds to their 
parent organisation), shares of retail co-operative 
societies, sterling commercial paper liabilities and cash 
expenditure by the central government on acquiring 
certain I and C companies.

The estimates of instalment credit debt are derived 
from returns made to the Business Statistics Office by 
retailers. The source of the public sector loans figures is 
the public sector accounts. Loans by financial institutions 
are derived from returns made to the Bank of England 
and Central Statistical Office. The figures of cash 
expenditure by central government are obtained from 
government accounts.

Market capital /ssues comprise new money raised by 
issues for cash only of ordinary shares, preference 
shares and loan capital. The excludes transactions 
involving the exchange of company securities because 
no cash expenditure is incurred, and therefore no 
transaction needs to be recorded in the financial 
accounts. The figures cover public issues, offers for sale,

issues by tender, placings and issues to shareholders 
and employees less redemptions.

The figures comprise issues by listed public 
companies and estimates of unlisted issues compiled by 
the Bank of England (see notes to tables 12.1 and 12.2).

Other capital issues: comprises issues connected with 
management buy-outs and employee share schemes, 
and overseas direct investment in securities.

The figures include issues by Rolls Royce and British 
Leyland since third quarter 1980, which were taken up by 
central government and redemption of BT preference 
shares issued to Central Government at privatisation.

The estimates of overseas direct investment in 
securities cover net purchases of the share and loan 
capital of UK subsidiaries and associates by overseas 
parent companies, as included in the balance of 
payments estimates under the heading overseas 
investment in UK private sector - direct investment. The 
source of the estimates is the Central Statistical Office's 
direct investment inquiry. The figures are adjusted to 
exclude acquisitions of independent companies by 
overseas parents.

Other overseas investment consists of that part of 
overseas investment in UK private sector in the balance 
of payments accounts which relates to I and C 
companies. Included are changes in branch 
indebtedness to head office and in inter-company 
accounts and borrowing abroad from banks etc. by UK 
companies. Excluded are inter-company investment 
taking the form of acquisition of UK company securities, 
which is shown as overseas direct investment in 
securities, and profits retained by UK subsidiaries and 
associates of foreign parent companies (included in net 
unremitted profits). The treatment of unremitted profits 
differs from that used in table 1.8, where unremitted 
profits are included in overseas direct and other 
investment in UK.

The source of the estimates of direct investment is the 
direct investment inquiries by the Central Statistical 
Office.

Uses of funds
Capital transfers (payments) comprises taxes on 

capital and capital transfers to public corporations.
Gross domestic fixed capital formation^ and increase 

in book value of stocks: the quarterly sample inquiries 
conducted by the Business Statistics Office, and 
addressed to establishments in manufacturing industry 
and wholesale and retail distribution, form the basis of 
the quarterly estimates. The annual Census of 
Production provides benchmark information for the 
manufacturing industries (divisions 2 to 4 of the 1980 
SIC), and there are supplementary annual inquiries to 
certain other industries.

Separate figures for I and C companies are obtained 
by aggregating the relevant components within each 
industry. In some instances the industries are self- 
classifying; use is made of the occasional very detailed 
benchmark inquiries to apportion estimates for other 
industries by sector.

Investment in UK company securities consists of:
(a) cash expenditure on acquiring independent 

companies within the United Kingdom. This 
series is based on reports of bids and deals
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a:

published in the press and is derived 
from the Central Statistical Office's series 
on acquisitions and mergers (see notes 
to table 8.8).

cash expenditure on portfolio investments in 
the United Kingdom. The figures up to 1986 
are estimates by the Bank of England and the 
Central Statistical Office, based on figures 
from the Central Statistical Office’s analysis of 
company accounts, and are very uncertain. 
Figures for 1987 onwards are based on the 
Central Statistical Office’s survey of company 
liquidity now financial assets and liabilities 
survey (see table 8.6).

Acquisitions financed by the issue of share and loan 
capital are excluded; these are not cash transactions and 
therefore do not feature in the financial accounts. 
Estimates of acquisitions financed in this way are 
included in table 8.8.

Direct investment in overseas securities consists of the 
acquisition by UK companies of share and loan capital in 
overseas subsidiaries and associates. The estimates are 
derived from the direct investment inquiry conducted by 
the Central Statistical Office. Also included are estimates 
of portfolio investment by land companies in overseas 
securities based on information from the Financial Assets 
and Liabilities Survey.

Other investment overseas consists of part of UK 
private investment overseas by I and C companies in the 
balance of payments accounts. It includes changes in 
branch indebtedness to head office and in inter-company 
accounts, and miscellaneous investment overseas. 
However, investment taking the form of acquisition of 
overseas company securities, which is shown as direct 
investment in overseas securities, and profits retained by 
overseas subsidiaries and associates of UK companies 
are excluded. These unremitted profits are included in 
undistributed income but are offset by being brought in 
again as a negative component in net unremitted profits. 
They are therefore counted neither as a source of funds 
nor as a use of funds; this treatment differs from that 
used in table 1.8, where the retained profits are included 
as income (saving) of I and C companies and as direct 
and other investment abroad. Thus the retained profits 
are recorded in those tables as if they had been remitted 
and re-lent to the subsidiary by the parent company, 
whereas in this table they are effectively ignored.

The source of the estimates for direct investment is 
the annual inquiry by the Central Statistical Office.

Export and other credit given comprises instalment 
credit extended by retailing companies, domestic trade 
credit extended to public corporations, export credit (up 
to end-1982, when data collection ceased) and advance 
payments on imports (lower coverage from end-1982).

Instalment credit extended by retailers is estimated 
from returns made by retailers to the Business Statistics 
Office. Credit extended to public corporations is 
estimated from returns made by nationalised industries. 
Advance payments on imports are derived from balance 
of payments information as was export credit until data 
collection ceased at end-1982.

Bank deposits are gross deposits {less 60% of the
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excess of debit over credit transit items - see notes on 
page 59). The estimates are obtained from banks’ sector 
statistics. A description of the estimates for holdings of 
notes and coin is given on pages 18 and 100.

British government securities: transactions in British 
government securities are derived from the holdings 
figures of large I and C companies. The source is the 
Central Statistical Office survey of company liquidity, now 
Financial Assets and Liabilities Survey (see table 8.6).

Other liquid assets comprise Treasury bills, tax 
instruments, local authority temporary debt, deposits with 
building societies (including from second quarter 1983 
certificates of deposits and from fourth quarter 1983 
‘wholesale’ time deposits) and (prior to 1982) deposits 
with other financial institutions.

I and C companies' transactions in Treasury bills are 
obtained as differences between consecutive figures of 
end-period holdings which are estimated by residual; 
identified holdings by the banks, building society, 
overseas and other financial institutions sectors are 
deducted from total market holdings, persons’ holdings 
being assumed to be negligible. Figures from 1987 
onwards assumed to be zero based on the holdings 
identified in the Financial Assets and Liabilities Survey.

Transactions in local authority debt are taken from the 
local authorities' analysis of their debt (see tables 4.6 
and 4.7). Changes in deposits with building societies are 
obtained from the sector analysis by the societies of their 
deposits (see table 7.7).

Other financial assets comprise.

(a) Other public sector: Northern Ireland central 
government debt (source: public sector 
accounts), repayment of loans by I and C 
companies to the British Steel Corporation 
(source: public corporation accounts), and 
other identified lending to the public sector.

(b) Other UK domestic: other identified lending to 
financial institutions.

(c) O verseas: m iscellaneous overseas 
instruments, namely other commercial short
term assets (net) from the balance of 
payments accounts, and the timing and 
coverage adjustments between the overseas 
sector figures in the financial accounts and the 
balance of payments accounts, other than 
those allocated to other sectors.

Balancing item is the balance on the accounts of the 
I and C companies sector and reflects statistical errors 
and omissions in the identified Herns throughout the 
appropriation, capital and financial accounts.

Two Hems which are not recorded in the financial 
accounts are changes in trade credH extended by I and 
C companies to other domestic sectors and company 
loans to the personal sector (e.g. loans to employees 
and unincorporated business), but possibly more 
important is the misallocation between sectors of certain 
recorded items. For example, company sector 
transactions in land and existing buildings are compiled 
from a range of industrial estimates, some are thought to 
be unreliably estimated. There is a general discussion on 
the sector balancing items on page 27.
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Table 8.3
Net borrowing requirement of industrial and 
commercial companies

This table rearranges the sources and uses of capital 
funds in table 6.2 to show the items leading to the net 
borrowing requirement and how it is financed. The net 
borrowing requirement measures I and C companies' 
need for external finance, net of liquid and certain other 
financial assets; it reflects the amount by which the 
companies’ expenditure on fixed assets, stocks, capital 
transfers (net), trade investments, acquisition of 
subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, investment abroad 
and net trade credit exceeds the increase in their internal 
funds. The concepts underlying the net borrowing 
requirement are discussed in the article Financial 
balances of industrial companies in Economic Trends, 
December 1978.

The seasonally adjusted series incorporate the 
seasonal factors, calculated by the Central Statistical 
Office, for the items from the appropriation and capital 
accounts and, for the financial transactions series, 
seasonal factors calculated by the Bank of England.

Most of the unadjusted series in this table are taken 
direct from table 6.2. The re-arrangements are detailed 
below.

Financial surplus or deficit comprises undistributed 
income plus capital transfers (receipts) less capital 
transfers (payments), gross domestic fixed capital 
formation and increase in book value of stocks.

Accruals adjustment is shown split between increase 
in tax balances and other. The components of each are 
described in the notes on the accruals adjustment in 
table 8.2.

Investment abroad is the total of direct investment in 
overseas securities and other investment overseas in 
table 6.2.

Other borrowing is the total of other loans and 
mortgages, market issues and other capital issues, 
overseas direct investment in securities and other 
overseas investment in table 8.2.

Financial assets: //qiz/d comprises bank deposits, notes 
and coin, British government securities and other liquid 
assets from table 8.2.

Financial assets: other comprises other public sector 
financial assets, other UK domestic and overseas 
financial assets from table 8.2.

Net borrowing requirement is the total of all the
borrowing and liquid asset items which finance it
(columns 11 to 14). Alternatively it is the total of all the
items leading to the requirement (columns 1 to 8) and
the balancing item (column 9) with the opposite sign.
Taking all the accounts, current and capital (as
summarised by the financial surplus or deficifj and
financial (as summarised by the remaining items in the
table), the total of all flows into and out of the sector is 
zero.

Table 8.4
Selected liquid assets of industrial and 
commercial companies

This table illustrates the relative importance of 
selected liquid assets of industrial and commercial 
companies, with bank advances shown for comparison.

The categories broadly correspond with those used in the 
financial accounts and are compiled from the same 
sources.

Deposits with banks are consistent with the sector 
analysis of gross deposits shown in table 6.2, with the 
sterling and foreign currency deposits each split between 
certificates of deposit and other deposits. The notes in 
Section 6 give further information, including details of the 
changes in coverage.

Deposits with building societies are obtained from the 
sector analysis of shares and deposits in table 6.9. The 
break in series at second quarter 1989 reflects the 
reclassification of Abbey National from a Building Society 
to a Bank.

Sterling Treasury bills are shown in table 3.7, analysed 
by sector. (See also other liquid assets in table 8.2).

Tax instruments are obtained from table 3.11 and 
include unidentified holdings by other sectors. The break 
at first quarter 1978 reflects identification of holdings by 
public corporations.

British government securities: holdings are derived 
from the Central Statistical Office survey of company 
liquidity, now Financial Assets and Liabilities Survey; 
figures are grossed up approximately to cover the whole 
company sector.

Local authority temporary debt: is shown in table 4.6, 
analysed by holder. Local authority longer term debt 
covers non-marketable debt only, as shown in table 4.7.

Bank advances comprises the bulk of lending to I and 
C companies shown in table 6.2 (sterling and foreign 
currency). The figures in table 6.2 also include lending 
other than by advances e.g. by purchase of securities.

financial
Table 8.5
A ppropriation account 
companies and institutions

Scope of headings and methodoiogy
Gross trading profits. These ‘national accounts profits’ 

are calculated before providing for depreciation and stock 
appreciation, but the latter is estimated to be negligible. 
As stated in the introduction to Section 8, they are 
measured, in principle, by the difference between 
financial companies’ and institutions’ charges and 
commissions and their management expenses. Adding 
net interest received gives profits in the more ordinary 
sense.

In practice, a major difficulty is that there is no single 
source for estimating the gross trading profits of financial 
companies and institutions. The annual estimates are 
compiled from various sources using a number of 
different methods: for the banks’ sector, they are based 
on information collected by the Bank of England, whilst, 
for other financial companies and institutions, the figures 
are based on direct surveys, published annual accounts 
and information provided by relevant trade associations. 
In all cases, the Central Statistical Office makes a 
number of adjustments in order to bring the figures onto 
a national accounts basis. Quarterly estimates are largely 
obtained by interpolation and extrapolation from the 
annual figures. The resultant estimates are subject to a 
wide margin of error.

Rent and non-trading income. Interest receipts of the 
banks are composed mainly of interest on bank lending
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which are imputed by applying appropriate interest rates 
to the sector analysis of bank advances provided by the 
Bank of England.

Interest receipts of building societies are composed 
mainly of interest payments on mortgages for house 
purchase. The figures are supplied directly by the 
building societies.

Interest receipts of other financial companies and 
institutions comprise mainly receipts of investment 
income and receipts by finance houses on their lending, 
calculated mainly by applying appropriate interest rates 
to advances or holdings.

Income from abroad comprises income from direct, 
portfolio and other investment abroad, including net 
earnings on dealings In euro-currency.

The source of the estimates of direct investment 
income is the inquiry by the Central Statistical Office; 
portfolio investment income is derived from balance of 
payments information. Estimates of other investment 
income are based mainly on returns to the Bank of 
England.

Dividends and interest payments. Dividend payments 
are derived from quarterly information provided by the 
Inland Revenue. As with I and C companies, dividend 
payments are net of advance corporation tax, payments 
of which are included in UK taxes on income. Inland 
Revenue provides figures of interest payments subject to 
deduction of tax.

Other interest payments by banks are payments on 
deposits. These are obtained by applying appropriate 
interest rates to the sector analysis of deposits supplied 
by the Bank of England.

The building societies supply quarterly data on interest 
paid out, but some further calculation is necessary. Total 
interest (net of tax) is derived by adding interest paid out, 
interest accrued and credited to accounts, and other 
accrued interest not credited to accounts. Tax payments 
by the societies, calculated at the composite rate, are 
then added in to give total gross accrued interest.

As from November 1981 (see Section 6), interest 
payments by the remaining financial institutions have 
fallen to very small amounts. Prior to that, they included 
payments by finance houses and the Trustee savings 
banks on deposits placed with them. Finance houses 
licensed to take deposits and Trustee savings banks are 
now part of the banks’ sector. Prior to January 1981, 
they also included payments on deposits in the National 
Savings Bank investment account, which became part of 
central government at that date.

Profits due abroad net of UK tax is composed entirely 
of payments on direct investment; the source of the 
estimates is the inquiry by the Central Statistical Office.

UK taxes on income. The annual figures are provided 
by inland Revenue and consist of payments of 
corporation tax on taxable Income. Including advance 
corporation tax. For the quarterly figures, payments of 
corporation tax are assumed to be made in the first 
calendar quarter whilst ACT payments are assumed to 
be made when they are due and are calculated by 
applying the appropriate tax rate to the relevant dividend 
payments.

Undistributed income is the balancing item in the table, 
and is equivalent to saving before providing for 
depreciation, stock appreciation, unremitted profits due

from or to related concerns overseas, and additions to 
reserves. This figure is subject to a wide margin of error.

Table 8.6
Liquidity of iarge industriai and commercial 
companies

This table gives estimates of the holdings of current 
assets and liabilities by all large I and C companies. 
Large companies are those which had capital employed 
of more than about £22 million at the end of their 1982 
accounting year, plus those former public corporations 
that had become part of the company sector by the end 
of 1984. This definition encompasses about 700 of the 
largest I and C companies.

Method of compilation
The estimates are derived from the results of the 

Central Statistical Offices’s quarterly survey of company 
liquidity. This is a voluntary inquiry with a panel of about 
300 large companies which is taken to be representative 
of large I and C companies as a whole. Respondents are 
asked to state the book value of their current assets and 
liabilities at the end of each quarter. Current assets are 
those that can be realised within twelve months and 
current liabilities are those that are due to be repaid 
within twelve months. Liquidity ratios are defined as total 
current assets as a percentage of total current liabilities. 
A question is also included on longer term borrowing 
from banks in the UK.

Until May 1985, results had been published in respect 
of the survey companies only. For total current assets, 
total current liabilities, net current assets and the liquidity 
ratio, series have been calculated, on the new basis, 
separately for manufacturing and non-manufacturing 
companies, going back to the fourth quarter of 1969, 
when the company liquidity survey was begun. However, 
estimates of all I and C companies' holdings of individual 
assets and liabilities shown in the second part of the 
table are only available from the fourth quarter of 1982.

The survey panel is updated at the end of each year 
to bring in new recruits and exclude companies no longer 
contributing. The two sets of results shown for individual 
assets and liabilities in the fourth quarter of each year 
represent the different 'baskets' of assets and liabilities 
held by the outgoing and incoming survey panels.

From the first quarter of 1987 the questions in the 
company liquidity survey form relating to individual assets 
and liabilities were revised to take account of recent 
developments in company finance, but the definitions of 
total current assets, total current liabilities, net current 
assets and the liquidity ratio remain the same.

Part of the Chancellor’s Initiative to improve 
government economic statistics the Company liquidity 
Survey has recently become statutory on an annual basis 
for about 670 large companies and the questions on the 
survey form have been revised to provide more 
information for the Financial Accounts. The liquidity 
figures shown here are expected to be rebased using the 
results of the statutory annual survey when the third 
quarter of 1991 results are published in December 1991.

Quality
Net current assets and liquidity ratios presented here
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indicate the financial position of large industrial and 
commercial companies only with regard to the specified 
current assets and liabilities covered by the survey: they 
do not summarise the whole financial position of those 
companies. The importance of the assets and liabilities 
covered in the survey varies between companies, 
depending upon the relative importance of creditors, 
debtors and stock holdings, which are not included in the 
survey. Although the results include estimates for large 
industrial and commercial companies not contributing to 
the survey the panel of contributors may not be 
representative of such companies, and even less so of 
all industrial and commercial companies.

Timeliness
The figures are first published in a CSO Bulletin about 

ten weeks after the end of each quarter. They are then 
included in the next issue of Financial Statistics about 
twelve weeks from the quarter end. i.e. the figures for 30 
June appear in Financial Statistics first in the September 
issue.

Use in financial accounts
The company Liquidity Survey is used to provide 

estimates of I and C companies holdings of and 
transactions in British Government Securities. 
Unpublished data from the survey has also been used to 
estimate I and C companies portfolio investment in UK 
company securities since 1987. Preliminary results from 
the new statutory annual Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Survey have been used to estimate I and C companies 
holdings of and transactions in bank and building society 
certificates of deposits, sterling commercial paper, 
sterling Treasury Bills and Portfolio investment in 
overseas securities.

Other publications
An article describing the survey, and reviewing its 

results since its inception in 1970 until the middle of 
1974, was published in Economic Trends No.253, 
November 1974. It included a comparison between the 
sun/ey results and the equivalent statistics for all I and C 
companies from the financial accounts and shown in 
table 8.3. A further article in Economic Trends No.283, 
May 1977, updated the comparison to the end of 1976.

The British business article of 31 May 1985, Company 
liquidity in the first quarter introduced the results 
estimated for all large 1 and C companies. A technical 
note at the end of this article gives a more detailed 
description of how the estimates are derived.

Table 8.7
Transactions in UK company securities

This table brings together quarterly estimates of
transactions in UK company securities shown in the
financial accounts so that the net transactions of each
sector can be compared. It also shows how estimates of
Uansactions by the personal sector, which is the residual 
item, are derived.

Capital issues include both United Kingdom and 
overseas issues. A detailed breakdown of other 
transactions by other financial institutions can be found 
in Section 7. A more detailed description of the make-up 
of this item is given in Section 1 on page 25.

Table 8.8
Acquisitions and mergers of industrial and 
commercial companies within the United 
Kingdom

The statistics of acquisitions and mergers of 
companies in this table are based on reports in the 
financial press, supplemented by special inquiries to the 
companies to determine the timing, value and method of 
payment for particular transactions. In an acquisition, one 
company gains control of another by acquiring more than 
50% of the voting shares; in a merger, two companies 
combine by the formation of a new company with 
ownership of more than 50% of the voting shares in each 
of the two combining companies.

The table covers all acquisitions and mergers by 
United Kingdom industrial and commercial companies 
within the UK except acquisitions between subsidiaries of 
the same company group, which are not included 
because they relate to internal re-organisation, not to 
change of ownership and industrial restructuring.

Figures of acquisitions by financial companies are not 
included as compilation of such figures ceased at the 
end of 1979.

Method of compilation
As far as possible, the transactions are recorded for 

the date when they are finalised, e.g. when a bid is 
declared unconditional or a contract to purchase is 
signed. They are valued, in general, in terms of the 
expenditure at the time of the transaction but include any 
investment during the last twelve months in the acquired 
company. Where possible, the values are market values. 
Where this is not possible (e.g. where the acquired 
company is unlisted) the transaction is, in general, valued 
at the net book value of the acquired company. The 
figures from 1986 are calculated from a new database of 
transactions. Expenditure in the form of deferred 
payments is now recorded when those payments are 
made.

A merger is valued at the value of the smaller 
company’s share of the newly formed company.

Timeliness
The statistics for industrial and commercial companies 

are first published in a CSO Bulletin about seven weeks 
after the quarter end and are included in the next issue 
of Financial Statistics about eight weeks from the quarter 
end, i.e. the figures for the quarter ending 31 March 
appear in Financial Statistics first in the May issue.

Scope of headings
Number of companies acquired includes mergers.

Use in financial accounts
The figures for cash expenditure on acquiring 

independent companies (i.e. excluding cash payments 
between companies) are used as an estimate of 
payments by industrial and commercial companies to 
other sectors in the course of making acquisitions. Cash 
expenditure on acquiring existing subsidiaries where the 
vendor is from another domestic sector is also identified 
separately for use in the Financial Accounts. The 
disposals by the counterpart sectors are measured
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separately from other sources with unidentified 
transactions assumed to be by the personnel sector.

Other publications
The CSO Bulletin, also provides more detailed 

information, including analyses by industry and by size of 
transaction.

The Annual Abstract of Statistics provides annual 
industrial analyses of expenditure and the number of 
companies acquired for the latest eight years, see table 
17.25 (1990).

Table 8.9
Insolvencies in England and Wales

The Insolvency Act 1985 received Royal Assent on 30 
October 1985. It was later consolidated with certain 
insolvency provisions remaining in the Companies Act 
1985 as the Insolvency Act 1986 and the Company 
Directors Disqualification Act 1986. The Secretary of 
State for Trade and Industry appointed by Statutory 
Instrument 29 December 1986 as the date for the 
Insolvency Act 1986 to come into force. The new 
legislation totally replaced the Bankruptcy Acts 1914 and 
1926, and also replaced the insolvency provisions of the 
Companies Acts.

Insolvent individuals are dealt with under the 
Bankruptcy Act 1914, the Bankruptcy (Amendment) Act 
1926 and the Insolvency Act 1986, or, when they make 
arrangements with their creditors, under the Deeds of 
Arrangement Act 1914. Under the Bankruptcy Acts a 
receiving order is made by the court on the petition of a 
creditor if it is satisfied that the debtor has committed an 
act of bankruptcy, as listed in section 1 of the Bankruptcy 
Act 1914, or on the petition of the debtor himself. The 
receiving order makes the Official Receiver, who is an 
officer of the court, receiver of the debtor’s estate and 
deprives the debtor of the right to deal with it. A 
bankruptcy order under the Insolvency Act 1986 is made 
by the court on the petition of a creditor If it is satisfied 
that a debt of the debtor has not been paid or secured or 
there is no reasonable prospect of his paying it when it 
falls due, or on the petition of the debtor himself. 
Bankruptcy orders are equivalent to receiving orders 
made under the repealed legislation but also adjudge the 
debtor bankrupt whereas adjudication was a further 
separate order under the old legislation. The bankruptcy 
order makes the Official Receiver, receiver and manager 
of the bankrupt’s estate pending the appointment of an 
insolvency practitioner as trustee or the Official Receiver 
himself becoming trustee.

Administration orders, which are made under section 
130 of the Bankruptcy Act 1914, relate to deceased 
insolvents: under section 421 of the Insolvency Act 1986 
the Administration of Insolvent Estates of Deceased 
Persons 1986 replaced administration orders with 
insolvency administration orders, which are included with 
bankruptcy orders.

Individual voluntary arrangements were introduced in 
the insolvency Act 1986 to enable insolvent debtors to 
come to terms with their creditors with the minimum of 
formality and court involvement.lnitially the numbers of 
these were published only in British Business but they 
are now included in table 8.9.

Deeds of arrangement relate to arrangements between

debtors and creditors that are reached without recourse 
to the courts under the Deeds of Arrangement Act 1914.

Insolvent companies are dealt with under the 
Companies Acts and the Insolvency Act 1986 and the 
figures for company liquidations refer to the two types of 
liquidation that involve insolvency. The figures for 
compulsory liquidations relate to winding-up orders made 
by the courts. The figures for creditors’ voluntary 
liquidation, in which the company and its creditors come 
to terms without court proceedings, relate to notifications 
to the Registrar of Companies of resolutions to wind up 
under section 380 of the Companies Act 1985. There is 
a third type, members’ voluntary liquidations: these do 
not involve insolvency and they are not included in the 
figures.

The Insolvency Act 1986 also introduced 
administration orders for companies and company 
voluntary arrangements, but if the company involved is 
insolvent it will eventually be recorded as a compulsory 
or creditor’s voluntary liquidation so they are not shown 
in the table.

Insolvent partnerships dealt with under the bankruptcy 
acts are included in the figures for bankruptcy orders. A 
single receiving order may be made against a 
partnership or receiving orders may be made against 
partners individually. Under section 420 of the Insolvency 
Act 1986 the Insolvent Partnership Order 1986 
introduced a change in the treatment of insolvent 
partnerships, so they may be wound up as if a company, 
and proceedings against insolvent partnerships begun 
after 29 December 1986 therefore appear as company 
liquidations. Bankruptcy orders may be made against 
Individual partners with or without a winding up order 
against the partnership.

The Insolvency Act 1976 changed some aspects of 
the law relating to both bankruptcy and company 
liquidations, its provisions include an increase in the 
minimum debt to support a creditor’s petition for 
bankruptcy. At about the same time, an amendment to 
the Bankruptcy Rules 1952 increased the deposits 
required on bankruptcy petitions. These changes have 
reduced the number of receiving orders from the 
beginning of 1977.

On 1 October 1984 the amounts of minimum debt (SI 
1984 No. 1199) and deposits (S11984 No. 1371 (L14)) 
required were further increased. The increase in 
minimum debt was of the same order as that at the end 
of 1976 but the increase in deposits on petitions was 
considerably smaller (in percentage terms) than before.

The Insolvency Fees Order 1986 came into force on 
29 December 1986 and set the amounts of the deposits 
required under the Insolvency Act 1986. For bankruptcy 
petitions the deposits are unchanged from those set on 
1 October 1984 but for the first time a deposit of £200 
was imposed in respect of winding up petitions, and this 
contributed to the fall in compulsory liquidations during 
1987.

Method of compilation
The figures for bankruptcies and compulsory winding- 

up orders are provided by the Insolvency Service of the 
Department of Trade and Industry, who collect the basic 
data from the official receivers for the various courts. The 
figures for creditors’ voluntary liquidations are provided
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by the Registrar of Companies of the Department of 
Trade and Industry, and are based on the notifications 
that companies that go into this type of liquidation are 
obliged to make within fourteen days of the resolution to
wind-up.

Timeliness
Quarterly figures are available from the Department of 

Trade and Industry about four to five weeks after the 
quarter end and are normally included in the next issue 
of Financial Statistics about eight weeks from the quarter 
end, i.e. the figures for the quarter ending 31 March 
appear in Financial Statistics first in the May issue.

Other publications
An article describing the insolvency statistics and 

giving quarterly statistics from the beginning of 1960, with 
industrial analyses from the beginning of 1969, was 
published in Economic Trends No.257, March 1975.

Annual figures for company liquidations, including 
those in Scotland, are given in the Companies Report 
and for receiving orders in the Annual Report of the 
Insolvency Service The Companies Report provides 
annual totals for the latest few years, with industrial 
analyses for the latest two years. The Annual Report of 
the Insolvency Service provides, for the latest year, an 
analysis of receiving orders and receiving orders 
administered (i.e. those orders remaining after 
consolidations and rescissions before 31 December) by

court, and for receiving orders administered and deeds 
of arrangement, an industrial analysis of both numbers of 
cases and the assets and liabilities involved.

An article in British business 24 April 1981 gives 
figures for Scotland and Northern Ireland as well as 
England and Wales for the last eleven years plus an 
industrial analysis of company liquidations in Great 
Britain for the last two years. An article in the 7 August 
1981 issue compares the number of company 
liquidations by industry in 1980 with the number of 
companies in operation.

The Annual Abstract of Statistics, 1990 (tables 17.27 
to 17.30) provides an eleven year run of annual totals for 
company liquidations of each type (including members' 
voluntary liquidations), for receiving orders administered, 
and for deeds of arrangement. Annual totals of the 
assets and liabilities involved are given with the figures 
for receiving orders administered and deeds of 
arrangement. The Annual Abstract of Statistics also 
includes the equivalent figures for company liquidations 
in Scotland and Northern Ireland, for sequestrations 
(which relate, under Scottish law, to individual insolvents) 
in Scotland, and for bankruptcies and deeds of 
arrangement in Northern Ireland.

Following the cessation of publication of British 
Business, in which the quarterly figures had been 
published, they now appear in Business Briefing, 
published by the Association of British Chamber of 
Commerce, and in Insolvency Law and Practice,
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Section 9 
Personal sector

The section on the personal sector is one of the 
shortest in Financial Statistics. This reflects the lack of 
direct statistical reporting by the sector rather than its
importance in the financial system.

The information used to construct accounts for the 
personal sector is collected mainly from the counterpart 
sector institutions concerned in the various transactions 
(e.g. public sector and financial institutions). In most 
other cases, estimates of personal sector transactions 
are obtained by residual from the estimated net 
transactions of all other sectors.

Definition of sector
The personal sector Is made up mainly of individuals 

resident in the United Kingdom; it also includes all 
unincorporated private businesses, sole traders and 
partnerships, non-profit-making bodies serving persons, 
and private trusts.

The first component covers individuals living in 
households and in institutions as well as members of the 
armed forces stationed abroad.

Unincorporated businesses do not have a separate 
legal existence and sometimes their activities cannot be 
distinguished from the private activities of their 
proprietors. Thus they are part of the personal sector and 
cannot be completely separated from it. These 
businesses are largely engaged in distribution, the 
construction trades, agriculture or services (including the 
medical and legal professions).

Private non-profit-making bodies serving persons 
comprise universities and non-profit-making schools and 
colleges, churches, charities, clubs and societies, trade 
unions, and private housing associations. Some of these 
bodies are incorporated under the Companies Acts but 
they are included in the personal sector if they are 
recognised as charitable for tax purposes and if their 
principal object is to provide services or benefits to 
individuals or other bodies in the personal sector.

Private trusts, other than for charitable purposes, are 
set up by individuals usually for named beneficiaries.

Long-term insurance and pension funds
A peculiarity of the financial accounts is the sector 

treatment of long-term insurance and pension funds. 
These are treated as part of the personal sector in the 
current account, but as part of the OFI sector in the 
financial account. Amounts paid by employers into these 
funds as premiums and contributions and the rent, 
dividend and interest that the funds receive are included 
in personal income. Contributions and premiums paid by 
employees, policyholders etc. on their own behalf are 
transfers within the personal sector and are not included 
in the sector accounts. They may be regarded as 
components of saving through the funds. The cost of 
administering the funds are treated as consumers’ 
expenditure. Transfers to the state pension scheme are 
included in National Insurance, etc. contributions. 
Pensions and other benefits paid out are also transfers 
within the personal sector and not included in the sector 
account. They may, nevertheless, be used to finance 
consumption or saving other than through the funds. The 
balance of all these transactions represents the net

amount saved through the funds and the net amount 
available for investment by the funds and is a major 
component of personal saving. It is treated as financial 
investment by the personal sector in long-term insurance 
and pension funds in the OFI sector and is recorded in 
the personal sector financial account as an increase in 
persons’ claims on OFI’s and as a corresponding liability 
in the OFI sector account. The financial transactions of 
the funds (i.e. their investment of this money in 
securities, etc.), are recorded in the financial accounts of 
the financial institutions sector. The funds remain the 
property of persons in the form of a financial claim by the 
personal sector on them, but the assets held by the 
funds to match this liability to persons are assets of the 
financial institutions sector (and transactions in these 
assets are transactions by financial institutions). Friendly 
societies are, in principle, treated in the same way as 
long-term insurance funds though data are in fact 
included only for the collecting friendly societies. Further 
discussion of the treatment is included in an article in the 
November 1979 issue of Statistical News - 'Pension 
funds and the national accounts’.

Nature of the estimates
Because there is no direct statistical reporting of 

financial transactions by the personal sector certain 
transactions cannot be recorded in the accounts, and 
others may be unreliable. The problem is most acute for 
transactions between the personal sector and companies 
(direct reporting by companies covers only a few items 
in the accounts) and for those items where the balance 
of transactions, after taking account of the public and 
overseas sectors, has to be allocated between the 
personal sector and industrial and commercial companies 
sector. Errors and omissions in the identified Items of a 
sector’s accounts are reflected in the balances of the 
various accounts (e.g. saving, financial surplus or deficifj 
and particularly in the balancing item between all the 
accounts. The nature of the unidentified transactions 
generally is explained in Section 1. For the personal 
sector this residual can be very large. To some extent, It 
is offset by the balancing item in the company sector 
account which suggests that the cause may be 
unrecorded current, capital or financial transactions 
between these two sectors or a misallocation between 
them of recorded transactions.

One item that is not recorded is trade credit (unpaid 
bills of households and unincorporated businesses) but 
this is not thought to be a major explanation for the 
balancing item. Another largely unrecorded item is 
company loans to the personal sector (e.g. loans to 
employees and to unincorporated businesses). But 
probably more important is the misallocation between 
sectors of certain recorded items. Figures for personal 
sector transactions in land and existing buildings and in 
gilt-edged and company securities are all obtained as 
residuals, some components in the calculation of which 
(e.g. net purchases by companies) are thought to be 
unreliable. Also, estimates of persons’ net receipts of 
dividends and debt interest will reflect any inaccuracies 
in identifying payments between companies. All such 
errors and omissions find their way into the balancing
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The tables
The tables in this section comprise an income and 

expenditure account, table 9.1; a sources and uses of 
funds presentation of capital and financial transactions, 
table 9.2; a derived table highlighting consumer credit, 
table 9.3. Loans for house purchase are given in table 
9.4 and, finally, amounts of certain selected liquid assets 
and liabilities held by persons, are given in table 9.5. 
Quarterly income and expenditure accounts are 
published as part of a press notice on personal income, 
expenditure and saving about fourteen weeks from the 
end of quarters, and are repeated about three weeks 
later in Financial Statistics. Some other information 
relating to the personal sector is published periodically as 
supplementary tables. These include details of SAVE 
schemes (table S21 - published four times per year). 
United Kingdom National Accounts, 1989 Edition, table 
4.9, shows an income and expenditure account which 
separates, as far as possible, those transactions which 
directly affect households (including their transactions 
with the rest of the personal sector) from those of the 
rest of the personal sector. An article in the September 
1981 Issue of Economic Trends - 'The household sector’ 
• explains how these series have been derived from 
those for the personal sector as a whole and describes 
some of the main trends in the series. Experimental 
capital and financial accounts for the household sector 
are also presented.

Another article, ‘Committed and discretionary saving’, 
in the November 1981 issue of Economic Trends 
introduced a new presentation of personal saving splitting 
it as far as possible into its committed and discretionary 
elements. This analysis was shown in supplementary 
table SI 4 last published in the October 1988 issue of 
Financial Statistics.

Table 9.1
Personal income, expenditure and saving

This table shows how an important source of funds, 
personal sector saving, is generated. The columns show 
the various forms of income accruing to the personal 
sector, and the taxes and national insurance 
contributions that are paid out of that income. Income 
after tax. national insurance contributions and other 
current transfers is called personal disposable income, 
and what remains after subtracting consumers’ 
expenditure is defined as personal saving. Saving 
expressed as a percentage of total personal disposable 
income, the saving ratio, is also shown, A brief 
description of the items in this table is given below. For 
fuller details see United Kingdom National Accounts: 
Sources and Methods, Chapter 6A and the Notes and 
Definitions in United Kingdom National Accounts.

Wages, salaries, and forces’pay. Wages and salaries, 
which are by far the most important source of personal 
income, are estimated annually from an analysis of the 
PAYE tax deduction cards sent by employers to local tax 
offices after each financial year. Adjustments have to be 
made for earned income below the PAYE limit, for 
certain pension payments included in the PAYE returns, 
and to convert the information from a financial year to a
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calendar year basis. Quarterly figures are estimated by 
interpolation and extrapolation by reference to the 
Department of Employment’s index of average earnings 
for the whole economy allied with employment data The 
figures for wages and salaries include estimates of 
income in kind and exclude expenses of employment. 
Forces' pay consists of pay and allowances in cash and 
kind of members of the armed forces and auxiliary 
services.

Employers' contributions include those made to the 
national insurance scheme, to the national health service 
and to the redundancy fund, as well as contributions to 
private pension schemes. The national insurance 
surcharge is not treated as an addition to personal 
income since it is not related to the provision of any 
benefits. In the national accounts the surcharge is treated 
as a tax on expenditure.

Current grants from general government cover all 
transfer payments by general government to the personal 
sector. The bulk of this item represents social security 
benefits to individuals such as national insurance 
benefits, supplementary benefits and child benefit. But 
the item also includes grants to other parts of the 
personal sector such as universities.

Other personal income includes income from self- 
employment (before providing for depreciation and stock 
appreciation), rent, dividends and interest receipts net of 
payments of interest, transfers to charities by companies 
and financial institutions, transfers from overseas and an 
imputed charge for capital consumption of private non- 
profit-making bodies. Income from self-employment - 
which is the distributed and undistributed income of 
proprietors of unincorporated businesses (farmers, 
certain professions, and other sole traders and 
partnerships) and represents income before providing for 
depreciation and stock appreciation - is mainly estimated 
from details of income assessed for tax under Schedule 
D. An exception is income of farmers which is estimated 
from a production account of the agricultural industry as 
a whole, the 'national farm’. A rough deduction has been 
made for income accruing to agricultural businesses that 
are incorporated (i.e. companies); previously these had 
been assumed to represent only a small part of total 
income from agriculture. Dividend and interest income of 
persons is calculated by residual - payments by all 
sectors less receipts by all sectors other than the 
personal sector. The interest component therefore 
represents net receipts after deducting payments by 
persons (e.g. bank and mortgage interest payments).

UK taxes on income represents amounts of tax 
actually paid by the personal sector, rather than the 
amounts received by Inland Revenue. Thus for tax 
assessed under Schedule E, and deducted through 
PAYE, amounts deducted by employers are included in 
the quarterly and annual figures rather than amounts 
handed over to Inland Revenue; there is usually a few 
weeks delay between deduction and payment to Inland 
Revenue. Tax liability which has accrued on income 
received (mainly income assessed under Schedule D) 
but which has not yet resulted in tax payments will 
therefore fall into the figures of personal saving that 
balance the account.

Social security contributions mostly comprises 
employers’ (included as a component of personal
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income) and employees’ contributions. The contributions 
covered are those in respect of national insurance, the 
national health service, the redundancy fund and the 
maternity pay fund. The national insurance surcharge is 
not included. See the notes to table 3.1 for more details.

Other current deductions include transfers abroad and 
miscellaneous current transfers. The latter covers certain 
compulsory fees and fines paid by the personal sector to 
central government, for example, fees for passports and 
driving licences.

Total personal disposable income is defined as the 
sum of personal incomes before providing for 
depreciation, stock appreciation and additions to tax 
reserves less other current transfers, UK taxes on 
income, the community charge and national insurance 
etc. contributions.

Consumers’ expenditure covers all personal 
expenditure on goods (durable and non-durable) and 
services, including the value of income in kind, imputed 
rents for owner-occupied dwellings and the purchase of 
second-hand goods less the proceeds of sales of used 
goods. It also includes final expenditure on goods and 
services for current use by private non-profit-making 
bodies serving persons. The following are not included: 
all business expenditure and expenses, interest and 
other transfer payments, improvements to dwellings, and 
the purchase of land and dwellings (and associated 
costs). These last two items are treated as capital 
expenditure.

Estimates of consumers’ expenditure are built up 
commodity by commodity from a heterogeneous 
collection of sources. There are three broad types: 
statistics of supplies from manufacturers etc. which are 
used mainly to estimate expenditure on alcoholic drink 
and tobacco; sample surveys such as the National Food 
Survey, the Family Expenditure Survey and the 
International Passenger Survey which provide direct 
information on persons' behaviour as consumers; and 
statistics of sales by retail shops and other outlets which 
often provide more reliable information on larger and less 
frequently purchased Hems, and are useful in making 
quarterly estimates.

Durable goods, shown separately because their 
purchase is often financed by the various forms of 
borrowing shown in table 9.2, consist of:

(a) cars, motor cycles and other vehicles
(b) furnHure and floor coverings
(c) other durable goods.

The latter category comprises radio and television 
sets, audio and video equipment, musical Instruments, 
photographic and optical equipment, household 
appliances such as heating and domestic appliances, 
sewing machines and lawnmowers.

Personal saving is what remains of total personal 
disposable income after deducting consumers' 
expenditure. Because personal saving is calculated as 
the difference between two large aggregates, the figure 
includes the net effect of estimation errors and omissions 
in their components and is therefore less reliable than 
others in the table.

Saving ratio is personal saving expressed as a
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percentage of total personal disposable income
Table 9.2
Sources and uses of funds

This table brings together series from the capHal and 
financial accounts of the personal sector (i.e. table 1.11) 
to show how funds are raised and how they are used to 
purchase tangible and financial assets.

Identified sources of funds
Saving is the balancing Hem transferred from table 9.1. 

It is the difference between total personal disposable 
income and consumers’ expenditure, before providing for 
depreciation, stock appreciation and addHions to tax 
reserves.

Capital transfers cover such items as grants received 
by universHies and other private non-profit-making 
bodies, grants to farmers, mainly for farm improvements 
and field drainage, and local authorHy grants for the 
conversion and improvement of housing. From 1967 H 
includes a small amount of investment grants in respect 
of capital expendHure after 17 January 1966.

Total borrowing is the sum of bank borrowing, credH 
extended by retailers, loans for house purchase and 
other loans and mortgages.

Bank borrowing, which includes bank advances, and 
commercial bills and market loans from third quarter 
1975, is derived from banks’ sector statistics. H excludes 
loans for house purchase. Figures include both sterling 
and foreign currency Hems.

Credit extended by retailers relates to the debt of 
individual consumers and unincorporated businesses. 
See notes to table 7.5.

Loans for house purchase from local authorHies are 
loans made for small dwellings acquisitions. Other public 
sector loans are those made by central government 
under various Housing Acts to private housing 
associations, and loans made by the Housing 
Corporation to housing societies. Loans from banks are 
compiled by the Bank of England from banking statistics. 
For a description of mortgage advances by building 
societies see notes to tables 6.8 to 6.9. These advances 
are all attributed to the personal sector apart from a 
small amount identified as lending to industrial and 
commercial companies. Other loans for house purchase 
comprise loans from insurance companies (derived from 
figures shown in table 7.10), from pension funds, from 
Trustee savings banks (prior to their inclusion in the 
banks' sector) and miscellaneous financial institutions. 
Figures are for net advances of principal. For further 
details see notes to table 9.4 below.

Other bans and mortgages comprise identified trade 
credit given by public corporations, loans from other 
financial instHutions and the public sector, and other 
identified liabilHies.

Accruals adjustment is the difference between 
accruals of local authorHy rates, subsidies, interest flows 
and value added tax (the basis on which these Hems are 
entered in the national income accounts) and the 
corresponding cash payments.

Balancing Hern (unidentified transactions) is the 
difference between total identified sources and total
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identified uses of funds. It is explained under Nature of 
the estimates above.
Identified uses of funds

Capital transfers includes death duties, taxes on 
capital transfers, tax payments on short-term capital 
gains, payments of capital gains tax and a small amount 
of capital transfers to public corporations.

Investment in fixed assets and stocks covers mainly 
investment in dwellings and other new buildings and 
works, but also investment in vehicles, ships and aircraft, 
plant and machinery by unincorporated businesses and 
non-profit-making bodies, and stocks held by 
unincorporated businesses.

Notes and coin are estimated from the total change in 
the amount of notes and coin in circulation less the 
amounts attributable to public corporations, financial 
institutions and the overseas sector; the remainder is 
divided, in the ratio 5:1, between the personal and 
industrial and commercial company sectors (with a 
special adjustment to allow for day-of-the-week effects) 
according to estimates of holdings.

National savings include deposits with the National 
Savings Banks's ordinary account and, from 1 January 
1981, the investment account (NSBIA); Trustee savings 
bank’s ordinary departments up to third quarter 1979; 
national savings certificates (including index-linked 
issues): income bonds; deposit bonds; premium savings 
bonds; SAVE; yearly plan and gift tokens. Prior to 1980, 
the figures also include British savings bonds, defence 
bonds, national development bonds and savings stamps; 
these products are no longer on sale. Estimates of 
holdings by other sectors of income bonds and deposit 
balances in the NSBIA are provided by the Department 
for National Savings, the balance of transactions in these 
instruments and all transactions in other instruments are 
attributed to the personal sector, see tables 3.9 and 3.10.

Tax instruments are unincorporated businesses' tax 
reserve certificates and certificates of tax deposit; the 
former have now been run off. Figures are obtained from 
government accounts, see table 3.11.

Local authority temporary debt is derived from local 
authority borrowing information, (see the notes on this 
item, line 19.4, in the matrix).

Deposits with banks are obtained from banking 
statistics.

Deposits with building societies come from statistics 
obtained from building societies. Up to third quarter 1978, 
apart from a small amount attributed to industrial and 
commercial companies and insurance companies, the net 
increases in shares and deposits are assumed to be held 
by persons. From the third quarter 1978, a fuller sector
analysis was made by building societies. See table 6.9 
for details.

British government securities. Figures for personal 
sector transactions in British government securities are 
the residual item as shown in table 3.5, and therefore 
includes errors and omissions in the estimates of 
transactions of other sectors.

Other public sector debt. The local authority 
component is derived from total borrowing by local 
authorities. Personal sector borrowing is taken as 
residual after borrowing by other sectors has been
identified. Northern Ireland central government debt is 
also included.

Company securities also includes unit trust units and 
other identified assets. Transactions in company 
securities by persons is the residual item after identified 
transactions by other sectors have been taken into 
account.

Life assurance and pension funds. The relationship of 
these funds to the personal sector is explained in the 
introduction to this section. In the finarrcial accounts the 
figure that is shown is the balance of the funds’ revenue 
account, i.e. the net amount available for investment by 
the funds.

Table 9.3
Consumer credit and other personal sector 
borrowing

This table is a disaggregation and re-arrangement of 
the nine headings described as borrowing in table 9.2. H 
was described in detail in an article in the September 
1979 issue of Economic Trends. The purpose of the 
table is to extract from those figures a measure of 
consumer credit, defined In principle as borrowing by 
consumers (i.e. the personal sector excluding 
unincorporated businesses and non-profit-making bodies 
serving persons) to finance current expenditure on goods 
and services (i.e. consumers' expenditure in table 9.1) 
but excluding very short-term borrowing akin to trade 
credit. As is explained in the article, it is not possible to 
meet this definition precisely in practice; nevertheless the 
measure distinguished is thought to be a reasonably 
good overall indicator of consumer credit.

Borrowing by means of bank credit cards is included 
in banks’ sector consumer credit. Borrowing by means of 
Trustcard is included in Trustee savings banks consumer 
credit to end-1981. From then. Trustee savings banks 
became part of the banks' sector and trustcard lx)rrowing 
is included in banks consumer credit.

The table shows borrowing through bank credit ccds 
as a separate memorandum item. These figures relate to 
borrowing through Access and Visa (except that 
borrowing through Trustcard, part of Visa, is included 
only from end-1981) and also other bank credit cards.

Some credit cards are issued by or on behalf of 
retailers. Borrowing through these cards is included in 
the table according to the type of institution financing the 
scheme. Some are banks, some are non-bank consumer 
credit companies, and in a few cases retailers finance 
their own schemes.

The table excludes borrowing through charge cards, 
i.e. through 'travel and entertainment' cards such as 
Diners Club and American Express and through charge 
cards issued by retailers. Repayment of borrowing 
through charge cards is normally made in full at the end 
of the month. This form of borrowing is akin to trade 
credit rather than consumer credit as defined here. It 
should be included in other borrowing on the right-hand 
side of the table, but data for it are not at present 
available.

The consumer credit series has not been compiled for 
periods earlier than 1976 because the crucial separatbn 
of bank lending to the personal sector between that to 
households and individuals and that to the remainder of 
the sector (mainly unincorporated businesses) was not 
made before then.

Total consumer credit is also shown seasonally

f
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adjusted. This is done by seasonally adjusting total 
consumer credit rather than by adjusting the individual 
series and aggregating the results.

Scope of headings
Consumer credit comprises:

banks: total. This series comprises sterling 
lending to persons, households and individual 
trusts, derived from table 6.2, but excluding 
loans for house purchase which are shown 
separately in table 9.4. 
banks: credit card lending. The figures 
comprise borrowing through Access and Visa 
cards, (excluding Trustcard before end-1981) 
and also other bank credit cards.
Trustee savings banks: derived from statistics 
recorded separately prior to their inclusion in 
the banks sector.
non-bank consumer credit companies. This 
series is. since the rebasing of data on the 
results of a ‘benchmark’ enquiry in 1976 to all 
consumer credit grantors, equal to the series 
loans and advances to persons in table 7.4. 
insurance companies: 6er\ve6 from information 
used to compile table 7.10 and shown in more 
detail in Business Monitor MQ5. Figures are 
for net advances of principal. 
retailers. This is the change in amounts 
outstanding of debt to retailers in table 7.5.

Other borrowing comprises:

loans for house purchase have the same 
coverage as in table 9.2, where the detail is 
shown.
banks: lending by banks to the remainder of 
the personal sector is also derived from table 
6.2; the assumption is made that no loans for 
house purchase are made to this part of the 
personal sector.
other. This includes identified trade credit 
given by public corporations, other loans from 
other financial institutions and the public 
sector, and other identified domestic liabilities 
(see page 24).

Total borrowing is the sum of consumer credit and the 
remainder of bank borrowing of the personal sector and 
other borrowing, it corresponds to the same aggregate 
shown in table 9.2.

Timeliness
Information on consumer credit Uom the banks other 

bank borrowing, borrowing from non-bank consumer 
credit companies and retailers is generally available three 
months after the end of the quarter to which it relates. 
Complete detail is available four months after the end of 
the quarter to which it relates.

Table 9.4
Loans for house purchase

This table brings together the quarterly figures for 
loans for house purchase shown in the sector accounts.

It also includes the small amount identified (referred to 
on page 89) as lending by building societies to industrial 
and commercial companies. Net advances by building 
societies, central government, local authorities, insurance 
companies and pension funds, the banks' sector, Trustee 
savings banks (up to end-1981) when they became part 
of the UK bank sector), miscellaneous financial 
institutions and public corporations are shown separately. 
Gross advances and repayments are shown for building 
societies, central government, local authorities and 
insurance companies and pension funds. This 
information is not available for other lenders. The 
amounts of outstanding debt are also given for the end 
of the year. A more detailed description of the series is 
given on page 24.

The figures for repayments to building societies are 
split between regular repayments, repayments on 
redemption and other lump sum repayments. Building 
society transactions from January 1987 are derived from 
figures prepared by the Building Societies Commission 
on the basis of returns made to it by individual societies. 
The monthly figures from 1978 to January 1987 are 
derived from different returns made to the Building 
Societies Association, these were based on a sample 
representing over 95% of total assets of all societies. 
Although the coverage and definitions of these two 
sources should be broadly the same, there may be some 
break in series at end-December 1986; thus any effect of 
the change of source is incorporated in the January 1987 
flows. In July 1989 Abbey National Building Society 
converted to a public limited company. From that date, its 
lending is classified as that of a bank whereas prior to 
that date it is classified as that of a building society. 
Before 1978 the estimates were made from samples 
which varied between about 50% and 80% of total 
assets. Annual figures from 1956 to 1962 are published 
in A compendium of Building Society Statistics, second 
Edition by the Building Societies Association.

Scope of headings
As from end-December 1986 (amounts outstanding) 

and the first quarter of 1987 (net advances) the series 
Miscellaneous financial institutions is split, giving 
separate figures for Bank subsidiaries and Of/7er lenders 
within the category.

Bank subsidiaries comprises specialised mortgage 
finance companies in the UK, not consolidated with their 
parent banks but which act as departments of their 
parents (and are in general largely funded by them); 
together with non-bank sector banking institutions in the 
Channel Islands and Isle of Man which are members of 
UK-based banking groups.

Other comprises UK mortgage finance companies 
which are not subsidiaries of bank sector institutions, 
albeit they may borrow from the banks; together with 
Channel Islands and Isle of Man banking institutions 
outside the banks sector which are not connected wKh 
UK-based banking groups.

Table 9.5
Selected liquid assets

This table illustrates the relative importance of

I
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selected personal sector liquid assets, with bank 
borrowing shown for comparison. The categories broadly 
correspond with those used in the financial transactions 
accounts and are compiled from the same sources. 
Details of holdings of all assets and liabilities at 31 
December each year are given in supplementary table 
S2 - Balance sheets of the personal sector.

National savings comprises personal sector national 
savings contributing to the public sector borrowing 
requirement. Fuller details of amounts outstanding for 
each instrument are given in table 3.9 and these are 
described in the notes to that table. From fourth quarter 
1979 Trustee savings banks ordinary department 
deposits are excluded, while, from first quarter 1981, 
National Savings Bank investment account deposits are 
included.

Tax instruments covers net issues of certificates of tax 
deposit (to the personal sector) and tax reserve 
certificates in the years prior to 1979; see table 3.11.

Local authority temporary debt is obtained from the 
sector analysis given in table 4.6.

Deposits with banks are consistent with the sector

analysis of gross deposits shown in table 6.2. Sterling 
deposits are split between sight and time. Table 6.2 also 
gives deposits by individuals, households and individual 
trusts as a group. The notes to table 6.2 should be 
consulted for further information, including details of 
various changes in the coverage of the series.

Building societies consists of the item shares and 
deposits in table 6.9, excluding amounts deposited by 
industrial and commercial companies (shown in table 
8.4), insurance companies, pension funds, the public 
sector and overseas residents.

Other relates to deposits with other deposit taking 
institutions. The series was discontinued after fourth 
quarter 1981 when licensed deposit taking institutions 
became part of the banks sector.

Bank borrowing \nc\u6es loans for house purchase. As 
with bank deposits, further detail is shown in table 6.2.
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Section 10 
Overseas sector

The balance of payments accounts are concerned with 
the economic transactions between the United Kingdom 
and the rest of the world. They record transactions 
between UK residents and non-residents, indicating the 
nature or purpose of the transactions which may involve 
a flow of real resources (i.e. goods or services) or of 
income; changes in foreign assets or liabilities; or 
transfer payments such as grants or gifts. The accounts 
of the United Kingdom Balance of Payments (the CSO 
‘Pink Book) use the terminology and components set out 
in the international standards on balance of payments 
presentation established by the International Monetary 
Fund.

The overseas sector of the national accounts, 
including the financial transactions accounts (see table 
1.12), cover the same relationships and transactions as 
the balance of payments account but use terminology 
and components to facilitate comparison with the 
domestic sector accounts. The current balance in the 
balance of payments is described as net investment 
abroad in deriving gross national product and as the 
financial surplus or deficit in the financial transactions 
accounts. The transactions in UK external assets and 
liabilities, together with certain capital transfers such as 
Special Drawing Rights (see notes at table 10.7), 
correspond to the financial transactions of the overseas 
sector, although different components and financial 
instruments are distinguished. The relationship between 
the two presentations is published each year in Financial 
Statistics (see supplementary table S9 in the September 
1991 issue). In the past there have been minor coverage 
differences between the two presentations (e.g. because 
of timing or the use of different sources of information), 
but steps are now being taken to ensure complete 
congruence.

The United Kingdom is defined as including the Isle of 
Man, the Channel Islands and that part of the Continental 
Shelf deemed by international convention to belong to 
the United Kingdom. UK residents are defined as private 
persons other than visitors living in the United Kingdom, 
the UK government, local authorities, all commercial 
enterprises situated in the United Kingdom (including 
overseas companies’ branches and subsidiaries located 
in the United Kingdom, and all UK government officials 
and forces stationed abroad). See also the latest edition 
of United Kingdom Balance of Payments - the CSO ‘Pink 
Book' and in paragraphs 15.115 - 15.123 of United 
Kingdom National Accounts: Sources and Methods 
(HMSO 1985).

Transactions are recorded when the ownership of 
goods or assets changes and when services are 
rendered. Under the conventions of the balance of 
payments accounts, credit (or positive) entries are 
recorded for exports of real resources (goods supplied 
and services rendered etc. to overseas residents) and for 
income abroad; debit (or negative) entries are recorded 
for imports of goods and services and income due from 
the UK to overseas residents. For consistency, positive 
entries are also required for the flows which reduce 
foreign assets held by the United Kingdom or add to the 
UK's liabilities to non-residents. Conversely the flows 
which add to the UK’s foreign assets or reduce its 
liabilities to non-residents are recorded as debit entries.

Because a flow in one direction (e.g. an export of 
goods) must be offset by another (e.g. an inftow of 
foreign currency), with the conventional use of plus and 
minus signs, in principle, all entries should sum to zero. 
In practice, however, a balancing item is included to 
offset the sum of errors and omissions.

The transactions in the UK balance of payments 
accounts are classified into two main groups.

1. Current account
This includes visible trade, i.e. exports and imports of 

goods; and also invisibles, namely services, interest, 
profits and dividends (also described in the national 
accounts as net property income from abroad), and most 
transfer payments (goods, services or financial items that 
are rendered without a reciprocal flow).

2. Transactions in UK external assets and 
liabilities

This covers direct and portfolio investment 
transactions and borrowing and lending overseas, 
including transactions in the official reserves. It should be 
noted that investment, in this context, refers not only to 
transactions in physical capital but also to transactions in 
certain financial assets, e.g. company securities, and all 
financial flows between companies in the United 
Kingdom and their affiliates overseas.

Quality of data
The balance of payments estimates are compiled from 

a large number of different sources and the degree of 
accuracy varies considerably between items. All the 
invisible balances shown in table 10.1 contain some 
component series where a substantial amount of 
estimation is involved although later estimates for 
financial and other services are based to a greater extent 
than in the past on direct inquiries to businesses. Where 
a balance is drawn between two aggregates and the 
balance is small in relation to the aggregates, such as 
the current balance, the proportionate error attached to 
the balance is also liable to be very substantial.

In table 10.2 direct and portfolio investment 
transactions are based on various inquiries and the share 
register survey and are thought to be adequately 
measured. Transactions by UK banks are taken from 
returns made to the Bank of England although errors 
may arise through failure to recognise non-resident 
status and in estimating transactions in sterling from 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. 
Borrowing and lending transactions overseas, other than 
by banks and general government, contain significant 
omissions and coverage problems. Transactions of 
general government are based mainly on departmental 
accounts.

The series in tables 10.3, 10.6 and 10.7 are derived 
from official records. The levels in tables 10.4 and 10.5 
are taken from returns to the Bank of England and like 
transactions, may contain errors through failure to 
recognise non-resident status.
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Table 10.1
Summary balance of payments

This summary shows the two main groups of 
transactions mentioned above (current account and 
transactions in external assets and liabilities) together 
with allocations of Special Drawing Rights (SDRs), and 
the balancing item.

AIbcation of Special Drawing Rights is the UK share 
of the allocation by the International Monetary Fund 
(IMF) of the reserve asset, SDRs, which first came into 
use on 1 January 1970. UK holdings of SDRs are 
included in the official reserves (see also notes to table 
10.7).

Balancing Hen) is included to bring the sum of all the 
balance of payments entries to zero and represents the 
net total of errors and omissions in other items.

Table 10.2
Transactions in UK external assets and 
liabilities

The table provides further analyses of series HEPZ 
and HEQW in table 10.1. The types of transactions 
shown in table 10.2 are not necessarily independent of 
one another. For example, overseas direct investment in 
the UK may be financed by lending by a UK bank to the 
overseas resident making the investment. There would 
thus be a positive entry under HHBU offset by a negative 
entry in HEYN.

Changes In the sterling value of assets denominated 
in other currencies resulting purely from exchange rate 
movements are not recorded in the balance of payments 
accounts. The accounts record transactions valued at the 
time they took place.

A detailed reconciliation between the items described 
below, as shown in the balance of payments accounts, 
and the items in the financial accounts of the overseas 
sector is given in supplementary table S9.

Transactions in assets
UK direct investment overseas comprises mainly net 

investment by UK companies in their overseas branches, 
subsidiaries and associates, including the re-investment 
of retained profits. Transactions of a number of public 
corporations are included but those of government 
departments are excluded. The figures also include real 
estate transactions by non-bank financial institutions and 
loans and mortgages to overseas residents by non-bank 
financial institutions.

UK portfolio investment overseas covers net 
purchases and sales of overseas government, municipal 
and company securities. It includes investment by UK 
banks in floating rate notes and bonds.

Lending etc. to overseas residents by UK banks 
covers external lending in foreign currencies and sterling, 
including that related to export credit. Prior to 1979 the 
figures only cover lending in sterling and certain long 
term export credit extended in foreign currencies; other 
foreign currency transactions being recorded on a net 
basis under liabilities.

DeposHs and lending overseas by UK residents other 
than banks and general government includes deposits 
with banks covered by International Monetary Fund (IMF) 
cross-border banking statistics; plus extended coverage

of US banks' branches in Panama and the fiduciary 
accounts of Swiss banks. Also included are transactions 
of the Commonwealth Development Corporation, 
advance and progress payments on imports and other 
overseas lending and short term assets. Until end-1982, 
when the information ceased to be available, net export 
credit extended to overseas firms by unrelated UK firms 
is also included.

Official reserves consists of the sterling equivalent of 
the changes in the gold and convertible currencies and 
Special Drawing Rights held in the Exchange 
Equalisation Account, together with changes in the UK 
reserve position in the International Monetary Fund (IMF) 
(see also notes to table 10.3).

Other external assets of central government comprises 
mainly inter-government loans made by the UK, 
subscriptions to international lending bodies and export 
credit taken over by the Export Credits Guarantee 
Department (ECGD) from UK banks and suppliers 
following the settlement of insurance claims together with 
such credit acquired by the ECGD from UK banks under 
refinancing arrangements.

Transactions in liabilities
Overseas direct investment in the C/Kcomprise mainly 

net investment by overseas companies in their branches, 
subsidiaries or associated companies in the United 
Kingdom including the re-investment of retained profits. 
Also covered are miscellaneous property investments in 
the United Kingdom by overseas residents.

Overseas portfolb investment in the UK represents 
changes in the holdings by overseas residents of UK 
company securities, British government stocks and 
foreign currency notes and bonds, local authorities’ 
securities and public corporations foreign currency 
issues. UK company securities include securities issued 
abroad although international issues by oil companies 
were included under direct investment prior to 1980.

Borrowing etc. from overseas residents by UK banks 
covers foreign currency and sterling borrowing and 
deposits liabilities abroad. Prior to 1979, however, foreign 
currency borrowing is recorded net of foreign currency 
lending abroad; subsequently this lending is recorded 
under transactions in assets.

Borrowing from overseas by UK residents other than 
banks and general government covers transactions with 
banks abroad, covering predominantly borrowing from 
commercial banks in the reporting area covered by the 
IMF and borrowing from the European Investment Bank 
and the United States of America’s Export-Import bank. 
Also included are identified trade credit between 
unrelated companies (advance and progress payments 
on exports and import credit) and other liabilities 
including short-term transactions of investment and unit 
trusts and, from the beginning of 1982, miscellaneous 
financial institutions’ transactions with non-banks abroad.

Other external liabilHies of general government covers 
transactions with the International Monetary Fund, 
borrowing from other monetary authorities, inter
government loans to the UK and foreign currency 
borrowing from banks overseas. Also included are 
sterling borrowing from and deposit liabilities to banks 
etc. overseas by local authorities, overseas holdings of 
Treasury bills and non-interest bearing notes issued by
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HM Government together with official short-term 
transactions.

Table 10.3
Official reserves

The official reserves comprise gold, convertible 
currencies and SDRs held in the Exchange Equalisation 
Account, together with the United Kingdom reserve 
position in the IMF. Convertible currencies may be held 
with form of financial instruments; securities are valued 
at historic cost but translated into US dollars as set out 
below. Transactions, drawings on or additions to the 
reserves, are translated into sterling at current market 
rates. There is thus a valuation difference between these 
transactions and the changes in the equivalent levels 
which are expressed in US dollars on the basis 
described below and then translated into sterling at end- 
period doilar/sterling middle-market closing rates.

In calculating the levels, non-dollar components are 
translated to dollars as follows;

Gold is valued at $42.2222 per fine ounce up to 
end-March 1979; thereafter at 75% of the average of 
the London fixing prices for the three months up to 
end-March, with the alternative from end-March 1980 
of at 75% of the final fixing price on the last working 
day in March, whichever is the lower.

Special Drawing Rights are valued at: 1 SDR = 
$1.20635 Up to end-March 1979; thereafter at the 
average of the exchange rates in the three months to 
end-March, with the alternative from end-March 1980 
of at their actual dollar values on the last working day 
in March, whichever is the lower. (For further details of 
SDRs see notes to table 10.7.)

Non-dollar convertible currencies are translated to 
dollars at middle or central rates until end-March 1979, 
thereafter at the average of the exchange rates in the 
three months to end-March, with the alternative from 
end-March 1980 of at the rate on the last working day 
in March, whichever is the lower. (These translation 
practices are not the same as those used in the 
United Kingdom Balance of Payments ‘Pink Book', 
where gold is valued at end-year market rates from 
end-1978 and SDRs and convertible currencies are 
valued at closing middle market exchange rates.)
The effects of these annual revaluations have been 

(increase in assets - /decrease + ):
$ million

Jo tti
o ffid it Convortibl#

rM #rvM Gdd SOfU currondot
-4403 •3116 •63 •1.314
•3069 •3628 *50 *489
*257 •272 *54 *475

*4.216 *2.754 *245 *1.219
•1.046 •1.351 *93 *212

*979 *443 *79 *457
♦2111 *1166 *202 ♦743
•2505 •592 -442 •1471
•2600 •695 •376 •1619
•2679 •676 •239 •1964
*3525 *1003 *153 *2369

From July 1979 the official reserves include European 
Currency Units (ECUs) acquired when 20% of the gold 
and 20% of the dollar holdings in the official reserves 
were deposited on a swap basis with the European 
Monetary Co-operation Fund, the swap arrangement 
being renewed quarterly. As non-dollar convertible 
currencies these are valued as indicated above.
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Table 10.4
External liabilities and claims in sterling

This table, which is based on returns by the monetary 
sector and other financial institutions in the United 
Kingdom, brings together those figures which bear on the 
reserve role of sterling (i.e. other countries’ and 
international organisations' holdings of sterling within 
their official reserves); figures of cash or similarly liquid 
funds held in the United Kingdom by other overseas 
holders, mainly commercial banks, companies and 
individuals; and the claims of the UK monetary sector 
and certain other institutions on overseas residents. The 
levels of liabilities and assets shown here correspond to 
transactions included in table 10.2. The breaks in the 
series are explained in the description of table 10.5 
below.

Exchange resenres in sterling are defined as funds 
held by central monetary institutions and international 
organisations other than the IMF. The funds comprise 
banking and money market instruments, i.e. deposits with 
the UK monetary sector and certain other institutions; 
holdings of sterling certificates of deposit; local authority 
short-term debt; British government stocks and non
interest bearing notes issued by HM Government.

Other holdings of sterling which countries may regard 
as part of their resen/es are excluded. For example, 
some ear-marked funds, and holdings by official bodies 
not classified as central monetary institutions, are 
included in banking and money market liabilities to other 
holders; and holdings of other types of asset (for 
example equities) which are not covered by this table.

The holdings of British government stocks shown in 
table 10.4 are revalued at current market prices annually. 
Up to 1984 the revaluation took place in mid-November. 
From 1985, it occurs at end December. The effect of the 
revaluation, which is not included in the transactions 
figures in table 10.2, is to add the following amounts to 
the levels from the fourth quarter of each year:

1675 
1976 
1677
1676 
1679 
I960 
10B1
1962
1963
1964
1965
1966
1967 
1966 
1969

£ rhnion 
*63 
•54 

*215 
•106 
•69 

*122 
•61 

*420 
•20 
*29 
•33 

*195 
•170 
•345 
-473

Banking and money market liabilities to other overseas 
holders, like those held as part of exchange reserves, 
are the most liquid and normally the most variable of all 
the various types of sterling investments. They include 
the balances held by overseas banks and commercial 
concerns and those balances held by overseas 
governments where these are not classified as exchange
reserves.

Banking and money market liabilities comprise:

deposits with the UK banks and with certain 
other institutions, including, before 1980, the 
Crown Agents for Overseas governments and 
Administrations
holdings of local authority revenue bills and

(a)

(b)
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other temporary loans to local authorities 
with an original maturity of less than one 
year
holdings of certificates of deposit denominated 
in sterling issued by UK banks and lodged 
with UK banks
Treasury bills lodged with UK banks

External claims in sterling (i.e. assets) reported by the 
banks and certain other institutions in the United 
Kingdom cover:

reporting institutions’ loans and advances to 
overseas residents together with balances 
held by them with overseas residents (e.g. 
deposits with banks overseas) 
commercial bills, promissory notes and other 
negotiable paper owned by the reporting 
institutions and drawn on overseas residents, 
together with outstanding acceptances given 
by the reporting institutions on behalf of 
overseas residents.

Loans, advances and balances include acceptances 
given by reporting institutions which they themselves 
have subsequently discounted.

B/V/sancfaccepfances include all sterling lending under 
ECGD special schemes for exports, including amounts 
refinanced by the government, Trustee savings banks 
and the Co-operative bank.

Timeliness
Data are published approximately one quarter in 

arrears.

Table 10.5
External liabilities and claims of United 
Kingdom in foreign currencies

The figures show gross liabilities to, and claims on, 
overseas banks and other overseas customers as 
reported by the monetary sector and certain other 
institutions and recorded in the books at the close of 
business on the last working day of calendar quarters. 
Amounts in foreign currency have been translated into 
sterling at the middle closing exchange rate on that day; 
the figures need to be interpreted with care, therefore, 
because fluctuations in exchange rates between 
reporting dates will affect the sterling valuation. The 
corresponding estimates of transactions between 
reporting dates are included in table 10.2. Forward 
commitments and unsettled spot deals are not included 
in the series.

Liabilities comprise deposits and advances received 
from overseas residents and negotiable dollar certificates 
of deposit issued in London.

Official liabilities in foreign currencies arising from
short-term loans to the UK government and drawings on
borrowing facilities made available to the UK government
by overseas central banks are not included; however,
overseas liabilities incurred by UK banks to finance on-
lending to HM Government under two euro-dollar
facilities of $2,500 million and $1,500 million and to
public bodies under the exchange cover scheme are 
included.

Claims (i.e. assets) comprise deposits with, and

advances to, overseas residents; commercial bills and 
other negotiable paper drawn on overseas residents; 
ECGD special scheme lending for exports, foreign 
currency notes and gold bullion. Claims on overseas 
customers arising from acceptances were included until 
the end of 1974; thereafter they are excluded.

Figures shown under other banks include items which 
cannot be allocated; under liabilities these include 
unallocated certificates of deposit, even though these 
may be held by banks on behalf of their non-bank 
customers.

The following breaks in series have occurred.

From end-1977 onwards includes improved 
coverage of UK financial institutions reporting 
holdings of US dollar certificates of deposit. The 
resulting reduction in UK external liabilities at 
end-1977 was about £50 million.

From end-quarter one 1979 onwards 
incorporates other coverage changes. A 
comparable^ligure for total net liabilities at 
end-1978 would be about £300 million more than 
that shown.

From end-1981 onwards the reporting population 
is larger than before mainly resulting from the re
definition of the banking sector (see Section 6). 
(Also, the number of other financial institutions that 
report was increased at that date.) Data on both old 
and new bases are shown at this date. One of the 
effects of the change has been to increase the 
items unallocated by type of customer (shown 
under other banks). At end-quarter one 1983, a 
significant number of banks contributed to the 
quarterly banking statistics for the first time.

Timeliness
Data are published approximately one quarter in 

arrears.

Further references
A more detailed analysis of the most recent figures 

appears in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Table 10.6
Outstanding government and other foreign 
currency borrowing

This table shows figures for the amount of public 
sector foreign currency borrowing and leasing 
outstanding at end-quarters: non-US dollar denominated 
debt has been translated to US dollars at the appropriate 
end-period middle market closing rates of exchange.

HMG short and medium-term borrowing covers the 
items shown under separate headings Securities (notes, 
bonds and 6///sjand Other. These two categories have 
now been combined under the one heading.

HMG short and medium-term borrowing comprises: 
bonds denominated in US dollars, deutshemarks, Swiss 
francs and yen, and sold to official holders of sterling in 
April 1977; an issue in New York in 1978 of $350 million 
of HM Government 7 and 15 year bonds; other public 
sector debt assigned to HMG (these assignments involve 
equal and offsetting reductions in other public sector 
borrowing under the exchange cover scheme); issues of 
$2,500 million and $4,000 million floating-rate notes in
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1985 and 1986 respectively: from October 1988, ECU 
Treasury bills, the bills being short-term instruments with 
a life to date of between one and six months; net 
drawings from UK banks and banks overseas on two 
Eurodollar facilities of $2,500 million and $1,500 million; 
from February 1991 an ECU 2.5 billion issue of HM 
Government ten year bonds; and, any drawings made 
under the very short term financing facility of the 
European Monetary System.

IMF, consists of net drawings from the IMF, less other 
countries' net purchases of sterling, but excluding 
transactions which affect the UK reserve position in the 
IMF.

HMG long term borrowing consists of long-term 
government debt dating from the 1940's, mainly taken 
from North America and including the wartime lend-lease 
arrangements.

Other public sector borrowing under the exchange 
cover scheme consists of net borrowing, primarily by UK 
public corporations and local authorities, under the 1969 
and subsequent exchange cover schemes (ECS). It 
includes any debt still owed under the scheme by 
privatised public corporations at the date of privatisation, 
together with certain debts incurred under the scheme by 
British Nuclear Fuels pic and the Northern Ireland central 
government. Foreign currency borrowed through UK 
banks and from abroad, and the issue of foreign currency 
securities are also included.

Other public sector uncovered borrowing comprises 
foreign currency borrowing by local authorities and public 
corporations outside the ECS and drawn down before 
end-March 1981. External sterling borrowing is included 
until 1979, when exchange controls were removed. Any 
debt still owed by a public corporation at the time of 
privatisation ceases to be a public liability at that point; 
thus a change in level does not reflect transactions only.

Other public sector debt comprises the debt which was 
drawn outside the exchange cover scheme after March 
1981. Borrowing of this type was permitted only for the 
purpose of meeting specific commercial needs for foreign 
currency; it thus fell outside the definition of official debt. 
In addition, the column also includes financial leasing 
and transactions with overseas export credit agencies. 
The reduction in the level of borrowing at the end of the 
first quarter of 1987 reflects not only transactions but 
also the privatisation on 6 February 1987 of British 
Airways, whose debt then ceased to be a public liability. 
Up to the January 1988 issue. Financial Statistics shows 
a full breakdown of the debt covered under this heading; 
the 1987 Financial Statistics Explanatory Handbook 
provides more detailed notes.

Definitionally similar end-monthly levels of the whole 
spectrum of debt covered in this table can be found in 
table 17.2 of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Table 10.7
International Monetary Fund The operations 
of the IMF

The IMF was set up in 1944 and commenced 
operations In 1947 with the aim of promoting international 
monetary co-operation and to that end seeking to 
maintain orderly exchange arrangements and to provide 
for financial assistance to countries with balance of 
payments difficulties. Its financial resources are

subscribed by members according to agreed quotas. 
Subscriptions are mainly in members' own currencies but 
are normally partly in resen/e assets (formerly gold but 
now normally SDRs). The IMF’s holding of a particular 
country’s currency is also affected by various types of 
drawings and repayments. Including those made 1^ other 
countries. Since May 1981 the resenre tranche position 
has been defined as the amount by which a country’s 
quota exceeds the IMF’s holding of its currency net of 
balances acquired as a result of purchases from the IMF 
other than the reserve tranche Itself. A country’s reserve 
tranche is regarded as part of its official reserves.

When a country has a balance of payments need it 
can draw foreign currency or SDRs from the IMF. 
purchasing them with an equivalent amount of its own 
currency. Drawings may be from the resen/e tranche 
(taking the IMFs holdings of the country's currency up to 
its quota): or from four credit tranches each equivalent to 
25% of quota (these drawings must be repaid and are 
subject to increasingly stringent conditions with regard to 
economic policy and performance); orfrom otherfacilities 
under which countries may be allowed to purchase from 
the IMF for certain purposes in addition to the reserve 
and credit tranches. These facilities include the 
compensatory financing facility, the buffer stock financing 
facility, the enlarged access policy, the extended fund 
facility and formerly the oil facility and the supplementary 
financing facility. They are discussed in more detail In the 
Quarterly Bulletin article cited below.

A purchase of another member’s currency will by 
reducing the IMF holdings of that currency either reduce 
that member’s obligation to repurchase its currency or 
increase its reserve tranche position.

Transactions affecting IMF holdings of 
sterling

The transactions affecting IMF holdings of sterling are 
categorised as follows:

(a) reserve tranche: UK net drawings (AIVA)
(b) reserve tranche: net drawings by other 

countries (AIVB). From the February 1986 
issue this series is designated reserve 
tranche: other net drawings and interest 
payments of sterling

(c) credit tranche: UK net drawings (AIVC)
(d) credit tranche: net drawings by other countries 

(AIVD)
(e) special oil facility: UK net drawings (AIVE)
(f) maintenance of value payments (AIVF)
(g) UK subscriptions in sterling (AIVG)
(h) other IMF sterling transactions (AIVH)
(i) total change in IMF holdings (AIVI ^ sum of 

items (a)to (h)

All these series are maintained on the CSO Databank, 
but since no transactions have taken place since 1980 in 
series AIVA, AIVC. AIVD and AIVH they are now omitted 
from Financial Statistics.

The sign convention follows that used in the balance 
of payments accounts; increase in IMF holdings of 
sterling i.e. increase in United Kingdom liabilities +, 
decrease in IMF holdings of sterling -. From 1972 
transactions are recorded at the rates of exchange at 
which the IMF accounted for its holdings at the time of
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the transaction (not necessarily the prevailing market 
rate).

Reserve tranche and credit tranches. Net drawings 
and interest payments of sterling.

Maintenance of value paymenfs. the IMF maintains its 
accounts in SDRs. This unit of account is defined by the 
average of the exchange rates of a 'basket' of five major 
currencies broadly weighted according to their relative 
importance in world trade and finance. As the value of 
sterling falls, so more sterling has to be paid periodically 
to the IMF to maintain IMF holdings of sterling constant 
in SDR terms. Correspondingly sterling is received back 
when the sterling exchange rate rises relative to the 
SDR.

UK subscriptions in sterling: subscription to the IMF +. 
Payments of increases in quotas under successive 
general reviews.

Other IMF sterling transactions include; in 1972, the 
repurchase of £83 million of charges first paid in sterling, 
and in 1978 and 1980 payments to the IMF in the third 
and fourth IMF gold restitutions to members. The 1978 
payment was repurchased in 1979; the 1980 payment fell 
into the reserve tranche and so was not subject to 
repurchase.

Further references
Table 10.1 includes figures representing the allocation 

of SDRs to the United Kingdom. SDRs are reserve 
assets created and distributed by decision of the 
members of the IMF. They first came into use in 1970 
and are created upon being allocated by the IMF to a 
member country and increase the size of that member’s 
official reserves. SDRs are only used directly for 
settlements between official holders such as central 
banks. However, participant members countries also 
accept an obligation to provide convertible currency, 
when designated by the IMF to do so, to other 
participants in balance of payments need in exchange for 
SDRs up to a maximum which would take their SDR 
holdings to three times their own allocation.

A more detailed description of IMF operations and 
transactions with the United Kingdom is published in the 
December 1983 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin and more general descriptions of the operations 
of the IMF are to be found in a variety of IMF 
publications.

y
e
If

Tables no longer published

f
Transactions in overseas securities

The table was withdrawn in April 1991. The figures 
previously published in the table for banks, building 
societies, Industrial and commercial companies and the 
personal sector are shown in tables 1.6, 1.7,1.10, and
1.11 respectively.
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Section 11 
Money stock

Monetary aggregates assumed a much greater 
importance in macro-economic policy in the late 1970’s 
and the 1980's. A similar trend occurred in many 
countries culminating in several, including the United 
Kingdom, in publicly declared targets for monetary 
growth. The instruments through which monetary policy 
is pursued, such as interest rates, intervention in financial 
markets and controls on the financial system, can have 
widespread repercussions on the flow of funds 
throughout the economy.

There has been much argument amongst economists 
on why money matters (or indeed whether it does) and 
this debate has a bearing on how money shouid be 
defined and measured.

The quantity theory of money has a iong history. It is 
embodied in the equation MV = PT, the two sides of 
which are different expressions of the same concept. The 
monetary value of transactions in the economy can be 
expressed either as the stock of money available (M) 
multiplied by the average number of times each unit is 
used (the velocity of circuiation V), or as the volume of 
transactions (T) multipiied by the average price levei (P). 
The monetarist school of economists wouid argue that 
the velocity of circulation has a natural level which is 
constant or changes only slowly; further the volume of 
transactions is determined by the suppiy of goods to the 
economy, which is exogenous, so that changes in the 
money suppiy are closeiy linked with a change in the 
price level, i.e. the rate of inflation. Moreover they 
assume that the money supply is exogenous and causes 
changes in the price level. There may be a period during 
which the velocity of circulation temporarily 
accommodates a change in the money supply, but after 
some time lag it will return to its naturai level as prices 
adjust to the change in the money supply.

Economists following what might convenientiy be 
termed a Keynesian philosophy, whilst agreeing that a 
change in the suppiy of money will tend to change its 
price relative to alternative assets, would differ from the 
monetarists on what constitute the alternatives to holding 
money. Whereas monetarists would include real assets 
in the aiternatives, Keynesians would restrict these to 
other financial assets; they would argue that interest rate 
changes wouid bring about adjustments in iiquidity 
preference and the portfoiio of financiai claims held. 
There might be indirect effects on the reai economy but 
these wouid result from the effect of changes in interest 
rates on, for example, the demand for investment goods. 
Such economists would argue that the money supply, of 
itself, has little direct impact on the real economy and 
should be allowed to accommodate the level of demand 
that interest rates and the level of economic activity 
require.

This is an oversimplified summary largely ignoring, for 
example, the question of whether actual or prospective 
changes in the money supply affect expectations, and 
many economists would take a qualified or intermediate 
position. Insights may also be gained by considering the 
sectoral split of money holdings (shown in tables 11.7 
and 11.8) and the relationship between money and total 
wealth: see Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, August 
1990, pages 380-383.

Definitions of Money
There is no single correct definition of money and 

there are many liquid assets which are not included in 
any of the UK monetary aggregates but which 
nevertheless need to be taken Into account on occasions 
when interpreting monetary conditions. An article in the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin of December 1982 
discussed various liquid assets; those which are included 
in the aggregates and some which are not. An article in 
the Quarterly Bulletin of December 1983 discussed 
further some alternative definitions of 'broad money'.

Definitions of some of the aggregates were revised 
with the Chancellor's budget of 13 March 1984. Details 
were given in an article in the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin, March 1984.

A new presentation of the measures of broad money 
was introduced in May 1987. M4, was introduced to 
cover the sterling deposit liabilities of banks and building 
societies to the rest of the private sector, and holdings by 
the latter of notes and coin. M3 was renamed M3Car\6 
sterling M3 was renamed M3. PSL2 became MS. An 
article in the Quarterly Bulletin of May 1987 introduced 
the new presentation in detail. M3 and M3c (which 
comprised notes and coins in circuiation with the public, 
together with all sterling and foreign currency deposits 
(including certificates of deposit) held with UK banks by 
the non-bank private sector) ceased to be published from 
July 1989 (along with M l) as a consequence of the 
breaks in series that were caused by Abbey National 
Building Society's conversion to a public limited company 
(see Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, August 1989.) 
The definitions of the monetary aggregates were 
considered in 'Monetary aggregates in a changing 
environment: a statistical discussion papef (Discussion 
Paper 47) issued by the Bank of England in March 1990. 
Responses to the paper, and the Banks’ reaction to 
them, were described in an article in the August 1990 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin. As a result of the 
changes heralded in this article, non-interest bearing M l 
is no longer published as an aggregate (although its 
components are still shown). The definition of M2 was 
changed slightly to make it a subset of M4. The changes 
made to M2 were the removal of deposits with the 
National Savings Bank, and building societies holdings of 
notes and coin. M4C and MS ceased to be published 
from March 1991, and were replaced by ‘Liquid assets 
outside M4' (see Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin May 
1991).

Three definitions of the money stock are set out in this 
section.

MO, the narrowest measure, consists of notes and coin 
in circulation outside the Bank of England and bankers' 
operational deposits at the Bank.

M2 was introduced in the summer of 1982, and 
comprises the UK non-bank non-building society (i.e. M4) 
private sector's holdings of notes and coin and sterling 
retail deposits with the UK banks and building societies. 
Bank ‘retail’ deposits comprise all non-interest-bearing 
deposits plus ‘chequable’ sight or time deposits 
regardless of maturity (i.e. any accounts on which 
cheques may be drawn or from which immediate 
payment may be made) plus other deposits (excluding 
certificates of deposit) of less than £100,000 and with

100



Money stock

i9d

less than one month to maturity (or requiring less than 
one month’s notice of withdrawal or withdrawable in this 
time without significant penalty). Building society 'retail’ 
deposits within M2 incorporate transaction accounts and 
other deposits of less than £100,000 and up to one 
month to maturity.

All Tax Exempt Special Savings Accounts (TESSA’s), 
introduced in January 1991, are included in M2.

M4 comprises the UK non-bank non-building society 
(i.e. /W4) private sector’s holdings of notes and coin, 
together with all sterling deposits (including certificates of 
deposit) held with UK banks and building societies by the 
M4 private sector.

A diagram showing the relationships among the 
monetary aggregates and their components is given on 
page 104.

Counterparts to money stock changes
Monetary aggregates are defined, in the main, as 

selections of the assets held by the UK private sector 
which are the liabilities of certain financial institutions. 
The total liabilities of these institutions are equal to the 
total of the claims on the opposite side of their balance 
sheets. Therefore, where the aggregate comprises a 
significant proportion of the liabilities of the institutions in 
question, as in the case of M4, it may also be analysed 
in terms of the assets held by the institutions. Sometimes 
this can be a more helpful way of examining the relation 
of the aggregate’s behaviour to other aspects of the 
economy, particularly if the institutions manage their 
liabilities to accommodate changes in their assets, rather 
than the other way round. Thus the main counterpart to 
a change in M4 is bank and building society lending in 
sterling to the private and public sectors. However, banks 
and building societies form the residual source of lending 
to the public sector, so it is usually more helpful to 
consider bank and building society lending to the public 
sector in terms of the total borrowing requirement (the 
PSBR - see also Section 2) less that part financed from 
non-bank non-building society sources. Therefore the 
main counterparts to changes in M4 become the PSBR, 
public sector debt sales to the private sector and external 
and foreign currency finance of the public sector, and M4 
lending to the private sector.

Changes in money stock - M4, are presented in table 
11.6 as an analysis of changes in domestic counterparts 
and in external and foreign currency counterparts. It is 
helpful to explain the construction of this table and to 
demonstrate these links by starting with the consolidated 
balance sheet of the banks and building societies. 
Simplifying slightly we have:

UK bank$ and building aooataa

Starling dapoarta 
UK public aactcr 
UK phvata M dof 
Orartaaa raaidants* dapoa^ 

Foraign currancy dapoads 
Non-dapoait atading a r^ 
faaign orrancy liablitiaa (nal)

As$4t$
Starting landing to:

UK public aactcr 
UK prrvata aactor 

Ovaraaaa aactor 
Foraign currancy asaata

UK private sector sterling deposits comprise the 
largest element of M4 (which also includes notes and 
coin in circulation with the public). Therefore, by 
rearranging the other items in the above balance sheet, 
and introducing notes and coin in circulation with the 
public (that is, issues of notes and coin net of changes

/aaa

p/us
in

in UK banks and building societies holdings, which are 
part of their lending to the public sector), we have:

Changa in M4
■ changt in:

Notaa and can in drcuiation wHh tha public 
UK private aactor atarling dapoaits

■ change in:
Notaa and coin in drcuiation with tha public 
Starling landing to:

UK public aactor 
UK pnvata aactor 
Ovaraaaa aactor

h$$ changaa in:
Public aactor alarling dapoarta 
Ovaraaaa aactor atading dapoaita 
Foraign eurrancy dapoaita nat d  loraign 
currancy asaata

Non-dapoait foraign currancy llad litaa  (nat)
Non«dapoait atading Nadlrtiaa (nat)

sterling lending to the UK public sector is equal to the 
PSBR less the M4 private sector’s lending to the public 
sector (mainly in the form of increased holdings of notes 
and coin, gilt-edged stocks. Treasury bills, local authority 
debt, national savings and certificates of tax deposit) less 
external and foreign currency finance of the public sector 
(including the sterling counterpart of transactions in the 
official reserves, as well as overseas purchases of public 
sector debt) plus changes in public sector sterling 
deposits. With some further rearrangement of overseas 
sterling transactions, we can derive:

Chang# in M4
■ a. PSBR (surplus*)

b. n#t pi#chas#s of public sador d#b( by th# M4 privat# sactor
c. axtamal financa of tha public sactor

d. starling landing to tha M4 privata factor 
a. starling landing to ovarsaas factor nat of stading daposHs

from ovarsaas
f. banks and b iild ing sodatias* nat starling non-daposit 

habilibas (incraasa’ )
g. banks and balding fodatias foraign currancy lisblKlias nat of 

feraign currancy assats (incraasa-)

Domestic counterparts comprise items a, b and d; 
items c and e constitute external and foreign currency 
counterparts, which will generally reflect the balance of 
payments of the M4 private sector on current and capital 
account and the M4 private sector’s foreign currency 
position at banks in the UK (but also reflects any balance 
of payments current account transactions by the UK 
public sector, such as earnings on the official reserves, 
expenditure abroad etc, which also contribute with an 
opposite sign to the PSBR). Non-deposit sterling 
liabilities are the sterling component of capital and 
internal funds and reserves less non-financial assets (see 
notes to tables 6.1 and 6.2).

A diagram showing the relationships among the 
counterparts is given on page 107.

Calendar month statistics
A major change to the presentation of banking and 

monetary statistics took place in October 1986 with the 
move of the reporting date from mid-month to end month. 
The change and its implication for the figures were 
described in detail in a note {Banking and monetary 
statistics: a change in reporting dates) published in the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin of December 1986. 
The note also referred to the availability of back data. 
The main aspects of the change as they affect Financial 
Statistics are described below.

Hitherto, information on the new calendar month basis 
was available only from the ninety or so largest banks 
and only from mid 1982. Two consequences flow from
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the comparatively short run of data on the new basis and 
their limited coverage. First, some of the detailed series 
cannot reliably be estimated separately for the months 
before October 1986. Second, with the exception of MO. 
the seasonal adjustment applied to calendar month data 
will be less reliable for the first few years of the new 
series than those for banking months were. For MO, 
where the series is derived from weekly information, a 
long run of data is available and the quality of the 
seasonally adjusted series is unaffected.

The notes in this handbook will tend to focus on the 
calendar month series. Information about the banking 
month data can be found in earlier handbooks.

Seasonal adjustment
Seasonally adjusted estimates of changes in the 

money stock are consistent with a process of adjustment 
of the whole financial accounts matrix and therefore take 
account of the constraints imposed by the process. In 
particular the same moving average procedure is applied 
to all series, so that the sum of the adjustments of all 
sectors for a particular asset or liability is zero and the 
sum of the adjustments on each column of the matrix is 
zero (so that, in the monetary statistics, seasonally 
adjusted M4 equals the sum of its seasonally adjusted 
counterparts).

For the purpose of Section 11, the adjustments are 
constrained to sum to zero over the financial year. 
Petroleum Revenue Tax (PRT) is treated in a special 
"deterministic" way from July 1983 to June 1989.

Seasonal adjustments to the components of the 
money stock (level) are calculated by summing the 
adjustments calculated for the changes and subtracting 
a moving average of the cumulated seasonals. This 
keeps the average level of the seasonally adjusted and 
unadjusted series closely in line but does mean that 
changes in seasonally adjusted levels are not equal to 
seasonally adjusted changes. For further information on 
seasonal adjustments, the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin February and August 1991. Full details of the 
method introduced in the 1990 update will be given in a 
forthcoming discussion paper to be Issued by the Bank 
of England.

Statistical sources
Several sources are drawn upon to produce the 

various monetary aggregates. The main ones include the 
monthly and quarterly balance sheet returns submitted by 
UK banks and building societies (see Section 6), similar 
returns from some other financial institutions (see 
Section 7). statistics of public sector finance (see 
Sections 2 to 5), and for the external accounts (see 
Section 10).

Quality
The quality of quarterly and, from October 1986, of 

monthly data appearing within the section is generally 
high. Most of the information relates to UK banks where 
statistical coverage Is nearly complete and the system of 
reporting is well integrated. The section on calendar 
month statistics above describes the quality of the 
monthly data before October 1986. The information 
relating to building societies is based on a 
comprehensive monthly return and a quarterly form

submitted by societies who account for over 94% of total 
building society assets. The sectoral allocation (including 
the allocation to the M4 private sector) of holdings of 
certificates of deposit and other issues of 0-5 year paper 
by banks and building societies (which are included in 
'deposits’) is partly estimated.

Timeliness
A provisional indication of the percentage change in 

money aggregates is issued by the Bank of England in 
a press release, normally published around the 19th of 
the following month. Full monthly figures are first issued 
in a Bank of England release. Monetary Statistics, 
approximately ten days later. They later appear in 
Financial Statistics and in the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin.

Availability
Calendar quarter figures for M4 are available from the 

first quarter of 1963, M2 from the second quarter of 
1982, and for the counterparts of M4 as given in table 
11.6 from the second quarter of 1963.

Consistent calendar month series are available, 
generally, only from October 1986. However, some 
series have been constructed back to mid-1982 (see 
section on Calendar month statistics). MO, which is a 
monthly average series, is available from June 1969.

Further references
The Bank of England Statistical Abstract. Number 1 

(1970) and Number 2 {^Q75) gave longer runs of some 
figures quarterly from 1963 and banking monthly from 
1971. The figures shown are M l. M3C (and their 
components) and the relationship between M3Can6 the 
public sector borrowing requirement The Long Runs of 
Monetary Data booklet, published periodically by the 
Bank of England (latest issue July 1991), contains the 
main quarterly series from the first quarter of 1963, 
calendar month series from mid-1982 and AfOfrom 1969. 
The Economic Trends Annual Supplement also includes 
long runs, on a quarterly basis, MO (back to the third 
quarter of 1969), M4 and MS (back to the third quarter of 
1963) showing seasonally adjusted levels and both 
unadjusted and seasonally adjusted changes, where 
available. The counterparts to M4 are shown quarterly, 
starting at various periods from the first quarter of 1963, 
and calendar monthly, starting at various periods from 
July 1982. The monthly publications Economic Trends 
and Monthly Digest of Statistics also give the main 
aggregates, together with charts in the former.

Several articles have been published in the Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin describing aspects of the 
monetary aggregates, including ‘DCE and the money 
supply - a statistical note’, March 1977; ‘A transactions 
demand for money', March 1978; ‘Seasonal adjustment 
of the monthly money statistics’, June 1978 (see also 
June 1981. June 1983, February 1989, February 1990, 
February and August 1991); ‘External and foreign 
currency flows and the money supply’, December 1978; 
■Components of private sector liquidity’, September 1979 
(see also March 1983); The monetary base - a statistical 
note’, March 1981; ‘Transactions balances - a new 
monetary aggregate’, June 1982 (see also March 1983); 
‘Composition of monetary and liquidity aggregates and
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associated statistics’, December 1982; 'Setting monetary 
objectives’, June 1983; 'External flows and broad 
money’, December 1983; 'Changes to monetary 
aggregates and the analysis of bank lending’, March 
1984; ‘The statistical treatment of banks’ foreign currency 
capital', June 1985; 'Financial change and broad money’, 
December 1986; ‘Measures of broad money’. May 1987; 
‘Statistical consequences of the conversion of the Abbey 
National Building Society to a public limited company’, 
August 1989, 'Definitions of the monetary aggregates' 
and ‘The determination of the monetary aggregates', 
August 1990, and ‘Liquid assets outside M4’, May 1991. 
There is also a discussion of monetary statistics in the 
report of the Statistics Users Conference on Financial 
Statistics held in November 1985. A report of the 
proceedings of this conference was given in the February 
1986 issue of Statistical News. A further note in the 
November 1986 issue summarises how the Central 
Statistical Office, other government departments and the 
Bank of England responded to the suggestions made at 
the conference for improvements to financial statistics.

A Memorandum on UK Monetary Statistics by the 
Bank of England was submitted to the House of 
Commons Treasury and Civil Service Committee and 
was published by HMSO, as part of the minutes of 
evidence taken from the Bank on 3 November 1980. This 
memorandum is in two parts. The first discusses various 
aspects of the quality of monetary statistics in the UK 
and the second compares and contrasts the approaches 
of the United Kingdom and the United States of America 
to collecting monetary statistics.

Table 11.1
Summary of monetary aggregates

The composition of, and the relationship between, 
these aggregates is shown in the table on page 104.

Table 11.2
Money stock

This table shows the amounts outstanding at the end 
of quarters and months of the components of M2, and 
M4.

Estimates of overseas residents' holdings of notes and 
coin are available for calendar quarters only and these 
are excluded from the quarterly series for notes and coin 
in circulation with the public, with interpolated estimates 
being excluded from the monthly series.

The definition of bank deposits used is the same as 
that in the banking sector tables of Section 6. Thus 60% 
of net debit transit items is deducted from UK private 
sector sterling sight deposits. (See notes to tables 6.1 
and 6.2).

Breaks in the series
Breaks occurred in the money stock series and their 

components at end-March 1972 and 1973 because new 
contributors were included in the banking statistics. 
Similarly, at end-December 1975 one contributor was 
excluded from the banking statistics (see notes to table 
6.3), but the effect on the figures is very small. Dollar 
certificates of deposit held by UK residents (other than 
banks and building societies), so far as they can be 
identified, are included from end-March 1973; the

coverage of these holdings was somewhat expanded 
from end-December 1977.

The introduction of new statistical returns in mid-May 
1975 also led to a slight break in the series for M l and 
M3 (see the June 1975 Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin page 162). The estimation previously needed to 
calculate M l and M3 was reduced, and slight changes in 
the definitions of some items reported by the banks 
caused some inconsistencies with earlier figures. In 
particular, the definition of M l was clarified by the 
replacement of 'current accounts’ (a term which had 
different meanings for different banks) by ‘sight deposits', 
which is more precisely defined as funds available on 
demand, including money at call and money placed 
overnight. Also, private sector deposits with the discount 
market, which had previously all been included in M3 and 
M3C but not in M l, were included in M l if falling within 
the definition of sight deposits (about £100 million of 
such deposits were outstanding in mid-May 1975).

In the fourth quarter of 1981 the break caused by the 
switch between the old banking sector and the new 
monetary sector was reflected in levels series but 
excluded from the changes series. The calendar month 
data, unlike the previous banking month information, 
includes data from those banks who report on a quarterly 
basis.

Abbey National Building Society's conversion to a 
public limited company in July 1989 caused a minor 
break to the MO series and major breaks to M l, M3 and 
M3c as a consequence of which these last three 
aggregates ceased to be published from June 1989 (see 
August 1989 Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin for 
further details). Further information on breaks can be 
found in Technical Series paper No. 23 ‘Breaks in 
Monetary Series', Bank of England, February 1989, and 
in the Bank’s periodic Long Runs of Monetary data 
booklet (latest issue July 1991).

Table 11.3
Changes in money stock

In table 11.3 the changes in the money stock may not 
equal the differences between the amounts outstanding. 
This is because changes in bank and building society 
liabilities arising directly from alterations in the 
composition of the reporting population, or from the use 
of new sources of information (as in the fourth quarter of 
1977 - see also notes to table 11.2), are reflected only in 
the levels and not in the changes. Small discrepancies in 
the quarterly figures also arise because the changes in 
notes and coin in circulation with the public do not allow 
for wastage and hoarding of coin; the amounts 
outstanding do allow for this. See also second paragraph 
of notes to Table 11.2. Finally the seasonally adjusted 
changes may not be the same as the differences 
between seasonally adjusted amounts outstanding, 
because of slight technical differences in the approach 
used to adjust the series (see Seasonal adjustment, 
above).

From the second calendar quarter 1975, all figures 
which include foreign currency items, have been adjusted 
to exclude the effect of movements in exchange rates.

See also notes to table 11.2 for details of breaks in 
series and other differences from tables In Section 6.
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Relationships between the monetary aggregates and their components

Notes and coin in circulation 
with the M4 private sector

plus M4 Private sector non- 
interest-bearing sterling sight 
bank deposits

plus M4 Private sector interest 
bearing sterling sight bank 
deposits

plus M4 Private sector sterling 
time bank deposits (Including 
sterling certificates of deposit)

plus M4 Private sector holdings 
of building society shares and 
deposits and sterling certificates 
of deposit

equals M4

Notes and coins in circulation 
outside the Bank of England

plus Bankers’ operational 
balances with the Bank 
of England

equals MO*

plus M4 private sector 
interest-bearing retail 
sterling deposits with 
banks and building 
societies

equals M2

* MO is calculated on a weekly averaged basis. All other aggregates are calculated at end-months
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Table 11.4
0
/wo comprises notes and coin In circulation outside the 

Bank of England plus bankers’ operational deposits with 
the Bank. The levels are calculated weekly, on 
Wednesdays. The level of targeted MO is calculated as 
the average of the levels on Wednesdays during each 
calendar month; the change equals the difference 
between the average levels.

Notes and coin in circulation outside the Bank of 
England comprise: (i) Bank of England notes in 
circulation, excluding holdings by the Bank of England 
Banking Department, (ii) Royal Mint coin outstanding, 
less Bank of England holdings, and (iii) the fiduciary 
issues of the Scottish and Northern Irish banks. (To 
include their gross note issues would involve double 
counting, since Bank of England notes in circulation 
include those used as backing for issues by these banks 
in excess of their fiduciary issues).

Bankers'deposits with the Banking Department. Up to 
19 August 1981, bankers' deposits were held 
predominantly by the clearing banks, which used them to 
settle net claims between themselves and as a means of 
paying for their requirements of Bank of England notes. 
Other banks generally used their accounts with the 
clearing banks to fulfil these two functions and many of 
them did not hold deposits with the Bank of England. The 
level of bankers' deposits was also influenced by 
monetary control requirements (e.g. the London clearing 
banks’ agreement to hold an average of 1.5% of their 
eligible liabilities in the form of non-interest-bearing 
balances with the Bank, when Competition and Credit 
Control was introduced in 1971). From 20 August 1981, 
the new arrangements for monetary control took effect 
(for details, see the paper Monetary control - provisions, 
reprinted in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, 
September 1981, pages 347 to 349). As part of these 
arrangements, bankers’ deposits were divided into two 
components: operational deposits retained voluntarily at 
the Bank for clearing and other purposes mentioned 
above, and non-operational cash ratio deposits. 
Operational deposits are still held predominantly by the 
clearing banks, but all UK banks’ with average eligible 
liabilities of £10 million or more are liable for cash ratio 
deposits. Cash ratio deposits, being fixed for six month 
periods, cannot be withdrawn and are excluded from MO.

Seasonal adjustment
The series notes and coin in circulation outside the 

Bank of England is seasonally adjusted. Bankers’ 
operational deposits are not seasonally adjusted.

Sources
Figures for Bank of England liabilities are obtained 

from the Bank Return, which is published each 
Wednesday. Bankers’ deposits are taken directly from 
this source, as are the figures for Bank of England notes 
in circulation, which are the largest component of the first 
two columns in the table. Monthly estimates and from 
October 1986 weekly estimates of coin outstanding, net 
of an allowance for wastage, are obtained from the Royal 
Mint. Further details are given in the following articles in 
the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, The monetary

base - a statistical note’ (March 1981), 'Changes to 
monetary aggregates’ (March 1984) and 'Banking and 
monetary statistics: a change in reporting dates’ 
(December 1986).

Table 11.5
Money stock and velocity of circulation

The velocity of circulation for a quarter, as published 
in this table, is derived as the ratio of gross domestic 
product at current market price, expressed at an annual 
rate, to the monthly average for the quarter of money 
stock. Data are seasonally adjusted.

To give a numerical example, the sources and 
methods used to arrive at the M4 velocity of circulation 
figure for fourth quarter 1990 are as follows:
Data (C niliona}

GOP at markat pncaa 
1990 04 « 136.098

Souroa: Sconcmic Tr4fid$ (March 1901 • page 8, C40S)

M4 laval (and^month): 
1000 Saptambar 

October 
Novambar 
Dacambar

.466.840
•>466.247
-  479.763
-  474.667

Sourca: Fmsndat Stiftatrea tabta 11.2 (March 1001}

Calculation

GDP anraitfiaad: 136.096 x 4 .5 5 2 .2 3 2  

M4 cantrad:
(466.840 ♦ 2x(466.247 ♦ 475.763) ♦ 474.867)/6 -  471.991 

Valocfty d  d ro ia tion  (M4): 952.232/471.591 •> 1.17

The velocity of circulation figures published in 
Financial Statistics to March 1981 were calculated by 
using end-quarter data; from the April 1981 issue the 
calculation was revised and monthly money supply data 
were used.

The use of GDP (Gross domestic product) - or any 
other national income or expenditure aggregate e.g. total 
domestic expenditure or total final expenditure - in this 
calculation must be regarded as a crude approximation 
of what is ideally wanted • namely the total value of 
transactions in the economy involving money. These 
aggregates are strictly unsuitable because they exclude 
transfers between sectors and transactions within sectors 
(of which transactions in primary and intermediate output 
within the industrial and commercial sector are very 
important) and they include non-cash hems such as 
imputed income and income in kind. Use of GDP 
assumes a stable relationship over time between GDP 
and total transactions.

Table 11.6
Counterparts to changes in M4

This table (see also introductory notes) sets out the 
accounting identities between:

domestic counterparts - comprising the public 
sector borrowing requirement, purchases of 
public sector debt by the UK private sector 
(other than banks and building societies, and 
excluding changes in its holdings of notes and 
coin) and sterling lending to the UK private 
sector,
external and foreign currency counterparts - 
comprising net sterling deposits from banks 
abroad, other overseas sterling deposits.
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105



Money stock

sterling lending to overseas non-banks, 
external finance of the public sector, and 
banks’ and building societies’ net foreign 
currency liabilities. From June 1975 this 
last Item includes changes in the foreign 
currency component of capital, internal 
funds and reserves of all UK banks and 
building societies, l&ss their foreign 
currency investments in UK banks and 
building societies and other non-financial 
assets in currencies other than sterling. 
Before June 1975, net non-deposit 
liab ilities  in foreign currency are 
presented in aggregate with net non
deposit sterling liabilities. Changes in 
items denominated in foreign currency 
are calculated in transaction terms, i.e. 
after an adjustment has been made for 
the estimated effect of changes in the 
sterling value of foreign currencies; 
changes in net non-deposit sterling liabilities 
comprising the sterling component of capital 
and internal funds and reserves of all UK 
banks and building societies, /ess their sterling 
investments In UK banks and building 
societies and other non-financial sterling 
assets, together with residual errors arising 
from the exclusion of sterling transactions 
between institutions within the sector, 
changes in M4.

The public sector borrowing requirement is described 
In the notes to table 2.5. The net acquisition of central 
government debt by the M4 private sector is shown in 
greater detail by instrument in table 3.4.

Issue Department purchases of commercial bills. The 
Issue Department of the Bank of England acquires 
commercial bills in the course of its market operations. 
Although the Issue Department’s claim is on the banks 
which accepted the bills, in such circumstances it is, in 
effect, temporarily taking over some lending to the UK 
private sector which would otherwise be provided by the 
banking system. The underlying trends behind lending 
and the growth in the money supply are therefore best 
shown by including such purchases with bank and 
building society lending to the rest of the M4 private 
sector. This treatment is followed in table 11.6 and differs 
from that in some other tables of Financial Statistics, e.g. 
table 3.4, where a pure sector approach is followed and 
Issue Department’s purchases of commercial bills are 
netted off from the private sector’s purchases of central 
government debt. A similar treatment is made of Issue 
Department’s transactions in promissory notes relating to 
shipbuilding paper guaranteed by the Department of 
Trade and industry.

From the end of the first quarter of 1976 to the end of 
the first quarter of 1970 (and from mid-May 1976 to mid- 
April 1978 In the monthly series) certain public sector 
funds placed temporarily with banking institutionsthrough 
the inter-bank money market, were included in table 6.1 
within public corporations’ deposits, were treated as 
internal to the banking sector and included in non-deposit 
sterling liabilities (net) in the money stock tables. This 
gives rise to differences between the banking sector 
tables and the money stock tables. The differences

between tables 6.2,11.3 and 11.6. which show changes, 
will therefore extend to the second quarter of 1978 and 
to mid-May 1978 in the monthly series.

The seasonally adjusted series do not always add up 
to the calendar year total which is the sum of the 
unadjusted quarterly figures (see Seasonal adjustment 
above).

Tables 11.7 and 11.8
Sectoral analysis of M4 and its sterling 
lending counterpart

These tables provide the sectoral analyses which are 
often useful in interpreting the changes in M4 and its 
sterling lending counterpart (see, for example, "Financial 
change and broad money" in the Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin, December 1986 : the discussion there 
was mainly in terms of the now - discontinued aggregate, 
£M3, but applies mutatis mutandis to M4; see also 'The 
determination of the monetary aggregates’, Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin, August 1990.

The figures relate to the financial accounts matrix 
(Table 1.1) as follows. The change in each sector’s 
holding of M4 is the sum of the changes in its holdings 
of notes and coin (line 6 in the matrix), sterling deposits 
with banks (lines 21.1 and 21.2) and deposits with 
building societies (line 22); this relationship is shown 
diagrammatically within Table A of the National Accounts 
'Blue Book'. Sterling lending to each sector is the sum of 
Issue Department transactions in bills etc. (line 15), bank 
lending in sterling (line 24.2), sterling loans for house 
purchase by building societies (line 27.1) and banks (part 
of line 27.2), any sterling lending by building societies 
identified as being other than for house purchase (part of 
line 29), and bank and building society holdings of UK 
company securities denominated in sterling (part of line 
31) and of sterling commercial paper (part of line 34). 
The seasonally adjusted series are calendar year 
constrained, as opposed to the rest of section 11 which 
is financial year constrained.

Table 11.9
Liquid assets outside M4

M4 is made up of sterling cash and deposits with 
banks and building societies In the United Kingdom, held 
by the M4 private sector (i.e. by UK residents other than 
the public sector, banks and building societies). The aim 
of this table is to illustrate the development of certain 
liquid assets outside M4: it provides data on a wider 
range of holder, currency, and sector or location of 
issuer. These series can be used as building blocks from 
which users of the monetary statistics can create their 
own aggregates If they wish. Among assets not covered 
by these statistics are certificates of deposit issued by 
banks abroad and foreign currency commercial paper, 
foreign currency medium-term notes and other foreign 
currency short-term paper issued in the United Kingdom 
or overseas.

When using the series as building blocks to create 
new aggregates, care should be taken over potential 
double-counting: see in particular the notes on UK 
offshore institutions and the overseas sector's sterling 
deposits. Also, in assessing the liquidity of those assets 
which are outside M4, It should be remembered that M4
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itself contains some comparatively illiquid elements (eg. 
M4 contains deposits of any maturity with banks and 
building societies, and certain paper and other capital 
market instruments of not more than five years’ original 
maturity - though in practice the great majority of M4 is 
of under three months' residual maturity).

M4 private sector deposits
sterling bank bills are commercial bills which are 

payable in sterling and have been accepted by a bank in 
the United Kingdom. They are thus very similar in status 
and liquidity to sterling certificates of deposit issued by 
UK banks (which are included in M4 if owned by the M4 
private sector). Holdings by the M4 private sector were 
comparatively sizeable in the periods in the 1970’s (up to 
June 1980) when the 'corset' was prompting 
disintermediation from the banking sector (see pages 
74-85 of the March 1982 Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin), but have subsequently been much smaller.

UK offshore institutions. At present about one third of 
the banking institutions in the Channel Islands and Isle of 
Man are treated as UK banks for statistical purposes, 
and the remainder are treated as 'other financial 
institutions’ (OFIs) and thus as part of the M4 private 
sector. The distinction between the two groups is made 
according to whether the offshore institutions have opted 
to comply with the Bank of England’s monetary control 
arrangements (in which case they are treated as UK 
banks for statistical purposes and deposits by the M4 
private sector with these institutions are included within 
M4). Deposits with OFi offshore institutions are not 
included in M4\ but the deposits o^these institutions with 
the UK banking sector and building societies are included 
in M4. So, to the extent that these offshore OFIs take 
funds and redeposit them in the United Kingdom, there 
is no ‘leakage’ from M4, although the sectoral breakdown 
will record these deposits as being from the OFI sector 
rather than from the original source of funds. Adding 
deposits placed with these institutions by the M4 private 
sector to M4 thus induces an element of double counting. 
Moreover, because of the nature of financial activity in 
the Channel Islands and Isle of Man. the series for the 
M4 private sector’s deposits probably include substantial 
amounts placed by local companies and trusts essentially 
on behalf of the overseas sector rather than on behalf of 
UK-or local-residents.

These 'OFI banks’ currently report only quarterly. 
Coverage of institutions in the Isle of Man and Jersey is 
only partial.

Sterling deposit at banks in the BIS area. The 
territorial statistics published by the Bank for International 
Settlements (BIS) provide comprehensive data on 
international banking business conducted in the financial 
centres making up the BIS reporting area. The number 
of countries within this reporting area has increased over 
time; currently the statistics cover the positions of banks 
in twenty-four countries (see the notes to Table 13.1 in 
the February Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin). Data 
are collected only on a quarterly basis. BIS data are 
published four and a half months after the quarter-end 
and hence these series will be less timely than other 
series in the table. The identification of the UK M4 
private sector may not be precise (e.g. deposits from the 
UK offshore institutions which, as mentioned above, are
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part of the M4 private sector may be included in the BIS 
statistics as deposits from banks rather than from the M4 
private sector). Holdings of certificates of deposit are not 
generally covered by these statistics.

M4 private sector's holding of foreign currency 
deposits. Foreign currency deposits held by the M4 
private sector at banks in the United Kingdom or at UK 
offshore institutions - and even those held at banks 
abroad - may be destined to be spent in the United 
Kingdom or may represent a store of wealth which is 
relevant to UK economic activity. But any significant 
conversion of these deposits into sterling for spending in 
the United Kingdom would tend to raise the sterling 
exchange rate - subject to the constraints imposed by 
membership of the ERM - which In turn might have an 
offsetting effect on spending in the United Kingdom (see 
pages 525-529 of the December 1983 Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin).

Overseas sector's sterling deposits
Deposits by overseas banks with banks in the United 

Kingdom Include deposits from central monetary 
institutions (i.e. part of other countries’ official reserves) 
as well as deposits from commercial banks abroad. 
When combining series, users should be aware of 
potential double counting: for example sterling deposits 
at banks in the BIS area may in turn be placed by those 
banks as sterling deposits in UK banks or UK offshore 
institutions (or indeed at other banks in the BIS area). 
The overseas sector’s sterling deposits, particularly those 
held by non-banks in the United Kingdom, may be 
destined to be spent in the United Kingdom; equally they 
may simply be part of the overseas sector's global liquid 
assets, held temporarily or for longer term in the UK as 
a store of value (but their conversion into foreign 
currency might nonetheless affect UK economic activity 
via an effect on the exchange rate; see pages 525-529 
of the December 1983 Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin).

M4 private sector holdings of public sector 
debt

Sterling treasury bills, which are issued with an original 
maturity of six months or less, are marketable and are 
likely to be considered liquid by their holders. LA 
temporary debt covers a variety of instruments, all with 
an original maturity of up to one year; in general, it would 
be viewed as fairly liquid. Certificates of tax deposit are 
not marketable: the return is greater when used to pay 
tax, so that their holders may not consider them liquid for 
other purposes. All gilts are marketable and therefore 
may be considered liquid by their holders. The degree of 
liquidity may be affected by the degree of capital 
certainty - which will tend to lesson the longer the 
remaining maturity. The maturity split of total gilts is 
shown under other assets.

Other assets
Sterling commercialpaper ls marketable paper issued 

with maturities of up to and including one year. The 
series here excludes paper issued by banks and building 
societies (because these issues are included in M4 if 
owned by the M4 private sector, and in the overseas 
sector’s sterling deposits if owned by the overseas
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sector). It also excludes paper owned by banks and 
building societies. The series may include a small 
element owned by the overseas sector but is likely to be 
owned predominantly by the M4 private sector.

Sterling medium-term notes are marketable securities 
issued with original maturities of over one year and up to 
(and including) five years. Sterling medium-term notes 
have been issued only recently and hence the liquidity of 
this market is difficult to assess. They include both fixed 
and floating-rate notes; floating-rate assets are more 
capital-certain and therefore may be considered more 
liquid than fixed-rate assets. The series published here 
is the total of all issues except those by banks and 
building societies (which are included in M4 if owned by 
the M4 private sector and in the overseas sector's 
sterling deposits if identified as being owned by the 
overseas sector). There are no data distinguishing bank, 
building society, public or overseas sector holding of this 
instrument; hence this series comprises all sectors’ 
holdings.

Other sterling paper maturing within one year. This 
series comprises all holdings of sterling (including 
eurosterling) bonds issued by the UK private sector and 
the overseas sector of original maturity of more than five 
years, which are due to mature within one year. The 
original maturities of the bonds can be long, and few are 
due to mature in the next few years. But the liquidity' 
represented by such bonds approaching maturity will 
build up in due course. The liquidity of these issues 
before maturity varies with the size of the issue and with 
the issuer. For example, a large long-term issue by a 
quasi-sovereign institution may remain liquid and 
marketable with the Issuer perhaps adding stock by tap 
at later dates. On the other hand, a small issue with a 
shorter maturity by a company may soon become illiquid 
after its first year.

For some issuers there may also be the risk of default. 
The majority are floating-rate issues; floating-rate assets 
are more capital-certain and therefore may be considered 
more liquid than fixed-rate assets. There are no data 
distinguishing bank, building society, public or overseas 
sector holdings of this instrument; hence this series 
comprises all sectors’ holding.

Residual maturity breakdown of gilts. The maturity 
breakdown cannot be allocated into sectors and hence 
both series cover all holders of gilts.

Sterling unused credit facilities. It is sometimes argued 
that unused credit facilities may be seen by the potential 
borrower as a form of liquidity. However, the reported 
series may be misleading as an indicator of liquidity. 
Coverage is incomplete - notably, the unused portion of 
credit card holders' limits is not included. Some banks 
report no unitized facilities (although requests by 
borrowers to increase the credit limits are often met, and 
borrowers would probably expect them to be met). On 
the other hand, borrowers may have facilities with 
several institutions without ever intending to draw on 
them all simultaneously. Where a facility may be drawn 
in either sterling or foreign currency at the borrower’s 
option, it is reported in foreign currency facilities - so that 
potential sterling facilities may be larger than the sterling 
facilities figures suggest. The series here covers all 
sterling unused credit facilities reported by UK banks 
(except to other UK banks). A quarterly (end-February 
etc.) series is also available, which shows that at end- 
February 1991 £140 billion of the total was to the M4 
private sector and virtually all of the remaining £10 billion 
to the overseas sector. At end-February 1991 foreign 
currency unused credit facilities were £77 billion; of which 
£46 billion were to the M4 private sector and virtually all 
of the remaining £31 billion to the overseas sector.
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Section 12
Capital issues and Stock Exchange transactions

The main purpose of the Stock Exchange is to provide 
an efficient market for the issue and trading of British 
government, other UK (and Irish) public sector and 
company securities. It provides a mechanism for the 
raising of funds, in various forms and for varying periods, 
by many types of domestic borrowers, including the UK 
government and other bodies in the public and private 
sectors of the economy, notably the large number of 
limited liability companies whose shares and bond issues 
are listed on the Stock Exchange. It also provides a 
market for securities of overseas public authorities and 
institutions and of overseas registered companies.

Share and loan capital
A company’s capital structure can be divided into three 

classes; loan capital, preference capital and equity 
capital. Loan capital (or bonds) includes debentures and 
unsecured loan stock. Interest is payable on bonds 
regardless of whether the company makes a profit. Some 
loan stocks are irredeemable > i.e. they will never have 
to be repaid (unless the company is wound up) - but 
most are redeemable. A debenture is a document which 
evidences the fact that the owner has lent money to a 
business for a specified period usually at a fixed rate of 
interest. Debentures are normally secured on the assets 
of the business; should the interest or capital appear to 
be In jeopardy, certain assets of the company can be 
sold to repay the debenture holders. The description 
unsecured debenture is unusual, unsecured loan stock 
being preferred in practice. Bond holders sometimes 
have the right to convert their holdings into ordinary 
shares after a certain time (convertible debentures or 
loan stocks).

Shareholders differ from bond holders in that they are 
members (owners) of the company, not lenders. There 
are two main types of share - preference shares and 
ordinary shares.

Preference shares usually entitle the shareholder to a 
fixed annual dividend out of post-tax profits payable in 
priority to the ordinary dividend. Dividends on preference 
shares are only payable if the company has adequate 
distributable profits. Most preference shares are 
‘cumulative’ - the liability for unpaid dividends must be 
carried forward to the next year; the ordinary 
shareholders cannot receive any dividend payment until 
the past and present preference dividend entitlement is 
fully met. Most preference shares are also given priority 
of repayment of capital on liquidation. A few preference 
shares are ’participating’ • entitled to an additional 
dividend in certain circumstances. Some preference 
shares are convertible into ordinary shares; there are 
also ‘redeemable’ preference shares. Most preference 
shares, of all varieties, carry no votes at general 
meetings except in relation to varying their rights. Two or 
more classes of preference share (first, second etc.) may 
be issued, ranking in order of dividend and capital 
repayment.

Ordinary shares constitute the majority of a normal 
company’s share capital • often the whole of it. They 
have no right to a f ix ^  dividend, the size of the dividend 
varying according to the profits made by the business. 
Ordinary shares thus form the 'risk capital’ of the firm, 
and the holders are its proprietors in the full sense. They

usually have voting rights - some companies have non
voting ordinary shares as well as voting ones. 
Occasionally the ordinary shares are divided into a 
’preferred’ and a ‘deferred’ class, the first being entitled 
to a certain minimum dividend, then the second similarly, 
then both to the same excess over the minimum, if 
profits permit. Some companies issue B shares which 
entitle holders to fully paid shares in lieu of dividend.

Public and private companies
There are almost a million companies registered in 

Britain, of which around 1% are public limited companies 
and the remainder are private companies. The distinction 
between public and private companies is based on three 
criteria;

(a) the right to transfer the shares of the 
company;

(b) the number of shareholders of the company;
and
(c) the right to make a public issue of shares and 

debentures.

A private company may not issue shares or bonds to 
the public at large.

A public limited company does not have to make a 
public issue of shares or debentures; it simply has the 
right to do so if it wishes. Thus not all public companies' 
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and the division 
between private and public companies is not the same 
as that between companies with listed shares and those 
with unlisted shares. There are some 2,500 UK and 
about 600 overseas registered public companies In the 
markets of the London Stock Exchange.

The Stock Exchange imposes certain requirements on 
any company seeking a listing for its securities, and in 
doing so has a strong influence on the forms and 
procedures of the new issue market. The main concerns 
of the secondary market authorities are that there should 
be a wide meirket in any securities listed on the 
exchange and that shareholders should have as much 
relevant information about the issuing body as is 
reasonable. Their regulations therefore affect the primary 
market in a number of ways, including the following.

The Exchange will not normally consider any 
application for a listing unless the expected 
(initial) market value of the company securities 
is at least £700,000.
At least 25% of the company's issued shares 
should be in the hands of the public and the 
company has to show a trading record for five 
years.
The Exchange has very rigorous standards for 
the amount of information to be given in the 
prospectus whenever securities are to be 
offered to the public by 'public issue’, 'offer for 
sale’ or by lender*.

The new issue market
Longer-term loan and equity finance is provided chiefly 

through the new issue market, the main sponsors being 
specialised issuing houses and stockbrokers acting as 
issuing houses. There are a number of ways in which
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new securities can be issued on behalf of a company, 
public authority or government.

A 'public issue’ constitutes an offer of 
securities to the general public at a stated 
price. The advertisement for the issue consists 
of a detailed prospectus, usually shown in a 
newspaper.

(b) In an 'offer for sale’, the public is again invited 
to apply for shares on the basis of a 
prospectus, but in this case it is an issuing 
house or stockbroker who, having purchased 
the entire issue. Is making the offer and not 
the company raising the new money.

(c) The main feature of an 'issue by tender* is 
that the public is invited to state the price 
(above a certain minimum) and the amount for 
which it is tendering. The total issue is 
allocated at the highest price which will clear 
the issue.

(d) With 'placings', the securities of a company 
are acquired by the issuing houses and are 
placed with their own clients; they are usually 
financial institutions such as investment trust 
companies, insurance companies and pension 
funds. Placings are subject to prescribed 
conditions and limits in money value and are 
permitted only where demand is likely to be 
insignificant or the issuing company is small.

(e) With 'rights issues’ shareholders are invited to 
subscribe for further shares in proportion to 
their existing holdings, generally at a discount 
to the market price.

(f) An 'introduction’ does not raise new money; 
the primary object being to create a market in 
the shares in the company by obtaining a 
Stock Exchange listing.

(g) 'Bonus issues' are also known as 
'capitalisation issues’ or 'scrip issues’. This 
type of issue does not result in the acquisition 
of any new funds for the busiriess and merely 
represents the conversion of accumulated 
reserves into shares.

(h) 'Vendor consideration issues’ arise when other 
companies are acquired, not for cash, but by 
the issue of stocks or shares in the acquiring 
company.

(i) A ‘Vendor placing’ occurs when stocks or 
shares issued by the purchasing company to 
a vendor are placed by the vendor in order to 
obtain liquid capital, as an alternative to the 
purchaser paying cash direct.

Table 12.1
Capital issues and redemptions In the 
United Kingdom

The estimates relate to new money raised, in sterling, 
on the main United Kingdom stock martlet, by issues of 
ordinary, preference and loan capital (public issues, 
offers for sale, issues by tender, placings and rights 
issues) by UK listed public companies, local authorities, 
public corporations (except domestic issues guaranteed 
by the government) and overseas companies and public 
authorities (including local authorities and international

organisations). Issues of British government and 
government'guaranteed marketable securities are shown 
in Section 3. Issues on the unlisted securities market are 
shown in table 12.2. The estimates include UK local 
authority negotiable bonds (of not less than one year) 
issued to, or through the agency of banks, discount 
houses, issuing houses or brokers. Mortgages, bank 
advances and any other loans redeemable in less than 
twelve months are excluded, as also are loans from UK 
government funds - but not government subscriptions to 
company issues made 'pari passu' with the market. 
Issues to shareholders are included only if the sole or 
principal share register is maintained in the United 
Kingdom.

As the series relate only to new money raised, they 
exclude issues in which the cash raised accrues not to 
the borrowing company but to its existing shareholders 
(i.e. they exclude the value of existing securities which 
have been marketed through the new issue machinery 
but add nothing to the resources of the companies 
involved). They also exclude bonus issues, exchanges of 
one type of security for another and issues for other 
forms of consideration.

Estimates of the amounts raised are based on the 
prices at which securities are offered to the market. 
Subscriptions are recorded under the periods in which 
they are due to be paid. Redemptions including the buy
back and cancellation of ordinary shares are included but 
not the cancellation of shares In company liquidations. 
Conversion issues in lieu of cash repayment are included 
in the gross figures of both issues and redemptions.

The figures given under rights issues consist of gross 
rights issues by UK listed public companies. Issues less 
redemptions by overseas borrowers: companies includes 
overseas public corporations.

Convertible debentures relates to debentures and loan 
stock carrying the right of conversion into, or subscription 
to, equity capital. Issues of shares on conversion of such 
debentures are not included, nor are the conversion of 
the debentures.

The division between United Kingdom and overseas 
company borrowers is determined by the location of the 
registered office. Monetary sector institutions are as 
defined in Section 6 of this handbook. Other financial 
institutions are defined as in UK financial accounts, see 
Section 7. The industrial analysis in the third part of the 
table is according to the primary occupation of the 
borrowing company or group and is based on the 
Standard Industrial Classification; for issues from January 
1983 the analysis is based on the 1980 revision of the 
Standard Industrial Classification.

Timeliness
The latest month’s figures are published in Financial 

Statistics about the end of the following month.

Method of compilation
The figures are compiled mainly from information 

published in the press or appearing in official Stock 
Exchange publications.

Further references
Annual figures are given in the Annual Abstract of 

Statistics, table 17.12. Figures for varying series from
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Capital issues and Stock Exchange transactions

1945 to 1974 are available in the Bank of England 
StatisticaJ Abstract, Numbers 1 and 2. Monthly data 
covering a wider range of capital issues are published on 
the ninth working day of each month by the Bank of 
England. The data cover issues up to and including the 
previous months.

Table 12.2
Capital issues and redemptions on the 
unlisted securities market

The unlisted securities market was launched by the 
Stock Exchange under rule 163 of its regulations in 
November 1980.

The main difference in the Stock Exchange 
requirements for this market compared with full listing
are;

member companies need offer only 10% of 
their equity to the general public, compared 
with at least 25% for full listing; 
companies have to provide considerable 
financial detail, but only for the last 3 years, 
compared with 5 years for full listing; 
shareholders must be informed of any 
acquisitions or disposals involving 15% or 
more of either total asset or earnings, 
compared with 25% or more for full listing.

The series shown in this table relate only to new 
money raised and exclude any proceeds which add 
nothing to the resources of the companies involved.

Tables 12.3 and 12.4
stock Exchange transactions

In both tables, transactions are recorded at dealing 
(contract) dates rather than settlement dates. For periods 
up to September 1986, figures shown in table 12.3 
represent the sum of transactions between market 
members and non-members carried out through the 
medium of brokers. As from 27 October 1986 member 
firms became able to trade in dual capacity, i.e. dealing 
as principals as well as acting as brokers on behalf of 
customers. The measurement of Stock Exchange trade 
under the new rules was progressively refined until, from 
July 1987, a full split between inter-market and customer 
business is shown. For the interim period inter-market 
data covers only trade in gilt-edged securities carried out 
through inter-dealer brokers. No estimate of customer 
business in this period is shown; the residual between 
inter-market and total transactions includes an element 
of trade directly between market firms dealing as 
principals, as well as all customer business.

The content of the columns covering fixed interest 
securities has changed from time to time. For periods

from July 1987:-
Other fixed interest: t/K  covers UK local authority and 

UK company debenture and loan stocks, convertibles 
and preferentials.

Other fixed interest: overseas covers sterling issues by 
overseas borrowers, bulldogs and all other fixed interest 
instruments traded.

There are certain transactions, mainly cash 
subscriptions to new issues and redemption payments on 
maturing stocks, which do not passthrough stockbrokers 
and are not therefore included in stock exchange 
transactions measures. These have been eliminated as 
far as possible from the figures in table 12.4. In this table 
official holders includes the issue and banking 
departments of the Bank of England, the National Debt 
Commissioners, (excluding the National Savings Bank 
Investment Fund before 1981, the National Heritage 
Memorial Fund investment account and the Home-grown 
Sugar Beet (Research and Education) Investment Fund 
investment account, government departments, and the 
Northern Ireland government.

The column Savings banks' investment accounts no 
longer appears in this table. The data for the series in 
this column; AJCI, AJDI, AJCV and AJDV are obtainable 
from the Databank. Figures for financial institutions other 
than those listed are included within other holders 
(residual).

The banks ceased to provide information on 
transactions in British government stock after the banking 
sector was enlarged and redefined in November 1981.

Holdings of British government stocks at end-March 
are mostly at nominal values, as in the annual article on 
the distribution of the national debt in the November 
issues (December issues prior to 1987) of the Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin.

Timeliness
The latest month's figures for stock exchange 

transactions are published by the Stock Exchange during 
the following month; they appear in the subsequent issue 
of Financial Statistics.

Figures for transactions in British government stocks 
are published approximately six months after the end of 
the quarter to which they relate.

Further references
The figures for stock exchange transactions are also 

published in the London Stock Exchange Quality of 
Markets Monthly Fact Sheet and a slightly different 
analysis in the Stock Exchange Quarterly (formerly 
Quality of Markets Quarterly). Long runs of figures for 
both series (from September 1964 for stock exchange 
transactions and from June 1966 for British government 
stocks) to December 1974 are available in the Bank of 
England Statistical Abstract.
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Section 13
Foreign exchange rates interest rates and security prices

This section provides monthly information on the main 
exchange rates, interest rates and security prices. The 
figures mostly relate to points in time or daily averages, 
but for some series (e.g. In tables 13,1,13.3 and 13.5) 
averages for longer periods are provided.

Tables 13.1 and 13.2
Exchange rates against sterling

Table 13.1 shows the sterling exchange rate index 
(ERI) against a basket of sixteen currencies (see below), 
and the averages of the mid-points between the spot 
buying and selling rates as recorded by the Bank of 
England at 16.00 each day, for thirteen major currencies 
and the ECU.

Table 13.2 shows the mid-point between the spot 
buying and selling rates recorded by the Bank of England 
on the last working day of each month for the major 
currencies listed in table 13.1, plus the Austrian schilling 
and Norwegian krone. Also shown is the three-month 
forward margin for each currency against sterling, 
expressed both in terms of foreign currency and as a 
percentage per annum.

Spot and forward rates
Foreign exchange deals may be executed for 

settlement no more than two working days later, in which 
case they are generally termed soot deals, or for 
settlement at some future date, in which case they are 
termed forward deals. The rate for a forward deal is 
generally expressed by showing the amount by which the 
forward rate diverges from the spot rate, either in units of 
the appropriate foreign currency, or as a percentage per 
annum.

If the forward margin is negative the foreign currency 
is at a forward premium to sterling (i.e. it is more 
expensive) and sterling is at a forward discount to the 
particular foreign currency (i.e. it is cheaper).

Conversely, If the forward margin is positive the 
foreign currency is at a discount to sterling and sterling 
is at a premium to the currency.

For example, at end-December 1990, the spot US 
dollar/sterling rate was 1.9295, i.e. £1 would buy 1.9295 
US dollars for delivery within 2 days, and the 3-month 
forward margin was -2.89 cents, i.e. £1 would buy:

1.9295 - 0.0289 = 1.9006 US dollars

for delivery in three months time. Thus, the end-March 
1991 US dollar was less expensive than at 
end-December 1990.

Sterling exchange rate index (ERI)
Between the Bretton Woods Agreement in 1944 and 

the currency realignment of the Smithsonian Agreement 
in 1971, the US dollar provided a reasonably satisfactory 
benchmark against which changes in the value of other 
currencies couid be measured. Since the early 1970’s, 
however, there have been much larger movements in 
exchange rates and it has ceased to be the case that 
dollar rates accurately indicate the overall changes in the 
exchange rate for a currency.

In order to assess this overall change, a weighted 
average of movements in cross-exchange rates against

a basket of other currencies is required, with the weights 
reflecting some assessment of the relative importance of 
the other currencies.

There are a number of ways of constructing a suitable 
matrix of weights. Most exchange rate indices use some 
form of trade weighting, often of a rather simple kind. 
The present ERI uses weights derived from 
disaggregated trade flows in manufactured goods in 
1980. The weights are designed to measure the impact 
of real exchange rate changes on the UK's real 
manufacturing balance; they represent the relative 
importance of each of the other countries as competitors 
to the manufacturing sector of the UK.

The ERI
The present ERI, was introduced with effect from 

Monday 3 January 1989 and the old index with 1975 as 
the base year was discontinued from that date. The base 
year for the new index is 1985, and it is calculated by 
geometrically weighting together bilateral exchange rates 
against sterling for all the currencies included in the 
previous index with the exception of Australia which has 
been dropped from the calculation. The ERI published 
here consists of monthly averages of the value of the 
ERI as calculated by the Bank of England at 16.00 each 
day. The weighting together of exchange rates can be 
expressed algebraically as

where °  the price of one pound sterling in terms of 
currency i at time t, and w,. is the weight of currency i 
in the sterling ERI. In practice, calculations use exchange 
rates vis-a-vis the US dollar, /?;,, relying on the

relationship .

E, is the weighted basket of currencies, which is then 
converted into an index with the property that the 
average of the index taken over all working days in 1985 
(calculated using London closing rates) is 100. Thus the 
ERI at any time t is given by

ERJ, = 100
83

where is the arithmetic average of E, calculated using 
London closing rates for each working day in 1985. (In 
this calculation, = 11.349 expressed to 3 decimal 
places.)

Timeliness
Rates are published in Financial Statistics one month 

in arrears.

Further references
The calculatran of the ERI is described in the 

November 1988 issue of the Bank o f England Quarterly 
Bulletin.

Middle market closing spot rates against sterling at 
end-month intervals for the US dollar, deutschemark. 
Japanese yen, Swiss franc and the ECU, and
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corresponding rates for these currencies plus the Belgian 
franc. French franc. Italian lire and Netherlands guilder, 
against the US dollar are published in the Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin. End-month data for 1970-74 
are published in the Bank of England Statistical Abstract, 
Number 2. The middle market closing spot and three- 
months forward sterling/US dollar rates are shown as at 
end-months for 1945-69 in the Bank of England 
Statistical Abstract, Number 1.

The three-months forward rate against sterling for the 
US dollar and the deutschemark expressed in cents and 
pfennigs and as a percentage per annum at end-month 
intervals is published in the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin.

Table 13.3
Interest rate differentials and foreign 
exchange rates

This shows the interest rates on US Treasury bills and 
euro'dollar deposits in London; the interest rate 
differentials of local authority temporary loans and inter
bank sterling deposits on euro-dollar deposits in London; 
the price of gold at the 15.00 fixing in London; the 
exchange rate against Special Drawing Rights (SDRs) 
and the European Currency Unit (ECU) of sterling and 
the US dollar.

Interest on US Treasury bills shows the market selling 
rate in New York for three-monthly US Treasury bills, 
expressed as a yield (percent per annum of 365 days).

Interest on US dollar deposits in London (3 months) 
shows middle market closing rates.

Interest rate differentials. These two columns provide 
a broad comparison between the returns on the different 
types of investment instruments, taking into consideration 
the cost of the accompanying foreign exchange 
transactions. All the calculations are based on three- 
month rates.

The comparisons are obtained by adding a forward 
premium (percent per annum) for sterling to, or 
subtracting a fonward discount for sterling from, the 
interest rate for a particular sterling instrument (e.g. inter
bank deposits) and calculating the difference between 
the resultant figure and a comparable foreign currency 
instrument (e.g. euro-dollar deposits in London). Forward 
rates expressed in percent per annum terms are shown 
in table 13.2.

For example, at end-December 1990 interest on three- 
month euro-dollar deposits in London was 7.5% per 
annum and interest on three-month inter-bank sterling 
deposits was 14.03% per annum. Sterling was at a 
forward discount of 5.99% per annum against the US 
dollar. Thus the interest rate differential was:

14.03 - 7.5 - 5.99 = 0.54% per annum.
Conversely, at end-September 1984 interest on three- 

month euro-dollar deposits in London was 11.44% per 
annum and interest on three-month inter-bank sterling 
deposits was 12.10% per annum. Sterling was at a 
fonward premium of 0.74% per annum against the US 
dollar. Thus, the interest rate differential was:

11.44 + 0.74 - 12.10 = 0.08% per annum.
SDRs are valued in terms of a 'basket' of currencies. 

Since 1 January 1981, the basket has consisted of the

currencies of five countries - USA, UK. France, Germany 
and Japan - weighted largely with regard to their relative 
importance in world trade and official reserves. Prior to 
that date'a sixteen-currency basket was used.

The exchange rates for the SDR against all currencies 
fluctuate from day to day in response to exchange 
market movements. Once each business day, the IMF 
values the currency components of the basket at their 
market exchange rates for the US dollar at noon in 
London as reported by the Bank of England, and the 
sum of the dollar equivalents yields the rate of the SDR 
in terms of the US dollar. The SDR rate of any other 
currency can be arrived at by taking its official 
'representative' exchange rate against the dollar and 
calculating it against the dollar/SDR rate.

European Currency Unit (ECU) is also valued in terms 
of a basket of currencies. This basket consists of the 
currencies of those nine countries (UK. France, West 
Germany, Italy, Netherlands, Ireland, Belgium, Denmark 
and Luxembourg) which were members of the EC in 
March 1979 when the European Monetary System (EMS) 
came into effect. Since 17 September 1984, the Greek 
drachma has also been Included in the basket, and from 
21 September 1989, the Portuguese escudo and the 
Spanish peseta have also been included.

Timeliness
Data are published in Financial Statistics one month in 

arrears.

Further references
Data are published at end-year and end-month 

intervals in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin. The 
Bank of England Statistical Abstract, Number 2 gives 
end-month information from 1970-74. The Bank of 
England Statistical Abstract, Number 1 gives broadly 
similar data from 1945-69.

An article describing the foreign exchange market in 
London was published in the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin in December 1980 and the results of surveys of 
turnover in the market were published in the September 
1986 and November 1989 issues.

Table 13.4
British government securities: prices and 
yieids
Financiai Times - Actuaries securities price 
indices

The data are for the last Fridays of the months and 
are taken from dally series which appear in the Financial 
Times. The fixed interest indices are based on December 
1975=100 and the series started in January 1976. The 
index-linked index is based on April 1982=100 and the 
series starts in May 1981. Further details of the indices 
and their computation are given in A Guide to Financial 
Times Statistics published by Financial Times Business 
Information Ltd.

Seiected individual stocks
The series relate to stocks selected to represent a 

cross-section of the market and show figures for the last 
Friday in the month. Prices and yields are based on 
middle market prices at the close of official business.
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The gross flat yield on a security is the annual amount 
receivable in interest expressed as a percentage of the 
net price (i.e. the price excluding gross accrued interest). 
The net flat yield \s the gross flat yield less income tax at 
the standard rate. These yields are used mainly for 
irredeemable or undated stocks, where the absence of a 
fixed redemption date does not permit the calculation of 
any certain capital gain or loss; and they are comparable 
with rates of interest obtainable on deposits, mortgages 
and other investments that offer no capital gain or loss. 
For investors whose only concern is annual receivable 
income (e.g. life interests) these yields are a measure of 
their return on dated securities also; but most investors 
in these stocks will be concerned, in addition to the 
annual income, with the capital gain or loss arising from 
the difference between the price at which they were 
purchased and the price at which they will be redeemed 
at a known date (or range of dates).

The gross redemption yield comprises the gross flat 
yield together with an apportionment of the calculated 
capital gain or loss on dated securities held to 
redemption; more precisely, it is the rate of interest 
which, if used to discount future dividends and the sum 
due at redemption, will make their present value equal to 
the present price of the stock. It is an appropriate 
measure of the gross annual return on these securities, 
if held to maturity, for investors who pay no tax (e.g. 
pension funds) or pay tax on income and capital profits 
at the same rate (e.g. security dealers). It provides a 
convenient means of comparing the annual return on 
dated securities with different nominal rates of interest.

The net redemption yield is similar to the gross 
redemption yield excepX that income tax at the standard 
rate is deducted from dividends. From April 1965 to 
March 1969 the net redemption yield allowed also for tax 
on capita! gains to redemption. From May 1965 to March 
1969 capital gains between the lowest price at which 
stock was issued and the redemption price were exempt 
tax. Since March 1969 the calculation omitted capital 
gains tax because the tax was only levied on a minority 
of holdings of government stocks. From March 1969 to 
April 1971 the charge to capital gains tax was made only 
on stocks with less than one year to redemption and 
from then until July 1986 it was made only on stocks 
disposed of within one year of acquisition.

The net redemption yield grossed up at the standard 
rate of income tax is not an actual return to any class of 
holder. It provides, for those who pay tax only on income, 
a notional gross return on dated securities which can be 
compared with other gross returns containing no tax-free 
or low-taxed element, such as income (before tax) on 
investments which offer no capital gain or loss, for 
example deposits, or on which the capital gain or loss 
cannot be calculated in advance, for example equities.

In calculating the yield on stocks with alternative 
redemption dates, redemption is assumed at the later 
date when the price (excluding gross atxrued interest) is 
below par, that is when the flat yield is above the
nominal rate, and at the earlier date when the price is 
above par.

The real gross redemption yields on index-linked 
British government securities are calculated by the 
method adopted by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries 
(see Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, December 1983.
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page 484). The yields shown assume a constant annual 
rate of inflation from the date of the last published RPI of 
5%.

The nominal amount outstanding at end of year for 
each selected security is also shown. Details of issues at 
cash values and redemptions are shown in table 3.6.

Timeliness
Figures for the last Friday of the latest month are 

published in Financial Statistics about the end of the 
following month.

Table 13.5
British government securities

The table shows par yields for five-, ten- and twenty- 
year maturities derived from a mathematical model, and 
also the net price and gross flat yield toT 2.5% Consols. 
The data are averages of working days.

Method of calculation
The calculation of par yields was described in Bank of 

England Quarterly Bulletin Articles of December 1972, 
September 1973, June 1976, June 1982 and February 
1990. All dated stocks which are not index-linked are 
used in the calculation, except those:

where the total market holdings are less than 
£250 million;
which have existing conversion options; 
which mature in less than one year.

Some low coupon stocks are also excluded.

Timeliness
Figures for the latest month appear in Financial 

Statistics about the end of the following month.

Further references
Monday yields from two to twenty-five years maturity 

are made available to market makers and dealers by the 
Bank of England on Tuesdays.

The Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin shows the 
calculated Par yields for Mondays and for the last 
working day of the month (and also the flat yield on 3.5% 
War Loan and the real gross redemption yields on 2% 
Index-Linked Treasury Stock 1996 and 2.5% Index- 
Linked Treasury Stock 2016). An eleven-year run of 
figures is given in the Annual Abstract of Statistics, table 
17.10 and end-month yield figures are available (with 
some breaks in series) back to January 1945 in the Bank 
of England Statistical Abstract See also table 13.15 for 
quarterly averages of yields on twenty-year long dated 
British government securities and 3.5% War Loan.

Table 13.6
Certificates of tax deposit

For details of certificates of tax deposit see notes to 
table 3.11.

Table 13.7
Company security prices and yields 
Financiai Times - Actuaries share Indices

The figures are taken from the Financial Times - 
Actuaries share indices which have been published daily
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in the Financial Times since 26 November 1962. Details 
of the constituents are available from the Financial 
Times. Number One Southwark Bridge, London SE1 9HL 
and some notes on the computation of the indices are 
given in the booklet Guide to Financial Times Statistics 
published by Financial Times Business Information Ltd. 
The prices taken are middle market prices at close of 
business. The base date for each constituent sub-sector 
is given in the Financial Times every Saturday. Monthly 
and annual figures are arithmetic averages of those for 
working days.

Ordinary shares.Jhese indices are weighted arithmetic 
averages of the percentage price changes of the 
constituent shares since the base date; weights for each 
constituent are the total market values of the shares 
issued at the base date modified to maintain continuity 
when capital changes occur, for example through rights 
issues, or when constituents change, for example when 
companies disappear owing to takeovers or new 
companies become large enough to qualify for the 
indices.

The industrial share index of 500 shares comprises 
three main sections - capital goods, a consumer group, 
another group (made up of chemicals, office equipment, 
shipping and transport, telephone networks and 
miscellaneous) and oils. To form the all-share index an 
index of ordinary shares of financial and property 
companies is combined with an index of investment trust 
company shares, mining finance houses, overseas 
trading companies and the industrial (500) share index.

The table now incorporates a series for the FT-SE 100 
share index which is based on the 100 largest UK 
registered companies.

The aim of the FT-SE 100 index is to have sufficient 
coverage of the market to follow closely the FT-Actuaries 
All-share index, yet be small enough to calculate in real 
time throughout the Stock Exchange day. tt is used in 
support of futures contracts based on the UK equity 
market. It’s method of calculation is similar to that of the 
All-share index.

The composition of the industrial, all-share and FT-SE 
100 indices varies from time to time.

Dividend yields are the totals of the last year’s 
dividends, up to the most recently declared, payable on 
the capital of constituents expressed as percentages of 
total market valuation.

Earnings yields.Earn\r\gs, as calculated from the latest 
available reports and accounts and interim statements 
are expressed as percentages of total market valuation. 
From August 1965 earnings are taken as gross profit 
less corporation tax and other charges and gross 
preference dividends; the yields given relate to earnings 
with corporation tax at 40% up to 5 December 1967, at 
42.5% up to 7 May 1969. at 45% up to 29 November 
1970, at 42.5% up to 30 March 1971 and then at 40%. 
Previously, earnings were taken as net profit (gross profit 
less income tax, profits tax and other charges and net 
preference dividends) grossed up for income tax. The 
average of yields in the first week of August 1965, on the 
old basis was 10.83% compared with 8.43% on the new.

In anticipation of the new imputation system of 
corporation tax (effective on 6 April 1973), from February 
1973 until April 1974, the earnings yield was calculated 
on the assumption of corporation tax at 50% and full

distribution of earnings. From April 1974 corporation tax 
increased to 52% and from April 1985 it decreased to 
40% on which the calculation has since been based.

Preference stocks. The prices used are middle market 
prices at close of business adjusted for accrued interest 
less income tax at the standard rate. There are 20 
component stocks and the price index Is one twentieth of 
the sum of the percentage changes in prices of these 
stocks. Yields are the arithmetic averages of those 
calculated on each stock. The Financial Times ceased 
publishing these data on 31 December 1990.

Debenture and loan stocks. Up to 16 March 1981 the 
index and yield for debenture and loan stocks were 
calculated from the price changes of fifteen stocks with 
an average term to maturity of about twenty years. The 
stocks were divided into three groups according to 
redemption date and the price factors and yields for the 
three groups were combined in a weighted average to 
provide a price index and gross redemption yield 
appropriate to a stock of exactly twenty years duration. 
From 17 March 1981 a rebased series has been 
published. Three separate redemption yields are now 
available for five, fifteen and twenty-five years. The 
series shown In this table is the redemption yield on 
twenty-five year stocks.

Financial Times industriai ordinary (30 
share) index

The index is geometric in construction. It is calculated 
and published by the Financial Times at hourly intervals 
from 10.00 to 15.00 with a closing index produced shortly 
after 17.00 based on prices collected after the end of 
normal trading. Figures in the table are closing figures. 
The base date is 1 July 1935, which equals 100. 
Constituents of the index are thirty market leaders, 
representing a cross-section of British industry. Dividend 
and earnings yield calculations are also geometric. (See 
also notes above.)

Timeliness
Figures for the latest month appear in Financial 

Statistics about the end of the following month.

Further references
As mentioned above, FT-Actuaries share indices are 

published daily in the Financial Times. The Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin carries a small range of FT- 
Actuaries share prices indices and yields for last working 
days of the month and Mondays of each week, rather 
than averages. Longer runs of figures appear in the 
Annual Abstract of Statistics, table 17.10.

Table 13.8
Short-term money rates

Commercial bills: discount market buying rates -prime 
bank bills (3 months): with effect from August 1981, the 
figures shown are those applicable to bank bills eligible
for discount at the Bank of England.

Commercial bills: discount market buying rates - trade 
bills (3 months): the rate at which trade bills are 
discounted depends on their quality. The figures shown 
are market rates for bills of good average quality. Some 
trade bills are discounted at lower rates. The data are
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taken from daily series which appear In the Financial 
Timas; no rate has been quoted since April 1991.

Selected retail banks: the data are rates set by 
Barclays Bank, Lloyds Bank. Midland Bank and National 
Westminster Bank. The deposit account rates are 
averages paid by the banks grossed up at the current 
rate of composite rate tax until March 1991 and 
thereafter at the standard rate of income tax.

Timeliness
Short-term money rates are widely published in the 

daily press. The figures for the last Friday in the latest 
month appear in Financial Statistics about the end of the 
following month.

A minimum lending rate of 12% was announced on 
Monday 14 January 1985; however, it lapsed at close of 
business the same day. Similarly a minimum lending rate 
of 14% was invoked on Monday 8 October 1990 and 
lapsed at close of business that day. Since 20 August 
1981 MLR has not been published continuously.

Further references
Similar weekly series are published in the Bank of 

England Quarterly Bulletin and monthly figures of 
selected short-term money rates back to January 1945 
are available in the Bank of England Statistical Abstracts. 
Monthly average figures of selected money and bill rates 
for the latest eleven years appear In the Annual Abstract 
of Statistics table 17.9 (1987). See also table 13.15 for 
average quarterly figures for selected retail banks base 
rate and deposit account (7 days notice) rate and the 
three-months inter-bank rate.

Table 13.9
National Savings Bank: rate of interest on 
investment account

The investment account was introduced on 20 June 
1966. The minimum deposit was raised to £5 on 1 April 
1985. The maximum permitted holding has varied from 
time to time as follows;

Period
20 June 1966 - 30 July 1969 
1 July 1969 -5  June 1974 
6 June 1974 - 25 July 1977 
26 July 1977 - 29 January 1981 
30 January 1981 - 3 May 1984 
5 May 1984 - 15 July 1986 
16 July 1986 - 31 December 1989 
1 January 1990 to date

Maximum
£5,000
£ 10,000
Unlimited
£50,000
£200,000
£50,000
£ 100,000
£25,000

Interest is credited to accounts once a year on 31 
December. Prior to 1 January 1984 interest was credited 
on balances held for a complete calendar month. From 
1 January 1984 interest is payable on a daily basis. From
1 January 1990 new holdings were restricted to personal 
savers and trustees for individuals.

Table 13.10
Selected retail banks: base rates

The base rates of Barclays Bank, Lloyds Bank, 
Midland Bank and National Westminster Bank only are 
used to compile this tcible. Each of these has a single 
base rate, which may sometimes differ from those of the

other banks. The rates of interest charged by the banks 
on much of their lending to customers are set at margins 
over their own base rales: the size of the margin 
depends on the nature and status of the customer. A 
change in base rate normally signifies a marked change 
in the level of short-term market rates; hence base rate 
is widely used as an indicator of the broad level of 
interest rates. However, some bank lending is at rates 
more closely related to money market rates which vary 
daily and some, for example to persons for house 
purchase, is at rates which vary less frequently than 
base rate. The only loans for which the banks charge 
uniform rates are those for ECGD-guaranteed exports 
and for domestic shipbuilding.

Timeliness
Changes in their base rates are announced individually 

by the banks and published in the financial press. 
Changes up to the beginning of the latest month are 
published in Financial Statistics about the end of the 
month.

Further references
Base rates at dates of change are also given in the 

Annual Abstract of Statistics. The table of UK short-term 
money rates in the Bank o f England Quarterly Bulletin 
includes figures for base rate as on Fridays in recent 
months. Base rates for the last Fridays of months appear 
in the Bank of England Statistical Abstract No.2, 
Quarterly average rates are shown in table 13.15.

Table 13.11
Finance house base rate

Instalment credit finance houses specialise in the 
provision of hire-purchase and other instalment credit for 
the purchase of consumer durables and in the finance of 
industrial equipment.

The base rate was first published by the Finance 
Houses Association on 1 September 1970 and is 
calculated monthly. The rate is calculated by averaging 
the weekly averages of the three-month inter-bank rate 
in the preceding eight weeks, and rounding to the 
nearest one half per cent above. The data are taken from 
the Financial Times.

Timeliness
Changes in the base rate are announced by the 

Finance Houses Association and published in the press. 
The change takes effect on the first of the month and the 
new rate is normally published in Financial Statistics 
about the end of the month.

Table 13.12
Building societies: rates of interest

In November 1984 The Building Societies Association 
ceased to advise rates of interest on shares and 
mortgages. The BSA rates were last published in the 
December 1985 issue. In subsequent issues average 
rates are calculated by the Building Societies 
Commission.

In general each building society has a range of share 
and mortgage accounts. As regards shares there is a 
basic or ordinary share account together with a number
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of other share accounts some of whose rates may be 
linked to the society’s basic share rate by a stated 
differential. Similarly for mortgages there may be in 
addition to a basic mortgage rate other mortgage rates 
depending on the size of the advance, the nature or age 
of the property and the type of mortgage (e.g. 
repayment, endowment, etc.) and which are usually 
linked to the basic rate by a stated differential.

For both share and mortgage accounts therefore two 
rates are shown in table 13.12 : a bash rate and an 
average rate. Rates shown are derived from monthly 
returns to the Registry of Friendly Societies by 
calculating for each rate a weighted average of the 
individual rates (using month-end share/mortgage 
balances) of those societies which comprised the 20 
largest at the beginning of the year. At the beginning of 
1984 those 20 societies accounted for some 87 percent 
of the total assets of all societies.

Rates shown reflect the position at the end of each 
month and being based on actual rates in force also 
reflect any timing differences that may exist between 
societies in their general implementations of new rates. 
When interest rates are changing it should be noted that 
for an individual society those for mortgages come into 
effect at varying dates, usually immediately for new 
accounts and at various dates afterwards for existing 
accounts depending on the terms of the mortgage and 
also on whether there is any intentional delay in 
implementation. Because of this the basic mortgage rate 
is taken as that applying to the majority of accounts 
within a society rather than that simply affecting new 
accounts, while actual rates in force are reflected in the 
average rate.

The rates have been calculated from January 1984. 
No earlier data are available in these series.

Table 13.13
Public Works Loan Board; local authority 
interest rates

This table shows rates for loans to local authorities 
from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). They are for 
fixed rate loans within the annual quota of loans available 
to local authorities from the PWLB. Rates are shown, for 
the operative date, for three types of loan:

loans repayable by half-yearly equal 
instalments of principal with interest paid on 
the decreasing balance of the principal; 
repayable by equal half-yearly instalments of 
principal and interest combined; 
repayable at maturity; interest paid half-yearly.

Rates are determined by the Treasury and changes 
are also published in the London and Edinburgh 
Gazettes.

Table 13.14
other local authorities interest rates

The table shows rates for the four main types of local 
authority borrowing instruments.
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Deposits with heal authorities range mainly from two 
days to twelve months with a variety of option clauses. 
The series show the ranges over the day until May 1982 
and mid-morning rates thereafter.

Negotiable bonds have maturities at issue ranging 
from one year up to five years, the great majority being 
for just over one year. They are listed on the Stock 
Exchange.

Stock issues by local authorities are made on their 
behalf by brokers and issuing houses generally through 
public offers. The stocks are listed in the gilt-edged 
section of the Stock Exchange and are transferable free 
of stamp duty. Provided they were acquired after 13 
March 1984, local authority stocks are also exempt from 
capital gains tax when held for more than one year. The 
rate shown is an average of gross redemption yields on 
selected stocks.

Mortgages are unquoted borrowing instruments. The 
rates given are those for the beginning of the week 
following the last Friday in each period and are for 
mortgage business, generally in large amounts, 
transacted In London. Local authorities also issue 
unquoted bonds on similar terms.

Timeliness
Figures for the end of the last month are published in 

Financial Statistics about the end of the foltowing month.

Further references
The Bank of England Statistical Abstract, Numbers 1 

and 2 contain a run of monthly figures for three-month 
deposits between 1956 and 1974.

Table 13.15
Average money rates

The table shows average quarterly figures for certain 
money market rates and government stock yields.

Selected retail banks’ base rate is the average over 
working days. The data are rates for the four banks listed 
in the notes to table 13.10. Details of dates of changes 
are given in table 13.10.

Selected retail banks’ 7 day deposit rate \s an average 
over working days grossed up at the current rate of 
composite rate tax until March 1991 and thereafter at the
standard rate of income tax.

Inter-bank rate (3 months) is the average of working
days.

British government securities 20-year cahulatedgross 
redemption yield is calculated from the Bank of England 
model (see notes to table 13.5) and since the beginning 
of 1976 the figures are the average of all calculations 
made (every working day since January 1982).

3.5% War Loan flat yield, is calculated from closing 
prices (mean bid and offer prices) and is the average of 
working days.

Monthly figures appear in table 13.8 (Selected retail 
banks seven-day deposit rates and inter-bank rates), 
table 13.5 (calculated gross redemption yields) and table 
13.4 (3.5% War Loan flat yield).
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Section 14 
Balance sheets

National and sector balance sheets, integrated with 
flows data, may be regarded as the final link in the chain 
of national income and expenditure accounts. Official 
work on producing a consistent set of balance sheets for 
all sectors of the economy started in 1975. The first 
results (balance sheets for the years 1966 to 1975) were 
published in an article ‘National and sector balance 
sheets for the United Kingdom’ in Economic Trends, 
November 1980.

Annual data
Balance sheets including tangible assets for all sectors 

for the last eleven years are now published in Section 13 
of United Kingdom National Accounts, (the 'Blue BooK). 
Exceptionally, in 1991, these tables were published in the 
October edition of Economic Trends. The balance sheet 
of the personal sector, in more detail is published in table 
S2 of the February issue of Financial Statistics.

Quarterly data 
Tables 14.1 to 14.5
Financial assets and liabilities of the non
bank private sector

These tables cover building societies, other non-bank 
financial institutions, industrial and commercial 
companies, and the personal sectors. These are the only 
sectors for which comprehensive quarterly financial 
balance sheets are at present published. These data 
were introduced in a supplementary table in Financial 
Statistics August 1981 which gave quarterly data from 
end-1966 to end-1980. Annual figures had been 
published in an article entitled ‘Financial wealth of the 
non-bank private sector* in Economic Trends, July 1981. 
Changes have since been made to some of the asset 
and liability groups shown in the tables and from the 
December 1991 edition of Financial Statistics they show 
the same financial instrument classifications as are used 
in the financial transaction accounts. Quarterly data from 
end-1975 are also available on the CSO Databank, and 
in some cases from 1963.

Consolidation
Table 14.1 shows the financial assets and liabilities of 

the non-bank private sector on a consolidated basis. In 
other words, the table only covers claims between 
members of the non-bank private sector and other 
sectors, i.e. public sector, banks or overseas. A 
description of consolidation is given in appendix 2 of the 
article in Economic Trends, July 1981.

Other data for financial assets and liabilities
Some statistics of financial assets and liabilities along 

with transactions data are published monthly in Financial 
Statistics. These series, with their frequency and form of 
analysis, are as follows.

Section 3 - Central government.
Treasury bills and tax instruments: quarterly levels and
flows by holding sector. National savings: quarterly
levels and flows by type of instrument.

Section 4 - Local authorities.
Total borrowing and longer-term debt: annual levels

and quarterly flows by type of debt and, for non- 
marketable debt, by holding sector. Temporary debt 
and investments: quarterly levels and flows by type of 
debt and sector.

Section 6 - Banks and building societies.
Liabilities and assets of the whole sector: quarterly 
levels and flows with deposits and loans outstanding 
analysed by sector and between amounts in sterling 
and in other currencies. Loans, advances and 
acceptances to UK residents: quarterly levels and 
flows by industrial classification.

Section 7 - Other financial Institutions.
Annual levels and quarterly flows for the assets and 
liabilities of the following institutional groups: credit 
companies (excluding banks and building societies), 
property unit trusts, unit trusts, investment trusts, 
insurance companies and pension funds.

Section 9 - Personal sector.
Consumer credit, loans for house purchase and 
borrowing from the banks’ sector: annual levels and 
quarterly flows; consumer credit and loans for house 
purchase analysed by type of lending institution.

Section 10 - Overseas sector.
Official reserves: quarterly levels and flows, (the levels 
being analysed by type of asset). UK position with 
IMF: monthly levels and flows, flows analysed by type 
of transaction.

Section 11 - Money stock.
Calendar quarter and monthly levels and flows for the 
various monetary aggregates. Detailed tables show 
analyses of the main aggregates by type of 
Instrument.

Other tables in Financial Statistics show only assets 
and liabilities. Table 8.6 is based on the quarterly survey 
of the liquidity of large industrial and commercial 
companies and analyses of their current assets and 
liabilities. Quarterly data for selected liquid assets of all 
industrial and commercial companies and for the 
personal sector are given in tables 8.4 and 9.5 
respectively. Quarterly data for external liabilities and 
claims are given In tables 10.4 and 10.5.

The statistics of assets and liabilities referred to here 
are not all consistent with the definitions used in the 
sector balance sheets. For example, some of the series 
are at book value rather than at market prices. Data 
collected from both the asset-holding and liability-holding 
institutions may differ (e.g. pension funds’ holdings of unit 
trust units); in the sector balance sheets, these 
differences are eliminated. The coverage of the series 
are not always the same as that of similar items in the 
balance sheet statistics. For example, in table 6.1, bank 
lending includes investments in government stock and 
company securities which are shown separately in the 
sector balance sheets.

Quality of data
As with transactions figures {see page 19), the quality 

of the balance sheet data varies between one instrument 
and another and, for particular instruments, between the 
various sectors issuing or holding the instrument. Data
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for sectors covered by regular returns of levels and/or 
flows are generally more reliable than that for other 
sectors, such as. for the most part, industrial and 
commercial companies and the personal sector. Where 
a non-marketable instrument is held predominantly by a 
single sector, such as personal sector holdings of 
national savings, a reliable figure for the holding sector 
can usually be obtained from the records of the issuing 
sector. Issuing sectors can also often provide sectoral 
analyses of outstanding loans, but they cannot supply 
regular information on sectoral holdings of marketable 
instruments.

Of the sectors covered by quarterly returns, only 
banks supply complete quarterly balance sheet 
information. The quarterly returns from public 
corporations, local authorities, building societies and 
other financial institutions only collect levels information 
for short-term instruments (i.e. those with less than one 
year from issue to maturity). For long-term instruments, 
the only quarterly figures are for transactions, but figures 
for end year levels of assets and liabilities are collected 
for the financial institutions. The figures for the 
intervening quarters have to be estimated by interpolation 
and their quality tends to be poorer. This is especially so 
for marketable instruments where price changes as well 
as flows have to be taken into account in estimating end- 
quarter levels.

Changes in sector coverage
From 1 January 1981. the National Savings Bank 

investment account was reclassified from the other 
financial institutions (OFI) sector to the central

government sector. Up to that date the deposits (£1,871 
million at end-1980) were included under savings bsmk 
deposits, as personal sector assets and OFI sector 
liabilities. Thereafter, they are Included underthe national 
savings.

At the beginning of 1982, Trustee savings banks and 
some other deposit-taking institutions were transferred 
from the OFI sector to the monetary sector. From the 
end of the first quarter of 1982, their assets and liabilities 
are excluded from the OFI table. The effect of this is that 
these institutions' claims on and liabilities to bodies 
outside the NBPS are now excluded from the 
consolidated NBPS figures whereas their claims on and 
liabilities to NBPS bodies are now included in the 
consolidated NBPS figures. Thus the series TSB 
balances with the National Debt Office is discontinued, 
and bank lending and bank loans for house purchase 
now include TSB loans.

Overseas assets and liabilities (NBPS and industrial 
and commercial companies sector): from the beginning 
of 1983, estimates are no longer available for certain pre
payments and credit on both imports an exports and, 
after that date, the values of these components are 
included indistinguishably in domestic trade and other 
credit. The end-1982 values of these components were: 
overseas assets £4,742 million; overseas liabilities 
£4,340 million.

The balance sheet estimates are also affected by the
sectoral changes, especially (since 1983) privatisation, 
which are mentioned in the methodological notes in 
United Kingdom Income and Expenditure (the Blue Book! 
(HMSO, annually).
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Annex 1
Supplementary tables

A list of supplementary tables and expected 
publication dates for the forthcoming year is to be found 
on the inside of the back cover of Financial Statistics. H 
may not always be possible to achieve the expected 
publication date.

To distinguish them from the regular monthly tables, 
supplementary tables have the prefix S.

S1 Debt of the public sector: nominal 
amount outstanding
Annually: March

An article describing these statistics was published in 
Economic Trends, May 1977,

National debt comprises the total liabilities of the 
National Loans Fund, full details of which are given each 
year in Consolidated Fund and National Loans Fund 
Accounts: Supplementary Statements. An annual article, 
analysing the national debt by instrument and holder, 
appears in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin. The 
November 1989 issue article gave details of the 
distribution of national debt up to end-March 1989.

Foreign currency debt for each sub-sector is valued at 
middle closing spot exchange rates on the last working 
day of March of each year. Much of the foreign currency 
debt of local authorities and public corporations has been 
contracted through the exchange cover scheme under 
which the Treasury guarantees the debt against 
depreciation of sterling vis-a-vis the currency in which the 
debt is denominated. Thus the market exchange rate 
valuation used will overstate the liability of these 
authorities when sterling depreciates, but not the liability 
of the public sector as a whole.

Official holdings include marketable securities. 
Treasury bills, ways and means advances, terminable 
annuities (until 1979), other debt to the Bank of England, 
and from 1982, non-marketable stocks issued to the 
National Debt Commissioners.

Trustee savings banks: ordinary departments Include 
current accounts (as part of national savings) until 20 
November 1976 and savings accounts until 20 November 
1979. Thereafter the government’s outstanding liabilities 
in respect of these deposits are shown in the table as 
Liability to Trustee savings banks.

Accrued interest, etc. on national savings includes 
accrued interest, index-linking and bonus as applicable 
for national savings certificates and SAVE contracts and. 
from 1981, National Savings Bank investment accounts.

Notes and coin in circulation exclude holdings by the 
Bank of England, which are included in net indebtedness 
of the central government to the Bank of England 
banking department.

Government-guaranteed stocks of nationalised 
industries. Although these stocks are liabilities of public 
corporations they cannot be distinguished from British 
government securities in the sector analysis of holdings.

Domestic private sector holdings are obtained by
residual and contain some unidentified holdings by public 
sector bodies.

Contingent liabilities of central government are shown
only where data are readily available and exclude
guarantees of loans to the public sector. Further details
are given in section 4 of Supplementary Statements for 
each year.
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The components of this table are of reliable quality.
Figures are also now published for the net debt of the 

public sector, ie the gross debt less public sector liquid 
assets. The series was introduced in the March 1986 
issue of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin; annual 
data from end-March 1980 to 1989 was given in the 
November 1989 issue.

52 Balance sheets of the personal sector
Annually: February

This table updates, with some changes in detail, the 
corresponding table published in 'Personal sector 
balance sheets and current developments in Inland 
Revenue estimates of personal wealth', Studies in Official 
Statistics, No. 35 (HMSO). The estimates are prepared 
with considerable help from the Bank of England and 
other departments, which is gratefully acknowledged.

Balance sheets for all sectors from 1957 to 1978 were 
published in Economic Trends In the November 1980 
issue; 1975 was used as a detailed benchmark for all 
sectors. Summary balance sheets for end-years 1977 to 
1988 were published in United Kingdom National 
Accounts, 1989 edition. Updated financial balance sheets 
covering the whole economy now appear annually as 
supplementary tables S5 to S7 in the June issue of 
Financial Statistics. Quarterly estimates of personal 
sector financial assets and liabilities, for broad groups, 
are published In table 14.5.

Total consumer credit is not separately distinguished 
in this table but the amount of credit outstanding at the 
end of recent years is shown in table 9.3.

At end-1975, Trustee savings bank deposits in 
ordinary departments were included in, and deposits in 
special investment departments were excluded from, 
national savings. From November 1976, current accounts 
were excluded from national savings, and in November 
1979 savings accounts were excluded.

National Savings Bank investment accounts are 
included in national savings from January 1981.

Bank loans and advances excludes loans for house 
purchase, which are shown separately.

Several series, as indicated on the table, are affected 
by the transfer of Trustee savings banks and other 
deposit-taking institutions from the other financial 
institutions sector to the new monetary sector (now UK 
banks) at the beginning at 1982.

In accordance with international recommendations, 
personal sector holdings of consumer durables have now 
been excluded from the wealth of the sector but are 
shown as a memorandum item at the bottom of the table.

53 Annual financial accounts matrix
Annually: July

The table shows an analysis by sector and by type of 
asset of the latest year’s financial transactions in the 
same format as in table 1.1. For description of categories 
etc., see notes commencing on page 16 of Section 1.

54  National debt; nominal amount 
outstanding
Annually: June (July 1991)

The figures included here represent the total nominal
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liabilities of the National Loans Fund calculated as 
outstanding at 31 March each year, analysed by 
instrument and maturity. The table shows details for the 
most recently completed financial year, where the figures 
are provisional, and for the three previous financial years. 
Full details are given in Ck>nsolidated Fund and National 
Loans Fund Accounts: Supplementary Statements 
(normally published annually in December). These 
figures are included in supplementary table SI and the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin for December also 
contains an article on the distribution of the national debt.

The sterling valuation of debt payable in external 
currencies has been made at the following rates:

uss
1.4780
1.6042
1.8645
1.66S5
1.64S5

Cans
2.0648
2.0068
2.3243
2.0116
1.0261

ECU

1.5365
1.3642

S5 to S7 Sectoral distribution of financial 
assets and liabilities
Annually: June (September in 1989)

These tables update the information on the financial 
assets and liabilities of each sector of the economy 
which was published in an article on national and sector 
balance sheets for the United Kingdom in the November 
1980 Issue of Economic Trends.

Definitions and methodology are given in Annex 2 of 
the above article; further information on sources and 
methods can be obtained from the article Financial 
wealth of the non-bank private sector in the July 1981 
issue of Economic Trends.

In accordance with international recommendations for 
sector balance sheets, the data are, as far as possible, 
at market values. The figures of public sector liabilities 
are therefore not directly comparable with those of public 
sector debt in supplementary table S I, which are at 
nominal values.

The quality of the latest years’ data for certain assets 
and liabilities is inferior to that of earlier years. For 
general notes on the quality of the data, see the notes on 
quality in Section 14. Efforts are being made to improve 
some of the series as resources permit.

The figures for UK company securities take into 
account the Stock Exchange’s survey of share ownership 
at the end of 1981. For the industrial and commercial 
companies sector, results of the Department of Trade 
and Industry’s annual analysis of company accounts, 
published in Business Monitor MA3, have been taken 
into account for items such as trade credit.

It should be borne in mind, when comparing the levels 
for a sector at the end of one year and the next, that the 
change in value is due to net transactions by the sector, 
price changes where applicable, any reclassifications of 
bodies between one sector and another, e.g. on 
nationalisation or privatisation, and any redefinition of the 
sector boundary in the year. The general methods and 
problems of reconciling changes in levels with flows data 
are discussed in an article The reconciliation of personal 
sector transactions and wealth in the June 1983 issue of 
Economic Trends.

Summary national and sector balance sheets for end 
years 1975 to 1986 were published in United Kingdom 
National Accounts 1987 Edition. These included 
estimates of physical assets held by each sector and the
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nation as a whole. A description of the balance sheets to 
1985 is given in the May 1987 issue of Economic 
Trends', in particular, a detailed description of the sources 
and methods used to compile the estimates of physical 
assets is given in the article.

This table shows the aggregates of financial assets 
and liabilities held by each sector and the resulting net 
financial worth of the sectors. As holdings of financial 
assets and liabilities are veilued on the same basis, the 
sum of all sectors’ assets equals the sum of all sectors' 
liabilities and the net financial worth of all sectors 
(including net external holdings) adds to zero.

This table shows, in matrix form, the sectoral 
distribution of the various categories of financial assets 
at the end of a recent calendar year.

57 A to K
These tables show, for each sector, the levels of 

financial assets and liabilities held at end-year over a 
maximum period of eight years.

The non-bank private sector (comprising other 
financial institutions, industrial and commercial 
companies and the personal sector) is also shown as a 
whole, the data being presented in two forms. Firstly, 
figures are given of the sums of the values of the three 
component sectors i.e. on an un-consolidated basis. 
Secondly, the figures are given with claims between 
asset holders and liability holders within the non-bank 
private sector excluded, i.e. on a consolidated basis. The 
latter basis is also used in the quarterly table 14.1, 
though the asset groups differ in content.

The tables for the three public sectors (central 
government, local authorities and public corporations) are 
followed by a table for the public sector as a whole, also 
on a consolidated basis. Public sector outstanding assets 
and liabilities can thus be compared with transactions 
data given in tables 1.5, 2.5 and 2.6, which are also 
consolidated.

Estimates for end years 1977 to 1988 have been 
published in Section 12 of the United Kingdom National 
Accounts, 1989 Edition (the Blue BooK). H should be 
noted that data for the overseas sector corresponding to 
Table S7K is presented in Table 11.1 of the Blue Book 
in a different form, thus the financial assets of the 
overseas sector appear as external liabilities of the 
United Kingdom.

Future plans
Publication of a full description of sources and 

methods used in balance sheet work is intended. Other 
projects include further work on reconciling flows and 
levels and production of quarterly figures for other 
sectors in addition to the existing series for the non-bank 
private sector.

58 Finance lessors’ capital expenditure on 
assets for leasing out
Annually: October

This table shows the results of a survey desaibed in 
a series of articles published in November issues of the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.
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The statistics measure capital expenditure on assets 
purchased for leasing out by banks, by non-bank finance 
houses and by specialist finance leasing subsidiaries (or 
associates) of these institutions and of other companies. 
The figures exclude expenditure by companies primarily 
engaged in operating leasing, as well as TV rental and 
the leasing of building acquisitions by property 
companies (classified to business services, etc.), and 
hiring of contractor’s plant and scaffolding (construction).

Unidentified mc\\ides mainly finance leasing for which 
information about lessees has not been reported, 
estimated expenditure by non-reporting lessors, and a 
small amount of other forms of leasing carried out by the 
reporting institutions. Until the end of 1982 it also 
included all leasing expenditure reported by banks; with 
effect from the start of 1983, such expenditure has been 
analysed by lessee and is included in the appropriate 
columns.

Other industries includes leasing of ships and aircraft 
to overseas residents.

The series in this table are, generally, of reliable 
quality.

S9 Reconciliation of the financial accounts 
and the balance of payments accounts
Annually: September

The table, which is shown in a matrix-style 
presentation, shows for the latest year how the figures in 
the financial
accounts relate to those in the balance of payments 
accounts. The financial accounts, as shown in table 1.12, 
analyse financial transactions with the overseas sector by 
category of instrument. A different classification is 
adopted for the balance of payments accounts which are 
required to identify and record transactions between 
residents of the United Kingdom and overseas residents 
in a way which is suitable for analysing the economic 
relationship between the UK economy and the rest of the 
world. Some of the data for the financial accounts are not 
obtained directly from the balance of payments accounts 
but are derived from government accounts and financial 
institutions.

The columns in this reconciliation are based on the 
headings shown in table 1.12 of Financial Statistics or 
table 11.15 of United Kingdom National Accounts: rows 
are based on tables 10.1, and 10.2 of Financial Statistics 
or tables 1.1 and 8.1 of United Kingdom Balance of 
Payments. The numbering of the columns follows that of 
the financial accounts, i.e. line numbers in table 1.1. The 
entries in the first row of the matrix are the sum of the 
relevant column items and those in the first column are 
the sum of the relevant line items. Financial surplus or 
deficit equals, apart from the change in sign, the current 
balance in the balance of payments accounts plus (in 
earlier years) capital transfers.

S10 Local authority loan debt: residual 
maturity analysis
Annually: November 1990

The figures shown in these tables are based mainly on 
returns of outstanding debt made by local authorities to 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA).

Local authorities are asked to provide a maturity

analysis only of their market borrowing. The Public 
Works Loan Board provide an analysis of their loans 
outstanding with local authorities and the results from the 
two sources are combined to provide an analysis of total 
local authority loan debt. All instalment debt, (including 
annuity loans) is classified by repayment dates instead of 
final instalment dates. The table shows a four year time 
series summary at national and UK level.

511 Pension funds: analysis of assets and 
liabilities by size of fund
Annually: November/December (February in 1990)

This table shows an analysis of the assets and 
liabilities of pension funds according to their size. The 
figures are a further breakdown of the holdings figures in 
table 7.12 and the notes to that table give details of 
coverage and methods of compilation.

The size bands given in the table are for total financial 
assets less liabilities (at market values). The bands relate 
to the sizes of funds which pertained at 31 March 1979 
for local authority funds, and at 31 December 1978 for 
other public sector and for private sector funds. The 
number of funds in each size band is the number of 
companies etc. identified as having funds, although many 
have more than one. For private sector funds the number 
in the smallest size band is an estimate. Funds where 
the parent company has been privatised are included in 
the private sector from the year in which privatisation 
took place, if that occurred by the end of September, or 
from the following year if privatisation was in October or 
later. The number of funds are changed accordingly.

Short-term assets (net) includes both long-term 
borrowing and short-term borrowing as negative items.

UK company securities includes units of authorised 
unit trusts.

Other investments includes loans and mortgages.
The second part of the table shows the number of 

funds within each size band for each of the latest six 
years. In this part the size is shown at 31 March of each 
year for local authority funds or 31 December of each 
year for other public sector funds. For private sector 
funds the analysis is only available for 31 December 
1978.

512 Treasury analysis of public expenditure
Annually: November

The table covers the past five years using the 
definitions and classifications of the latest public 
expenditure White Paper (The Government's Expenditure 
Plans). The Treasury figures for all years are in effect 
estimates of what expenditure would have been if 
definitions and classifications, including the allocation of 
functions to spending authorities, had been the same as 
in the current year.

The Chancellor’s Autumn Statement, 1989 (Cm 879) 
introduced a new planning total for public expenditure. 
Up to November 1989, SI 2 relates to the old definition, 
which comprised the expenditure of central government 
and local authorities (excluding transfers between them), 
together with the net market and overseas borrowing by 
nationalised industries and most other public 
corporations. For certain public corporations the planning 
total includes their capital expenditure but excludes 
government grants and lending to them. In the new
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planning total, local authority expenditure is replaced by 
transfers from and credit approvals Issued by central 
government (see notes to table 2.4 for further details). 
Central government and local authority finance to 
nationalised industries and other public corporations, 
together with their market and overseas borrowing is 
Included in public corporations. Privatisation proceeds 
count as negative expenditure in the planning total. 
Differences in the coverage of the planning total and 
general government expenditure are detailed in the notes 
to table 2.4 and in Appendix C to Chapter 21 of the 1990 
White Paper (Cm 1021). The final line of table S12 gives 
the estimate of the planning total based on national 
account figures and is derived using the adjustments in 
table 2.4. The 'Adjustment' line of table S i 2 shows the 
residual difference between the public expenditure 
planning total as measured by national accounts and 
Treasury sources.

S13 Public sector accounts by subsector
Twice yearly; July and November

This table is primarily intended to show the outturn 
figure corresponding to the estimated outturn in table 6.7 
of the Financial Statement and Budget Report (FSBR). 
It Is normally intended to be published twice yearly, first 
in June with the first estimates of outturn for the financial 
year and second in November to take on revisions 
arising in the UK National Accounts - 'Blue BooK. Time 
series relating to figures in the final (public sector) 
column appear monthly in table 2.7. The layout of both 
tables will change with changes to the FSBR table.

The sign convention for these tables is in line with 
table 6.7 of the Financial Statement and Budget Report 
(FSBR). The signs of the series on the CSO Databank 
are unaffected. The convention for these tables is now as 
follows:

Financial deficit and net borrowing, positive; financial 
surplus and net debt repayment, negative.

Other financial transactions: net acquisition of financial 
assets and reduction in liabilities, positive; net disposal of 
assets and increase in liabilities, negative; ie the financial 
accounts convention.

On this basis the Public sector borrowing requirement 
equals the financial deficit plus financial transactions 
(net). Sector receipts and sector payments are shown 
positive. Following from this most of the components of 
the first four columns can be seen in the first three tables 
of Sections 3, 4 and 5, and tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.5. The 
exceptions are as follows.

Interest and dividends within the public sector are 
separated from other interest flows and are shown net on 
the receipts side of the account. Payments by public 
corporations to general government are shown 
separately in table 5.1, but others are not identified.

Current and capital grants and net lending within the 
public sector are also separated out, and shown as net 
flows.

Capital grants within the public sector includes 
transfers from public corporations shown as 
miscellaneous capital receipts (ADCB) in table 4.2, and 
included in capital transfers to other sectors (ADSG) in 
table 5.2.

Lending within the public sector includes PDC 
advances by central government to public corporations.
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Miscellaneous financial transactions comprises the 
balancing items less ACJS (table 3.3) less ADGK (table 
4.3) plus ADEE (table 4.3) plus ADTC plus ADTK plus 
ADTL (all from table 5.3).

Contributions to public sector borrowing requirement 
are explained in more detail in the footnotes to table 2.5.

S14 Personal sector: committed and 
discretionary saving
Annually: in abeyance; last published October 1988

These tables update the figures given in the article on 
Committed and discretionary saving 'in Economic Trends, 
November 1981, with information consistent with the 
latest edition of United Kingdom National Accounts.

Saving is defined in the national accounts as the 
balance of current income and expenditure. The analysis 
shows how the saving balance is accounted for by 
transactions on capital and financial accounts and how 
the latter may be divided into committed and 
discretionary transactions.

The analysis aims to define committed transactions as 
those which are regular and which result from an initial 
decision. Regular savings schemes tend to be of this 
kind, as do regular repayments of borrowing. The 
analysis aims to define discretionary transactions as 
those which do not involve a commitment to follow an 
initial decision with further instalments. New borrowing, 
for example, is discretionary as Is depositing in bank 
current accounts. The exact line between committed and 
discretionary transactions is somewhat arbitrary and the 
picture is further complicated because it is not always 
possible, with the available data, to make the division 
according to the preferred definitions.

Committed items
Net saving through life assurance and superannuation 

schemes excludes single premiums for individual life 
policies and associated administrative costs.

Repayments of borrowing for house purchase 
comprises regular payments of building society loans and 
all repayments of local authority loans and insurance 
company loans.

Discretionary items
Single premiums for individual life policies is net of 

associated administrative costs.
Securities comprises overseas and company 

securities, British government securities, unit trust units, 
local authority longer-term debt, other public sector debt
and other identified assets.

Liquid assets comprises notes and coin, bank 
deposits, national savings and deposits with building 
societies excluding those defined as committed saving.

Borrowing for house purchase comprises gross 
borrowing from building societies, insurance companies 
and local authorities, redemptions and other lump sum 
payments to building societies and net borrowing from
other institutions.

Other borrowing comprises gross borrowing from 
retailers and finance houses, net borrowing from banks 
and other institutions, and other liabilities.

S21 Save as you earn
Quarterly : Jan, April, July, Nov. (March 1991)

This table brings together the quarterly statistics for
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the save-as-you-earn (SAVE) schemes operated by the 
building societies, the Department for National Savings 
and Trustee savings banks. Details are given of numbers 
of accounts opened and closed and the numbers 
outstanding and the value of contributions, withdrawals 
and the balance outstanding.

523 Public expenditure, revenue and 
borrowing
Annually: November

This is a summary table showing public expenditure, 
revenue and borrowing consistent with the data included 
in Sections 2 to 5. The presentation of this table follows 
that shown in tables 2,4, 2.5 and 2.6 of chapter 2 of the 
Financial Statement and Budget Report (FSBR). This 
table enables the forecast for the financial year to be 
compared with the outturns. Debt repayment is shown 
elsewhere as sectoral borrowing requirement with sign 
reversed.

524 Finances of the public sector
Annually: November

The presentation of this table follows that shown in 
table 1.2 of chapter 1 of the Financial Statement and 
Budget Report (FSBR). It summarises the receipts and 
expenditure of the public sector and enables the forecast 
for the financial year to be compared with the outturns.

Some of the receipts shown are cash receipts by the 
government and are not on a national accounts or 
accrued basis. In order to articulate with the national 
accounts the accruals adjustments are included in other 
taxes and royalties (CJOI) and in other receipts (ABU).

Income Revenue receipts are shown In Table 3.14 and 
Customs and Excise receipts are shown In Table 3.15. 
They are on a cash basis.

Other taxes and royalties include Motor vehicle duties 
net of export relief and driving licences; accrued Northern 
Ireland rates; gas levy; sugar levy; ECSC production 
levy. LRT levy; fines and penalties by Customs and 
Excise and fees under the Consumer Credit Act. Bus fuel 
rebates and accruals adjustments and central and local 
government refunds of VAT.

Total expenditure taxes is the total defined in the 
national accounts (Table 2.1) and is on an accrued basis.

North Sea Corporation tax Is included before advance 
corporation tax set off as shown in the footnotes. The 
latter is Included in other Corporation tax. See table 1.3 
of Inland Revenue Statistics 1986.

Petroleum revenue tax includes supplementary 
petroleum tax as well as net advance petroleum tax 
(Table 3.14).

Oil royalties are cash receipts by Department of 
Energy (Table 3.16) (excluding licence fees). The 
accruals adjustment is included in other taxes and 
royalties.

Other taxes and royalties includes the adjustment for 
advance corporation tax set off against North Sea 
corporation tax, accrual adjustment on royalties and IBA 
levy.

Total taxes and royalties comprise all the above items 
and is on a national accounts or accrued basis.

Social Security contribution are accrued national 
insurance, health, redundancy and maternity funds 
contributions (Table 2.1).

Interest and dividends are receipts by central and local 
government excluding intra sector transactions.

Gross trading surplus and rent comprise both central 
and local government trading surpluses or deficits and 
rent income, including oil licence fees.

Otherrece/pfs include miscellaneous current transfers, 
other capital receipts, imputed charge for consumption of 
non-trading capital and all the (net) accruals adjustments 
necessary to put this account back to a cash receipts 
basis.

Expenditure is shown starting from the public 
expenditure planning total plus general government gross 
debt Interest and public corporations market and 
overseas borrowing. Other national accounts adjustments 
include list III public corporations capital expenditure 
along with the other adjustments detailed in Table 2.4. 
The companion Table SI 2 which shows the Treasury 
analysis of public expenditure gives further details of 
departmental expenditure and shows the outturns 
included in the FSBR.
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Annex 2
Financial account codes

Public sector
Firtancial companies 

and institutions

Other Industrial

CAPITAL ACCOUNT
Saving
Capital transfers (net receipts)
Gross domestic fixed capital formation 
Increase in value of stocks and work in progress

Financial surplus or deficit 
FINANCIAL ACCOUNT 

Notes and coin 
Sterling Treasury bills 
British government securities 
National savings 
Tax instruments
Net government indebtedness to Banking Department 
Northern Ireland central government debt 
Government liabilities under exchange cover scheme 
Other public sector financing:

Non-marketable debt 
Short-term assets

Issue Department transactions in bills, etc 
Government foreign currency debt 
Other government overseas financing 
Official reserves

Local authority debt:
Temporary 
Foreign currency 
Sterling securities

Other sterling debt

Public corporations debt:
Foreign currency 
Sterling

Deposits with banks:
Sterling sight 
Sterling time 
Foreign currency

Deposits with building societies 
Deposits with other financial institutions

Bank lending (excluding public sector):
Foreign currency 
Sterling

Credit extended by retailers 
identified trade credit:

Domestic 
Import and export 

Loans for house purchase:
Building societies 
Other

Other public sector lending 
Other lending by financial institutions

Unit trust units 
UK company securities 
Overseas securities

Life assurance and pension funds 
Miscellaneous domestic instruments

Direct and o^er investinent abroad 
Overseas direct and other investment in UK 
Miscellaneous overseas instruments

Accruals adjustment

Total financial transactions 
BALANCING ITEM

Relationship between lines: 1+2-3-4»S: 6to38«39: 39+40«5. 
Acquisition of assets or reduction in liabilities is shown positive: 

sale of assets or increase in liabilities negative.

Central Local Public financial ar̂ d
Line govern author corpor Building insti commercial

number ment ities ations Banks societies tutions companies Persons Overseas

1 AAAA AAAE AAAI AAAM AAAQ AAAU •AIMG
2 AAAB AAAF AAAJ AAAN AAAR AAAV -AAAZ
3 AAAC AAAG AAAK AAAO AAAS AAAW
4 AAAD AAAL AAAP AAAT AAAX

5 AABA AABB AABD AABF AABG AABH AABI

6 AACB AAIA AAJB AHJM AQTH AANB AAPB AASD
7 AACC AAEB AAFB AAJC AHJQ AQTS AANC AARB
6 AACD AAEC AAFC AAJD AHJT AQTT AAOC AAPC AARC
9 AACE AAED AAGB CJHE CJGF AAOD AAPD

10 AACF AAFD AAJE AHJX ACT! AANE AAPE
11 AACG -AACG
12 AACH AAKI -DXKC AQTJ AAOE AAPF
131 A AACI AAEE AAFE ABHK
14

14.1 AADP AAFF AAKJ AAME AAOV
14.2 AAEY AAIP AQSB AOTK AAOO AAQK •AASH

15 AACK -AAKQ -AAMZ AANF AASK
16 AACL AAJH ACMM AARD
17 AACM -AACM
18 ■AlPA AlPA

19
19.1 AADC AAEF AAFG AAJI AHJR AQTU AAOF AAQC AARG
19.2 AAEG AAJJ AAMF AARH
19.3 AADD AAEH AAFH AAJK AHJH AOTV

ZAAU ADKX AAQD AARI
19.4 ABEC AAEI ADKU AAJL AHJI AQTW

20
20.1 AAFJ AAJM AABK AARJ
20.2 AACP AAEJ AAFK AAJN AAMI AAOH AAPH AARK

21
21.1 AADG AAEK AAFL AAJO AQTX AANI AAPI AARL
21.2 AADH AAEL AAFM AAJP AQUL AQTY AANJ AAPJ AARM
21.3 AACR AAEM AAFN AAJQ AQT2 AANK AAPK AQNU

22 AAKK AQXP ASLB AANL AAPL AARO
23 AACS RFAN AQUB AANM AAPM AARP

24
24.1 AAJR AQUC AANN AAPN AARO
24.2 AAJS -AHKQ AQUD AANO AAPO AARR

25 AAFO AANP -AAPP
26

26.1 AACA AAFP AAML AAOl AAPQ
262 AACT AAFQ AAMM AAOJ AAS6

27
27.1 AAQG -AAQG
27.2 AADK AAEO AAFR AAJT AAMO AAQH

28 AADL AAEP AAFS AAKO -CUBR AQPF AANR AAPS AART
29 -CULP AQON AAHX AQOO AQSC AQUF AAOK AAPT

30 AALS -AALS
31 AADI ADNR AAFT AAJU AQSD AOUG AANT AAPV AARU
32 AADJ AAJV AHJJ AQUH AANU AAPW AARV

33 -AACW -AALV AAPX
34 AACX AAEQ AAHY AAKE AOSE AQUI AANV AAPY AASC

35 AAJX AQUJ AANW -AAQN AARW
36 AAJY AALY AANX AAQL AARX
37 AACY AAFV AAKF AALZ AANY AARY

38 AAC2 AAER AAFW AAJZ AQSG AQTR AANZ AAPZ

39 AADA AAES AAFX AAKA AQSH AQUK AAOA AAQA AAR2
40 AADB AAET AAFY AATA AAOB AAQB AASA
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23. 61. 62. 64. 65. 66.67. 81. 83.

64

Abbey National 61, 103 
Accruals adjuslmenis: 

central government 40, 44 
companies 81,83 
local authorities 52 
national accounts 27 
other financial institutions 69 
personal sector 90 
public corporations 57 
timing of transactions 14 

Advances (by banks) 23, 64, 65, 66, 67, 81,
Agents balances (insurance companies) 74 
Administration orders 86 
Agricultural levies 50 
Antiques and works of art 69 
Assets leased 65

Balance of payments 94, 95, 123 
Balance sheets 9, 119, 120 
Balancing item 9, 52, 57, 82, 88, 90, 95 
Bankers deposits 63,105 
Bank holding companies 68 
Banks sector: 

advances and loans by
90. 92

advances to overseas 
assets and liabilities 17 
breaks 60, 61, 63 
consolidation adjustments 60 
definition 59
deposits with 14, 22, 23,42. 61. 62. 63. 64. 82. 83, 91, 97 
Financial transactions 17 
lending 65 
quality 60 
sources 59 
timeliness 
valuation 

Bank of England:
Banking department 20, 21, 22, 41, 62, 64 
Issue department 2 1 ,4 2 ,5 6 ,6 2  
minimum lending rate 117
net government indebtedness to Banking Department 20,21, 

22, 41
Betting and gaming 50 
Bills 23, 62. 64. 108 
BNOC 40,56
Borrowing from abroad 54 
Borrowing requirement: 

central government 40, 41, 44, 47, 48 
companies 83 
local authorities 53 
public corporations 57, 58 
public sector 12. 13. 33, 34, 35, 36. 44. 101, 106 

British government securities 13, 20, 41. 53. 62, 67, 74, 82, 
83. 91. 96

prices and yields 114, 115 
Building societies 17. 65 - 67. 117, 118

Capital consumption 78 
Capital gains lax 48, 56 
Capital issues 71. 85 
Capital transfers 8. 9. 56, 81, 91 
Car tax 50
Cash ratio deposits 64

60,62
61

Central government: 
accruals 40, 44 
balancing item 40, 41 
borrowing requirement - financing 41, 43 
capital account 40 
CGBR(O) 46.47 
current account 39, 40 
customs and excise 49, 50 
expenditure 47, 50 
financial account 40, 41, 43, 44 
financial transactions 16 
government securities 42, 43 
Inland Revenue 48, 49 
national loans fund 38, 47, 51 
national savings 43 
revenue 47, 50 
tax instruments 46 
timeliness 41, 42, 43 
transactions 47 
treasury bills 43

Certificates of deposit 63, 64, 71, 85, 102, 108 
Channel Islands banking insdtudons 59. 68 
Charides 88
Classification of assets 13 
Commercial bills 116, 117 
Commercial paper 85, 109 
Community charge 52 
Commonwealth development corporation 95 
Companies:

accrual adjustments 81, 83
acquisidons and mergers 85
appropriadon account 79
balancing item 82
borrowing requirement 83
company securides 15, 40. 57, 69, 74, 85, 91
definiddon 77
insolvencies 86
liquid assets 83
liquidity 84
nadonal accounts concepts 77, 78 
quality 85 
sources 78, 79, 80 
timeliness 78, 85, 87 
uses of funds 81 

Company liquidity survey 84, 85 
Cortsolidated fund 38, 46, 47 
Consumer credit 91 
Consumers expenditure 8, 90 
Corporation lax 48, 80 
Court funds 40
Credit extended by retailers 23, 24 
Credit tranche 98, 99 
Credit unions 68 
Crown agents 68
Customs and excise dudes 47, 49

Death dudes 91 
Debentures 110, 111, 116 
Debenture stock - prices 116 
Debt interest 40, 47 
Deeds of arrangement 86 
Deposits with overseas banks 108 
Deposits with:

banks 14. 22. 23. 42. 61, 62. 63. 64. 82, 83 97
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68

68

building societies 23, 82, 83 
finance houses 70 
other financial institutions 23, 82 

Development land tax 49, 56 
Direct and other investment abroad 26 
Direct investment overseas 95 
Discount houses 65 
Dividend yields 116
Dividends and interest 52, 80, 84 
Domestic income 4 
Domestic product 4, 5 
Durable goods 90

Earning yields 116 
Employers contribution: 

to National insurance and pension funds 89 
Estate duty 49
European community contributions 47
European currency unit 114
Exchange cover scheme 42
Exchange equalisation account 42, 46, 48, 62, 96
Exchange rate index 113
Excise duties 50
Export credit 82

Factor cost 7 
Factoring companies 68 
Finance holding companies 
Finance leasing 40 
Finance leasing companies 
Financial accounts: 

accruals adjustment 14,27 
asset categories (diagram) 
balance of payments reconciliation 123 
balancing item 27 
bank deposits 14
bank lending 23
brilish government securities 
classification of assets 13 
company securities 15, 25 
credit extended by retailers 23, 24 
deposits with banks 22, 23 
deposits with building societies 23 
deposits with other financial institutions 
direct and other investment abroad 26 
financial transactions 12 
forecasting 12, 13 
government foreign currency debt 21 
government overseas financing 21 
government liabilities under the 
scheme 21
issue departments transactions in bills 
lending by financial institutions 
life assurance and pension funds 
liquidity 13
loans for house purchase 24 
local author!^ debt 21, 22 
main flows (diagram) 30 
miscellaneous domestic instruments 15, 26 
miscellaneous overseas instruments 26, 27 
national savings 20 
net government indebtedness to the 

Banking department 20, 21, 22, 41 
net presentation 13, 14

31

13,20

23

exchange cover

21
24, 25 
26
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Northern Ireland central government debt 21 
notes and coin 18 
official reserves 21
Overseas direct and other investment in UK 26
overseas securities 25, 26
private and direct investment abroad 26
PSBR 12, 13
public corporations debt 22
public sector financing 21
public sector lending 24
sector financial accounts 18
sector matrix 18, 121
sign convention 14
sources and methods 15, 16
sources and uses of funds 14
sterling treasury bills 18, 20
tax instruments 20
timeliness 15
trade credit 14
transactions in financial assets 18 
unit trust units 25 
use of 12 
valuation 14.24

Financial deficit 9, 14, 33, 56, 83, 88 
Financial holding companies 68 
Financial crusts 68
Financial statement and budget report 33
Financial surplus 9. 14, 33, 56, 83, 88
Financial Times ordinary share index 116
Financial transactions 9, 12
Forecasting 12, 13
Foreign currency deposits 108
Forward deals 113
Friendly societies 68
Fund managers 68

Gas levy 50 
General government: 

current account 33 
capital account 33 
financial account 33 

General government expenditure 33 
Gold 96 
Gold dealers 68
Government foreign currency debt 21
Government overseas financing 21
Government liabilities under the exchange cover scheme 21
Gross domestic product 7, 9, 105
Gross flat yield 115
Gross national |7oduct 6
Gross redemption yields 115

IMF 95.98
Import credit 58
Income from abroad 80, 84
Income tax 48
Inheritance tax 49
Inland revenue duties 47, 48, 49
Insolvencies,£ngland and Wales 86
Insolvency act 86
Instalment credit 82
Insurance companies 74, 75
Insurance holding companies 68
Insurance funds 88
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Inter sector transfers 9 
Interest 80
Interest and dividends 42, 47, 56, 80 
Interest rates 114 
Investment abroad 83 
Investment irtists 68, 73 
Invisibles 94
Issue departments transactions in bills 21

Lending by financial institutions 24, 25 
Lending to banks 106 
Licence fees 56
life assurance and pension funds 26 
Liquidity 13
loans for house purchase 24 
Local authorities: 

accrual adjustments 52 
balancing item 52 
borrowing 52, 53. 54 
capital account 52 
current account 52 
debt 21, 22, 54. 91. 108 
fmancial transactions 16, 17, 53 
financial account 52 
interest rates 118 
investments 55 
pension funds 75 
quality of data 53 
timeliness 53,54 

loans for house purchase 90, 92

Macro-economics 100
Maintenance of value payments 98, 99
Market prices 7
Miscellaneous domestic instruments 15. 26 
Miscellaneous overseas instruments 26, 27 
Monetary sector 59 
Money stock: 

breaks 103 
changes 103, 105 
counterparts 101, 106 
definitions 100, 101 
M4 108, 109 
MO 105 
quality 102
seasonal adjustment 102, 105 
sources 105 
timeliness 102 
velocity of circulation 105 

Money market brokers 68 
Mortgage finance companies 68 
Motor vehicle duties 50

Nadonal accounts 4
National debt 33
National debt accounts 46
National expenditure 5, 6
National income 4
National insurance 50
National insurance fund 46, 48
National loans ftmd 38, 42, 46. 47, 51, 62
National product 4, 5
National savings 20, 41. 43. 45. 53. 91. 93
National savings bank 68, 117, 120
NBPS 119, 122

Negotiable bonds 54 
Net national product 6 
Net redemption yield 115 
Nominal debt 121, 122 
Non bank credit companies 68
Northern Ireland central government debt 21, 41, 42,48 
Notes and coin 18. 41. 63. 91. 101, 102. 103, 105 
N.I. funds and accounts 46

Official reserves 21, 42, 95, 96 
Oil royalties 50 
Other fmancial insdtutions: 

accrual adjustments 69 
credit business 71, 72 
definidons 68 
financial transactions 
insurance companies 
insurance funds 68 
investment 70 
investment trusts 73 
non-bank credit companies 70 
pension funds 68, 75, 76 
property unit trusts 72 
securides 70 
sources 68

69. 71, 73. 75
72. 73
73. 75

Overseas direct and other investment in UK 26 
Overseas investment 81 
Overseas sector: 

balance of payments 
definition 94 
financial transactions 
IMF 98.99 
ofiicial reserves 96 
quality 94 
sign convention 
timeliness 97

Overseas securides 25, 26, 85

timeliness 
unit trusts 
valuation

95

17. 18

99

Paymaster General’s account 46 
Pension funds 75, 76, 88 
Personal sector 

balancing item 88 
consumer credit 91, 92 
definition 88 
financial transactions 17 
insurance funds 88 
liquid assets 92, 93 
pension funds 88 
sources 90 
timeliness 92 
uses 91

Petroleum revenue tax 49 
Portfolio investment 95 
Preference stock-prices 116 
Private direct investment abroad 26 
Private sector pension funds 75 
Privatisation proceeds 47 
Profits due abroad 84 
Property unit trust units 69, 72 
Public corporations: 

accrual adjustments 57 
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The Monthly Digest of Statistics provides basic information
employment prices, social

services, production and output, energy, engineering, 
construction, transport, catering, national and overseas finance 
and the weather. It contains mostly runs of monthly and quarterly 
estimates for at least two years and annual figures for several more.

Price £6.95
Central Statistical Office publications are published by H M S O .
They are obtainable from  H M S O  bookshops and through booksellers.
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Economic Trends brings together all the main
economic indicators. The iargest section gives
tim e series and graphs over the last five years or
so. It is preceded by details of the latest information
and followed by an analysis of indicators in relation
to the business cycle over the last 20 years. Other
articles comment on and analyse economic
statistics.

Economic Trends is the primary
the quarterly national accounts and balance of
payments

Price £11.50 net
Central Statistical Office publications are published by H M SO .
They are obtainable from H M S O  bookshops and through booksellers
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